Identification of distinct bio-signatures in whole blood and in-tube Quantiferon pellets of Tuberculosis (TB) close contacts (CCs) and TB patients with and without type 2 diabetes (T2D)

Happy Tshivhula

Dissertation presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular Biology in the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences at Stellenbosch University

The financial assistance of the National Research Foundation (NRF) towards this research is hereby acknowledged. Opinions expressed, and conclusions arrived at, are those of the author and are not necessarily to be attributed to the NRF.

> Promoter: Associate Prof Katharina Ronacher Co-promoter: Dr Léanie Kleynhans

> > December 2019

Declaration

By submitting this dissertation electronically, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work, that I am the sole author thereof (save to the extent explicitly otherwise stated), that reproduction and publication thereof by Stellenbosch University will not infringe any third party rights and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it for obtaining any qualification.

December 2019

Copyright © 2019 Stellenbosch University All rights reserved

Abstract

Tuberculosis (TB) remains difficult to control despite effective treatment and the presence of more sensitive diagnostic tools. Immunity against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) infection can further be impacted by other concomitant infections (like human immunodeficiency virus) and non-communicable diseases (like Type 2 diabetes (T2D)) rendering individuals susceptible to TB. T2D patients are three times more likely to progress from latent to active TB. Therefore, it is crucial to better understand why people with T2D are at increased risk for TB progression. We hypothesize that distinct bio-signatures exist in whole blood of TB patients and close contacts (CCs) of TB patients with latent TB infection (LTBI) with T2D compared to those without T2D and that these bio-signatures correlate with impaired immune responses to Mtb in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and monocytes (MNs) in CCs.

RNA was extracted from whole blood stimulated with Mtb antigens using the Quantiferon TB Gold in-tube assay and NanoString analysis was performed to determine whether specific transcription signatures exist between CCs with LTBI with and without T2D. We characterized serum cytokines and endocrine signatures by luminex and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. PBMCs and MNs from the same individuals were isolated and stimulated with live *H37Rv* Mtb to determine Mtb uptake and killing. Bacterial uptake and killing was correlated with HbA1c to determine whether there was an association with glycaemic control. RNA from TB patients, TB patients with transient hyperglycaemia (TB-THG) and TB patients with T2D (TB-T2D) was also extracted from whole blood stimulated with Mtb antigens and analysed using NanoString. Interleukin-22 was also measured in serum from these patients. PBMCs from TB patients were further used to determine the frequency of mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells before, during and after TB treatment.

Fifteen gene transcripts were downregulated in TB-T2D compared to TB and TB-THG patients. We identified a gene signature that was able to differentiate between TB-THG and TB-T2D. We further identified a gene signature unique to the CCs with LTBI and T2D, which could be associated with an increased risk of developing active TB. Differences in cytokines, hormones, lipids, differential blood counts and Mtb uptake was observed when comparing CCs with and without T2D. Differential expression of IL-6, IL-18 and IL-22 in CCs with and without T2D highlights the differential regulation of the immune response during T2D. We showed that the frequency of MAIT cells in the periphery of TB-T2D was significantly lower compared to TB-THG at baseline, suggesting the MAIT cells in TB-T2D have redistributed to either the lung or adipose tissue. The increase of MAIT cells in the periphery at month 2 compared to baseline could mean that MAIT cells population was restored in the blood due to TB treatment.

Our gene expression results suggests that downregulated gene transcripts may be involved in pathways that favour immunopathology in TB-T2D. In addition, gene signatures differentiating THG from T2D could be useful in preventing the unnecessary diagnosis of patients with THG as having T2D. Differential gene expression in CCs with LTBI with and without T2D shows potential to be involved in the mechanisms leading to susceptibility to active TB. Cytokine and hormone data confirms that during T2D, the immune response is differentially regulated which may influence the response to infections. Lastly, MAIT cell frequency could be useful for monitoring treatment responses in TB-T2D patients.

Abstrak

Tuberkulose (TB) bly moeilik om te beheer ten spyte van effektiewe behandeling en die teenwoordigheid van meer sensitiewe diagnostiese toetse. Immuniteit teen *Mycobacterium tuberkulose* (Mtb) kan verder beïnvloed word deur ander gepaardgaande infeksies (soos menslike immuniteitsgebrekvirus) en nie-oordraagbare siektes (soos tipe 2 diabetes (T2D)) wat individue vatbaar maak vir TB. Pasiënte met T2D het 'n groter kans om van latent na aktiewe TB te vorder en is dit noodsaaklik om te verstaan waarom mense met T2D 'n groter risiko vir TB-progressie het. Ons veronderstel dat daar afsonderlike bio-handtekeninge in heel bloed van TB pasiënte asook nabye kontakte (CCs) van TB pasiënte met latente TB-infeksie (LTBI) en T2D in vergelyking met dié sonder T2D bestaan en dat hierdie bio-handtekeninge met verswakte immuunresponse teenoor Mtb in mononukleêr selle in perifere bloed (PBMCs) en monosiete (MNs) van CCs korreleer.

RNS is uit volbloed wat met Mtb-antigene (Quantiferon TB Gold toets) gestimuleer is onttrek. Nanostring-analise is uitgevoer om vas te stel of spesifieke transkripsie-patrone tussen CCs met LTBI en met of sonder T2D bestaan. Ons het serum sitokiene en endokriene handtekeninge identifiseer deur luminex en ensien-gekoppelde Immunosorbent-toetse. PBMCs en MNs van dieselfde individue is geïsoleer en met lewendige *H37Rv* Mtb gestimuleer om Mtb opname en beheer te bepaal. Bakteriese opname en dood was met HbA1c gekorreleer om vas te stel of daar 'n verband met bloedsuiker was. RNS van TB-pasiënte, TB-pasiënte met oorgang hiperglukemie (TB-THG) en TB-pasiënte met T2D (TB-T2D) was ook uit heelbloed wat met Mtb-antigene gestimuleers was onttrek en met behulp van die Nanostring tegnologie geanaliseer. IL-22 was ook in the serum van hierdie pasiënte gemeet. PBMCs van TB pasiënte is verder gebruik om die frekwensie van 'mucosal associated invariant' T (MAIT) selle voor, tydens en na TB behandeling te bepaal.

Vyftien geen-transkripsies is in TB-T2D afwaarts gereguleer in vergelyking met TB- en TB-THG pasiënte. Ons het 'n geen-handtekening geïdentifiseer wat in staat was om tussen TB-THG en TB-T2D te onderskei. Ons het verder 'n handtekening van gene geïdentifiseer wat uniek is aan die CCs met LTBI en T2D wat met 'n verhoogde risiko om aktiewe TB te ontwikkeling geassosieer kan word. Verskille in sitokiene, hormone, lipiede, differensiële bloedtellings en Mtb opname is waargeneem tydens die vergelyking van CC's met en sonder T2D. Differensiële uitdrukking van IL-6, IL-18 en IL-22 in CCs met LTBI met en sonder T2D beklemtoon die differensiële regulering van die immuunrespons tydens T2D. Ons het getoon dat die frekwensie van MAIT selle in die sirkulasie van TB-T2D laer was as TB-THG by basislyn, wat daarop dui dat die MAIT-selle in TB-T2D na die long- of vetweefsel migreer. Die toename van MAIT selle in die bloed by maand 2 in vergelyking met basislyn kan beteken dat MAIT selpopulasies in die bloed herstel, as gevolg van TB behandeling. Ons geen-uitdrukking resultate dui daarop dat af-gereguleerde geen-transkripsies betrokke kan wees in immuunpaaie wat patologie in TB-T2D bevoordeel. Daarbenewens kan geen-handtekeninge wat THG van T2D onderskei, nuttig wees om 'n misdiagnose van THG as T2D te vermy. Differensiële geen-uitdrukking by individue met LTBI met en sonder T2D toon potensiaal om betrokke te wees by die meganismes wat lei tot vatbaarheid vir aktiewe TB. Sitokien- en hormoon data bevestig dat tydens T2D, die immuunrespons differensieel gereguleer word, wat die respons op infeksies kan beïnvloed. Laastens, MAIT-sel frekwensies kan nuttig wees vir die monitering van behandelings uitkomste in TB-T2D-pasiënte.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to the following people and institutions:

My supervisor: Katharina Ronacher, despite leaving for Australia, a year and half into my PhD, she still gave inputs and showed support. Before she left, Katharina taught me not to limit myself, and that I should be able to create and grab opportunities as they cross my path.

My co-supervisor: Léanie Kleynhans, I appreciate her patience with me, her encouraging words and her love for teaching. She led by example, taught me a lot, starting from the laboratory and guiding me through my thesis. What I like about Léanie is that she is brilliant and hard-working, unfortunately, you cannot teach that.

Prof Martin Kidd for assisting with my statistical analysis.

The ALERT team (Ayanda, Carine, Ilze, Jessica, Mosa, Nicole, Tariq) for all their help and sample preparation.

Funding agencies: The National Research Foundation (NRF), Department of Biomedical Sciences, The National Institute of Health, The Stellenbosch University Immunology Research Group (SU-IRG), Stella and Lowenstein Bursary, Stellenbosch Merit Bursary, Harry Crossely Research project funding, Stellenbosch Scientific Travel award, Whitehead Scientific (Travel award), Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation

Family: My family is my rock, I give love and thanks to my mom Lufuno for the amazing woman she is. She said: "Well my girl, do what makes you Happy, study as long as you want, you have my support". For that I am really thankful. My grandparents; Maboshe and Mulwanndwa are just as amazing, they never understood why I don't come home during school holidays, why I always have to come home just before Christmas, and leave just after new year (no matter how many times I explained it to them). Despite this, would always call to remind me to be serious and never give up. It has always been like that since my days at school, which is technically all my life.

Colleagues: I offer my warmest regards to Gerhard Walzl and every person in the SU-IRG and those who offered assistance in any form, supported and showered me with words of encouragement during the course of my studies. My office mates, you rock! I am grateful for the small chats in the office and always taking your time answering my questions even though you always started by telling me to google it.

Friends: Dephney, Hygon and Portia, in and outside school, I have been through a lot with you guys. I hope we carry on like this, and be there for each other. I appreciate your support in moments of doubt, and mostly, our laughters and constant reminders as to why we travelled all the way to this place.

CLIME team: Grant Theron, for the wonderful opportunity ("Good distraction from my PhD work") he provided me with by working on something completely different from my project, which felt great! Learning to work with different projects at the same time, interacting with other groups. It helped me acquire a skill that is needed, to be involved and collaborate in my line of work, and I really appreciate that.

The CLIME research group members for their warm welcome and keeping me busy

Special thanks to Carine Kilola-Kunsevi. I consider her my friend and she is the one person who I felt that I could rely on. I am thankful to have worked with her. I love that she always made me laugh. I admire Carine because she always finds something to appreciate in moments of distress.

Above all, I thank God for the strength, guidance, protection and surrounding me with the relevant people.

Contents

Declaration	i
Abstract	ii
Abstrak	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
Abbreviations	xiii
CHAPTER 1	1
Literature review and introduction	1
1. Diabetes	1
1.1 Diabetes prevalence	1
1.2 Diagnosis of diabetes	2
1.3 Diabetes treatment	3
2. Tuberculosis	5
2.1. Tuberculosis prevalence	5
2.2 Diagnostic tools for TB infection and disease	6
2.3. Treatment of TB	8
3. Latent Mtb infection and T2D	9
4. TB and T2D	10
5. Innate immunity	12
5.1 Innate immunity in TB	12
5.2 Innate immunity in TB-T2D	16
6. Innate-like T cells	17
6.1 Innate-like T cells in TB	
6.2 Innate-like T cells in TB and T2D	20
7. Adaptive immunity	21
7.1 Adaptive immunity in TB	21
7.2 Adaptive immunity in TB-T2D	22
8. Gene expression analysis in TB	23
9. Immune and endocrine interactions	25
9.1 Immunendocrine changes during TB	27
9.2 Immune-endocrine changes in TB-T2D	29
10. Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives	
Central hypothesis	
Aim 1:	

Aim 2:	30
Aim 3:	30
CHAPTER 2	31
Materials and methods	31
2.1.1 Informed consent and ethical clearance	31
2.1.2 Study participants and sample collection	31
2.1.3 Sample processing for ALERT study	32
2.1.4 Sample processing for the TANDEM study	35
2.1.5 RNA extraction study	35
2.1.6 RNA quantification, gene expression assay and data analysis	36
2.1.7 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) in ALERT samples	37
2.1.8 Luminex in ALERT samples	39
2.1.9 Flow cytometry: TANDEM study	40
2.1.10 Statistical analysis	41
CHAPTER 3	42
Identification of distinct immune gene expression signatures in active TB patients and close contacts with and without type 2 diabetes	42
3.1. Introduction	42
3.2 Methods	42
3.3 Results	43
3.3.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics	43
3.3.2 Overall transcript expression in unstimulated and stimulated blood from LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL	45
3.3.3 Differentially expressed blood transcripts in unstimulated whole blood of TB- THG and TB-T2D (vsTB) at baseline	47
3.3.4 Differentially expressed gene transcripts in blood from LTBI with and without T2D	49
3.3.5 A core gene signature in whole blood differentiates TB-THG from TB-T2D patients at baseline	50
3.3.6 Gene signatures in whole blood could be associated with dysregulated pathways in LTBI-T2D that may increase susceptibility to TB	52
3.3.7 The number of differentially expressed gene transcripts was reduced in TB-T2 patients at month 6	D 54
3.3.8 Antigen presentation and Th1 activation and glucocorticoid signalling pathway are dysregulated in whole blood from LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D participants	s 55
3.4. Discussion	63
CHAPTER 4	68

Immune-endocrine changes in the serum and plasma of individuals with LTBI and TB patients with and without T2D, association with glycaemic control and Mtb control in phagocytic mononuclear cells
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Methods68
4.3 Results69
4.3.1 Study participants and characteristics69
4.3.2 Cytokine responses in latently infected individuals with and without T2D69
4.3.3 IL-22 and IL-18 concentrations are higher in pT2D patients70
4.3.4 IL-22 cytokine is higher in TB-T2D71
4.3.5 No differences in catecholamines, vitamin D, cortisol and insulin concentrations in LTBI participants with and without T2D72
4.3.6 Insulin was higher in LTBI with pT2D compared to LTBI with noT2D73
4.3.7 Triglycerides were higher in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D74
4.3.8 Poorly controlled glycaemia drives the increase in lipids in T2D patients
4.3.9 No difference in complete blood cell counts in LTBI with and without T2D76
4.3.10 Individuals with LTBI and pT2D have increased white blood cell and lymphocyte counts
4.3.11 PBMCs from participants with LTBI and T2D show poor association and control of Mtb77
4.3.12 MNs from T2D have poor Mtb control78
4.3.13 No association between FBG and HbA1c with Mtb uptake by PBMCs79
4.3.14 Correlations between Mtb killing and cytokines80
4.3.15 Correlations between Mtb killing and measured catecholamines, cortisol, insulin and vitamin D81
4.3.16 Correlations between Mtb killing and lipids82
4.3.17 Correlations between Mtb killing and complete blood counts
4.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 5
Investigation of MAIT cells in TB patients with and without T2D
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Study participants and methodology89
5.3 Results90
5.3.2 TB-T2D have significantly low CD3 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161 ⁺⁺ MAIT cells at baseline91
5.3.3 CD3 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161 ⁺⁺ MAIT cell frequency increases at month 2 of TB treatment92

5.3.4 The frequency of CD3 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161 ⁺⁺ MAIT cells of TB-T2D patients at month 6 is comparable to T2D92
5.3.5 Association of T2D parameters with CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161 ⁺⁺ MAIT cells
5.4 Discussion94
CHAPTER 6
6.1 Discussion98
6.1.1 Gene expression signatures in active TB patients with and without T2D98
6.1.2 Gene expression in LTBI with and without T2D
6.1.3 Immune and endocrine changes and association with Mtb uptake and killing.104
6.1.4 MAIT cells in TB patients with and without T2D
6.2 Conclusion
6.3 Strengths and limitations of the study111
6.4 Future work112
Addenda
References

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 TB incidence of the highest TB endemic areas in the world reported in 2017 Figure 1.2 The influence of T2D on the onset of TB, dysregulated immune response and clinical presentation of the TB during TB-T2D comborbidity Figure 1.3 Possible outcomes after Mtb exposure Figure 1.4 MAIT cell phenotype and different cellular activation pathways Figure 1.5 The activation of the HPA axis, sympathetic and immune system Figure 1.6 Immunomodulatory properties of serotonin	05 10 12 20 26 27
Figure 3.1 Overall transcriptomic gene expression in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D Figure 3.2 Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D Figure 3.3 Differentially expressed gene transcripts in LTBI and LTBI-T2D Figure 3.4 Gene signature distinguish between TB-THG and TB-T2D Figure 3.5 Gene signature distinguishing between LTBI and LTBI-T2D Figure 3.6 Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at month 6.	47 49 50 52 53 55
Figure 4.1 Circulating cytokine levels in LTBI-noT2D compared to LTBI-T2D Figure 4.2 IL-18, IL-22 and IL-6, concentrations in LBTI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D Figure 4.3 IL-22 concentrations in LTBI-T2D compared to TB-T2D Figure 4.4 Hormone concentration in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D Figure 4.5 Hormone levels in noT2D, preT2D, T2D and pT2D participants, all LTBI Figure 4.6 Triglycerides and cholesterol in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D Figure 4.7 Lipid production by noT2D, preT2D, T2D and pT2D participants, all LTBI Figure 4.8 Absolute counts of white blood cells and lymphocytes in noT2D, preT2D, T2D and pT2D participants, all which are positive for LTBI Figure 4.9 The influence of T2D on the containment of Mtb by PBMC Figure 4.10 The influence of T2D on the containment of Mtb by MNs Figure 4.12 Correlation of glycaemic control with Mtb uptake Figure 4.13 Correlation of plasma hormones with Mtb uptake by PBMCs Figure 4.14 Correlation of plasma hormones with Mtb uptake by PBMCs Figure 4.15 Correlation of differential blood counts with Mtb uptake	70 70 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 79 80 81 82 83 84
Figure 5.1 Characterization of circulating peripheral MAIT cells (CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161) Figure 5.2 CD8 ⁺ TCR Vα7.2 ⁺ CD26 ⁺⁺ CD161 ⁺⁺ MAIT cell frequencies. Figure 5.3 Correlation plots of MAIT cells with glycaemic parameters	92 93 94
Supplementary Figure 1: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG TB-T2D Supplementary Figure 2: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG TB-T2D at month 6	and 113 and 113

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Demographic and clinical parameters of LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and	
TB-T2D patients	45
Table 3.2 IPA of differentially regulated genes in the study participants	57
Table 5.1 Demographic and clinical information of all study participants	91
Supplemtary Table 1: List of Nanostring genes included in the nCounter GX Human	
Immunology kit V2	114

Abbreviations

Activator protein-1	AP-1
Adrenocorticotropic hormone	ACTH
Antigen	Ag
Antigen presenting cells	APC
Alveolar macrophage	AM
American Diabetes Association	ADA
Broncho alveolar lavage fluid	BAL-F
Bacillus Calmette-Guerin	BCG
Baseline	BL
Bone marrow derived macrophages	BMDM
C-C motif chemokine ligand	CCL
C-reactive protein	CRP
C-type lectin receptors	CLRs
C-X-C motif chemokine ligand	CXCL
Catecholamines	CA
Central nervous system	CNS
Cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide	CTAB
Chest X-ray	CXR
Clofazimine	Cfz
Close contacts	CCs
Cluster of differentiation	CD
Complete blood count	CBC
Computerised tomography	СТ
Corticotropin-releasing hormone	CRH
Culture filtrate protein-10	CFP-10
Dendritic cells	DCs
Dehydroepiandrosterone	DHEA
Diabetes	DM
Dipeptidyl peptidase IV	DPP4
Directly observed treatment short course	DOTS
Early secretory antigen-6	ESAT-6
End stage renal disease	ESRD
Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay	ELISA
Ethambutol	EMB

Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	EDTA
Extensively drug resistant	XDR-TB
Fasting blood glucose	FBG
Follicle-stimulating hormone	FSH
Food and drug administration	FDA
Glucagon like peptide–1	GLP-1
Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase	G6PD
Glucocorticoids	GCs
Glutamine	GLU
Glycated haemoglobin	HbA1c
Granulocyte colony stimulating factor	G-CSF
Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor	GM-CSF
Growth hormone	GH
Healthy controls	HCs
Horseradish Peroxidase	HRP
Host directed therapy	HDT
Human immunodeficiency virus	HIV
Human serum albumin	SEH
Hypothalamic pituitary adrenal	HPA
Impaired fasting glucose	IFG
Impaired glucose tolerance	IGT
Interferon chemoattractant	I-TAC
Interferon-gamma	IFN-y
Interferon-gamma release assay	IGRA
Interleukin	IL
Inter quartile range	IQR
Isoniazid	INH
Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription	JAK-STAT
Latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection	LTBI
Latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection with	LTBI-T2D
Type 2 diabetes	T2D
Lipopolysaccharide	LPS
Lipopolysaccharide inducible C-C related gene	L-CCR
Lithium heparinized	Lihep
Luteinizing hormone	LH

Major histocompatibility	MHC
Major histocompatibility related protein-1	MR-1
Monocytes	MNs
Month 6	M6
Moxifloxacin	Mfx
Mucosal associated invariant T	MAIT
Multi-drug TB	MDR-TB
Mycobacteria growth indicator tube	MGIT
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Mtb
Natural killer	NK
Natural killer T	NKT
Neutrophil extracellular traps	NETs
Nod like receptors	NOD
Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells	NK-kB
Oral glucose tolerance test	OGTT
Oncostatin	OSM
Pathogen associated molecular patterns	PAMPs
Pattern recognition receptor	PRR
Penicillin	PEN
Peripheral blood mononuclear cells	PBMCs
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ	PPARy
Phorbol myristate acetate	PMA
Phosphate buffered saline	PBS
Phytohaemagglutin	PHA
Polymerase Chain Reaction	PCR
Poorly controlled type 2 diabetes	pT2D
Positron emission tomography-computed tomography	PET-CT
Pre type 2 diabetes	PreT2D
Promyelocytic leukemia zinc-finger	PLZF
Prothionamide	Pto
Purified protein derivatives	PPD
Pyrazinamide	PZA
Quality control	QC
Quantiferon	QFT
RAR-related orphan receptor yt	RORyt

Region of difference-1	RD-1
Rifampicin	Rif
Rifampicin resistance TB	RR-TB
Room temperature	RT
Selective sodium-glucose transporter-2	SGLT-2
Serum amyloid protein –A	SAP-A
Sodium heparinized	NaHep
Streptozotocin	STZ
Sub Saharan Africa	SSA
Tetramethylbenzidine	TMB
T cell receptor	TCR
Thawing media	ТМ
Thiazolidinediones	TZDs
Thyroid-stimulating hormone	TSH
T helper	Th
Toll like receptor	TLR
Transforming growth factor	TGF
Transient hyperglycaemia	THG
Tuberculin skin test	TST
Tuberculosis	ТВ
Tuberculosis and diabetes comorbidity	TB-T2D
Tumour necrosis factor	TNF
Type 2 diabetes	T2D
Type 1 diabetes	T1D
Vasopressin	VP
World Health Organization	WHO
5 Hydroxytryptamine-1	5 HT-1
α-galactosylceramide	α-Gal-Cer

CHAPTER 1 Literature review and introduction

1. Diabetes

1.1 Diabetes prevalence

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease that occurs either because there are defects in beta cell function in the pancreatic islets, which then cannot produce adequate levels of insulin, like in type 1 diabetes (T1D), or the produced insulin cannot be utilized by insulin responsive tissues such as muscles, liver and adipocytes, like in type 2 diabetes (T2D). T2D manifests due to insulin resistance and/or pancreatic β -cell failure (decreased/no insulin secretion). In both cases, hyperglycemia occur, meaning individuals with T2D may still be secreting insulin, but do not respond to the insulin due to the increased insulin resistance. Chronic hyperglycaemia subsequently decreases beta cell function and insulin secretion as a result of the glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity, and enhanced oxidative stress (Guillausseau et al. 2008; Upadhyay et al. 2017). T1D is the least prevalent form of diabetes and was, for many years, classified as the inherited form of the disease until it became evident that genetic factors and auto-immune reactions play a role in the development of T1D (Florez et al. 2003).

In 2017, it was estimated that about 425 million people of the age group 20-79 years have T2D and this number is expected to reach 629 million by 2045 (Cho et al. 2018). Approximately five million people died due to T2D, globally in 2017 (Cho et al. 2018). Asia contributes to about 60% of the global T2D prevalence with India having about 62 million people living with T2D and more than 77 million with pre-diabetes (Kaveeshwar and Cornwall, 2014). Of the latter, 70% will continue to develop T2D (Tabák et al. 2012). Pre-diabetes refers to impaired glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose (IFG) or intermediate hyperglycaemia (Echouffo-Tcheugui and Dagogo-Jack, 2012). It is associated with micro-and macro-vascular complications, as well as an increased risk to progress to T2D (Brannick et al. 2016). It is therefore important to closely monitor patients with pre-diabetes in an attempt to prevent them from developing T2D. In Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), there is an estimated 15.5 million people with T2D between the ages of 20 and 79, and 1.8 million of those reside in South Africa (International Diabetes Federation, 2017). An estimated 69.2% of people living with T2D in SSA are undiagnosed and therefore at higher risk of developing harmful and costly complications (International Diabetes Federation, 2017). In South Africa, the prevalence of self-reported T2D is 9.2% and increases with age: from 7.1% amongst 50-59-year olds to 10.6% amongst 60–69-year olds and 12.4% amongst those 70 years and older (Werfalli et al. 2018). In the Western Cape Province of South Africa, the highest prevalence of T2D has been reported in the Coloured population (Erasmus et al. 2012), who also has an undiagnosed T2D prevalence of 18.1% (Erasmus et al. 2012). This suggests that there might be even more people with T2D because there are patients with T2D who remain undiagnosed and who are unaware of the damage caused by the disease (International Diabetes Federation, 2015). As a result, controlling this disease will be more difficult. As urbanisation increases and populations age, T2D will pose an ever-growing threat in these communities (International Diabetes Federation, 2017).

1.2 Diagnosis of diabetes

Measurements of plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) are used as diagnostic tools for T2D (Florkowski, 2013). The World Health Organization (WHO) together with the National Diabetes Data Group in the US recommend the use of the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) measuring both fasting and two hours plasma glucose concentrations (National Diabetes Data Group, 1979). According to the American Diabetes Association (ADA) a fasting blood glucose level (FBG) of \geq 7.0 mmol/L or a blood glucose level of \geq 11 mmol/L after ingesting 75 g of glucose indicates that a person has DM (ADA, 2011). Impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) is characterised by a blood glucose level between 7.8 and 11 mmol/L, after ingesting glucose, and impaired fasting glucose (IFG) as a FBG between 6.1 and 6.9 mmol/L (ADA, 2011). The WHO recommends a FBG cut off of 7 mmol/L for diagnosis of DM (ADA, 2011). Both the ADA and WHO recommended HbA1c, with a cut off of \geq 6.5%, as an additional test to diagnose DM (International expert committee, 2009; WHO, 2011), however, OGTT remains the gold standard.. Unlike real time glucose measurements, HbA1c gives an indication of average blood glucose concentrations over two to three months period (Reynolds et al. 2006). The advantage of HbA1c measurements is that individuals are not required to be fasted, it requires less time to perform compared to an OGTT and the pre-analytical stability of HbA1c is high. Despite the advantage of HbA1c, the levels are known to vary in racial groups, with Black Africans having higher HbA1c compared to caucasians (Herman et al. 2007; Kirk et al. 2013). In African Americans, changing from using glucose to HbA1c, resulted in about 650 000 missed T2D cases (Paterson, 2017). Furthermore, the glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) variant rs1050828 is common in people of African and African American decent and impacts HbA1c outcome, which if not recognised, can result in undiagnosed T2D when using HbA1c (Paterson, 2017). People with hemizygous T, heterozygous and homozygous T allele were found to have low HbA1c compared to those without T and also had lower red blood cell counts, hemotocrit and haemoglobin. It was suggested that the effect of rs1050828 variant on HbA1c is likely through reducing red blood cell lifespan (Paterson, 2017). As G6PD deficiency can be clinically 'silent' until illness strikes, some researchers suggest looking into the possible benefits of screening the G6PD genotype in parallel to testing HbA1c to diagnose T2D, especially in populations with African ancestry or population groups where the G6PD deficiency is common to avoid missed or delayed diagnosis of the disease (Wheeler et al. 2017). Although the OGTT is the gold standard for T2D diagnosis, it is more challenging to perform as it requires overnight fasting (Florkowski, 2013). Other pre-test preparations are recommended such as ensuring that an appropriate diet was followed for three days prior to the test (Florkowski, 2013). The test itself is time-consuming, taking at least two hours. In addition, when measuring plasma glucose concentrations, blood should be processed within several minutes after collection, because red blood cells continue to consume glucose which could lead to false negative results (Bruns and Knowler, 2009). Missed T2D cases could be due to the lack of standardized testing for T2D (Matsha et al. 2016) and more studies should focus on diagnostic tools to improve certainty of the estimates of T2D prevalence. Earlier detection of T2D also has a benefit on the management of disease outcomes such as glycaemic control, which in turn will reduce the risk of developing T2D complications.

1.3 Diabetes treatment

Traditionally, diet modifications have been the basis for DM management. There are several classes of medications for the treatment of DM, which are used as an adjunct to diet and exercise. These include biguanides, sulfonylureas, meglitinide derivatives, alpha-glucosidase inhibitors, thiazolidinediones (TZDs), glucagon like peptide–1 (GLP-1) agonists, dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-4) inhibitors, selective sodium-glucose transporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors, and insulin (National diabetes service scheme, 2016). It is important that T2D medications be reviewed by patients' general practitioner every year as part of the T2D annual cycle of care (National diabetes service scheme, 2016).

Biguanides are the first line treatment for T2D, an example is metformin (Inzucchi et al. 2015). Metformin mediates its effects through two mechanisms to improve blood glucose concentration, it inhibits gluconeogenesis and enhances peripheral insulin sensitivity (Goodarzi and Bryer-ash, 2005). A dose of 500 mg metformin is initially prescribed to patients, once or twice a day with breakfast or/and dinner and may be increased after a week to 850 to 1000 mg, twice a day, depending on how the patient responds to the treatment and whether the patient experiences any side effects (Upapdyay et al. 2017). Metformin can be used alone or in combination with sulfonylureas, TZDs or insulin (Khardori, 2018). On its own, it reduces HbA1c by an average of 1.5% (Knowles et al. 2002) and reduces the progression of prediabetes to T2D by 31%. Thus, it is thought to be a good prophylaxis for T2D in individuals with pre-diabetes (Inzucchi et al. 2015). Metformin also reduces body weight and in combination with insulin therapy, reduces complications associated with DM such as macrovascular disease, heart failure, stroke and other peripheral artery diseases (Kooy et al. 2009). Sulfonylureas are the second most prescribed drugs for T2D. They stimulate the pancreatic beta cells to secrete insulin (Mendez et al. 2014). These drugs are associated with

a reduction of HbA1c by 1-2% and blood glucose levels of about 20% (Bolen et al. 2006). They are used both as monotherapy and in combination with insulin and other oral drugs for treating hyperglycaemia. An example is Glimepiride which is the only sulfonylurea approved by the food and drug administration (FDA) for combination therapy. Other examples include Glyburide and Glipizide. Meglitinide functions similarly to sulfonylurea by inducing the production of insulin by the pancreatic beta cells and examples include Repaglinide and Nateglinide (Melander, 2004). These drugs are FDA approved for monotherapy use and in combination with Metformin or TZDs (Khardori, 2018). TZDs include Pioglitazone and Rosiglitazone. These drugs improves the target cell responses to insulin by stimulating glucose uptake through the nuclear receptor called peroxisome proliferator-activated receptory (PPARy) in skeletal muscles and adipose tissue and as a result, lower glucose plasma levels (Ahmadian et al. 2013). TZDs can be used as monotherapy and in combination with sulfonylureas and/or metformin and insulin (Khardori, 2018). Alpha-Glucosidase inhibitors promote the body to break down starchy foods and sugar, examples include Acarbose and Miglitol (Mendez et al. 2014). These drugs lower the blood glucose levels. They can be used as monotherapy or in combination with sulfonylurea (Khardori, 2018). Incretin based therapies consists of GLP-1 receptor agonists and DPP-4 inhibitors (Inzucchi et al. 2012). GLP-1 receptor agonists are injectable drugs mimicking the endogenous GLP-1 which stimulates glucose-dependent insulin release to normalize hyperglycaemia (Meier, 2012). Exenatide, Albiglutide and Liraglutide are some of the examples of GLP-1 analogues and function by improving glycaemic control. Exenatide is administered twice daily while Albiglutide and Liraglutide are administered once daily (Khardori, 2018). DPP-4 is an endogenous metabolic enzyme that is involved in the regulation of glucose homeostasis if inhibited (Meier 2012). DPP-4 assists the body to continue releasing insulin by increasing the plasma levels of GLP-1 through the inhibition of its proteolytic degradation (Meier, 2012). DPP-4 include drugs such as Sitagliptin, Saxagliptin, Linagliptin and Alogliptin. DPP-4 inhibitors can be used in combination with metformin, TZDs and sulfonylurea (Khardori, 2018). SGLT-2 inhibitors are agents that lower the glucose concentrations in the kidneys by increasing urinary glucose release (Ferrannini and Solini, 2012). Examples include Canagliflozin, Dapagliflozin and Empagliflozin (Khardori, 2018).

In T2D, the use of insulin is only prescribed when beta cells are exhausted (Li et al. 2015). Insulin treatment is divided into three categories according to their mechanism of action, which are basal (long-acting), prandial (rapid-acting) or pre-mixed (mix of long- and rapid-acting). Basal insulin treatment uses a human preparation called protamine Hagedorn (NPH) as well as other insulin analogues. The analogues include detemir and glargine. The insulin analogues have a prolonged action and result in lower hypoglycaemia rates compared to NPH. Their HbA1c reducing abilities are however comparable. The analogues regulate early postprandial hyperglycaemia and late postprandial hypoglycaemia (Hirsch, 2005). The use of pre-mixed insulin, which is a combination of basal and prandial insulin, is convenient as it reduces the number of daily insulin injections and simplify insulin treatment. Studies comparing the three insulin types show that the HbA1c lowering capabilities are comparable while basal insulin reduces the risk of hypoglycaemia and weight gain (Holman et al. 2009).

2. Tuberculosis

2.1. Tuberculosis prevalence

Tuberculosis (TB) is a disease caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb). The bacteria primarily affect the lungs of the infected individual. Despite being a curable disease, TB remains one of the top 10 causes of death globally (WHO, 2018). In 2017, there were 10 million incident cases of TB in the world and 1.3 million people died because of TB (Figure 1.1) (WHO, 2018). About 82% of TB deaths occurred in the African Region and the South-East Asia Region in 2017 (WHO, 2018). South Africa has the third highest incidence of TB following China and India and in 2017 the WHO estimated the incident of TB to be 500 000 in South Africa (Figure 1.1) (WHO, 2018). It is estimated that 80% of the South African population is latently infected with Mtb (Kanabus, 2017).



Figure 1.1: TB incidence of the highest TB endemic areas in the world reported in 2017 (WHO, 2018).

Approximately 25% of people worldwide are infected with Mtb (Houben and Dodd, 2016). In most individuals Mtb remains in a latent, asymptomatic state called latent TB (LTBI) and approximately 5-10% progress to the active, symptomatic form of TB within the first two years after infection (Comstock et al. 1974; Lillebaek et al. 2002). Latently infected individuals are at

increased risk of developing active TB when their immune systems becomes compromised due to infection with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Wood et al. 2011) or have T2D (Jeon and Murray, 2008).

In addition, there are about 157 505 people in South Africa who do not know that they have TB (WHO, 2018) and who unknowingly continue to spread the disease. Approximately 54 million lives were saved through TB diagnosis and treatment between 2000 and 2017 (WHO, 2018), which shows the importance of identifying and treating patients as a means to control the TB epidemic. Furthermore, to prevent and control TB disease, *Mycobacterium bovis* Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) is widely used as vaccine to prevent TB meningitis associated deaths in infants and young children (Trunz et al. 2006), however, it does not prevent the development of pulmonary TB in adults (Pai et al. 2016). Emphasis has therefore been placed on the development of more efficacious vaccines to prevent TB disease in adults.

2.2 Diagnostic tools for TB infection and disease

The successful management of TB depends on the ability to detect patients with the disease and initiating TB treatment. Currently, there are no diagnostic tools that can accurately differentiate between LTBI and TB disease (Tebruegge et al. 2010). Methods widely used to diagnose TB include microbiological, molecular as well as immunological tests and X-ray.

2.2.1 Immunological tests determine whether a patient's T cells have been sensitized to Mtb specific antigens (Andersen et al. 2000). The Tuberculin skin test (TST) using purified protein derivatives (PPD) is used to test for Mtb infection. The procedure involves injecting tuberculin PPD under the skin of the inner forearm. If the individual was exposed or infected with Mtb and has a memory T cell response, an induration \geq 5 mm in children and HIV positive individuals and \geq 10 mm in other high risk groups will form after 48–72 hours (CDC, 2016). It is however less specific as it can result in false positive readouts due to repeated TST testing, antigenic cross reactivity with BCG after vaccination or infection with non-tuberculous mycobacterium (NTM) (Tebruegge et al. 2010).

Interferon-gamma (IFN-y) release assays (IGRA) such as the Quantiferon (QFT) TB Gold intube, QFT TB Gold Plus and T-SPOT TB test are also used for the diagnosis of Mtb infection. These assays measure cell mediated immune responses in individuals suspected of being infected with Mtb. The QFT TB Gold in-tube test consists of three tubes coated with the following; a nil tube, containing no additives and serves as negative control to adjust for background IFN-y production, a TB-antigen tube, coated with an antigen cocktail containing region of difference-1 (RD-1) encoded Mtb antigens (early secretory antigen-6 (ESAT-6), culture filtrate protein-10 (CFP-10) and TB 7.7) and a mitogen tube, coated with phytohaemagglutin-P (PHA) that serves as a positive control. Whole blood is incubated overnight in the three tubes during which CD4⁺ T cells are stimulated to release IFN-y (Pai et al. 2008), which is measured by ELISA (Yi et al. 2016). The QFT TB Gold Plus assay utilizes two antigen tubes. The TB-1 antigen tube contains larger CFP-10 and ESAT-6 peptides that stimulates CD4⁺ T cells and the TB-2 antigen tube contains shorter peptides to stimulate CD8⁺ T cells, resulting in an increase in the sensitivity of the test (Yi et al. 2016; Losi et al. 2016). CD8⁺ sensitization is important because the IFN- γ is not only produced by CD4⁺ cells, also CD8⁺ cells (Petruccioli et al. 2016). CD8⁺ T cell activation is useful in immunocompromised individuals where there are poor CD4⁺ responses (Petruccioli et al. 2016).

Similarly to the QFT, the T-SPOT TB assay measures IFN-y produced by activated T cells after Mtb antigen stimulation and by doing so indicates whether a person has developed a memory T cell response against Mtb (Hill et al. 2005). PBMCs are isolated and incubated with ESAT-6 and CFP-10 in plates coated with anti-IFN-y antibodies (Wang et al. 2007). The IFN-y secreted by sensitized T cells is captured by specific antibodies on the plate and presented as spots (Oxford Immunote Ltd, Edinburgh, UK; Zhu et al. 2014). Depending on whether a patient presents with symptoms associated with TB or show lesions suggesting TB on chest X-ray or computerised tomography (CT) scan result, they will be diagnosed as either being LTBI or having TB when their T-SPOT result is positive (CDC, 2000).

2.2.2 Microbiological tests include staining for acid-fast bacilli in sputum smear as well as culturing of sputum samples. These techniques are not specific to Mtb and are time consuming (Murray and Thompson, 1980). Direct sputum smear microscopy utilizes the Ziehl Nielsen acid-fast staining to visualize Mycobacterial species including Mtb, *M. ulcerans, M. leprae* and NTMs using a microscope. A minimum of 5000 bacilli/mL are required for the test to be positive (Murray and Thompson, 1980). Therefore, a negative smear does not necessarily rule out TB and a positive smear does not confirm Mtb infection but rather the presence of Mycobacterial species.

The mycobacteria growth indicator tube (MGIT) automated mycobacterial detection system (BD BACTEC MGIT 960 system, BD) is the gold standard for TB diagnosis and requires at least 10 bacilli/mL for a positive diagnosis (Siddiqi and Rusch-Gerdes, 2006). The decontaminated sputum sample is inoculated in the tube and then incubated at 36°C and monitored continuously by a BACTEC 960 instrument for 42 days before the test can be deemed negative. The MGIT system allows the detection of mycobacterial growth using a fluorescent indicator embedded in silicone at the bottom of the tube. The fluorescent indicator is quenched by oxygen present in the broth. Once the growing mycobacteria replicate and utilise the available oxygen, the unmasked fluorescence is detected by the system and flagged as positive (O'Brien, 2016).

2.2.3 Molecular test

The GeneXpert MTB/RIF assay (GeneXpert MTB/RIF; Cepheid, Sunnyvale, CA) is a molecular test based on the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) principle. The GeneXpert MTB/RIF assay was developed in 2009 to simultaneously diagnose Mtb and rifampicin (RIF) drug resistance within two hours (Blakemore et al. 2010). This test is recommended for use as an initial diagnostic tool when MDR-TB is suspected and during HIV-TB co-infection (WHO, 2010), but is not yet a replacement for culture. In March 2017, the GeneXpert Ultra (GeneXpert MTB/RIF Ultra, Cepheid) was launched which has an increased sensitivity that is comparable to that of the MGIT (WHO, 2018). The WHO recommendations for the use of Xpert MTB/RIF also apply to the use of Ultra as the initial diagnostic test for all adults and children with signs and symptoms of TB (WHO, 2018).

2.3. Treatment of TB

LTBI treatment is not common in South Africa, because individuals with LTBI are likely to become re-infected with Mtb in such a high TB burden setting, and therefore prophylactic treatment is not only not effective (Churchyard et al. 2012), but may also fuel drug resistance. Prophylactic treatment is only given to children below the age of five years who are close contacts (CCs) of TB patients (WHO, 2018), individuals with LTBI who are HIV positive, women who are pregnant and individuals with other immunosuppressive conditions (Leutkemeyer, 2013). In low TB incident countries, on the other hand, preventative treatment is given to individuals with LTBI to prevent the development of TB (Lönnroth et al. 2015). The preventative therapy options includes a weekly dose of Rifapentine and INH for three to four months, a daily dose of RIF plus INH for three months or a daily dose of RIF for three to four months (WHO, 2018).

2.3.1 The standard TB treatment reduces the number of actively growing bacteria, prevents transmission of the bacilli and prevents death (Nahid et al. 2016). The standard first line treatment regimen for new and previously treated TB patients includes Ethambutol (EMB), INH, RIF and Pyrazinamide (PZA). Standard TB treatment consists of two phases; an initial two months intensive phase where EMB, INH, RIF and PZA are given followed by a continuation phase of four months where INH and RIF are given (WHO, 2018). Directly observed treatment short course (DOTS) is a strategy used, where patients are observed swallowing their medication to ensure completion of therapy (Nahid et al. 2016).

2.3.2 The treatment regimen for drug resistant TB, including RIF resistant TB (RR-TB), multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) and extensively drug resistant TB (XDR-TB) is different from the standard TB treatment and includes second-line drugs. MDR-TB occurs when Mtb is resistant to RIF and INH and both RR-TB and MDR-TB requires treatment with second-line drugs (WHO, 2018). XDR-TB occurs when Mtb acquires resistance to INH, RIF, at least one

fluoroquinolones (Levofloxacin and Moxifloxacin (Mfx)) and a second-line injectable drug (Amikacin, Capreomycin or Kanamycin) (WHO, 2018). In 2018, the WHO convened a Guideline Development Group who is revising the guidelines of the drug resistant TB regimen including the use of the shorter nine months MDR-TB regimen (WHO, 2018). The new guidelines will be released late in 2018. Medicines to select as first priority include the later generation of fluoroquinolones (levofloxacin or moxifloxacin), bedaquiline and linezolid. Other agents are included based on their relative potency. The use of injectable drugs is not required anymore and longer oral-only regimens are still available for many patients. The older injectable drugs, kanamycin and capreomycin, are no longer recommended for use by the WHO due to their association with severe side effects such as nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity.

3. Latent Mtb infection and T2D

Participants who are latently infected with Mtb and who have T2D are at a three times increased risk of developing TB compared to a healthy individual with LTBI (Jeon and Murray, 2008). Therefore, screening TB contacts for T2D is effective for identifying new T2D cases at high risk of developing TB (Restrepo et al. 2018). We enrolled 95 contacts after screening 247 individuals for T2D in South Africa and demonstrated that 17.4 % of TB contacts in our South African cohort have T2D and almost half of these individuals (43.9 %) are not aware that they have this disease (Restrepo et al. 2018). The factors associated with T2D such as hyperglycaemia and dyslipidaemia may play a role in the altered immune function associated with T2D, increasing the risk of TB development in individuals with LTBI and T2D (Restrepo et al. 2018). The immune profile of individuals with LTBI and T2D compared to LTBI without T2D have been characterized by reduced T helper 1 (Th1), Th17 and Th2 associated cytokines (Kumar et al. 2014; Figure 1.2). Cytokines associated with Th1 (interleukin-2 (IL-2), IFN- γ , Tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and Th17 (IL-17 A, IL-17F, IL-22) cells as well as the IL-1 family (IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-18) are important in resistance to TB (Cooper and Khader, 2008; O'Garra et al. 2013). In plasma of individuals with LTBI and T2D (LTBI-T2D), IL-2, IFNy and TNF- α were significantly lower compared to LTBI (without T2D) (Kumar et al. 2014). IL-17F was significanly lower while IL-22 was significantly higher in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. IL-1 family cytokines such as IL-1β and IL-18 were lower in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI and IL-1α was not different between the two groups (Kumar et al. 2014). The pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6, IL-12 and granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) measured in plasma were the same in both groups (Kumar et al. 2014). Th2 (IL-4, IL-5, IL-13) associated and regulatory (IL-10, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)) cytokines, which play a role in the progression to TB disease (O'Garra et al. 2013), were not significantly different in plasma between LTBI-T2D and LTBI (Kumar et al. 2014). Only IL-10 was significantly lower in plasma of LTBI-T2D patients compared to individuals with LTBI. The concentration of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17A and IL-10 measured in whole blood stimulated with Mtb antigens (CFP-10, ESAT-6 and TB7.7), using the QFT-intube assay, are significantly lower in LTBI-T2D patients compared to individuals with LTBI (Kumar et al. 2014).



Figure 1.2 The influence of T2D on the onset of TB, dysregulated immune response and clinical presentation of the TB during TB-T2D comborbidity (adapted from (Restrepo, 2016)).

4. TB and T2D

Globally, 790 000 TB cases were attributable to T2D and 880 000 people who had HIV also had TB (WHO, 2018). HIV infection is accountable for 8.7% and T2D for 7.5% of TB cases in the world in 2017 (WHO, 2018). However, since there are about 36 million HIV infected people and 460 million people with T2D (WHO, 2018), it is said that there will be more TB-T2D cases than TB-HIV (Lonnroth et al. 2014). About 75% of all people with T2D live in low- and middle-income countries, where TB also flourishes (Kapur et al. 2016). About 25% of TB cases in India has T2D and 50% stress induced hyperglycaemia (Viswanathan et al. 2012). Among the TB patients with T2D, approximately 60% were previously diagnosed with T2D, which may have a negative effect on the immune response and could enhance TB morbidity (Viswanathan et al. 2012). In South India in 2011, T2D was a greater risk factor for TB (30.9%) than HIV (10.6%) (Gupta et al. 2011). A Mexican study showed that 39% of patients with T2D had TB, which is roughly five times more than TB cases attributable to HIV (Restrepo et al. 2011). In SSA, where the TB incidence is high, little is known about how T2D affects the TB burden (Skowroński et al. 2014), and there is an urgent need for such studies. Stopping the

rise of T2D globally would avoid 6 million new incident cases and 1.1 million TB deaths during a 20 year period (Pan et al. 2015). Should interventions reduce the T2D incidence by 35%, 7.8 million TB cases and 1.5 million TB deaths could be averted by 2035 (Pan et al. 2015). An estimated increase in T2D in TB endemic areas contributes to the challenge to control TB disease (International Diabetes Federation, 2015; Pereira et al. 2016). Patients with poorly controlled T2D, in particular, are at increased risk of developing active TB (Baker et al 2012) and are at increased risk of poor TB treatment outcome and death (Jeon and Murray, 2008; Dolley et al. 2009; Restrepo et al. 2011) (Figure 1.2).

Although studies have generally identified T2D as a risk factor for TB disease development rather than TB disease as a risk factor for the onset of T2D (Stevenson et al. 2007; Harries et al. 2010), we cannot rule out this possibility, as a contributing factor to the increase in TB-T2D cases (Critchley et al. 2017), as TB (in absence of T2D) is well known to be associated with transient stress induced hyperglycaemia (Magee et al. 2018). T2D is not only associated with TB disease progression from LTBI, but is also linked to more severe clinical presentation of TB disease. Patients with TB-T2D are more likely to present with pulmonary and not extrapulmonary TB, have more cavities, increased TB severity scores, they are contagious for longer due to delayed culture conversion rates and at increased risk of MDR-TB (Fisher-Hoch et al. 2008; Gil-Santana et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2017) (Figure 1.2; Restrepo, 2016). The latter is somewhat controversial as some studies do not show an association between T2D and MDR-TB (Magee et al. 2013; Chiang et al. 2015). TB-T2D patients compared to TB with no T2D are characterized by alterations in Th1 and Th17 cytokines (Kumar et al. 2013). Th1 (IL-2, IFN-y, TNF- α), Th17 (IL-17A, IL-22) and regulatory (IL-10 and TGF- β) cytokines were previously compared between TB-T2D and TB patients (Kumar et al. 2013). IL-22 was significantly lower in TB-T2D whereas IL-2, IFN-y, IL-17, IL-10 and IL-5 were significantly higher in TB-T2D in comparison to TB patients (Kumar et al. 2013a; Kumar et al. 2013b). There was no difference in the concentration of TNF- α and TGF- β between the two groups. In addition, IL-1 family members (IL-1 β , IL-18) and other pro-inflammatory (IL-6) cytokines were higher and type 1 interferon (IFN- β) lower in the plasma of TB-T2D patients compared to TB patients (Kumar et al. 2013). IL-12, GM-CSF, IL-1a, IFN-a, IL-8, Chemokine (C-C) motif ligand 11 (CCL11), CCL2, CCL4, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), Chemokine (C-X-C) motif ligand CXCL10 and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) were not significantly different between the two groups (Kumar et al. 2013).

In unstimulated serum (obtained from the QFT in-tube assay), IFN-y, TNF- α , IL-17 and IL-1 were significantly elevated in TB-T2D patients compared to TB patients. Similarly, the same was seen after measuring the cytokines in Mtb-antigen stimulated serum. IL-10 was also significantly higher in TB-T2D compared to TB, but IL-1 β was not different between the groups

in this sample type (Kumar et al. 2013). When using broncho alveolar lavage (BAL), which is a representative sample of the site of disease, IFN- γ is higher and IL-10 lower in TB-T2D compared to TB (Sun et al. 2012).

5. Innate immunity

5.1 Innate immunity in TB

The innate immune response during Mtb infection is important and some individuals are able to clear the infection without developing an adaptive immune response to Mtb, also referred to as early clearance (EC) (Verrall et al. 2013). After EC, the TST and/or IGRA tests remain negative because the T cells are not primed (Figure 1.3). If EC is not achieved, CD4⁺T cells secreting IFN-γ are subsequently recruited and the adaptive response initiated (Verrall et al. 2013). Once T cells are primed and effector memory T cells against Mtb antigens are in circulation, the TST or IGRA becomes positive (Figure 1.3). The major host innate immune cells that are important during Mtb exposure are macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils and the natural killer (NK) cells (Sia et al. 2015). Mtb interacts with the receptors expressed on the surface of these innate cells called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as toll-like receptors (TLRs), Nod-like receptors (NLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) (Killick et al. 2013).



Figure 1.3: Possible outcomes after Mtb exposure: 1) Stage I and stage II showing early clearance which involves innate immune response, and no apparent adaptive immune response, resulting in IFN-y release assay (IGRA) and tuberculin sensitivity test (TST) negativity, 2) stage III involving adaptive immune response and delayed clearance or latent infection shown by IGRA/TST positivity (adapted from Verrall et al. 2014).

Macrophages are known to be the primary defence cell type during the initial encounter with Mtb. Mtb pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as glycolipids, lipoproteins and carbohydrates are recognized by PRRs on macrophages and induce a network of signalling pathways that will favour antimicrobial effector functions within macrophages (Sia et al. 2015). The mechanisms used by macrophages to eliminate Mtb involve inflammasome activation, production of oxygen and nitrogen components, phagosome acidification, autophagy of intracellular Mtb and apoptosis (Cadena et al. 2016). IFN-y plays an important role in host response against Mtb infection and activates macrophages to kill and restrict Mtb growth. In addition, IFN-y induces the production of cytokines such as IL-12 and TNF- α by macrophages and other myeloid cells while inhibiting IL-10 production (Flynn et al. 1993; MacMicking et al. 1997; Liu et al. 2003; Mcnab et al. 2014). Type 1 interferons; IFN-α and IFNβ are associated with unfavourable outcomes during Mtb infection (McNab et al. 2014) through inhibition of macrophages responsiveness to IFN-y and subsequent activation (Mcnab et al. 2014). Studies have shown decreased bacterial load and increased survival of mice when IFN- α and IFN- β signalling are inhibited (Manca et al. 2005; Ordway et al. 2007; Stanley et al. 2007). Mtb infected IFN- α R1 knock out mice had a significantly lower bacterial burden compared to wild type mice (Mcnab et al. 2014). When knock out mice were treated with both IFN-β and IFN-y, no change in bacterial load was observed, suggesting that type I IFNs inhibit macrophage restriction of Mtb growth and killing in response to IFN-y (Mcnab et al. 2014). Type I IFNs may therefore act to interrupt Th1 immune response, by making macrophages unresponsive to IFN-y and subsequently suppressing production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Additionally, type I IFNs may act directly to prevent IFN-y mediated killing of Mtb by macrophages, allowing Mtb to replicate within these cells (Mcnab et al. 2014). The role of type 1 IFNs is not universally observed, type 1 IFNs were shown to reduce the number of macrophages in the lung, reducing Mtb target cells in the lung, while addition of IFN-y enhances their ability to restrict bacterial Mtb growth (Desvignes et al. 2012). It is speculated that the contradicting results are due to the different Mtb strain used and differences in study designs (Mcnab et al. 2014).

DCs are key players in innate immunity during Mtb infection (Bhatt and Salgame, 2007) and are important for the transitioning from innate to adaptive immune response (Prendergast and Kirman, 2013). They are antigen presenting cells (APCs) and secrete cytokines that activate naive lymphocytes (Mellman et al. 2001; Sia et al. 2015). DCs secrete IL-12 (Giacomini et al. 2001), which subsequently activate NK cells and T cells to produce IFN-y. DC-specific ICAM-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) is the predominant receptor on human DCs that recognises Mtb (Tailleux et al. 2003). The mycobacterial macrophage receptors such as complement receptor (CR3) and mannose receptor (MR) play a minor role in the recognition of

13

mycobacterial ligand lipoglycan lipoarabinomannan (LAM) by DCs. This may be due to the greater abundance of DC-SIGN on DCs relative to CR3 and MR (Tailleux et al. 2003).

Tailleux et al. investigated DC-SIGN trafficking in DCs infected with GFP-expressing Mtb *H37Rv* using confocal microscopy (Tailleux et al. 2003). During early phagocytosis (first hour), most bacilli were detected on the cellular membrane of DCs or co-localized with DC-SIGN in nascent phagosomes. DC-SIGN staining was not detected on phagosomes that had detached from the plasma membrane, indicating that it was excluded from the vacuoles immediately after phagocytosis (Tailleux et al. 2003). It is thus thought that DC-SIGN is rapidly expelled from the phagosome and recycled to the cell membrane (Tailleux et al. 2003). The intracellular trafficking pattern of DC-SIGN in Mtb infected DCs could also indicate that DC-SIGN transports the mycobacterial glycolipids from the bacterial vacuole to various subcellular compartments, where glycolipids could be loaded onto CD1 molecules for presentation to CD1 restricted lymphocytes (Schaible et al. 2000). Mtb exploits this pathway to gain access to DCs via DC-SIGN. In doing so they can impair DC function and down-regulate DC mediated responses (Geijtenbeek et al. 2003; Mihret, 2012).

NK cells form part of the innate immune response, and have been identified as inflammatory cytokine producing and cytotoxic lymphocytes and are largely known for their role in protection against viral infections and tumorigenesis (Sivori et al. 1997; Moretta et al. 2002), as well as controlling Mtb infection (Guerra et al. 2012). NK cells mediate their effector function indirectly by activating macrophages via IFN-y and directly through the production of cytotoxic granules such as perforin, granzyme and granulysin (Liu et al. 2017). NK cells can also kill Mtb infected monocytes through direct contact and not via IFN-y or cytotoxic granules (Brill et al. 2001). Additionally, it has been reported that NK cells can produce IL-22 and restrict intracellular Mtb growth by enhancing phagolysosomal fusion (Dhiman et al. 2003; Allen et al. 2015). Furthermore, IL-21 produced by T cells plays a role in the regulation of NK cell function and NK cells activated by IL-21 produce cytotoxic granules that lyse Mtb infected monocytes (Paidipally et al. 2018). NK cells are associated with early resistance against intracellular pathogens (Jungueira-kipnis et al. 2003). Mice infected with Mtb by aerosol, have an increased frequency of IFN-y producing NK cells in their lungs (Junqueira-Kipnis et al. 2003). After depleting the NK cells, there was no difference in the lung bacterial burden, suggesting that removing NK cells do not necessarily have an impact in the early protective response to Mtb. Using cell-type deconvolution of transcriptomic data from several cohorts of different ages, genetic backgrounds, geographical locations and infection stages, an increase in the abundance of circulating NK cells in individuals with LTBI, with a corresponding decrease during active disease and higher levels upon clinical cure are features that are common to all cohorts (Chowdhury et al. 2018).

Neutrophils play an important role in TB immunity, they are the first, and most abundant cell type to be recruited to the lung after Mtb infection (Korbel et al. 2008). The role of neutrophils during Mtb infection is conflicting, for example, antimicrobial effectors from neutrophil granules such as elastase, collagenase, and myeloperoxidase can mediate both anti-mycobacterial activity and immunopathology in human TB (Dallenga and Schaible, 2016; Sia et al. 2015). One mechanism which leads to immunopathology involves the ESAT-6 mediated induction of an intracellular calcium overload in neutrophils which is followed by necrosis of the cells and the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Francis et al. 2014). Death of neutrophils results in NETs which contain DNA, myeloperoxides and metalloproteinases (Parker et al. 2012; Francis et al. 2014). A neutrophil-driven IFN-inducible gene profile, consisting of both IFN-y and type 1 IFN- α and - β signalling was reported to be a signature for TB disease and to be involved in the pathogenesis of TB (Berry et al. 2010). Absolute neutrophil counts are high in TB patients at diagnosis and reduce to levels compared to healthy controls at the end of TB treatment (Veenstra et al. 2006). In addition, this increase in blood neutrophils is associated with delayed sputum conversion (Martineau et al. 2011). Since the discovery of the IFN related gene signature, many investigated the role of type 1 IFN in innate immune responses during Mtb infection (Donovan et al. 2017). Type I IFN signatures in TB patients are associated with neutrophils and studies in mice with increased susceptibility to Mtb suggest that type I IFN signalling facilitates infection of permissive neutrophils resulting in damaging tissue pathology (Donovan et al. 2017). IFN-αR knock out in mice known to be susceptible to Mtb showed increased survival compared to wild type mice infected with Mtb H37Rv (Dorhoi et al. 2014). Furthermore, early depletion of neutrophils rescued TB-susceptible mice to levels observed in mice lacking IFN- α R1. It was concluded that type 1 IFN alters early innate events at the site of Mtb invasion leading to fatal immunopathology (Dorhoi et al. 2014). Despite the immunopathology aspect of neutrophils (Berry et al. 2010), they restrict Mtb growth in vitro (Korbel et al. 2008). Neutrophil peptides 1-3, cathelicidin LL 37 and lipocalin 2, have the ability to restrict Mtb growth and the depletion of neutrophils in whole blood results in poor Mtb control (Martineau et al. 2007). Loss of autophagy related gene 5 by neutrophils sensitizes mice to Mtb infection (Kimmey et al. 2015). Type 1 IFN controls Mycobacterium bovis and Mycobacterium smegmatis growth in infected mice (Kuchtey et al. 2006; Ruangkiattikul et al. 2017). The exact role of neutrophils during Mtb infection is controversial and this has been attributed to the difficulties of working with the cells. They are short lived cells, easily activated and cannot be cryopreserved (Lowe et al. 2012). There is thus an urgent need for further studies on the role of neutrophils during Mtb infection.

5.2 Innate immunity in TB-T2D

A study conducted by Gomez and colleagues showed that there is a reduced association of Mtb with monocytes in T2D patients (Gomez et al. 2013), suggesting that the ability of the host cells to recognize Mtb is altered. The reduced association was likely due to the reduced expression of complement and Fc-gamma receptors (Restrepo et al. 2014). Initially, it was shown that alveolar macrophages (AMs) in TB-T2D patients are less activated compared to TB patients, which may contribute to susceptibility to Mtb infection (Wang et al. 1999; Lecube et al. 2011). TB patients have hypodense AMs which are also correlated to severity of disease, and activation. TB-T2D patients have low hypodense AMs suggestive of less activation (Wang et al. 1999). The level of activation was measured by the ability of cells to phagocytose *E.coli* bioparticles. Phagocytic capacity of AMs from TB-T2D is also lower compared to AMs from TB patients (Lecube et al. 2011). Furthermore, altered innate immunity was shown in TB-T2D using a mouse model (Vallerskog et al. 2011). Mice had reduced expression of chemokine CCL2 and CCL5, that stimulate migration of macrophages and DC to the lung (Vallerskog et al. 2011). The delay in macrophage recruitment results in delayed priming of the adaptive immune response that is necessary to restrict Mtb replication (Vallerskog et al. 2011).

In the lung, DCs are highly represented but if DCs cannot migrate from the lung to the draining lymph nodes, their ability to activate antigen specific T cells is compromised (Khader et al. 2006). T2D influences the phenotype and function of DCs in Mtb infected individuals and patients with TB (Kumar et al. 2015). The frequencies of DC are lower in Mtb infected individuals and TB patients with T2D compared to no T2D (Kumar et al. 2015). In addition, DCs were found to show a trend towards a negative correlation with hyperglycaemia during TB disease (Kumar et al. 2016). Kumar et al. investigated the influence of TB treatment on the frequency of DCs (kumar et al. 2016). TB patients without T2D did not show any difference in the frequency of DCs during TB treatment while TB-T2D showed a diminished DC frequency at baseline and at month two of TB treatment, which increased at month 6 (Kumar et al. 2016). The authors suggested that hyperglycaemia drives these alterations in the frequency of DCs in TB (Kumar et al. 2016).

TB-T2D patients have altered NK cell responses with elevated frequencies of TNF-α, IL-17A and IL-17F secreting NK cells compared to TB patients, following stimulation of whole blood with Mtb antigens (ESAT-6 and CFP-10) (Kumar et al. 2015). The frequency of NK cells expressing the degranulation molecule, CD107a, was diminished in TB-T2D compared to TB during Mtb antigen stimulation (Kumar et al. 2015). Since T2D alters the NK cell response to Mtb, it was suggested that this alteration contributes to the increase in disease severity and/or immune-mediated pathology observed in TB patients with T2D (Kumar et al. 2015). In whole blood from T2D patients and healthy individuals, the frequency of NK cells was not different

between the groups (Guo et al 2012). The expression of natural killer group 2 (NKG2D) member was, however, positively correlated to body mass index and the CD107a produced by NK cells was higher in the T2D patients than controls. It was suggested that the activated NK cells may be involved in obesity dependent chronic inflammation associated with T2D pathogenesis (Guo et al. 2012).

As previously mentioned, neutrophils play an important role in TB immunity (Korbel et al. 2008). The role of neutrophils in recurrence and increased susceptibility to mycobacterial infection in T2D have been suggested before (Moutschen et al. 1992). TB-T2D have been associated with increased neutrophilic rich inflammation (Andrade et al. 2014; Prada-medina et al. 2017). There is a significantly higher number of neutrophils in blood of T2D patients, but they exhibit reduced capacity to phagocytose mycobacteria (Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017). Chemotaxis of neutrophils is lower in diabetic patients compared to healthy controls (Tater et al. 1987). Furthermore, activation of neutrophils and bactericidal activity was lower in neutrophils from diabetic patients compared to healthy individuals (Delamaire et al. 1997). In a streptozotocin (STZ) induced murine model of chronic diabetes (diabetes induced by STZ for more than three months) there was a higher Mtb burden in the lungs compared to normal non-diabetic mice (Martens et al. 2007), highlighting the inability of diabetic mice to control Mtb. Mycobactericidal activity of neutrophils did not differ between T2D patients and healthy individuals when their PBMCs were infected with Mtb (Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017). Although most reports show impaired phagocytic activity, chemotaxis and activation of neutrophils in T2D compared to healthy individuals (Delamaire et al. 1997; Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017), contradicting results in the ability of neutrophils to kill bacteria exist. C3Heb/FeJ mice are highly susceptible to Mtb and form hypoxic, neutrophilic driven, necrotic granulomas upon infection with Mtb (Vilaplana et al. 2013). Treatment with ibuprofen for three to four weeks, after infection, improved both pathology and mycobacterial loads. After one week of ibuprofen treatment, fewer and smaller lung lesions with intra-alveolar neutrophils were observed in treated mice, whereas untreated mice had central caseous necrotic areas. Treated mice also had reduced pulmonary mycobacterial burden and extended survival (Vilaplana et al. 2013). This study shows that repurposing this widely used drug, suitable for children, ameliorates massive neutrophilic-associated inflammation upon Mtb infection (Dallenga and Schaible, 2016). The reported data shows that neutrophilic inflammation in T2D patients could also be targeted for host directed therapy (HDT) for TB treatment in TB-T2D patients (Prada-Medina et al. 2017).

6. Innate-like T cells

Innate-like T cells can rapidly produce cytokines after exposure to an antigen and are implicated in the defence against Mtb infection (Huang, 2016). They are activated by the

major histocompatibility (MHC) class 1-like molecules (Huang, 2016). Innate-like T cells are mostly restricted by Cluster of differentiation 1 (CD1) and MHC-related protein 1 (MR1) (Huang, 2016). CD1 is restricted to invariant natural killer T (NKT) and MR1 is restricted to mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. Although innate-like T cells are known to be abundant in mucosal sites (Dusseaux et al. 2011; Kenna et al. 2003), MR1, CD1a and CD1c restricted T cells are also frequent in the periphery (Gold et al. 2010; de Lalla et al. 2011; Jong et al. 2014). The importance of innate-like T cells is due to their ability to express invariant T cell receptor α (TCR α) sequences (Porcelli et al. 1993).

6.1 Innate-like T cells in TB

NKT cells are predominantly CD8⁺ (Ho et al. 2002; Gumperz et al. 2002) and express an invariant TCRV α 24 chain paired with the TCRV β 11 chain, which enables the recognition of glycolipid antigens such as α -galactosylceramide (α -GalCer) on the MHC-1 like molecule CD1d (Godfrey et al. 2004). NKT cells express the surface receptor NK1.1, which is also expressed on NK cells (Tudhope et al. 2010). NKT cells are not cytotoxic (Smyth et al. 2002), even though they express perforin, Fas ligand (FASL) and NKG2D (Godfrey et al. 2004). Upon activation, NKT cells upregulate CD40L and activate monocytes, DCs, NK, T and B cells by producing IFN-y and IL-4, showing their importance in the transition from innate to adaptive immunity (Kaer, 2005; Cerundolo et al. 2009). NKT cells can function as either regulatory or effector cells in different diseases (Godfrey et al. 2004; Wermeling et al. 2010). The low frequency of NKT cells in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (between 0.05-0.92%) (Montoya et al. 2007), impacts the study of these cells in humans. The frequency of NKT cells can be expanded by alpha galactosaceramide and cultured for longer period with autologous irradiated mononuclear cells which can then change their surface receptors and may differ from unmanipulated resting NKT cells (Montoya et al. 2007).

In a murine Mtb infection model, treatment with αGalCer improved infection outcome by activating T cells through NKT cell activation, similarly to mice that were treated with standard TB chemotherapy (Sada-ovalle et al. 2010). In another study, co-culturing splenocytes from uninfected mice with Mtb infected macrophages, showed suppressed bacterial load due to NKT cell function (Sada-ovalle et al. 2008). NKT cells have been reported to play a protective role in the immune response of mice against Mtb, but not much is known about their role in human Mtb (Kee et al. 2012). To address this, PBMCs were isolated and were phenotypically defined using flow cytometry. Patients with TB disease had a lower frequency of NKT cells compared to individuals with LTBI (Kee et al. 2012; Montoya et al. 2008; Snyder-cappione et al. 2007; Sutherland et al. 2009). NKT cell frequencies are similar in individuals with LTBI and healthy controls, but higher than TB patients (Snyder-cappione et al. 2007; Sutherland et al. 2009). In contrast to these studies, Veenstra et al. showed that the frequency of NKT cells in

TB patients was higher compared to healthy controls and correlated with a faster TB treatment response (Veenstra et al. 2006). When used in combination with NK cells they were identified as variables indicating the likelihood of culture conversion early during TB treatment (Veenstra et al. 2006). It was suggested that these cells hold promise to be considered as markers for TB treatment response (Veenstra et al. 2006).

MAIT cells are predominantly CD8⁺, with a small subset being CD4⁺ (Reantragoon et al. 2016). These cells express an invariant TCRVα7.2, C-type lectin-like receptor CD161 and dipeptidase CD26 and produce IFN-γ, granzyme B, granulysin and IL-17 (Gold and Lewinsohn, 2013; Sharma et al. 2015). MAIT cells are activated by riboflavin precursor metabolites in an MR1 dependent manner (Kjer-Nielsen et al. 2012;Gold and Lewinsohn, 2011). They can also be activated by cytokines in a MR1 independent manner owing to IL-18R, IL-12R and IFNR that are expressed on the MAIT cells (Le Bourhis et al. 2011;Ussher et al. 2015). MAIT cells upregulate granzyme B and perforin following activation and greatly enhance their killing ability of the infected cells (Dusseaux et al. 2011; Kurioka et al. 2014). In addition, MAIT cells have chemokine receptors, CCR2, CCR5, CCR6 and CXCR6 that allows them to reside in mucosal tissues (Dusseaux et al. 2011; Le Bourhis et al. 2011) (Figure 1.4). They also express transcription factors including RAR-related orphan receptor γt (RORγt), T-bet and pro-myelocytic leukemia zinc-finger (PLZF) at rest (Leeansyah et al. 2014; Walker et al. 2012) (Figure 1.4).

MAIT cells predominantly reside in the gut where their accumulation is dependent on MR1 expressing B cells and commensal flora (Martin et al. 2009). They also occur in the blood where 1-10% of the T cells are MAIT cells (Dusseaux et al. 2011). The frequency of MAIT cells in bacterial and viral infections, as well as in metabolic and autoimmune diseases vary (Billerbeck et al. 2010; Magalhaes et al. 2015; Loh et al. 2016; Petersone and Walker, 2017), implying that they play an important role in the regulation of immune responses in these diseases. Low frequencies of MAIT cells in the blood during TB disease is due to their migration to the site of disease (Gold et al. 2010). Wong et al. also demonstrated this after measuring MAIT cell frequencies in the broncho alveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and blood of TB patients and TB-HIV co-infected patients (Wong et al. 2012), higher frequencies of MAIT cells were found in the BALF than in the periphery. The addition of MAIT cells to BCG-infected macrophages resulted in the increased killing of the bacteria, demonstrating the protective role MAIT cells play during Mtb infection (Chua et al. 2012). MAIT cells not only assist in the control of bacterial infection, but also in the detection of bacterially infected cells (Gold et al. 2010; Le Bourhis et al, 2010). Cytokines such as IL-12, IL-18 produced by activated macrophages during Mtb infection can activate MAIT cells to release IFN-y and TNF- α (Le Bourhis et al. 2011). Since MAIT cell frequencies are reduced during TB disease, it is
suggested that these cells can be used as biomarkers to differentiate between LTBI and active TB. In addition, MAIT cell frequencies can be used to monitor TB treatment outcomes (Sharma et al. 2015).



Figure 1.4: MAIT cell phenotype and different cellular activation pathways. Mature MAIT cells in peripheral blood express the chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5, CCR6, CXCR6, the C-type lectin-like receptor CD161, the dipeptidase CD26 and a CD45RO+CCR7– effector memory phenotype, with the majority of human MAIT cells expressing the CD8 co-receptor. MAIT cells also express the transcription factors RAR-related orphan receptor γ t (ROR γ t), T-bet and promyelocytic leukemia zinc-finger (PLZF) at rest. During bacterial infection, derivatives of the riboflavin biosynthesis pathway are presented by MR1 on the surface of APCs. Alternatively, viruses can also rapidly activate MAIT cells in an MR1-independent manner due to the induction of IL-18, IL-12 and IFN α . Activated MAIT cells express IFN- γ , TNF- α , granzyme B, perforin and IL-17 (Reproduced from (Kurioka et al. 2016)).

6.2 Innate-like T cells in TB and T2D

Little is known about the role of NKT cells in the pathogenesis of T2D. To address this, blood from T2D patients and healthy controls were investigated for activated and inhibitory NKT cells by using flow cytometry (Guo et al. 2012). There was no difference in the frequency of NKT cells in T2D patients compared to healthy individuals (Guo et al. 2012). NKT cell frequency was also examined in PBMCs and BALF of TB patients with and without T2D (Zhang et al. 2011). There were more NKT cells in blood and BALF from TB patients with T2D compared to TB without T2D (Zhang et al. 2011). Further analysis in PBMCs showed that NKT cells were higher in TB regardless of T2D status but lower in T2D patients with no TB and also in healthy controls (Zhang et al. 2011). This led to suggest that NKT cells measurements could be potential diagnostic marker for TB disease (Zhang et al. 2011).

In a disease such as DM which is a risk factor for TB, the frequency of MAIT cells are altered (Magalhaes et al. 2015). MAIT cells were shown to be activated under changes in the make up of the gut microbiota, their activated form are associated with increased Th1 and Th17 cytokines (Andreone et al. 2018). MAIT cells exhibiting high levels of granzyme B as well as proinflammatory cytokines are thought to directly kill beta cells in humans with T1D (Rouxel et al. 2017), which could have an effect on the production of insulin. In obesity, however, MAIT cells were correlated to fasting insulin levels in children (Carolan et al. 2015) and negatively correlated to body mass index (BMI) in adults (Carolan et al 2015). Furthermore, bariatric surgery improved metabolic parameters such as BMI, HbA1c, leptin, adiponectin and was also associated with increased MAIT cell frequency (Magalhaes et al. 2015). There is however, no information on the association of MAIT cell frequencies with hormones like cortisol or DHEA which are known to have immunomodulatory effects (Buford et al. 2008; Dong et al. 2016). In end stage renal disease (ESRD), a complication of DM, MAIT cells are diminished (Juno et al. 2018). Individuals with LTBI suffering from ESRD have a 7-50 fold chance of developing TB (Hu et al. 2018; Mota et al. 2015). The MAIT cells in patients with ESRD have altered GM-CSF responses to microbial stimulation (Juno et al. 2018). Aging has also been associated with a reduction in MAIT cells and their ability to produce IFN-y (Geest et al. 2018), in addition, T2D is also common in elderly people (Kirkman et al. 2012). Whether the alterations in MAIT cells in T2D patients are associated with the susceptibility of these patients to develop TB is not known. What we do know is that they are diminished and less activated in T2D as shown by the reduced expression of CD69 and CD25 as well as reduced IFN-y and TNF-a production (Magalhaes et al. 2015). However, the exact role of MAIT cells in metabolic diseases is unclear. Furthermore, little is also known about MAIT cell frequencies and functions in TB-T2D patients.

7. Adaptive immunity

7.1 Adaptive immunity in TB

Adaptive immunity is an antigen specific response and has memory, to be able to mount an immune response during a second encounter with the same antigen. The ability of the host to recognize pathogens is important for the initiation of the adaptive immune response to an infection (Chackerian et al. 2002). The adaptive immune response is characterized by the activation of T (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) and B lymphocytes. Infected innate cells, like macrophages and DCs, present antigens to the T lymphocytes (Dgeda et al. 2010). Upon recognizing the antigen, naïve T cells will differentiate into T cytotoxic lymphocytes (TCL (CD8⁺)), T helper cells (Th1, Th2, Th17) and T regulatory (Treg) cells, to name a few. Th17 cells are known to secrete cytokines, such as IL-17, IL-21 and IL-22, which are responsible for the recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to the site of infection (Dheda et al. 2010). Tregs inhibit the

production of cytokines and T cell proliferation, and modulate Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses (Josten and Ottenhof, 2008). It is known that progressive TB disease is associated with low Th1 and high Th2 activity, whereas in close contacts (CCs) of TB patients there is a high Th1/Th2 ratio (Lienhardt et al. 2002). Patients who present with a favourable outcome at the end of TB treatment show a higher Th1/Th2 ratio as opposed to patients with poor clinical outcome (Lienhardt et al. 2002). Mtb infection induces IFN-y responses in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, which play a central role in the containment and killing of the bacterium (Kaufman and McMichael, 2005). The Th1 cells produce IFN-y, IL-2, TNF- α , IL-12, GM-CSF that incite the activation of Th1, CD8⁺ CTL, macrophages and neutrophils to kill the invading pathogen (Dgeda et al. 2010). Once activated, CD8⁺ cells secrete granulysin, granzyme and perforins, and directly kill the cells infected with Mtb (Ngai et al. 2007).

Cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13 are produced by Th2 cells and activate B lymphocytes. B cells are responsible for antibody production and antigen presentation (Dheda et al. 2010). The presence of B cells and antibody (Ab)-responsive immune cells in TB granulomas supports their involvement in immune responses against Mtb infection (Tsai et al. 2006). The role of B cells have been studied in mice, where mice deficient in B cells showed higher splenic, lung and liver bacterial loads, six weeks after intravenous Mtb infection compared to mice without B cell deficiency. B cells can therefore exert beneficial effects on host responses to tuberculous infection (Vordermeier et al. 1996). In another study, B cell knock out mice were aerosol infected with a low dose of a clinical Mtb strain (CDC 1551) and compared to wild type mice (Bosio et al. 2000). B cell knock out (BKO) mice had less lesions in the lung and delayed dissemination of bacteria from lungs to peripheral organs. BKO mice in which naive B cells were reintroduced, but not mice given Mtb specific antibodies (before infection), developed pulmonary granulomas and dissemination patterns similar to wild type mice (Bosio et al. 2000). Mtb specific antibodies were obtained through cardiac puncture of mice that were infected with the Mtb CDC 1551 strain for 30 days, a period associated with the secretion of antibodies against a variety of mycobacterial antigens (Huygen et al. 1990). In this report, B cells were associated with increased cellular infiltration of the lungs by macrophages, neutrophils and CD8⁺ T cells in wild type mice (Bosio et al. 2000). Although there is contradicting reports on the role of B cells in TB, their functions, such as antibody production and antigen presentation, show that they are an important immune cell type that requires further exploring.

7.2 Adaptive immunity in TB-T2D

TB-T2D is characterized by increased levels of Th1 (IFN-y, TNF- α , and IL-2), Th2 (IL-5, IL-10) and Th17 (IL17-A) cytokine responses (Kumar, et al. 2013). Stimulation of whole blood from TB-T2D patients with PPD, showed a higher Th1 cytokine profile but not Th2 cytokines

(Restrepo et al. 2008). Th1 and Th17 cytokines positively correlate with HbA1c which means that patients with poorly controlled DM have higher levels of these cytokines (Kumar et al. 2013). These increased Th1 and Th17 mediated cellular responses are likely contributing to increased immune pathology in TB disease during T2D (Kumar et al. 2013). Recently, Wang et al. found that the proportion of Th2 and Th17 cells, but not Th1 cells, are significantly increased in TB patients with T2D after antigen stimulation of whole blood cells (Wang et al. 2018). These findings were confirmed in a study where PBMCs were stimulated with Mtb antigens and TB-T2D patients showed lower Th1/Th2 cytokine ratios, and a higher Th2 bias (Al-Attiyah and Mustafa, 2009). The decrease in Th1/Th2 ratio noted by Wang et al. in TB patients with T2D suggests there is an anti-inflammatory or Th2 bias in these patients that could contribute to the increased susceptibility seen in these patients (Wang et al. 2018). However in our cytokine analysis we found that TB-T2D patients had higher Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13) (Manuscript in preparation).

High expression of IL-22 is beneficial to the host in many infectious and inflammatory disorders, and if produced in excess can cause immunopathology (Rutz et al. 2013). In TB-T2D, this cytokine was reported to be expressed at lower levels compared to TB patients (Kumar et al. 2013). In addition, TB-T2D has also been associated with increased systemic levels of pro-inflammatory (IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-18) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10) cytokines (Kumar et al. 2013). Varying results have been reported with some showing no difference in Th1 cytokines in TB patients with and without T2D (Gan et al. 2014; Stalenhoef et al. 2008).

The influence of T2D on immune cells were investigated by staining whole blood with monoclonal antibodies for various immune cell types using flow cytometry (Kumar et al. 2015). TB-T2D patients have lower frequencies of effector memory CD8⁺ T cells and higher frequencies of central memory T cells compared to TB patients. Classical memory B cells were higher in TB-T2D compared to TB patients (Kumar et al. 2015). TB-T2D patients also have a higher frequency of CD4⁺ T cells producing Th1 cytokines compared to TB patients after stimulation of whole blood with Mtb antigens (Kumar et al. 2013). This hyperactive antigen specific T cell response in TB-T2D that is significantly higher than responses in TB patients without T2D may be associated with increased lung pathology in TB patients with T2D (Kumar and Babu, 2017). CD8⁺T cells in TB-T2D patients are characterized by diminished granzyme B, perforin and CD107a production compared to TB without T2D, which are important for killing of infected cells (Kumar et al. 2015).

8. Gene expression analysis in TB

Several studies have successfully shown that blood gene transcripts are capable of differentiating individuals with active TB from those with Mtb infection. The use of biomarkers

obtained from blood transcripts is fairly new and research in this field is increasing due to its contribution in identifying transcriptional signatures associated with diagnosing TB and TB treatment responses (von Both et al. 2015; Thompson et al. 2017). Transcriptional profiling of whole blood RNA revealed a 16-gene signature that predicts progression from LTBI to active TB diseases (Zak et al. 2016). This signature predicted progression to active TB, 12 months prior to diagnosis of TB disease (Zak et al. 2016). Following this study, it was thought that 16 genes are too many to incorporate in a simple point of care test, and was further optimized to reduce the number of genes. A four-gene signature was identified that predicts which patients with LTBI will develop active TB two years prior to diagnosis (Suliman et al. 2018; Thompson et al. 2018). Gene expression studies in serum exosomes (Lv et al. 2017), specific immune cells such as DCs (Blischak et al. 2017) and PBMCs (Serrano et al. 2016) also identified gene profiles able to predict susceptibility to TB disease. The risk of TB progression in LTBI with HIV and T2D is much higher than compared to otherwise healthy LTBI positive individuals (Jeon and Murray, 2008; Murray et al. 2014). The question is whether the identified signatures are equally applicable to LTBI positive individuals with other diseases. For example, the signature identified by Zak et al. (2016) was in HIV negative individuals and is there a need to test the signature in HIV positive and T2D cohorts, because these groups are at greater risk of TB. To address this, Dawany et al. reported that the 393-gene signature from Berry et al. (2010), could not identify TB in patients co-infected with HIV (Dawany et al. 2014). However, a transcriptional profile identified by Prada-Medina et al. in patients with TB-T2D shared elements with the profiles in TB patients without T2D (Prada-Medina et al. 2017).

In South Africa, preventative treatment is not given to LTBI positive individuals, because it would be too expensive and ineffective due to the high chance of re-infection in a TB endemic country. These signatures are therefore useful and can potentially be used to identify individuals with LTBI who are at increased risk of developing active TB and who can potentially be given prophylactic treatment in an attempt to reduce the TB burden (Cohn et al. 2000). In a whole blood transcriptomic study, Cliff et al. identified a transcriptional signature which correlated with the extent of TB disease in the lung as determined by radiography and concluded that immune responses in the blood can reflect the local reaction to Mtb in the lung (Cliff et al. 2015). Not only do blood transcript signatures identify individuals at risk of TB development, but can also inform of the severity of the disease in the lung. Thompson et al. further identified a five-gene signature that predicts TB treatment outcomes which correlated with the inflammatory state in the lungs of TB patients as measured by positron emission tomography–computed tomography (PET-CT) (Thompson et al. 2017). Bio-signatures to determine relapse and which can be applied to different ethnic groups and co-morbidities, including T2D are needed.

9. Immune and endocrine interactions

Cytokines produced by activated immune cells feed back to the central nervous system and induce neuroendocrine responses that, in turn, can modulate immune responses to infections (Webster et al. 2002). Chemical messengers produced by the immune cells facilitate the communication between the immune and neuro-endocrine system and also the immune and central nervous system (CNS) (Dantzer et al. 1998; Bottasso et al. 2012). Chronic, low-level inflammation that occurs during T2D travels to the brain and activate the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and the sympathetic system (Bottaso et al. 2012; Bouzaki and Zierath, 2007; Ottaviani and Francheschi, 1996; Chrousos, 2000). Activation of the HPA axis results in the production of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and vasopressin (VP), which travels via the portal vein to the pituitary gland and activate corticotropic cells, which subsequently produce adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) (Antoni, 1986; Aguilera, 1994; Aguilera, 2012). ACTH travels to the adrenal gland which has two major zones; the cortex and the medulla, which will produce glucocorticoids (GCs) and catecholamines (CA), respectively (Rhen and Cidlowski, 2005; Aguilera, 2012). GCs inhibit Th1 responses by favouring Th2 cytokine responses (Howard and Zwilling, 1999). Chronic stress, for example, leads to the activation of the sympathetic system and results in the upregulation of the CAs, adrenaline and noradrenaline (Figure 1.5) (Webster and Glaser, 2008; Tian et al. 2014). GCs and CAs bind to their receptors on immune cell and inhibit the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and IFN-y, and enhances the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13 and IL-10 (Figure 1.5) (Elenkov and Chrousos, 1999; Tracey 2002). In addition, GCs will inhibit transcription factors such as nuclear factor kappa-lightchain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB), activator protein 1 (AP-1), Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK-STAT), mitogen activated kinases, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, which may in turn inhibit pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Tracey 2002) (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5: The activation of the HPA axis, sympathetic and immune system. Stress activates the HPA and Sympathomedullary axis which secrete (i) GC and (ii) CA hormones respectively, the hormones act on receptors on the surface or cytoplasm of the immune cells. (iii) Motor vagus secretes CAs, which in the end result in decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines while increasing anti-inflammatory responses. (iv) There is a shift to Th2 opposed to Th1 responses. (v) In the cell, the hormones inhibit inflammation related pathways including NF-kB and further inhibit pro-inflammatory responses (Adapted from (Tian et al. 2014)).

Serotonin, produced by nerve cells also has immune modulatory properties. Serotonin is stored in platelets and is released during platelet activation induced upon inflammation (Herr et al. 2017). The immunomodulatory effects of serotonin are mediated through binding to the serotonin receptors expressed on immune cells (Mossner and Lesch, 1998). Binding of serotonin to the 5 hydroxytryptamine-1 (5HT-1) receptor on monocytes, reduced the ability of the monocytes to suppress NK cell functions (Hellstrand and Hermodsson, 1993). In addition, the effect of serotonin on IFN-y-induced phagocytosis varies according to the concentration of IFN-y to which the macrophages are exposed (Sternberg et al. 1987). At low concentrations of IFN-y, serotonin suppresses phagocytosis (Sternberg et al. 1987). Serotonin induces the production of various cytokines in monocytes, macrophages, DCs (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-12p40 and IFN- γ)

and lymphocyte (IL-2, IL-16 and IFN- γ), but supresses TNF- α production in monocytes, macrophages and DCs (Figure 1.6) (Duerschmied et al. 2014) supporting the notion of the bidirectional communication between central nervous and immune system.



Figure 1.6: Immunomodulatory properties of serotonin. Blue - activated or upregulated, red - inhibited or reduced, question mark - unknown effect (Duerschmied et al. 2014).

9.1 Immunendocrine changes during TB

The pituitary gland produces ACTH (HPA axis), luteinizing hormone (LH) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) (HPG axis) as well as thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) (HPT axis) resulting in the production of cortisol by the adrenal gland, oestrogen and testosterone by the gonads as well as triiodothyronine and thyroxine by the thyroid gland. Activation of the HPA axis influences the behaviour of the immune system via GCs and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), which counteracts the GC effects (Webster et al. 2002; Bottasso et al. 2007). GCs can both inhibit or stimulate the innate and adaptive immune responses (Webster et al. 2002). Del Rey et al. measured IL-10, IFN-y and IL-6 and several hormones of the pituitary, adrenal, gonadal and thyroid glands in male patients with newly diagnosed TB and compared them to healthy controls (del-Rey et al. 2007). TB patients had increased plasma concentrations of the above mentioned cytokines and decreased concentrations of testosterone and DHEA (del-Rey et al. 2007). Growth hormone (GH) concentrations were higher in TB patients, higher concentrations were seen for cortisol, estradiol, thyroid hormones and no differences were observed in insulin like growth factor 1 concentrations (del Rey et al. 2007). Immune responses during TB therefore affect endocrine functions (Turnbull and Rivier, 1999; Van den Berghe 2003). Since GCs favour Th2 responses, elevated concentrations of GCs are not favourable for the development of the effective cell mediated response against Mtb (Bottasso et al. 2013). Supernatants from cultures of Mtb stimulated PBMCs of TB patients have been shown to inhibit DHEA secretion by a human adrenal cell line (del-Rey et al. 2007). Chronic persistence of decreased DHEA concentrations and of increased cortisol/DHEA ratios have harmful consequences for the host due to uncontrolled inflammatory processes that may affect the control of tissue damage and the development of protective immune responses (Imrich, 2002). TB patients have higher cortisol, estradiol, prolactin, GH, thyroid hormone and dopamine concentrations, as well as lower adrenaline and noradrenaline concentrations when compared to healthy controls (del Rey et al. 2007; Opolot et al. 2015). TB patients also have higher IFN-y, TNF- α , C-reactive protein (CRP), IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-10 levels compared to healthy controls (del Rey et al. 2007; Opolot et al. 2015). Kleynhans et al. showed that concentrations and treatment responses of various hormones were different in patients with different TB treatment outcomes (Kleynhans et al. 2017). Cortisol concentrations were higher in TB disease and decreased during treatment and remained lower in the cured group while it was higher in individuals who failed TB treatment (Kleynhans et al. 2017). Cortisol concentrations in patients with a failed TB treatment outcome correlated with immune markers such as CRP and serum amyloid protein -A (SAP-A) and interleukin 2 receptor subunit alpha (IL-2R α) at baseline, matrix metalloproteinase 9 at week four of TB treatment and interferon inducible protein-10 (IP-10) at the end of treatment (Kleynhans et al. 2017). Increased inflammatory marker levels during TB results in increased cortisol concentrations as part of a feedback mechanism to prevent excessive inflammatory responses and immunopathology. These data provide evidence that there exists a relation between endocrine and immune systems during TB and the interaction between these systems need to be studied further and can potentially be used as biomarkers for TB disease progression, severity and even treatment responses. There is a dysregulation of the HPA, HPG and HPT axis, and the production of pituitary hormones during severe TB disease, and such dysregulation might be responsible for the aggravation of the disease (Bottasso et al. 2007).

9.2 Immune-endocrine changes in TB-T2D

T2D is a known risk factor for TB and studies have shown that both diseases have altered endocrine responses, which are likely to play a role in certain immuno-endocrine-metabolic associated disorders (Fernandez et al. 2016). As mentioned previously, endocrine alterations can contribute to TB disease outcomes (Bottasso et al. 2013). The chronic inflammation contributes to the activation of the HPA axis and increases the severity of infections or lead to susceptibility to such infections through the suppressive ability rendered by GCs (Besedovsky and del-Rey, 1996; Bottasso et al. 2013). The occurrence of both TB and T2D may present a particular trend of immune and endocrine activation that is worth investigating in order to understand the association between the two diseases (Fernandez et al. 2016). In light of these, Fernandez and colleagues analysed blood levels of cytokines, hormones and immune responses to mycobacteria in TB-T2D patients. It was found that TB patients had higher concentrations of cytokines compared to healthy controls whereas TB-T2D patients had even higher IL-6 and IFN-y compared to TB patients (Fernandez et al. 2016). IL-10 levels remained the same between TB and TB-T2D but lower in healthy subjects (Fernandez et al. 2016). In the same study, the concentration of cortisol was found to be higher in individuals with TB-T2D (Fernandez et al. 2016). Bottasso et al. showed that higher cortisol is associated with TB severity (Bottasso et al. 2013) and TB-T2D patients were previously reported to have more severe TB disease than patients with only TB (Baker et al. 2012; Gil-santana et al. 2016). Estradiol levels were high in patients with TB and significantly higher in patients with TB-T2D (Fernandez et al. 2016). Estradiol and cortisol were positively associated with IFN-y and IL-6 (Fernandez et al. 2016). The adverse immune-endocrine profile observed in TB patients is more pronounced during TB concomitant with T2D characterised by more intense immune and endocrine inflammatory reactions, which shows the detrimental effects of T2D on Mtb infection (Fernandez et al. 2016).

10. Hypothesis, Aims and Objectives

Central hypothesis

We hypothesize that T2D causes a systemic dysregulation of the immune-endocrine networks which is associated with distinct blood bio-signatures and impaired monocytes and PBMCs function.

Aim 1:

The first aim of this project was to identify differentially expressed immune genes in unstimulated and Mtb-antigen stimulated whole blood of latently infected close contacts of TB patients as well as active TB patients with and without T2D.

Specific objectives were to:

1.1 Characterize messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) transcript signatures in unstimulated (nil) and Mtb-antigen stimulated whole blood collected from QFT tubes of individuals with LTBI with and without T2D.

1.2 Characterize the mRNA transcript signatures in unstimulated (nil) and Mtb-antigen stimulated whole blood collected from QFN tubes of TB patients with and without T2D at baseline and month 6.

Aim 2:

To investigate immune and endocrine changes in the serum and plasma of individuals with LTBI as well as TB patients with and without T2D.

Specific objectives were to:

2.1 Characterize cytokine and hormone levels in individuals with LTBI and TB patients with and without T2D using luminex and ELISA.

2.2 Determine whether any associations exist between cytokine and endocrine signatures with *in vitro* Mtb killing.

2.3 Determine whether any associations exist between glycaemic control and *in vitro* Mtb killing.

Aim 3:

To determine the frequency of MAIT cells in TB patients with and without T2D.

Specific objectives were to:

3.1 Determine the frequency of the MAIT cell population in TB and TB-T2D patients using flow cytometry.

CHAPTER 2

Materials and methods

2.1.1 Informed consent and ethical clearance

This study was part of the ALERT and TANDEM studies. Ethical approval was obtained for the ALERT Study (Altered Immune-endocrine Axis in Type 2 diabetes and Tuberculosis risk:which was aimed at better understanding of the link between TB and T2D, to identify individuals at increased risk for TB progression) and the TANDEM study (Concurrent Tuberculosis and Diabetes: aimed at improving Care through bi-directional Screening and Unravelling the Causal Link through Study of Genetic Susceptibility Factors) from the Human Research Ethics Committee of the University of Stellenbosch (N13/05/064A, TANDEM and N13/05/064A, ALERT). The studies were conducted according to the Helsinki Declaration and International Conference on Harmonization guidelines (WMA, 2001). Written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

2.1.2 Study participants and sample collection

Individuals with LTBI with and without T2D were screened and enrolled as part of the NIH funded ALERT study. Individuals with LTBI were defined as individuals sharing at least five hours per week in a house or closed space with a confirmed pulmonary TB case, test positive for Quantiferon IFN-γ assay and negative for active TB (discussed in II below). TB patients with and without T2D were enrolled in the EU FP7 funded TANDEM study, before TB treatment (baseline, BL), after completion of intensive phase treatment at month 2 (M2) and at the end of TB treatment (M6). TB patients were recruited at six TB clinics, Fisantekraal, Ravensmead, Uitsig, Adriaanse, Elsies River and Durbanville, in Cape Town, Western Cape, South Africa. TB patients gave permission for study personnel to visit their homes and to invite their family members and close friends to take part in the study.

i. ALERT participants

Forty CCs of TB patients who tested positive for LTBI on a Quantiferon TB-Gold in-tube (QFT) assay were included in this study. All the ALERT participants were fasted and the specimens collected before 09:00AM to control for circadian rhythm. At enrolment, clinical parameters such as insulin, cortisol, lipid profiles, complete blood count (CBCs) and anthropometric measurements were determined. T2D status was diagnosed based on a FBG and HbA1c (American Diabetes association, 2010). Patients were classified as LTBI without T2D (LTBI-noT2D; n = 10; HbA1c < 5.6 %, FBG ≤ 100 mg/dL (5.6 mmol/L)), LTBI with preT2D (LTBI-PreT2D; n = 10; HbA1c 5.7-6.49 %, FBG 100-125 mg/dL (5.6-6.9 mmol/L)), LTBI with T2D (LTBI-T2D; n = 10; HbA1c 6.5-7.9 %, FBG ≥ 126 mg/dL (7 mmol/L)) and LTBI with poorly controlled T2D (LTBI-pT2D; n = 10; HbA1c ≥ 8 %, FBG ≥ 183 mg/dL (10.2 mmol/L)).

ii. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for ALERT

The inclusion criteria were LTBI (based on positive QFT assay) and the age of 30 to 65 years. Individuals were excluded if they were HIV positive, pregnant or breast-feeding, if they had active TB (confirmed by positive GeneXpert MTB/RIF (Cepheid, California, USA), sputum culture or abnormal chest X-ray (CXR), type 1 diabetes, and if they used steroids or any other medication that affects immunity (i.e. non-steroidal anti-inflammatories).

iii. TANDEM participants

HbA1c was measured at BL and at M6 for TB patients. TB patients were classified as TB only (n = 9), TB with transient hyperglycaemia (TB-THG; n = 5) and TB with T2D (TB-T2D; n = 7) using HbA1c cut-offs as follow: HbA1c <5.6 % for TB, HbA1c \geq 6.5 % for TB-THG at BL but normal at M6, and HbA1c \geq 6.5 % for TB-T2D at BL and M6. Four of the five TB-THG patients had a family history of diabetes, but were not taking diabetes medication during the course of the study. All TB-T2D patients were on standard TB treatment (Isoniazid (INH), RIF, Ethambutol (EMB) and Pyrazinamide (PZA) for the first two months, and INH and RIF for the following four months) as recommended by the South African National Tuberculosis program, and all seven were on T2D medication (Insulin and/or metformin). Twelve uninfected HCs and 13 T2D patients without TB were included as controls. All the TANDEM participants were between the ages of 30 and 60 years and were age and gender matched.

iv. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for TANDEM

The inclusion criteria were TB disease confirmed by abnormal CXRs, positive GeneXpert MTB/RIF (Cepheid) and/or positive MGIT (BD BACTEC MGIT 960 system, BD, New Jersey, USA) culture. The TB patients received conventional TB therapy (described above). Participants were excluded if they were pregnant, HIV positive, had drug resistant Mtb and were using immunosuppressive drugs. All TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients used for this study adhered to and completed more than 80 % of their TB treatment and all were successfully cured at the end of treatment.

2.1.3 Sample processing for ALERT study

Blood collected in Sodium heparin (NaHep; BD), serum (Geiner bio-one, Kremsmunster, Austria), EDTA (Geiner bio-one) and Lithium heparin tubes (LiHep; BD)) and sputum were collected from all study participants at BL (ALERT and TANDEM), M2 and M6 of TB treatment (TANDEM).

i. Plasma and serum isolation

EDTA (1x 6 mL) and serum (2x 6 mL) blood tubes were spun down at 12 000 xg (Eppendorf centrifuge 5702, Merck-Millipore, Massachusetts, USA) for 10 minutes and the plasma and serum aliquoted and stored at -80°C for further use.

ii. Quantiferon TB-gold in tube (QFT) processing

One mL of blood, collected in a LiHep tube (1x 4 mL), was transferred to each of the three tubes of the QFT assay (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The nil tube contains no additives and serves to adjust for background IFN-y production, the TB-Ag tube is coated with an antigen cocktail including ESAT 6, CFP-10 and TB 7.7 specific for Mtb and the mitogen tube contains phytohaemogglutin-P (PHA) which is a positive control. After adding the blood, the tubes were inverted ten times and incubated at 37 °C for 16-22 hours. Blood was transferred from the QFT tubes into a 2 mL cryogenic vials (Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, USA) and centrifuged for 15 minutes at 15 000 xg. The supernatants were stored at -80 °C and the pellet stored in RNA*Later* (Thermo Fisher scientific, Virginia, USA) at 4 °C overnight, before being transferred to -80 °C. The preserved QFT pellets were used for RNA extractions and the supernatants used in an ELISA to measure IFN-y concentrations.

iii. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) isolation

Blood collected in NaHep tubes (6x 9 mL) was used for PBMC isolations by density gradient centrifugation. Briefly, blood were transferred to 50 mL falcon tubes (Sigma-Aldrich) and centrifuged at 800 xg for 12 minutes at 20 °C (acceleration=9; brake=0). The plasma was transferred to a 15 mL falcon tube (Corning Science, Newyork, USA) and stored on ice. Care was taken not to disturb the white blood cell interphase. The remaining plasma, white blood cell interphase and top part of the red blood cell layer were transferred to a new 50 mL falcon tube (Corning Science) and mixed. PBS containing 1 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1 % Human serum albumin (SEH) were added to the cells (up to 35 mL mark), to replenish the plasma, and mixed by pulse vortexing. The cells were layered onto 15 mL Ficoll-Paque-Plus (GE HealthCare Bio-science, Uppsala, Sweden) and centrifuged at 600 xg for 30 minutes at 20°C (brake=0; acceleration=0). Plasma, including SEH, was removed except for 5-10 mL above the buffy coat. The buffy coat was transferred to a 50 mL tube and washed with cold RPMI-HEPES medium (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were centrifuged at 4°C at 600 xg for four minutes (acceleration=9; brake=0) after which the supernatant was discarded. Cells were washed for a second time using RPMI-HEPES and spun down at 4°C at 150 xg for eight minutes (acceleration=9; brake=0) to remove excess platelets. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 5 mL of RPMI (Biowest, Nuaillé, France)

supplemented with 2 mM glutamine (GLUT; Sigma-Aldrich) and 100U/mL penicillin (PEN; Sigma-Aldrich) (RPMI+GLUT+PEN).

iv. Counting of PBMCs and overnight culturing:

Ten μ I of the cell suspension were added to 90 μ I of 10 % Trypan blue (in PBS) and counted using a Countess Cell counter (Invitrogen, California, USA). The total cell count, live cell count, dead cell count and viability (%) were reported and the live cell count used to determine the number of cells needed for the downstream assays. Six hundred thousand cells were cultured overnight in RPMI+GLUT+PEN medium containing 20 % autologous plasma in 2 mL sterile screw cap tubes (Scientific specialists SSIBIO USA), in a final volume of 600 μ I at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂.

v. Monocytes (MNs) isolation

MNs were isolated from PBMCs using the Miltenyi Pan Monocyte isolation kit and LS MACS separation columns (Miltenyi biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). PBMCs were spun down at 300 xg for 10 minutes at 4 °C and the supernatant discarded. FcR blocking reagent and biotinylated antibody (Ab) cocktail were added and the cells incubated for five minutes at 4 °C. MACS buffer was added as well as anti-biotin microbeads, the cells were again incubated for seven minutes at 4°C. During the incubation step, the columns were primed with MACS rinsing buffer (Miltenyi biotec) and the volume of the cell suspension adjusted to a total volume of 500 µl using the MACS rinsing buffer. The cell suspension was applied to the column and the flow-through containing the monocytes collected in a 15 mL tube. The column was washed three times with 3 mL rinsing buffer. The cells collected as part of the flow-through was centrifuged at 300 xg for seven minutes at 4 °C, the supernatant discarded and the pellet resuspended in 1 mL RPMI+GLUT+PEN media. The MNs were counted, as mentioned above, and 130 000 cells/well were seeded in poly-D-lysine coated flat bottom plates (Corning Sciences, USA) in a final volume of 200 µL and incubated overnight at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂.

Purity checks were performed for the first participants and we confirmed the purity to be > 90 % with all of the isolations. Due to the limited number of cells, we did not do it for all participants. Purity check was performed by staining a fraction of the isolated MNs using monoclonal antibodies anti-human CD14 and anti-human CD16. The MNs were centrifuged at 400 xg for five minutes and the media was discarded. MNs were incubated with the antibodies for 30 minutes at 4°C. After washing with FACS buffer, MNs were fixed with 4 % formalin for 15 minutes in the dark. Formalin was washed off with 1 mL FACS buffer and the cells resuspended in 100 μ I FACS buffer prior to acquisition. Stained cells were kept at 4°C until they were acquired on the FACSCanto II flow cytometry instrument (BD).

vi. PBMCs and MNs infection with Mtb H37Rv to determine Mtb uptake and killing

After overnight culturing, the PBMCs were centrifuged at 400 xg for five minutes, the supernatant discarded and the cells washed with 600µl RPMI-HEPEs. MNs adhered to the poly-D lysine coated flat bottom plates, therefore no centrifugation was required before aspirating the media and washing the cells with 200 µl RPMI-HEPES. PBMCs and MNs were infected for two hours with Mtb *H37Rv* at an MOI of 3.25:1 and 1:1 respectively, washed and further incubated for one day and three days (for MNs) or six days (for PBMCs) in RPMI+GLUT media supplemented with 20 % autologous plasma at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. Culture supernatants collected from PBMC (after two hours, day one, day three and day six) and MNs (after two hours, day one and day three) were filter sterilized using Millex 4 mm syringe filters (Merck-Millipore) and stored at -80°C until cytokine profiling.

At each of the time points, PBMCs and MNs were washed and lysed using 0.05 % SDS for five minutes. The SDS was diluted out by adding an equal volume (300µL) of Middlebrook 7H9 broth (BD). The lysates were serially diluted and plated on 7H11 Middlebrook (BD) plates. The plates were monitored weekly for contamination and the colony forming units (CFU) enumerated after three weeks. Additional PBMCs were removed from the tubes using 2 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich) and stored in RNA*Later* (Invitrogen) at 4 °C overnight and transferred to -80 °C the following day until RNA was isolated.

Some MNs were treated with 100 μ l of Cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB; Sigma-Aldrich) for 10 minutes to lyse the cells. Nuclei were then counted using a haemocytometer to determine the number of viable cells.

2.1.4 Sample processing for the TANDEM study

Serum, plasma, whole blood (stored in RNA*Later*) and cryopreserved PBMCs were previously collected and stored as part of the TANDEM study and analysed as mentioned below.

2.1.5 RNA extraction study

RNA was extracted from the QFT assay cell pellets for both the ALERT and TANDEM study. The pellet, which was stored in RNA*Later* (as mentioned above), was thawed and total RNA extracted using the Ribopure Ambion RNA isolation kit (Life Technologies, Carlifornia, USA). The extraction was done according to the manufacturer's instruction. Briefly, samples were thawed and spun down at 14 000 xg (Eppendorf centrifuge 5415C, Merck-Millipore) for one minute. The supernatants were discarded and lysis buffer added to the pellets. Sodium acetate solution was added and the samples vortexed to ensure all the cells were lysed. Chloroform (350 μ I) was added to the cell lysates and the samples vortexed to remove DNA and proteins, followed by five minutes incubation at RT. The mixture was centrifuged for a minute at 14 000 xg and the aqueous phase transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube. Absolute molecular

grade ethanol (600 μ I) was added to the aqueous phase and the samples vortexed. The samples were transferred to a column, centrifuged and the flow through discarded. The column was washed with buffer 1 and again with buffer 2/3 and centrifuged for 10 seconds at 14 000 xg after each wash step. The RNA was eluted in a total volume of 100 μ I elution buffer. The eluted RNA was treated with 8 U/ μ I DNase I, which is included in the Ribopure Ambion isolation kit (Life Technologies), for 30 minutes, to remove DNA. DNase activity was halted by adding the inactivation reagent and incubating the samples for two minutes at RT. After centrifuging the sample, the supernatant was collected into a new tube and quantified (see below). RNA samples were divided into 20 μ I aliquots, to avoid multiple freeze-thaw cycles, and stored at -80 °C.

2.1.6 RNA quantification, gene expression assay and data analysis

Total RNA was guantified using the Nanodrop 2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and the RNA Qubit kit (Life technologies, Oregon, USA). Samples with a concentration of \geq 20 ng/µl and a 260/280 and 260/230 ratio of \geq 1.7 were included in the NanoString analysis. Eighty-four TANDEM and 80 ALERT samples were shipped to NanoString Technologies in Seattle Washington through their Cape Town supplier, Anatech, to determine the gene expression of 594 genes included in the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 (supplementary Table 1). The nCounter analysis platform from NanoString is a direct digital detection assay of individual target molecules and does not require any amplification or reverse transcription step. Briefly, 100 ng of each RNA sample was added to the hybridization buffer containing the Codeset and incubated at 65 °C for 16 hours. The CodeSet consists of reporter and capture probes that hybridize to the target sequences of interest, forming a tripartite complex. The complexes were purified and immobilized onto the surface of a sample cartridge on the prep station using the high sensitivity protocol pre-set. A microscope with CCD camera was used to capture images of the surface of the sample cartridge where the barcodes were bound and gene transcripts were counted. The barcodes were decoded and cross-referenced to a specific target resulting in actual counts of specific target molecules in a particular sample (Gene expression assay user manual, NanoString Technology, Seattle, WA). Zipped RCC files were received from NanoString Technology. NanoString RCC data files were imported into the nSolver 3 software (nSolver Analysis software, v3.0) where they were normalized to housekeeping genes. The housekeeping genes had an average read count four fold higher than the negative controls and any gene with counts less than 20 was reported to be negative. The analysis was done, in consultation with a biostatistician at the University of Queensland, using JMP statistical software (SAS Institute for comparing gene expression) and the nil and Ag/nil ratio of the gene expression between the TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D groups and between LTBI and LTBI-T2D were analysed.

2.1.7 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) in ALERT samples

Stored plasma samples were thawed on the day the ELISA was done and all the reagents were brought to RT before being used.

i. Elabscience® ELISA kit: Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) ELISA

The serotonin competitive ELISA (Biocom, California, USA) was performed following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 µl of the samples, standards and blank were added in duplicate to the pre-coated plate to the positions indicated on the template. Fifty µl of biotinylated detection antibody was added to the wells and the plates incubated for 45 minutes at 37 °C. After the incubation step, the plates were washed three times. Hundred µl Avidin-Horseradish Peroxidase (HRP) was added to each well and the plates incubated for 30 minutes. The plates were washed five times before 90 µl of Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added. The plates were again incubated for 15 minutes after which 50 µl sulfuric acid was added to stop the reaction. Colorimetric changes were detected at 450 nm using an Imark microplate reader (Bio-rad Laboratories, California, USA). A standard curve ranging from 15.63-1000 pg/mL was used and the Microplate manager 6 software, (Bio-rad Laboratories) used to calculate the serotonin concentrations in the samples.

ii. Abnova 3 kit Catecholamine ELISA: Adrenaline/Noradrenaline/Dopamine ELISA kit

The hormones in question were first extracted before the samples were analysed using the catecholamine ELISA kit (Abnova, Taipei City, Taiwan). Extractions were done according to the manufacturer's instruction and using the extraction plates provided. Briefly, 10 μ I of the standards, controls and 300 μ I of the plasma samples were added to the plates followed by 250 μ I of deionized water. Assay and extraction buffer were then added to each well and the plates incubated for 30 minutes at RT while shaking at 600 rpm (all subsequent incubation steps were done at RT while shaking). Each well was washed twice and the plates incubated for five minutes between each wash step. Acylation buffer (150 μ I) and acylation reagent (25 μ I) were added to each well followed by a 15 minute incubation. After washing and drying the plate, hydrochloric acid (0.025 M; 175 μ I) was added to all the wells and the plate incubated in the dark for 10 minutes. Thereafter, the samples were ready to be loaded onto the three different ELISA plates:

For the dopamine ELISA, 25 µl of the Catechol-o-methyltransferase enzyme solution was added to the microtiter strips of the dopamine ELISA plate followed by 50 µl of the isolated samples and 25 µl of the controls and standards, to allow for the formation of methyldopamine. Hydrochloric acid (0.025 M; 25 µl) was added to all the wells and the plate incubated for 30 minutes. Fifty µl rabbit anti-dopamine antibody was added and the plate incubated for two hours. The plates were washed three times, before 100 µl anti-rabbit immunoglobulin-

peroxidase conjugate was added. Thereafter the plate was incubated for 30 minutes. After the 30 minutes incubation step, the plates were washed and 100 μ I TMB substrate solution added. After 25 minutes, 100 μ I of sulfuric acid was added to the plate to stop the reaction. The plates were read at 450 nm using an Imark microplate reader (Bio-rad Laboratories) and the concentrations calculated using the Microplate manager 6 software (Bio-rad Laboratories). A 4-parameter logistic regression standard curve was used and ranged from 57.4-15054 pg/mL. The measured concentrations were divided by 60 (as recommended by the manufacturer) to obtain the actual dopamine concentration.

For the noradrenaline ELISA, 25 µl of enzyme solution (Catechol-O-methyltransferase) was added in the noradrenaline microtiter strip. Twenty µl of the extracted standards, controls and samples were added to appropriate wells and incubated for 30 minutes. Fifty µl of rabbit anti-noradrenaline antibody was added in all wells and the plates incubated for two hours. Subsequent steps were done similarly as for dopamine. A standard curve ranging from 51-14251 pg/mL was used, and the measured concentration divided by 30 (as recommended by the manufacturer) to obtain the actual noradrenaline concentration.

Lastly, for the adrenaline ELISA, 25 µl of enzyme solution (Catechol-O-methyltransferase) was pipetted into the adrenaline microtiter strips. Hundred µl of the isolated samples, controls and standards were added to their respective wells followed by a 30 minute incubation. Fifty µl rabbit anti-adrenaline antibody was added in all wells and the plates incubated for two hours. Subsequent steps were performed as previously described for dopamine and noradrenaline. The standard curve with the lowest detection limit of 9.1 and highest detection limit of 426 pg/mL was used and the measured concentrations divided by 30 to obtain the actual concentration. All quality controls (QCs) were within the expected ranges.

iii. Elabscience® ELISA kit: Interferon inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC) sandwich ELISA

Hundred μ I of neat serum samples, standards and blank were added to the pre-coated I-TAC ELISA plate (E-EL-H0051, Elabscience) and incubated for 90 minutes at 37 °C. The plates were washed three times. After the wash steps, 100 μ I of Avidin-HRP conjugate was added to the wells and the plate incubated for 30 minutes. After washing the plates five times, 90 μ I of substrate solution was added and again incubated for 15 minutes. Fifty μ I of sulfuric acid was used to stop the reaction and the optical densities read at 450 nm using the Imark microplate reader (Bio-rad Laboratories). A standard curve ranging from 62.5-4000 pg/mL was used to calculate the unknown concentrations using the Microplate manager 6 software (Bio-rad Laboratories).

iv. Elabscience® ELISA kit: Interleukin 22 (IL-22) ELISA in ALERT and TANDEM samples

Serum samples from both the ALERT and TANDEM study were included in the IL-22 ELISA (E-EL-H0106, Elabsciences). The ELISA plates were pre-coated with an Ab specific to human IL-22. Standards and neat samples were added to the plates in duplicate and the plates incubated for 90 minutes at 37 °C. One hundred µl of the biotinylated capture antibody was added after removing the samples and the plate incubated for one hour. The plates were washed three times with wash buffer and 100 µl of Avidin-HRP conjugate added to the wells. After a 30 minutes incubation step, the plates were washed five times and 100 µl of substrate reagent was added. The plate was again incubated for 15 minutes, after which the 50 µl sulfuric acid was added to stop the reaction. The colorimetric changes were immediately detected at 450 nm using the Imark microplate reader (Bio-rad Laboratories) and a 4 parameter logistic regression standard curve ranging from 15.63-1000 pg/mL was used. The Microplate manager 6 software (Bio-rad Laboratories) was used to calculate the IL-22 concentrations in the samples.

2.1.8 Luminex in ALERT samples

A customized multiplex screening assay from RnD Systems (Qiagen) was used to determine the concentration of 14 immune proteins namely; IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IL-18, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-27, IL-33, and TNF- α . Two single-plex assays were used to measure the concentrations of Oncostatin (OSM) and IL-35 both from Merck (Merck- Millipore).

i. Human Magnetic Luminex®: RnD Screening assays (14-plex)

Serum samples were diluted (1:2) and the assay done according to the manufacturer's instructions. Fifty µl of the micro particle cocktail was added into each well in the 96-well plate followed by 50 µl of the samples and standards. The plates were sealed and incubated for two hours at RT in the dark while shaking at 800 rpm. The plates were washed three times. Fifty µl of biotinylated antibody cocktail was added and the plates incubated for one hour, followed by three wash steps. The plates were incubated for 30 minutes after the addition of 50 µl of streptavidin-phycoerythrin (PE) conjugate and washed three times. Finally, wash buffer was added and the plates left on the shaker for two minutes to re-suspend the beads. The sample was read immediately on the Bio-Plex 200 instrument (Bio-rad Laboratories) and a four parameter logistic regression standard curve was used to determine concentrations of all the cytokines in the samples using the Bio-Plex Manager software, version 6 (Bio-rad Laboratories). The standard curve for each analyte was ranging from; IFN- γ 43.2-11220 pg/mL, IL-1 β 15.8-3840 pg/mL, IL-13 454.8-110520 pg/mL, IL-33 47.8-11500 pg/mL, IL-8 4.4-1060 pg/mL, IL-10 3.3-790 pg/mL, IL-22 16.4-3970 pg/mL, TNF- α 8.9-2170 pg/mL, IL-21 29.4-

7140 pg/mL, IL-23 228.8-55600 pg/mL, IL-6 4.8-1180 pg/mL, IL-18 54.6-13260 pg/mL, IL-27 375.7-91290 pg/mL and IL-4 15.4-3750 pg/mL.

ii. Milliplex® Map Kit: IL-35 and Oncostatin luminex

Luminex plates were primed with assay buffer for 10 minutes at RT while shaking at 600 rpm. The contents were discarded and 25 µl of standards and quality controls added to the wells as indicated on the plate template. Twenty five µl of assay buffer was added to all the sample wells and 25 µl of serum matrix to the wells containing the standards and guality controls. The diluted serum sample for IL-35 (1:4) and for OSM (1:2) were added to the sample wells containing assay buffer. Twenty five µl of beads were added to all the wells and the plates incubated for 16 hours, at 4 °C while shaking. After the incubation step, the plates were washed three times. Twenty five µl of detection antibody was added to each well and the plates incubated for one hour at RT (shaking). Following incubation, 25 µl of streptavidin-PE conjugate was added, without removing the contents of the wells, followed by a 30 minute incubation step. After washing the plate three times, 150 µl of sheath fluid was added and the plate left on the shaker for five minutes to re-suspend the beads. The mean fluorescent intensities were read on the Bio-Plex 200 instrument (Bio-rad Laboratories). The standard curve ranging from 6.9 to 5000 pg/mL for OSM and 0.8 to 800 ng/mL for IL-35 was used to calculate unknown cytokine concentrations using the Bio-Plex Manager software, version 6. The actual concentrations were obtained by multiplying by the dilution factor. All QCs were within the expected ranges.

2.1.9 Flow cytometry: TANDEM study

i. Thawing of peripheral PBMCs

Thawing media (TM), prepared by adding 10% of heat inactivated FBS (HyClone; BD) in RPMI (Biowest) with L-Glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich), was heated to 37 °C in a water bath prior to adding it to the cells. Cryopreserved PBMCs were thawed in a 37 °C water bath. One ml of the TM was added in a dropwise manner to the cells. The cells were gently mixed with the TM and transferred to a 15mL tube containing 8 mL of TM. The cells were centrifuged at 250 xg for 10 minutes, the media discarded and the cells again washed with 10 mL TM. After the second wash step, the cells were resuspended in 1 mL TM. PBMCs were counted, as described in section 2.1.3 iv, to determine the cell number and viability.

ii. Surface staining of PBMCs

PBMCs (2.5x10⁵ cells) were centrifuged at 250 xg for five minutes and washed with 1 mL of PBS (All wash steps were followed by centrifugation). PBMCs were first stained with the Live/dead (Zombie aqua; BD) stain, diluted to 1:100 in PBS, and incubated for 15 minutes at 4°C. After the incubation step, the cells were first washed with 1 mL of PBS and secondly with

1 mL of FACS buffer (2 % FBS in PBS). A MAIT cell antibody panel was used to stain the cells and included pre-titrated anti-human antibodies purchased from BD and BioLegend (Cambridge, UK). The panel include CD26-FITC (1:5 dilution, 10 µl; BD), anti-human CD8-APC-Cy7 (1:20 dilution, 2.5 µl; BD), anti-human CD4-BV412 (1:20 dilution, 2.5 µl; BD), antihuman CD3-Per-Cp (1:40 dilution, 1.25 µl; BD), anti-human TCR V α 7.2-APC (1:10 dilution, 5 µl; BioLegend), and anti-human CD161-PEcy7 (1:20 dilution, 2.5 µl; BioLegend) monoclonal antibodies. Cells were incubated with the antibody panel for an hour at 4 °C. The cells were washed after 30 minutes with FACS buffer. After washing with FACS buffer, PBMCs were fixed with 4 % formalin for 15 minutes in the dark. Formalin was washed off with 1 mL FACS buffer and the cells resuspended in 100 µl FACS buffer. Samples were kept at 4 °C until the samples were acquired on the FACSCanto II flow cytometry instrument with FACS Diva software, version 10 (BD). The results were analysed on FlowJo v10.1 software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR).

2.1.10 Statistical analysis

For the multiplexing data, values below and above the standard curve range, were extrapolated by the Bio-Plex Manager Software. Statistical analysis of clinical data was done using GraphPad PRISM version 6 (GraphPad Software Inc., California, USA). For more than two groups a Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance (ANOVA) with a Dunn's *post hoc* test to correct for multiple comparisons was used. When testing for significant differences between two groups a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used. Statistical analysis of MAIT cell frequencies, cytokine, hormone and CFU data was done using Statistica version 13 (StatSoft, Ohio, USA). The data were analysed using a repeated measures ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test. Correlations between groups were determined by Spearman correlations on GraphPad PRISM version 6 (GraphPad Software). Gene expression analysis was done using JMP statistical software version 13.2 (SAS institute, North Carolina, USA) and significance was assessed using repeated measures ANOVA and Dunns correction Ingenuity pathway analysis software (QIAGEN) was used to generate pathways for the differentially expressed genes.

CHAPTER 3

Identification of distinct immune gene expression signatures in active TB patients and close contacts with and without type 2 diabetes

3.1. Introduction

Progression from LTBI to active TB disease occurs when the immune system fails to control the infection (Sutherland et al. 2014). Transcriptional analysis of whole blood and Mtb antigen stimulated blood has become an important tool to study the expression of immune system related genes and shows promise in identifying possible biomarkers for TB progression and treatment responses (Cliff et al. 2013; Zak et al. 2016; Thompson et al. 2017). Transcriptomic analysis of healthy controls, patients with T2D and TB patients with and without T2D showed there are shared elements with published TB signatures in TB patients without T2D (Prada-Medina et al. 2017; Berry et al. 2010). In the same study, increased neutrophil counts were associated with TB disease severity in patients with TB-T2D as previously reported in TB patients (Prada-Medina et al. 2017; Berry et al. 2010). Interestingly, pathways correlating to diabetic associated complications including several epigenetic reprogramming pathways were overexpressed in patients with TB-T2D, compared to patients with T2D only (Prada-Medina et al.2017). In this study, differentially expressed genes in TB-T2D patients included the four genes of the Maertzdorf TB diagnostic signature (Maertzdorf et al. 2015) as well as nine of the 16 genes of the Zak signature predicting TB progression within two years of infection (Zak et al. 2016). the fact that a gene expression profile exists which predicts which individuals who are LTBI positive will develop TB disease, our aim was to identify altered gene expression profiles in individuals with LTBI as well as TB patients with and without T2D and to describe the underlying molecular mechanisms that could contribute to the increased susceptibility to TB observed in these participants. In addition, we aimed to describe changes in gene expression profiles at the end of TB treatment. Pathway analysis was done in an attempt to understand alterations in immune responses in the different patient groups.

3.2 Methods

The detailed methods were discussed in chapter 2. Ex-vivo and Mtb antigen stimulated whole blood gene transcripts from CCs with LTBI with, and without T2D and TB patients with and without T2D (BL and M6) were measured using the NanoString Technology. CCs of TB patients with and without T2D were recruited as part of the ALERT study and TB patients with and without T2D were enrolled as part of the EU FP7 funded TANDEM study. Briefly, whole blood was added to the three tubes of the QFT assay, incubated overnight and the supernatant and cells harvested. The supernatants were stored at -80°C, and the pellet resuspended in RNA*Later*, which preserves RNA and then stored in -80°C. The pellet stored in RNA later was later thawed and total RNA extracted using Ribopure Ambion RNA isolation kit following the

manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA was quantified using the Nanodrop as well as the RNA Qubit kit.

RNA of unstimulated (nil) and Mtb antigen stimulated (antigen tube) whole blood of TB patients (TB n=9, TB-THG n=5 and TB-T2D n=7; BL and M6) and individuals with LTBI (LTBI-noT2D n=20, LTBI-T2D n=20) were shipped to NanoString Technologies (in Seattle Washington) to determine the gene expression of 594 genes (579 immunological genes and 15 housekeeping genes) as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2. Statistical significance was assessed using repeated measures ANOVA and Hochberg's correction between three groups and student T-test used to determine differences between two groups.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics

Participants with LTBI (n=20) and LTBI-T2D (n=20) and 21 TB patients (TB n=9, TB-THG n=5 and TB-T2D n=7) were included in this study. No significant differences were seen in age between the groups (Table 3.1). The clinical parameters for the LTBI and LTBI-T2D groups were taken at a single time point and for TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL and M6. At BL, the median BMI in LTBI and LTBI-T2D was significantly higher compared to TB and TB-THG. The median BMI at M6 was significantly higher in the TB-T2D group compared to both the TB and TB-THG groups, as shown in (Table 3.1). The median HbA1c was significantly higher in the LTBI-T2D and TB-T2D groups compared to LTBI and TB (Table 3.1), respectively. At BL, there were differences in HbA1c between TB-THG and TB-T2D although not significant, however, significant differences were observed in TB-THG and TB-T2D at M6 (Table 3.1). Even though the HbA1c is much higher in the TB-T2D group it did not reach significance due to the low power because of the small sample size. We measured High density lipoprotein (HDL), Low density lipoprotein (LDL), triglycerides and total cholesterol (CHL) in LTBI and LTBI-T2D at BL. Triglycerides were significantly higher in LTBI-T2D (vs. LTBI), but no significant differences were observed in HDL, LDL and total CHL. In TB-THG and TB-T2D, the lipid measurements were performed at week 2 and at M6 and no significant differences were observed. Generally, the lipid concentrations were elevated in individuals with T2D irrespective of LTBI or TB status, with the exception of HDL, which was lower. With respect to medication, 50 % of the LTBI-T2D patients were on metformin, 25 % on insulin and 80 % were on a combination of medication and none of them were on prophylactic LTBI treatment in line with TB treatment policies in South Africa. All TB-T2D patients were on TB standard treatment, 100 % were on metformin, 71% on insulin and 57% taking a combination of medication. The demographic and clinical information is summarised in Table 3.1.

Group	LTBI (n=20)	LTBI-T2D	ТВ	TB- THG(n=5)	TB- T2D(n=7)	P-value
		(n=20)	(n=9)			
T2D history and management						
T2D medication						
Metformin (%)	-	10(50)	-	-	7(100)	
Insulin (%)	-	5(25)	-	-	5(71)	
Other medication (%)	-	16	-	-	4	
Known diabetic status	-	11	-	-	5	
Sociodemographic						
Age, median (IQR)	46.5(12.0) ^a	56(12.3) ^a	48(5.5)ª	48(10.5)ª	46(7.0) ^a	0.0827
Sex, number (%)						
Female	13(65)	17(85)	4(44)	2(40)	5(71)	
Male	7(35)	3(15)	5(56)	3(60)	2(29)	
BMI, median (IQR)						
Baseline	25.0(10.2) ^b	28.5(6.5) ^b	18.4(5.7) ^a	18.2(0.7) ^{ac}	26.0(6.9) ^{abc}	<0.0001
Month 6	-	-	19.1(5.1) ^a	19.1(2.4) ^a	26.6(7.6) ^b	0.0055
Clinical information, median (IQR)						
RBG (mmol/L)						
Baseline	-	-	5.7(1.9)ª	6.0(3.7)ª	#18.35(4.1) ^a	0.0513
FBG(mmol/L)	4.8(1.6) ^a	9.1(7.9) ^b	-	-	-	<0.0001
HbA1c (%)						
Baseline	5.7(0.78)ª	7.9(3.8) ^b	5.7(0.5)ª	6.7(0.4) ^{ab}	12.0(1.9) ^b	<0.0001
Month 6	-	-	5.5(0.7)ª	5.7(0.6) ^a	10.7(5.3) ^₅	0.0014
Creatinine (µmol/L)						
Week2	-	-	-	53.5(40.5)	56.0(19.0)ª	0.4678
Month 6	-	-	-	a # 40	51.0(3.0)ª	0.4762
Total CHL (mmol/L)				#49.5(61.0)ª		
BL	4.6(1.1)ª	5.1(2.2)ª	-	·	-	0.1403
Week2	-	-	-	_	4.8(2.8)ª	0.7715

Table 3.1 Demographic and clinical parameters of LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients

Month 6	-	-	-	4.5(1.7)ª	5.2(3.1) ^a	0.0952
HDL (mmol/L)				[#] 4.0(0.3) ^a		
BL	1.4(0.4)ª	1.2(0.5)ª	-		-	0.2229
Week2	-	-	-	-	1.0(0.5)ª	0.3429
Month 6	-	-	-	1.4(0.6)ª	1.2(1.3)ª	0.5714
LDL (mmol/L)				1.5(1.3)ª		
BL	2.5(1.1)ª	3.1(1.4) ^a	-		-	0,1560
Week2	-	-	-	-	3.2(1.2)ª	0.6857
Month 6	-	-	-	2.65(2.5)ª	2.8(2.5)ª	0.1333
Triglycerides				[#] 2.0(0.4) ^a		
(mmol/L)	0.9(0.7)ª	1.6(1.0)♭	-		-	0.0025
BL	-	_	-	-	1.3(0.6)ª	0.1913
Week2	_	_	_	0 8(0 6)ª	2 7(2 8) ^a	0.0952
Month6				#1.1(0.5)ª	2.7 (2.0)	0.0002

Data expressed as n (column %) unless specified. BMI-Body mass Index, RBG-Random blood glucose, Bold number indicates a significant ANOVA, P-value of <0.05 was considered significant using Kruskal-Wallis and Dunns post-hoc test. Letters indicate statistical significance if different from each other. Values with the same letter are not significantly different from each other. #- 2 participants in that particular group

3.3.2 Overall transcript expression in unstimulated and stimulated blood from LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL

Gene expression analysis of a total of 594 immune genes was performed using the NanoString Technology platform to identify differentially expressed transcripts. The differential transcripts were investigated in the unstimulated and stimulated blood from individuals with LTBI with and without T2D and also in the TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients. The individuals with LTBI with and without T2D were compared to each other and TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients compared to one another. Gene transcripts data were reported as unstimulated, from the nil tube and stimulated, from the antigen tube divided by the value from the nil tube.

Figure 3.1A shows the number of total transcripts that were differentially expressed in TB compared to TB-THG in both stimulated and unstimulated samples, shown as stim TB-THG and unstim TB-THG, respectively. Figure 3.1A also shows total differentially expressed transcripts inTB compared to TB-T2D in both stimulated and unstimulated samples, shown as stim TB-T2D and unstim TB-T2D, respectively. Two hundred and fifty genes were upregulated and 329 downregulated in the unstimulated blood of individuals with LTBI compared to LTBI-T2D (Figure 3.1C). In the stimulated blood, 263 genes were upregulated and 315 downregulated in individuals with LTBI compared to LTBI-T2D (Figure 3.1C). Observed

differences in the transcripts from unstimulated blood in TB patients compared to TB-THG and TB-T2D, shows that *ex-vivo* differences exist in the RNA of the investigated patients. Furthermore, the differentially expressed genes are shown on Venn diagrams to highlight the overlap of any of the differentially expressed transcripts between TB-THG and TB-T2D compared to TB. We found 182 and 187 of stimulated gene transcripts to be similarly downregulated and upregulated in TB-THG and TB-T2D compared to TB, respectively. Interestingly, 86 of the gene transcripts from stimulated whole blood were upregulated in TB-THG and downregulated in TB-T2D, in addition, 123 were downregulated in TB-THG and up regulated in TB-T2D (Figure 3.1B). The Venn diagram was also done for LTBI and LTBI-T2D to determine the unique and shared genes between them (Figure 3.1D). A total of 211 gene transcripts which were upregulated in unstimulated blood of LTBI-T2D individuals were downregulated in stimulated blood from LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. Two hundred and twenty four gene transcripts were downregulated in unstimulated blood and upregulated in stimulated blood from LTBI-T2D. Furthermore, 104 gene transcripts downregulated in unstimulated blood from T2D patients were also downregulated in the stimulated blood, and 39 genes were similarly upregulated in unstimulated and also in RNA from stimulated blood of LTBI-T2D (Figure 3.1D). There is a contrast between TB compared to both groups with high glucose (TB-THG and TB-T2D) leading to upregulation of more genes (than downregulation), while individuals with LTBI compared to LTBI with high glucose shows more downregulated than upregulated genes (Figure 1A and D).





3.3.3 Differentially expressed blood transcripts in unstimulated whole blood of TB-THG and TB-T2D (vsTB) at baseline

To determine differentially expressed whole blood gene transcripts from TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients, heatmaps were used to determine the clustering of the gene expression data in the different groups. Gene expression was considered significantly different when the p value was < 0.01 and FDR-value was < 0.05 when compared to another group. Sixty-three genes were significantly different between TB-T2D and TB, of which, 25 were upregulated and 38 downregulated in the TB-T2D group (Figure 3.2A and C). Twenty-nine genes were differentially expressed between TB-T2D and TB-THG, of which, 25 were downregulated and four upregulated in the TB-T2D patients (Figure 3.2B and D). TB compared to TB-THG showed significant differences in the five genes (P selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (SELPLG), membrane metallo-endonuclease (MME), intelectin 1 (ITLN1), complement component 1Q subcomponent binding protein (C1QBP) and B cell lymphoma like protein 11 (BCL2L11), (data not shown). Two genes were upregulated in TB-THG vs TB (SELPLG and MME) and three downregulated genes (ITLN1, C1QBP and BCL2L11). We used the Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA) software to analyse differentially expressed genes from unstimulated blood between the TB and TB-THG, and found that pathways associated with innate immune responses including the complement system and apoptosis pathway were highly represented.

All significantly downregulated and upregulated genes from unstimulated blood at BL were analysed using Venn diagrams to enable visualization of shared and unique gene transcripts (Figure 3.2E, F). Twenty-two genes were exclusively downregulated in the TB-T2D (vs TB), two were significantly downregulated in TB-THG (vs TB) and 10 were specific to TB-T2D (vs TB-THG). BCL2L11, an apoptotic marker, was similarly downregulated in TB-THG and TB-T2D compared to TB. Fifteen gene transcripts (CCL2, CCL4, CCL3, IL-1A, cluster of differentiation 163 (CD163), CXCL2, plasminogen activator urokinase (PLAU), CXCL1, IL-1R1, tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 8 (TNFRSF8), CCRL2, NF-KB1, proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 7 (PSMD7), proteasome subunit beta type 5(PSMB5) and B cell lymphoma 2 associated X protein (BAX)) were downregulated when TB-T2D was compared to both TB and TB-THG (Figure 3.2E). The 15 gene transcripts may be of significance particularly, since these genes were downregulated in TB-T2D vs. TB and also found downregulated in TB-T2D vs. TB-THG. The genes that are altered by higher glucose appear to be in part similar between TB-T2D and TB-THG, but not ignoring the fact that differences between both groups exists which are not driven by excessively high blood glucose as shown by the distinct 15 gene signature between TB-T2D vs TB and TB-T2D vs TB-THG. These result shows the uniqueness of the 15 gene transcript profile to TB-T2D and may have impact in the pathogenesis and clinical outcomes associated with T2D during TB-T2D comorbidity. Twenty-four genes were exclusively upregulated in TB-T2D (vs TB), three were upregulated in TB-T2D (vs TB-THG) and two were specific to TB-THG (vs TB). One gene transcript (mitogen activated protein kinase activation protein kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2) was similarly upregulated in TB-T2D and TB-THG compared to TB (Figure 3.2F). Fewer gene transcripts were differentially expressed after stimulation, between patinets with TB-T2D compared to patients with TB. Results demonstrating changes in stimulated whole blood at BL are shown in supplementary Figure 1 A-C and month 6 gene expression shown in supplementary Figure 2A-C.



Figure 3.2: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D. RNA was isolated from whole blood of TB-T2D, TB-THG and TB stimulated with Mtb specific antigen using QFT assay (nil, unstimulated only represented in the figure). Gene expression of 594 genes as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 was done on the extracted RNA. Down and upregulated transcripts from unstimulated blood of TB compared to TB-T2D (n= 14, A and C), and TB-THG vs. TB-T2D (n=12, B and D). Downregulated and upregulated genes commonly and exclusively expressed between the TB-T2D vs TB, TB-THG vs TB and TBT2D vs TBTHG (E and F). JMP SAS was used to generate heatmaps and volcano plots, Venny 2.0 software was used to generate Venn diagrams and used Student T test to determine statistical difference between the groups. Genes with a p value was < 0.01 and FDR < 0.05 was statistically significant. - downregulated, + upregulated. Figure A Red TB-THG, Blue TB-T2D, Figure B red TB, blue TB-T2D.

3.3.4 Differentially expressed gene transcripts in blood from LTBI with and without T2D

Analysis of differentially expressed genes was done to identify distinct genes associated with LTBI-T2D. Genes have been described showing differences between LTBI and TB, however, there is no published data on LTBI-T2D gene expression. There were 26 genes, 16 significantly upregulated and 10 significantly downregulated in unstimulated blood from LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (Figure 3.3A). Stimulating with Mtb antigens increased the transcriptomic differences that we saw since stimulated blood resulted in 42 genes significantly expressed, and 36 of those were downregulated in LTBI-T2D patients compared to LTBI (Figure 3.3B)... There were seven genes exclusively upregulated in the unstimulated blood of LTBI-T2D patients (Figure 3.3E i) and nine that were exclusively downregulated in the LTBI-T2D patients (Figure 3.3E ii) compared to LTBI. After stimulation, there were five genes uniquely upregulated (Figure 3.3E iii) and 27 downregulated (Figure 3.3E iv) in the individuals with LTBI-T2D (vs LTBI). Interleukin-18 plays a critical role in immune response against Mtb infection (Schneider et al. 2010). Our results showed the IL-18 gene transcript to be the only

one that was downregulated in the unstimulated and upregulated in the stimulated blood of LTBI-T2D (vs LTBI). Nine of the gene transcripts were upregulated in the unstimulated and downregulated in stimulated blood of individuals with LTBI-T2D (vs LTBI) (Figure 3.3E vi).



Figure 3.3: Differentially expressed gene transcripts in LTBI and LTBI-T2D. RNA was isolated from whole blood of LTBI-T2D and LTBI stimulated with Mtb specific antigen using QFT assay (nil, unstimulated and Ag, stimulated). Gene expression of 594 genes as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 was done on the extracted RNA. Significantly down and upregulated transcripts from unstimulated blood of LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (A and C). Downregulated transcripts from stimulated blood of LTBI-T2D and LTBI (B and D). Downregulated and upregulated genes commonly and exclusively expressed between the LTBI-T2D vs LTBI are shown in 3E: I-VI. JMP SAS was used to generate heatmaps and volcano plots, Venny 2.0 software was used to generate Venn diagrams and used Student T test to determine statistical difference between the groups. Genes with a p value < 0.01 and FDR < 0.05 was statistically significant. – means downregulated, + means upregulated, unstim is for unstimulated, stim for stimulated, Red LTBI, Blue LTBI-T2D.

3.3.5 A core gene signature in whole blood differentiates TB-THG from TB-T2D patients at baseline

Differentially expressed genes were used to run a recursive partitioning analysis (RPA) to identify gene transcripts that can categorize patients in a group that describes their condition, either as TB, TB-THG or TB-T2D. The partition is created in such a way that gene expression with similar response values are grouped. After the partition is completed, a constant value of the response variable is predicted within each patient group (Sun et al. 2011). Figure 3.4A is a representative cubic cluster of patients depending on the expression levels of the following genes; PSMB5, complement component receptor 1 (C1R) and C1QBP from unstimulated blood at BL. PSMB5 with a log2 expression value of less than 6.1 predicted all TB-T2D patients with an area under the curve (AUC) of 1.00 (Figure 3.4B). To further characterize TB and TB-THG, C1QBP with a log2 expression value of < 6.7 was able to predict all five TB-THG patients (AUC=0.98; Figure 3.4B), but included one of the TB patients in this group. Subsequently, the

addition of C1R, with a log2 expression value of < 0.2, could separate all TB from TB-THG patients with an AUC of 0.99 (Figure 3.4B). The gene signature consisting of PSMB5, C1QBP and C1R were therefore able to accurately discriminate the three patient groups. A univariate analysis was done on the three genes to describe their expression in the different test samples as shown in Figure 3.4C to F. PSMB5 was significantly lower in TB-T2D compared to both TB and TB-THG (p=0.0001). C1QBP was significantly higher in TB compared to both TB-THG and TB-T2D (p=0.0069) (Figure 3.4C-D). C1R was not different among the groups (p=0.7328; data not shown).

Furthermore, the RPA was done for the stimulated blood at BL and three genes differentiating TB-THG from TB-T2D were identified, LILRB4, LGALS3 and ABCB1. When the level of expression of LILRB4 was \geq 1.02, the genes were able to identify all TB-THG, however at an expression level of \leq 1.02 the gene was not able to discriminate between TB and TB-T2D. To further characterize TB and TB-T2D patients, the addition of galectin 3 (LGALS3) with the expression value of > 0.08 was able to identify all TB-T2D patients but included one TB patient in this group. Subsequently, the addition of ATP binding cassete subfamily B member 1 (ABCB1) with a log2 expression > -0.39 could separate all TB from TB-T2D patients with an AUC of 0.99. Using this approach we found a transcript signature in Mtb-antigen stimulated whole blood that can differentiates patients with TB-THG from TB-T2D (LILRB4, LGALS3 and ABCB1). A univariate analysis on these transcripts showed that leukocyte immunoglobulin like receptor B4 (LILRB4) was significantly higher in TB-THG compared to both TB and TB-T2D (p=0.0003) and that LGALS3 was significantly higher in TB-T2D compared to both TB and TB-THG (p<0.0001) (Figure 3.4E-F). ABCB1 was not different between the groups (p=0.5601) (data not shown).



Figure 3.4: Gene signature distinguish between TB-THG and TB-T2D. (A) Cubic clustering from recursive partition analysis (RPA) of gene transcripts from RNA isolated from unstimulated blood of patients at baseline showing three markers accurately categorizing patients in either TB (red), TB-THG (green) and TB-T2D (blue). (B) Receiver operating characteristics curve showing the accuracy of the three markers to predict any of the patients as either TB, TB-THG or TB-T2D patients. Diamond plots showing differences in the expression of PSMB5, C1QBP in unstimulated blood (C and D) and LILRB4 and LGALS3 transcripts in stimulated blood (E and F). Mean expression was reported and ANOVA used to determine statistical significance. *p<0.01, **p<0.001, ***p<0.0001.

3.3.6 Gene signatures in whole blood could be associated with dysregulated pathways in LTBI-T2D that may increase susceptibility to TB

A group of differently expressed genes from unstimulated whole blood were used in RPA to identify a gene signature that would accurately classify LTBI with (n=20) and without T2D (n=20). Three genes cluster of differentiation (CD59), tumour necrosis factor ligand superfamily member 11 (TNFSF11) and cluster of differentiation (CD247) were able to distinguish between LTBI and LTBI-T2D. CD59 with a log2 expression value of \geq 8.25 could identify 12 of the 20 patients as T2D. TNFSF11 (at a cut off < 3.85) and CD247 (at cutoff < 9.52) were added to the model to further distinguish the eight remaining T2D patients and by doing so, a three gene signature, could discriminate all LTBI from LTBI-T2D with an AUC of 1.00 (Figure 3.5A and B). In addition, significant gene transcripts from stimulated blood were

also used for the RPA modelling. TNFRSF8, LILRA6 and PSMB7 were identified as good predictors for either LTBI or LTBI-T2D individuals. TNFRSF8 at a log2 expression value of \geq 0.85, LILRA6 with a log2 value of \leq 0.06 and PSMB7 with a log2 value of \leq 0.12 were able to accurately classify patients as LTBI or LTBI-T2D with an AUC of 1.00 (data not shown). Most importantly, these gene signatures could be involved in immunological pathways that may render patients with T2D susceptible to TB.

A univariate analysis of the RPA predictive genes was done for both signatures from unstimulated and stimulated blood. CD59 was significantly higher in the LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (p=0.0059) (Figure 3.5C). TNFSF11 (p=0.1573) and CD247 (p=0.7727) were not significantly different between the two groups in unstimulated blood (data not shown). From the stimulated samples, TNFRSF8 was significantly higher in the LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (p=0.0097) (Figure 3.5D). Leukocyte immunoglobulin like receptor A6 (LILRA6) (p=0.3137) and PSMB7 (p=0.6046) were not significantly different (data not shown).



Figure 3.5: Gene signature distinguishing between LTBI and LTBI-T2D. (A) Cubic clustering from recursive partition analysis (RPA) of gene transcripts from RNA isolated from unstimulated blood of study participants highlighting three markers that shows distinct immune signature in LTBI-T2D (blue) compared to LTBI (red) (B) Receiver operating characteristics curve of unstimulated blood at baseline showing the accuracy of the three markers to identify altered immune genes in LTBI-T2D compared LTBI. Diamond plots showing differences in the expression of CD59 and TNFRSF8 transcripts in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (C and D). *p<0.01, **p<0.001, ***p<0.0001.

3.3.7 The number of differentially expressed gene transcripts was reduced in TB-T2D patients at month 6

The transcript expression profile at M6 was investigated to determine how TB treatment would affect immune gene expression in the different patient groups. When comparing the gene expression between BL and M6, seven genes were differentially expressed in TB-THG (compared to TB). Platelet and endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (PECAM1), integrin subunit alpha 6 (ITGA6), CCR7, membrane spanning 4 domains A1 (MS4A1) and transcription factor 7 (TCF7) were significantly upregulated, while toll interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adapter molecule 1 (TICAM1) and IL17A were downregulated (data not shown). At M6, however, none of the genes were differentially expressed between TB-THG and TB (Figure 3.6A). In TB-T2D (vs TB) we observed a drastic reduction in differentially expressed genes at M6 compared to BL. There were now eight genes downregulated (TICAM1, PSMD7, chromosome 14 open reading frame 166 (C14orf166), BCL2L11, PSMB7, mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 5 (SMAD5), Interleukin enhancer binding factor 3 (ILF3) and CXCL10) and two genes upregulated (PECAM1 and B cell linker protein (BLNK)) in TB-T2D (vs TB) at M6 (Figure 3.6B). Even after the decrease in the total number of differentially expressed genes in TB-T2D from BL to M6, there were four genes (ILF3, PSMD7, PSMB7 and BCL2L11) which were downregulated at both time points. At M6, five genes (TP53, SMAD5, PSMC2, C14orf166 and C1QBP) were downregulated in TB-T2D compared to TB-THG (Figure 3.6C). PECAM1 was upregulated and TICAM1 downregulated in TB-T2D compared to TB at M6, the same was seen when comparing TB-THG to TB at M6. At the end of treatment, the reduction in gene transcripts and loss of differential expression is expected as the patients are cured. It is possible that the immune response is returning to normal, while the differences that remain are specific to T2D.



Figure 3.6: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at month 6. RNA was isolated from whole blood of TB-T2D, TB-THG and TB stimulated with Mtb specific antigen using QFT assay (nil, unstimulated only represented in the figure). Gene expression of 594 genes as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 was done on the extracted RNA. Down and upregulated transcripts from unstimulated blood of TB compared to TB-THG (A), TB vs. TB-T2D (B) and TB-THG vs TB-T2D. JMP SAS was used to generate heatmaps and used Student T test to determine statistical difference between the groups. Genes with a p value < 0.01 and FDR < 0.05 was statistically significant. Figure A Red TB, Blue TB-THG, Figure B red TB, blue TB-T2D and Figure C red TB-THG and blue TB-T2D.

3.3.8 Antigen presentation and Th1 activation and glucocorticoid signalling pathways are dysregulated in whole blood from LTBI, LTBI-T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D participants

To investigate the role of the genes that were differentially expressed in the study groups, we performed an IPA analysis. Genes from unstimulated and stimulated whole blood, which were significantly different between LTBI-T2D and LTBI revealed alterations in immune responses such as antigen presentation and Th1 activation pathway (Table 3.2). From the stimulated whole blood of TB compared to TB-T2D at BL, the differentially expressed genes were involved in the regulation of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM-1) signalling which is critical for innate immune responses including activation of inflammatory responses (Colonna and Facchetti, 2003). TREM-1 is poorly expressed in Mtb infection, and correlates with inflammatory response rather than with bacterial proliferation (Colonna and Facchetti, 2003). In our results, TREM-1 could be induced by T2D in TB patients. Glucocorticoid receptor signalling was also among the overrepresented pathways in TB-T2D patients, because glucocorticoids suppress pro-inflammatory responses, which may
enhance the secretion of other anti-inflammatory molecules (Schaaf and Cidlowski, 2003). The complement and apoptosis pathways were observed when genes differentially expressed between TB and TB-THG from unstimulated whole blood at BL were investigated. After stimulating whole blood with Mtb-antigens, pathways involving IL-22 signalling, IL-15 production and type 1 interferon signalling were overrepresented in TB-THG at BL (Table 3.2). The identified pathways are critical for immune response during TB and their differential expression shows that there are major differences between patients with and without T2D, and need to be further investigated to understand the biological functions in the individual groups.

Table 3.2: IPA of differentially regulated genes in the study participants

	canonical pathways	Diseases	Molecular	Physiological	Network
			function	systems	
				development	
Unstimulate d LTBI vs	Th1 and Th2 Activation Pathway	Infectious Diseases	Cell Death and Survival	Connective Tissue	0074 LLLRA2
	Th1 Pathway	Dermatological Diseases and Conditions	Cell-To-Cell Signalling and Interaction	Development and Function Tissue Development	TNERSF8 TART TNERSF8 Immunosdopulin, IL2224 Intelferon alpha
	Altered T Cell and B Cell Signalling in Rheumatoid Arthritis	Organismal Injury and Abnormalities	Cellular Development	Haematologica I System Development and Function	
	Role of Cytokines in Mediating Communication between Immune Cells HMGB1 Signalling	Inflammatory Response Immunological Disease	Cellular Growth and Proliferation	Cellular Growth and Proliferation	ERC ERC Collsgen(s) Collsgen(s)
			Cellular Compromise	Lymphoid Tissue Structure and Development	

Stimulated	Antigen Presentation	Connective	Cellular	Haematologica	HLA-B CD74
ITRI VS	Pathway	Tissue	Development	I System	IFITM1
		Disorders		Development	
LTBI-T2D			-	and Function	HAC RAPPES
	Th1 and Th2 Activation		Cellular		BCL3
	Pathway	Immunological	Growth and		
		Disease	Proliferation	Haematopoiesi	TAP2
	Th1 Dothwov			S	Interferiorialista
	IIII Faulway	Inflammatory	Collular		ESMBG
		Discoso	Eunction and	Lymphoid	PENMEB
	Crosstalk between Dendritic	Disease	Maintenance	Tissue	In Carrima
	Cells and Natural Killer		Maintenance	Structure and	THP38MAPK STAT3
	Cells	Inflammatory		Development	EDNR8
		Response	Cell Death		
			and Survival		CD274 LUR94
	Type I Diabetes Mellitus			Tissue	PML L12(temily)
	Signalling	Organismal		Development	
	Signaling	Injury and	Cell Cycle	Cell-mediated	
		Abnormalities			PIPMZZ
				Immune	
				Response	
				•	

Unstimulate	TREM1 Signalling	Infectious	Cell-To-Cell	Haematologica	неро
d TB vs TB-		Diseases	Signalling	I System	
			and	Development	
IZD, BL			Interaction	and Function	FCGR2
	Differential Regulation of Cytokine Production in Intestinal Epithelial Cells by IL-17A and IL- 17F	Immunological Disease	Cell Death and Survival	Immune Cell Trafficking	Lympholoxin L177 L23A CXCLI 117 H177 H23A H217 H23A H217 H23A H217 H23A H217 H23A H217 H23A H217 H217 H23A H217 H217 H217 H217 H217 H217 H217 H217
	Differential Regulation of Cytokine Production in Macrophages and T Helper Cells by IL-17A	Inflammatory Response	Cellular Movement	Haematopoiesi s	S 100A8 CXCL2 Collage() type It
	and IL-17F	Connective Tissue Disorders	Cellular Function and Maintenance	Lymphoid Tissue Structure and	S100A9 CCLT
	Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate	la flavora e la ma		Development	Calcineutin protein(s)
	Cell Activation	Disease	Cellular Development	Tissue Development	
	Dendritic Cell Maturation				

Stimulated	Differential Regulation of	Hypersensitivity	Cell-To-Cell	Haematologica	
TP vo TP	Cytokine Production in	Response	Signalling	I System	
ID VS ID-	Macrophages and T Helper		and	Development	
T2D, BL	Cells by IL-17A		Interaction	and Function	
	and IL-17F	Inflammatory Response			
			Cellular	Immune Cell	
	Differential Regulation of	Connactivo	Movement	Trafficking	
	Cytokine Production in	Tissue			
	Intestinal Epithelial Cells by	Disorders	Cell Death	Tissue	
			and Survival	Morphology	SELET
	17F	Organiamal			CCRU2
		loiuny and	Collular	Connactivo	
	Role of		Compromise	Tissue	TIGUT
	Hypercytokinemia/hyperche	Abriornalities	Compromise	Development	
	mokinemia in the			and Function	sLC2A1
	Pathogenesis of Influenza	Skeletal and	Cellular		
		Muscular	Function and		
		Disorders	Maintonenaa	lissue	
	IREMI Signalling		Maintenance	Development	
	Glucocorticoid Receptor				
	Signalling				

Unstimulate d TB vs TB- THG, BL	Complement System Apoptosis Signalling	Endocrine System Disorders	Cell-To-Cell Signalling and Interaction	Cardiovascular System Development and Function	CD4 KLF6 DAKC FOX03
	Neuroprotective Role of THOP1 in Alzheimer's Disease	Gastrointestinal Disease	Cell Death and Survival	Cell-mediated Immune Response	TNERSF41A
	Atherosclerosis Signalling	Metabolic Disease	Cell Morphology	Embryonic Development	CCLL BCL2A
	PTEN Signalling	Injury and Abnormalities	Cellular Assembly and	Haematologica I System	GATA3 GATA3 STAT6 CXCR4 LIR2 C10BP
		Cancer	Organizatio n	Development and Function	THBD nir 8
			Cellular	Haematopoiesi	
			Function	S	
			and		
			Maintenanc		
			е		

Stimulated	IL-22 Signalling	Connective	Cellular	Cell-mediated	1.20 T
TB vs TB-		Tissue	Development	Immune	СНИК ГОС
		Disorders		Response	
THG, BL	Role of JAK1, JAK2 and		.		KEKE T
	IYK2 in Interferon			·	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
	Signalling	Dermatological	Function and	Embryonic	
		Diseases and	Maintenance	Development	
	Role of IAK family kinases	Conditions			
	in II -6-type Cytokine		Cellular	Haematological	
	Signalling	Inflammatory	Growth and	System	STATE
	Cigricaning	Disease	Proliferation	Development	PROUND A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
				and Function	
	IL-15 Production				CKCL ID
		Inflammatory	Cell-To-Cell		STATE
		Response	signalling	Haematopoiesis	(CORPS) NLAA
	Role of JAK2 in Hormone-		and		
	like Cytokine Signalling		Interaction		KLRC4-RLINKUKLINKT
		Organismal		Lymphoid	SIA16
		Injury and	Cellular	Tissue Structure	TOFT
		Abnormalities		and	
			iviovement	Development	
				Development	

3.4. Discussion

Humans infected with Mtb can clear the pathogen, become latently infected or develop active TB disease (Lu et al. 2011) and the risk of progression is significantly increased in T2D patients (Jeon and Murray, 2008). However, the factors influencing pathogen clearance and disease progression from latent infection are poorly understood (O'Garra et al. 2013). Our study investigated gene expression data from unstimulated and Mtb-antigen stimulated whole blood to identify distinct gene signatures in individuals with LTBI with and without T2D, and TB with and without T2D. We identified differential gene expression profiles, which may contribute to increased susceptibility of T2D patients to TB and increased disease severity in TB-T2D comorbidity, as well as delayed treatment response and unfavourable treatment outcomes.

T2D is a risk factor for poor TB treatment outcomes including treatment failure and relapse (Dooley et al. 2009; Critchely et al. 2017) and the WHO recommends that all active TB patients be screened for T2D. This is however not broadly implemented. The TB-THG group is characterised by high HbA1c prior to TB treatment which decreases during the first three months of treatment (Tabarsi et al. 2014). It is therefore advised to monitor HbA1c of TB patients during treatment in order to confirm their T2D status. Our study was able to identify a signature that could differentiate between TB-THG and TB-T2D, which could be useful in preventing the unnecessary treatment in those who would have been incorrectly diagnosed as having T2D. Most importantly, T2D screening of TB patients is recommended by the WHO (Restrepo et al. 2011), however HbA1c testing using a cut-off of 6.5% will not be able to distinguish patients with THG from T2D. Therefore, our gene signature could complement standard T2D screening of TB patients and also support a re-evaluation of HbA1c cut-offs for T2D diagnosis in TB patients.

We identified 15 gene transcripts that were dysregulated in unstimulated whole blood from TB-T2D patients compared to TB and TB-THG. It is possible that the products of these 15 gene transcripts (CCL2, CCL4, CCL3, IL-1A, CD163, CXCL2, PLAU, CXCL1, IL-1R1, TNFRSF8, CCRL2, NFKB1, PSMD7, PSMB5 and BAX) contribute to immunopathology in TB-T2D because their expression was unique to TB-T2D. Our unpublished data revealed that serum CCL2 protein is highly upregulated in TB-T2D patients, and could mean that high CCL2 in TB-T2D negatively feeds back to downregulation of CCL2 at the mRNA level. It is also possible however that the high CCL2 concentrations in the serum are a spill-over from the site of disease and produced by immune cells recruited to the lung and not by immune cells in the circulation. Others also showed that serum of TB-T2D patients have elevated CCL2 protein levels (Panee, 2013). It has been shown that downregulated proteins are well correlated with their mRNA gene transcripts, however this trend was not reported for upregulated mRNA gene

expression (Fournier et al. 2010). This could be why we observe downregulated CCL2 transcripts while its protein has been reported to be upregulated in TB-T2D patients (Panee, 2013). Insufficient CCL2 mRNA expression in diabetic wounds were reported to be primarily responsible for the delay in macrophage response in these wounds (Wood et al. 2014). We believe that the downregulation of the products of the gene transcripts mentioned above may favour altered recruitment of immune cells to the site of inflammation and affect immunity. Our results show that the TNFRSF8. BAX and NF-kB1 gene transcripts which are important for triggering apoptosis are inhibited in TB-T2D patients (Donath et al. 2003). Furthermore, Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase-Activated Protein Kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2), a protein kinase downstream of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, is involved in pathological conditions by upregulating various inflammatory pathways (Fiore et al. 2015). MAPKAPK2 was found to be upregulated in TB-T2D compared to TB and TB-THG patients, in our study, and could be involved in promoting dysregulated inflammatory processes that are seen in TB-T2D patients. Complement system C1q transcript is highly expressed in early stages of TB disease (Esmail et al. 2018). Interestingly, compliment c1q binding protein (C1QBP) was downregulated in our unstimulated sample of TB-THG (vs TB). C1QBP was also downregulated after stimulation in T2D compared to LTBI. C1QBP and SERPING, also downregulated in T2D compared to LTBI, were highly abundant in whole blood of TB patients compared with LTBI (Esmail et al. 2018). Since the complement pathway is upregulated during Mtb infection and gets downregulated during TB treatment (Cliff et al. 2013), Suliman et al. speculated that c1g is involved in TB pathology (Suliman; Thompson et al. 2018). In keeping with this, its expression is strongly associated with active TB disease and disease severity (Cai et al. 2014). Even though the exact role of C1QBP is still unknown, it has been shown to play a role in regulating apoptosis and inflammatory processes in the mitochondrial matrix (Feichtinger et al. 2017). The downregulation of this transcript in our results was seen along with the downregulation of BCL2L11, which is an apoptotic gene. The inhibition of BCL2L11 is associated with inhibition of apoptosis as well as autophagy (Dai and Grant, 2015). In our unstimulated blood from TB-T2D patients compared to TB, BCL2L11 gene transcript was downregulated.

Immunity to TB requires effective innate and adaptive immune responses (Cooper and Khader, 2008; Beisiegel et al. 2009). NF-kB is a mediator of pro-inflammatory gene development and functions in both innate and adaptive immunity (Liu et al. 2017). NF-kB induction was high in TB compared to TB-T2D, this was accompanied by the induction of CD14 found on monocytes, CD163 expressed on macrophages and natural killer cell receptor 2B4 (CD244) which are important players of the innate immune response. As part of this study, in patients with TB compared to TB-T2D, the components contained in cytotoxic granules such

64

as perforin (PRF1), granulysin (GNLY) and granzyme B (GZMB) were also elevated and corresponded to the expression of CD244 in unstimulated samples. Kumar et al. showed that the frequency of CD8⁺ T cells producing PRF1 or GZMB or CD107a were decreased in TB-T2D group compared to TB in unstimulated whole blood and even after stimulation with Mtbantigens (CFP-10 or ESAT-6) (Kumar et al. 2015). NK cells producing PRF1 or GZMB were not significantly different between TB-T2D and TB at baseline and after stimulation with Mtbantigens, however, CD107a produced by NK cells was significantly lower in TB-T2D compared to TB after Mtb-antigens stimulation (Kumar et al. 2015). Kumar's finding is different from our gene expression results since we saw similar results in the unstimulated blood and not after Mtb-antigens stimulation. However, this is not surprising since the gene expression and its protein abundance has been shown to be poorly correlated (Maier et al. 2009). The key transcription factor NF-kB of M1 macrophages is essential for the development of the Th1 responses such as IL-12, IFN-y, IL-23, and IL-27 which are required to control Mtb replication (Cooper and Khader, 2008), as well as IL-1β, TNF-α, and IL-6 (Wang et al. 2014). Blood transcriptional assays that enable early accurate TB diagnosis could have an important impact on control of the global TB epidemic (Walter et al. 2016). The immunological factors involved in the host immune response network in Mtb infection and TB reactivation have not yet been clearly elucidated. Identifying the host genes responsible for TB susceptibility and resistance may be the key towards better understanding the mechanisms leading to the development of the disease, and also identify pathways for targeted HDT. The genes that were differentially expressed in unstimulated LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI were associated with activation of necrosis and cell death of tumour cells, inhibition of immune response of leukocytes, maturation of blood cells, which may be implicated in the regulation of the immune response during Mtb infection. CCL2, CD163, TNFRSF8, cytokine inducible SH2 containing protein (CISH), guanylate binding protein 5(GBP5), promyelocytic leukemia (PML) and transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP1) were differentially expressed in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI and TB-T2D compared to TB patients which implies that these genes could have some significance in promoting TB susceptibility in LTBI and pathology in TB patients with T2D.

A gene signature unique to LTBI-T2D patients was identified and includes CD59, TNFS11 and CD274. Only CD59 was significantly higher in individuals with LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. CD59 is a membrane glycoprotein which protects host cells from the membrane attach complex mediating lysis (Koski et al. 1996). The membrane attack complex can result in tissue injury during dysregulated complement activation that occurs during chronic inflammatory conditions (Huang et al. 2006). This can result in overexpression of CD59, which, in tumour cells has been associated with tumour development (Fishelson et al. 2003). In our LTBI-T2D

patients, it is possible that CD59 protects the Mtb infected cells from complement mediated lysis which favours replication within the cells. A process which is perhaps exploited by Mtb.

Zak et al. identified a 16 gene signature that could predict development of TB two years prior to diagnosis (Zak et al. 2016). Suliman et al. also identified a RISK4 gene signature that identifies those at risk for TB progression within two years (Suliman et al. 2018). In our study, TAP1, SERPING-1 and GBP5 genes were downregulated in T2D compared to LTBI after stimulation with Mtb antigens. The mentioned genes are also in the 16 gene signature identified by Zak et al. Before Mtb antigens stimulation, these genes were upregulated in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI, and were downregulated after stimulation. This shows that LTBI-T2D patients express some of the signature genes associated with progression to TB. Whether this is associated with an increased risk to progress to TB in T2D patients is not yet known. The complete signatures identified by Zak et al. (2016) and Suliman et al. (2018) could not be detected in our study. This was expected since a published 393-gene TB signature identified previously could not identify TB in patients co-infected with HIV (Dawany et al. 2014). The other reason was that our study used a specific immunological panel, which only looked at a subset of genes unlike the mentioned studies which used more in depth techniques such as RNA-seq. Due to T2D, the expression of genes is likely to differ.

The IL-18 gene transcript was downregulated in the RNA isolated from unstimulated blood and upregulated in the Mtb antigen stimulated blood of individuals with LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. In our unpublished data, we showed higher serum protein levels of IL-18 in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. This means that there is an inverse relationship between IL-18 protein and mRNA (similarly to what we observed for CCL2), which could feedback to suppress the IL-18 transcript. In a study where IL-18 knock out mice were infected with Mtb, the IL-18 knock out mice had more CFUs in their lungs, compared to wildtype mice, and the CFUs were reduced after treating the mice with IL-18 (Sugawara et al 1999). In this study, the authors concluded that IL-18 is important for the development of protective immunity during Mtb infection (Sugawara et al. 1999). IL-18 increases FASL expression and NF-KB activation and its downregulation has been associated with increased Mtb susceptibility (Dinarello, 1999). The IL-18 gene has been studied in TB and LTBI models. We found it to be differentially expressed in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI. Interestingly, in unstimulated LTBI-T2D samples, this gene transcript was downregulated and upregulated after Mtb antigen stimulation. This could be as a means of immune activation, and implies that IL-18 expression is affected during LTBI-T2D. These results have not been reported elsewhere, however, the inflammatory gene profile described by Zak et al. included this marker (Zak et al. 2016).

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) is an anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive cytokine, it antagonizes the activation of NF-kB in lymphocytes, on the one hand, NF-kB also inhibit activities of TGF- β (Geiser et al. 1993). TGF- β receptor-1 transcript was increased in our results in the TB-T2D compared to TB, and we think that this increase could underlie or result in irregular TGF- β production. If it does influence TGF- β production, it could explain the increased Th2 responses that have been reported in other studies (AI-Attiya and Mustafa, 2009; Wang et al. 2018). However, in LTBI-T2D the upregulation of TGF- β is associated with the down regulation of Th1 (Kumar et al. 2014).

Generally, the immune responses (especially the NF-kB signalling pathway) against Mtb were downregulated in the unstimulated blood from TB-T2D patients which could be a contributing factor in delayed Mtb clearance and unfavourable TB treatment outcomes. Interestingly, TNFRSF8 or CD30 which is expressed by activated lymphocytes (T and B cells), was downregulated in TB-T2D and one of its major functions is to arbitrate the signal transduction that leads to the activation of NF-kB (Liu et al. 2017). TNFRSF8 was also down-regulated in unstimulated LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI and as we know, TNF- α suppressors have been associated with progression to TB disease in LTBI individuals (Cantini et al. 2016).

We were able to perform gene expression assay on both TANDEM and ALERT samples and found that there are unique gene profiles among our study patients. These gene profiles will be useful to characterize the biological composition and the immune response profile during different disease states. We identified a 15 gene signature that was downregulated in TB-T2D patients when compared to both TB and TB-THG and suggested that it could be involved in the immunopathology associated with TB-T2D. In addition, we also identified a biosignature using RPA (C1QBP, C1R and PSMB5) that could distinguish between TB-THG and TB-T2D in unstimulated blood. We were able to identify novel gene signature in unstimulated blood (CD59, TNFSF11 and CD247) from individuals with LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI which should be further evaluated in functional assays to elucidate their involvement in the increased susceptibility to TB observed in individuals with T2D. We were not able to perform a direct comparison for our 594 gene expression between the participant groups of the two different studies as the gene expression analysis was batched and run at different times. The first gene expression analysis was performed on the TANDEM patients, and a year later we ran the same gene expression panel on ALERT patients. We further acknowledge that we had a relatively low sample size for the gene expression assays.

CHAPTER 4

Immune-endocrine changes in the serum and plasma of individuals with LTBI and TB patients with and without T2D, association with glycaemic control and Mtb control in phagocytic mononuclear cells.

4.1 Introduction

T2D is increasing in low and middle income countries where TB is also endemic (Harries et al. 2011). T2D is considered a risk factor for TB; apart from hyperglycaemia, altered phagocytosis by monocytes, dysregulated T cell immune response, altered hormone and cytokine production have been reported in TB-T2D patients (Restrepo and Schlesinger, 2013; Gomez et al. 2013; Kumar et al. 2014). Individuals with LTBI-T2D exhibit diminished circulating levels of type 1 (IFN-y, IL-2 and TNF- α) and type 17 (IL-17F) cytokines (Kumar et al. 2014). Furthermore, decreased systemic levels of other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1ß and IL-18, and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 have been reported (Kumar et al. 2014). Moreover, inflammatory cytokine production can activate the HPA axis (Fernandez et al. 2016). The activation of the HPA axis leads to secretion of ACTH, ultimately resulting in the production of cortisol from the adrenals (Burford et al. 2017). Dysregulated cortisol production is associated with inhibition of immune cell functioning, such as antigen presentation leading to reduced Mtb control (Angerami et al. 2013), and has also been associated with TB severity (Santucci et al. 2011). The immune-endocrine profile is dysregulated in TB and more so in TB-T2D comorbidity (Fernandez et al. 2016). Little is known about the dysregulation of the immune-endocrine interaction in LTBI-T2D, although this may contribute to the susceptibility of T2D patients to TB disease. We therefore aimed to characterize cytokine and hormone levels in latently infected individuals and TB patients with and without T2D and evaluate if there is correlation among the cytokines, hormones and Mtb association and control by PBMCs and MNs from these participants.

4.2 Methods

The detailed methods are discussed in Chapter 2. Forty close contacts of TB patients with and without T2D (enrolled as part of the ALERT study) and 21 TB patients with and without T2D at BL and M6 (enrolled as part of the TANDEM study) were included. The blood collected in NaHep tubes was used for PBMC isolation using the density gradient centrifugation method (for ALERT patients). Subsequently, MNs were isolated using Miltenyi Pan Monocyte isolation kit and LS MACS separation columns (Miltenyi biotec). The PBMCs and MNs were infected with *H37Rv* Mtb for two hours. Mtb uptake was determined, and cells were further incubated for one and three days (for MNs) or six days (for PBMCs), to determine the ability of the MNs and PBMCs to control and kill the Mtb in both the LTBI (noT2D) and LTBI-T2D (T2D). Differential blood cell counts and clinical parameters (HbA1c, FBG, lipids, weight and height) were determined. Weight and height was used to calculate the BMI of each participant. The

serum and plasma samples that were previously stored at -80°C were thawed and ELISAs used to measure adrenaline, noradrenaline, dopamine, (Abnova) serotonin, I-TAC and IL-22 (Biocom). Luminex was used to simultaneously measure IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IIL-18, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-27, IL-33, (Qiagen), IL-35 and oncostatin (OSM) (Merck-Millipore) in the same samples. The CFU data were correlated with the cytokines, hormones, blood glucose levels, lipids and differential blood cell counts. IL-22 ELISA was performed on serum samples from both the ALERT and TANDEM study. Repeated measures ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test as well as Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's *post hoc* test were used to determine statistical differences between the groups. Spearman correlation analysis was used to determine association between variables.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Study participants and characteristics

The participants included in this chapter are the same as in the previous chapter. Their demographics and clinical parameters are summarized in Table 3.1. The ALERT participants were latently infected individuals with and without T2D, and in this particular chapter, participants were divided into four subclasses; noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%, n=10), PreT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%, n=10), T2D (HbA1c 6.5-7.9%, n= 10) and poorly controlled T2D (pT2D) (HbA1c ≥8%, n=10). TANDEM participants were TB patients with and without T2D, and were grouped as follow, TB (HbA1c ≤5.7%), TB with transient hyperglycaemia (TB-THG; HbA1c ≥6.5% at BL only and not on DM medication) and TB-T2D (HbA1c ≥6.5% at BL and M6, and taking DM medication).

4.3.2 Cytokine responses in latently infected individuals with and without T2D

T2D is characterised by chronic inflammation and dysregulated immune response (Xia et al. 2017). LTBI-T2D have low circulating levels of IFN- γ , IL-2, TNF- α and IL-17F (Kumar et al. 2014), as well as IL-1 β , IL-18, IL-10 (Kumar et al. 2014). In this study, we measured the circulating concentrations of Th1 (IFN- γ and TNF- α), Th2 (IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-33, IL-35 and IL-27), Th17 (IL-22) as well as a range of other pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-18, IL-21 and IL-23) and chemokines (IL-8 and I-TAC) in the serum and plasma of individuals with LTBI with and without T2D.

In this section we first compared the cytokine concentrations in the two groups, LTBI (including noT2D and preT2D) and LTBI-T2D (includingT2D and pT2Ds). Serum concentrations of IL-6 were significantly higher in individuals with LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (Figure 4.1A). IL-18 showed a trend towards higher concentrations in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (Figure 4.1A). (Figure 4.1B). There was no significant difference in concentrations of the following cytokines; IL-27 (Figure 4.1C), IL-4, IL-8, IL-13, IL-22, I-TAC and OSM (data not shown) between LTBI-

T2D and LTBI-noT2D. IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-10, IL- 21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-33 and IL-35 were not detected in majority of the study participants and therefore were not included in the analysis.



Figure 4.1 Circulating cytokine levels in LTBI-noT2D compared to LTBI-T2D. IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IL-18, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-27, IL-33, IL-35, OSM were measured using luminex and I-TAC and IL-22 using ELISA in serum samples of LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-6.4%, n=20) and LTBI-T2D (HbA1c ≥6.5%, n=20) patients. (A) IL-6 concentrations were significantly higher in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D. (B) IL-18 concentrations were also higher in LTBI-T2D patients compared to LTBI-noT2D participants, but did not reach statistical significance. (C) IL-27 concentrations were not significantly different between LTBI-noT2D and LTBI-T2D. Data are represented as LS means with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The significant difference between the groups was calculated using the Mann-Whitney U T test and a p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

4.3.3 IL-22 and IL-18 concentrations are higher in pT2D patients

IL-22 has been shown to induce antimicrobial peptides, promotes epithelial repair and inhibits intracellular growth of Mtb in macrophages (reviewed in Domingo-gonzalez et al. 2016). IL-18, produced by monocytes and macrophages, is associated with protection against Mtb infection (Schneider et al. 2010). When further subdividing the study participant into LTBI with preT2D, T2D and pT2D, we found that IL-18 concentrations were significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.02; Figure 4.2A). There was a trend towards higher levels of IL-18 in LTBI-pT2D when compared to LTBI-preT2D (p=0.06; Figure 4.2A). IL-22 was significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.04; Figure 4.2B). IL-22 was also higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D, however, this difference failed to reach significant difference (p=0.09). IL-6 did not show any significant difference when comparing the four groups to each other.



Figure 4.2 IL-18, IL-22 and IL-6, concentrations compared among LTBI-noT2D, preT2D, T2D and LTBI-pT2D patients. Serum samples from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c% 4.0-5.69, n=10), PreT2D (HbA1c% 5.7-6.49, n=10), T2D (HbA1c% 6.5-8, n= 10) and pT2D (HbA1c%≥8, n=10) were used to measure IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13, IL-18, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-27, IL-33, IL-35 and OSM using the luminex technology and IL-22 and I-TAC using ELISA. (A) IL-18 is significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D (vs noT2D). (B) IL-22 is higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-T2D (p=0.02) and LTBI-preT2D (p=0.09). (C) No statistical significant difference in IL-6 is observed among the four groups. The data were analysed using an ANOVA with a Fisher LSD Post-hoc test. Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI, ANOVA p value is shown on the graph. Letters (a-b) are used to indicate significant differences, groups with the same letter are not statistically different from each other.

4.3.4 IL-22 cytokine is higher in TB-T2D

The role of IL-22 in TB is contradicting, with some studies suggesting a pathological role, while other studies suggest a protective role for IL-22 during TB (Treerat et al. 2017). Given the importance of IL-22, we measured its concentration in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients at BL and M6 using an ELISA. IL-22 concentrations were significantly lower in TB-THG patients compared to TB-T2D at BL (Figure 4.3A) and this trend was also seen at M6, although not statistically significant (Figure 4.3B). To determine if TB treatment has an effect on IL-22 levels, we compared IL-22 expression at BL and M6 in the three groups and no differences were observed, however, TB-T2D showed a trend towards decreased IL-22 at M6 compared to BL (Figure 4.3C).

Furthermore, we wanted to compare the concentration of IL-22 in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients before and after TB treatment to that of individuals with LTBI with and without T2D. There was an overall significant difference in IL-22 concentration at BL (ANOVA), however, after correcting for multiple comparisons with the Dunn's *post hoc* test, there were no significant differences detected among any of the groups (Figure 4.3D). When comparing the end of treatment (M6) IL-22 concentrations of the TB patients to those measured in the LTBI groups, we found that the end of treatment, IL-22 concentrations were significantly higher in the TB-T2D (M6) compared to LTBI and LTBI-T2D (T2D) (Figure 4.3E).



Figure 4.3 IL-22 concentrations in LTBI-T2D compared to TB-T2D. Serum from individuals with LTBI with noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%), preT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%), T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%) and pT2D (HbA1c \geq 8%) was used for measuring IL-22 using ELISA. (A) IL-22 measurement in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL. (B) IL-22 measurement in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL and M6. (C) IL-22 measurements to determine treatment effect in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL and M6. (D) IL-22 measurement in LTBI-noT2D, LTBI-preT2D, LTBI-T2D, LTBI-pT2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL. (E) IL-22 measurement in LTIB-noT2D, LTBI-preT2D, LTBI-T2D, LTBI-pT2D, and M6 of TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D. The ANOVA p-value is shown on the graph and differences between the groups indicated with a *. The data was analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's *post hoc* test to determine difference between the groups. *P <0.05, **P<0.01.

4.3.5 No differences in catecholamines, vitamin D, cortisol and insulin concentrations in LTBI participants with and without T2D

Cytokines produced during Mtb infection and T2D may alter endocrine responses which in turn could have an effect on theprogression of the disease (Webster et al. 2002). We therefore wanted to investigate the plasma concentrations of some hormones (mentioned below) in LTBI participants with and without T2D. We measured catecholamine (dopamine, adrenaline and noradrenaline) and serotonin concentrations with ELISA, while measurements of insulin, cortisol and Vitamin D levels were done at the national health laboratory services for these participants. We were unable to measure Noradrenaline due to technical problems encountered in the laboratory. No differences were observed in the circulating concentrations of the measured hormones between LTBI-T2D and LTBI-noT2D. Figures comparing the levels of cortisol (Figure 4.4A), insulin (Figure 4.4B), adrenaline (Figure 4.4C) and serotonin (Figure

4.5D), between T2D and noT2D, are shown below. Dopamine and Vitamin D data were not included.





4.3.6 Insulin was higher in LTBI with pT2D compared to LTBI with noT2D

It is known that T2D patients are characterized by hyperglycaemia and insulin resistance (Taskinen and Boren, 2015), therefore we wanted to determine if subdividing our participants according to glycaemic levels would result in differences in hormones associated with T2D. After subdividing the participants into the four groups, there was a significant difference in insulin levels between LTBI-pT2D and LTBI-noT2D (p=0.03; Figure 4.5A). This is not surprising as high insulin observed in the LTBI-pT2D patients is driven by the insulin treatment some of the patients received (5 of the 10 pT2D patients reported using insulin) or could be due to hyperinsulineamia. There were no differences observed in any of the hormones; vitamin D, cortisol, serotonin and catecholamines measured when comparing the four patient groups (Fig 4.5B).



Figure 4.5. Hormone levels in patients with LTBI and noT2D, preT2D, T2D and pT2D. Insulin (A) and serotonin (B) concentrations were measure in the plasma samples of LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%), LTBI-preT2D (HbA1c 5.7-5.64%), LTBI-T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%) and LTBI-pT2D (HbA1c \geq 8%) patients by ELISA. The data was analysed using an ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test. Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI. Letters (a-b) indicate significance differences. Groups with the same letter are not statistically different from each other.

4.3.7 Triglycerides were higher in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D

Dyslipidaemia is one of the best described characteristics of T2D (Taskinen and Boren, 2015), and is involved in the regulation of chronic inflammation (Wellen and Hotamisligil 2005). Since T2D is characterized by low grade chronic inflammation (Huang et al. 2014), we wanted to investigate the lipid profile in our study participants. We, therefore, investigated total CHL, triglycerides, LDL and HDL levels in the plasma of participants with LTBI with and without T2D. As shown in Figure 4.6A, the LTBI-T2D patients had significantly higher triglyceride concentrations in their blood compared to LTBI-noT2D. The total CHL (Figure 4.6B) and LDL (data not shown) were higher and HDL (data not shown) was lower in LTBI-T2D patients, but the differences were not significant.



Figure 4.6 Triglycerides and cholesterol in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D. Lipids concentrations were assessed by clinical laboratory testing through the national laboratory services (NHLS). (A) Triglycerides were significantly higher in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D. (B) Total CHL was not significantly different between

the two groups. Data were analysed using Mann-Whitney U T test. Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI. P <0.05 was considered significant.

4.3.8 Poorly controlled glycaemia drives the increase in lipids in T2D patients

To determine if the differences between the participants were dependant on the glycaemic control, the analysis was done in the four subgroups. Triglycerides were significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to all the other groups (Figure 4.7A). Total CHL was significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D in comparison to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.01; Figure 4.7B). LDL was significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.01; Figure 4C) and showed a trend towards higher levels compared to LTBI-preT2D (p=0.06; Figure 4.7C). HDL concentration was significantly higher in LTBI-noT2D compared to LTBI-PreT2D and LTBI-T2D (p=0.03; Figure 4.7D). Overall, all lipids measurements were higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D, with the exception of HDL, which was the highest in the LTBI-noT2D.



Figure 4.7 Lipid concentrations in LTBI-noT2D, LTBI-preT2D, LTBI-T2D and LTBI-pT2D participant groups. Lipids were measured in serum from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%, n=10), LTBI-PreT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%, n=10), LTBI-T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%, n= 10) and LTBI-pT2D (HbA1c ≥8%, n=10). (A) Triglycerides were significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to the other groups. (B) Total CHL was significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared

to LTBI-noT2D. (C) LDL was also significantly higher in LTB-pT2D (compared to LTBI-noT2D) and there was a trend for it to be higher in than LTBI-preT2D. (D) HDL was significantly lower in LTBI-noT2D (compared to LTBI-T2D). The obtained concentrations were analysed using an ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test. Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI. Letters (a-b) are used to indicate significance. Groups with the same letter are not statistically different from each other.

4.3.9 No difference in complete blood cell counts in LTBI with and without T2D

To determine the effect T2D might have on the full and differential blood cell counts, we compared the absolute number and frequency of blood cells in LTBI participants with and without T2D. Total red and white blood cells, as well as platelet counts were measured. In addition, neutrophil, monocyte, basophil and lymphocyte numbers were determined. No significant changes in the full and differential cell counts were observed between LTBI-T2D and LTBI-noT2D (data not shown).

4.3.10 Individuals with LTBI and pT2D have increased white blood cell and lymphocyte counts

Differential blood cell counts in our participants after stratification according to HbA1c was determined and we found higher white blood cell counts in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.01; Figure 4.8A) and a trend towards higher levels in LTBI-pT2D when compared to preT2D (p=0.08 Figure 4.8A). The lymphocyte counts were higher in the LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.01), preT2D (p=0.02) and T2D (p=0.02) as shown in (Figure 4.8B). The neutrophil absolute counts did not show any differences, however, there was a trend towards higher counts in both LTBI-pT2D and LTBI-preT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.07) (data not shown). There was no difference among the absolute counts of monocytes, eosinophils and basophils, and there was also no significant changes in the frequency of all the different blood cell counts among the four groups.



Figure 4.8. Absolute counts of white blood cells and lymphocytes in participants with LTBI and noT2D, preT2D, T2D and pT2D. Whole blood from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%, n=10), LTBI-preT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%, n=10), LTBI-T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%, n= 10) and LTBI-pT2D (HbA1c $\geq 8\%$, n=10) was used to measure the blood cell counts. (A) Illustrates significantly higher white blood cell count in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D. (B) Lymphocyte counts are significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to noT2D, preT2D and T2D. The obtained counts were analysed using an ANOVA with Fisher LSD *post hoc* test to determine difference between groups.

Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI. Letters (a-b) are used to indicate significance. Groups with the same letter are not statistically different from each other. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

4.3.11 PBMCs from participants with LTBI and T2D show poor association and control of Mtb

Innate responses are compromised in patients with chronic hyperglycaemia and macrophages from these patients have impaired association as well as bactericidal activity (Llorente et al. 2000). In this study, the PBMCs from individuals with LTBI with and without T2D were infected with Mtb *H37Rv* to determineassociation and killing activity. The CFU count at two hours was used as a measure of the number of Mtb associated with MNs, and the CFU counts at day one (D1), day three (D3) (MNs) or day six (D6) (PBMCs) as a measure of controlling Mtb growth, and decreasing CFU over time is a sign of Mtb killing. There was no correction made for the differential blood cell counts.

PBMCs from LTBI-T2D patients had significantly lower CFUs at two hours suggesting poorassociation of Mtb when compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.04; Figure 4.9A). Fold changes in CFU counts at D1 and D6 were calculated by dividing the CFU counts of each of these time points with the corresponding two-hour CFU counts. Fold changes were used to control for variations in Mtb uptake. PBMCs from LTBI-T2D and LTBI-noT2D had significantly higher CFU counts at D6 compared to D1 (p=0.01 and p=0.02, respectively; Figure 4.9B). No difference in killing ability of the PBMCs were observed when LTBI-T2D were compared to LTBI-noT2D. It is important to note that these findings vary to those of the entire ALERT cohort showing no difference in phagocytosis between the two groups and also showing significantly higher Mtb fold growth in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI-noT2D. The differences are most likely due to the small number of participants included in this substudy. The analysis for the larger parent study is still ongoing.

It has been shown that pT2D increases TB risks (Leung et al. 2008). For that reason we further classified and analysed the data of the participants in the four subclasses depending on HbA1c. We found that after two hours the CFU counts from PBMCs isolated from LTBI-T2D were significantly reduced compared to LTBI-noT2D (p=0.02), LTBI-preT2D (p<0.01) and interestingly to LTBI-pT2D (p=0.01) (Figure 4.9C). There was a trend towards higher CFU in PBMCs of LTBI-T2D compared to PBMC from LTBI-noT2D, at D6 (p=0.06; Figure 4.9D). Furthermore, the four subclasses were investigated to determine Mtb containment. PBMCs from LTBI-noT2D (p=0.03), LTBI-preT2D (p=0.02) and LTBI-T2D (p<0.01) had a significant increase in CFUs from D1 to D6 (Figure 4.9D), whereas, a trend towards an increase from D1 to D6 was observed in LTBI-pT2D (p=0.08; figure 4.9D).



Figure 4.9 The influence of T2D on the containment of Mtb by PBMC of latently infected participants. PBMCs from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.4%, n=20) and LTBI-T2D (HbA1c ≥6.5%, n=20) (A and C) and PBMC from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.6%9, n=10), LTBI-PreT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%, n=10), LTBI-T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%, n= 10) and LTBI-pT2D (HbA1c ≥8, n=10) (B and D) were infected with Mtb for two hours. Cells were lysed immediately after the infection as well as one and six days post infection. The data were analysed using ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test. Data are represented as LS means with 95% CI. Letters a-d indicate statistical significance with the same letter indicating no difference between or among groups.

4.3.12 MNs from T2D have poor Mtb control

MNs from patients with T2D have decreased phagocytic activity (Komura et al. 2010), and lower association with Mtb (Gomez et al. 2013) which could result in poor Mtb control. To determine the phagocytic capacity of MNs in our study cohort, MNs were isolated from PBMCs and infected with Mtb. Although our study showed that MNs from LTBI-noT2D had higher Mtb uptake compared to LTBI-T2D, the difference observed was not significant (Figure 4.10A). We further determined the Mtb killing capacity of the MNs from LTBI-noT2D and LTBI-T2D. CFUs increased in both groups from D1 to D3 with D3 CFU counts of LTBI-T2D reaching statistical significance (p=0.02; Figure 4.10B). In LTBI-noT2D the increase in CFUs from D1 to D3 remained a trend (p=0.06; Figure 4.10B). There was no significant difference in CFU between LTBI-T2D and LTBI-noT2D at D1 (p=0.47) and D3 (p=0.24) post infection (Figure 4.10B).

We further analysed the MNs CFU results according to the four subclasses and did not see any differences in the association of Mtb with MNs (Figure 4.10C). We continued to determine the growth and the ability of the MNs to control Mtb in these patients. Fold changes from D1 and D3 were compared. MNs from both LTBI-noT2D and LTBI-T2D showed a significant increase in CFU from D1 to D3 (p=0.04 and p<0.01, respectively; Figure 4.10D). The CFU fold growth from MNs of LTBI-preT2D and LTBI-pT2D did not significantly change from D1 to D3 (Figure 4.10D). There was no significant difference in CFU among the four groups at D1 and D3 (Figure 4.10D).



Figure 4.10 The influence of T2D on the containment of Mtb by MNs. MNs from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.4%, n=20) and LTBI-T2D (HbA1c $\geq 6.5\%$, n=20) (A and C) and MNs from LTBI-noT2D (HbA1c 4.0-5.69%, n=10), LTBI-preT2D (HbA1c 5.7-6.49%, n=10), LTBI-T2D (HbA1c 6.5-8%, n= 10) and LTBI-pT2D (HbA1c $\geq 8\%$, n=10) (B and D) were infected with Mtb for two hours. CFUs counts were determined for uptake at two hours and Mtb burden and control at D1 and D3. The CFU data was analysed using ANOVA with a Fisher LSD *post hoc* test. Data is represented as LS means with 95% CI. Letters a-c indicate statistical significance with the same letter are not statistically different from each other.

4.3.13 No association between FBG and HbA1c with Mtb uptake by PBMCs

There was poor Mtb association with PBMCs from T2D patients. Following that observation, we did a spearman correlation between the clinical characteristics associated with T2D. We found a negative correlation between BMI and Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.07, r=-0.29) of patients with LTBI and T2D, however this was only a trend. There was no correlation between FBG and Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.14; r=0.25; Figure 4.11A) and PBMCs (p=0.14, r=0.25; Figure 4.11B). There was also no relationship between Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.12, r=0.27; Figure 4.11C) and PBMCs (p=0.82, r=-0.04; Figure 4.11D) with HbA1c.

When the participants were further divided into the four groups according to HbA1c (LTBI-noT2D, LTBI-preT2D, LTBI-T2D and LTBI-pT2D), FBG positively correlated with Mtb uptake

in PBMCs of LTBI-noT2D (p=0.03, r=0.68) as well as in LTBI-T2D (p=0.01, r=0.75; data not shown). There was no correlation between FBG and Mtb uptake by PBMC of LTBI-preT2D (p=0.25, r=0.40) and LTBI-pT2D (p=0.73, r=0.13; data not shown).



Figure 4.11 Correlation of glycaemic control with Mtb uptake. FBG was correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (A) and PBMCs of (B). HbA1c was correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (C) and PBMCs (D). The associations were determined using Spearman correlations.

4.3.14 Correlations between Mtb killing and cytokines

We observed that IL-6, IL-18 and IL-22 serum concentrations were high in T2D patients and investigated further whether there were associations between the cytokine concentrations and the Mtb uptake and killing. Firstly, we did correlations of cytokines and CFU data in all participants. IL-6 did not shown any significant correlation with Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.19, r=-0.23; Figure 4.12A) or PBMCs (p=0.63, r=-0.08; Figure 4.12B) and the same was seen for IL-18 and IL-22. I-TAC showed a trend towards a positive correlation with Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.06, r=0.30; data not shown) and IL-4 a trend towards a negative correlation with D1 CFU fold change in PBMCs (p=0.09, r=-0.27; data not shown). I-TAC was negatively correlated to D6 CFU fold change in PBMCs (p=0.01, r=-0.49).

In the analysis of the four groups, we found that IL-6 was positively correlated with Mtb uptake by PBMCs in the LTBI-noT2D group (p=0.03, r=0.68; data not shown) while IL-22 showed a trend towards a negative correlation with Mtb uptake by PBMCs in the same group (p=0.06, r=0.71). IL-6 was negatively correlated to D1 CFU fold growth in PBMCs (p<0.01, r=-0.91). In addition, I-TAC revealed a trend towards a negative correlation with D6 CFU fold growth in PBMCs (p=0.05, r=-0.64).

In LTBI-preT2D, IL-6 was not significantly correlated to Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.13, r=-0.52; data not shown). IL-4 was positively correlated to D3 CFU fold growth in MNs (p=0.03, r=0.59) and a similar association was found with IL-18 and D3 CFU fold change in MNs (p=0.04, r=0.76). A trend towards a positive correlation was seen between IL-8 and D3 CFU fold change in MNs (p=0.07, r=0.69). IL-4 (p=0.08, r=-0.66) and IL-8 (p=0.07, r=-0.71) revealed a trend towards a negative association with Mtb uptake by MNs.

IL-6 was positively correlated with Mtb uptake by PBMCs in LTBI-T2D patients (p=0.02, r=0.72; data not shown). Furthermore, IL-6 showed a trend towards negative correlation with D6 CFU fold change in PBMC (p=0.06, r=-0.61). IL-13 (p=0.04, r=-0.65) and I-TAC (p=0.02, r=-0.73) negatively correlated with fold change in PBMCs at D6. IL-18 on the other hand was trending towards a negative correlation with Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.05, r=-0.74)

There was a negative correlation between IL-6 and Mtb uptake by PBMCs of LTBI-pT2D (p=0.01, r=-0.75; data not shown), similarly, OSM was also negatively correlated to Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.04, r=-0.72).



Figure 4.12 Correlation of serum cytokines with Mtb uptake by PBMCs. (A) IL-6 correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (A) and PBMCs (B). The associations were determined using Spearman correlations.

4.3.15 Correlations between Mtb killing and measured catecholamines, cortisol, insulin and vitamin D

A correlation analysis was done to determine whether plasma hormone concentrations are associated with differences in CFU. This is relevant as PBMCs and MNs were cultured in 20% autologous plasma. There was no significant association between Mtb uptake by MNs

(p=0.78, r=0.-0.05; Figure 4.13A) and PBMCs with vitamin D (p=0.66, r=-0.08; Figure 4.13B) and other measured hormones. There was a weak positively correlated between Vitamin D and D1 CFU fold growth in PBMCs (p=0.02, r=0.39).

When groups were subdivided according to HbA1c, vitamin D in LTBI-noT2D did not correlate with Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.50, r=0.29). A trend towards a positive correlation between cortisol and Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.09, r=0.58) was shown in the same group. Adrenaline measured in LTBI-noT2D also showed a trend to negatively correlate with D3 CFU fold change in MNs (p=0.08, r=-0.63).

Vitamin D concentrations from LTBI-preT2D correlated negatively with Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.02, r=-0.73). There was a trend for adrenaline to positively correlate with Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.06, r=0.62). In addition, in LTBI-preT2D there was a negative correlation between cortisol and CFU fold change in PBMC at D1 (p=0.01, r=-0.77) and a trend for a positive correlation between adrenaline and D1 fold change in PBMCs (p=0.08, r=0.59).

Adrenaline measured in T2D patients was negatively correlated to Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p<0.01, r=-0.81). Vitamin D had a positive correlation with Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.04; r=0.72, Figure 4.13C). Serotonin showed a positive association with the CFU fold change from PBMCs at D1 (p=0.04; r= 0.62). Adrenaline was negatively correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.02, r=-0.81) in T2D patients.

Furthermore, dopamine positively correlated with D1 fold change in MNs in pT2D patients, however this was not statistically significant (p=0.07, r=0.69).



Figure 4.13 Correlation of plasma hormones with Mtb uptake by PBMCs. Vitamin D was correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (A) and PBMCs (B). The associations were determined using Spearman correlations.

4.3.16 Correlations between Mtb killing and lipids

Most of the patients with T2D are characterised by dyslipidaemia and it is believed that this dyslipidaemia play a role in susceptibility to TB disease (Martens et al. 2008). We wanted to determine the association between lipids and Mtb uptake and killing. In all the participants, there was no association between any of the lipids and Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.22, r=0.21;

Figure 4.14A) or PBMCs (p=0.10, r=-0.26; Figure 4.14B), total CHL is shown as a representative of the hormone data. A trend for a positive correlation between LDL and D1 CFU fold change in PBMC.

When the participants were subdivided according to HbA1c, lipids of LTBI-noT2D did not correlate with CFUs.

In LTBI-preT2D there was a trend towards negative correlation between triglycerides and D1 CFU fold change in PBMCs (p=0.06, r=-0.61) of the same group.

Total CHL was negatively correlated with Mtb uptake by PBMCs in LTBI-T2D (p=0.02, r=-0.73; data not shown). There was a trend for a negative correlation between LDL and Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.06, r=-0.62). In MN cultures, there was a negative correlation between total CHL and Mtb uptake in LTBI-T2D (p=0.05, r=-0.75). LDL showed a trend for a negative correlation with Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.08, r=-0.67). Triglycerides were trending towards a negative correlation with D3 CFU fold change in MNs in the same group (p=0.05, r=-0.74).

In LTBI-pT2D, there is a trend towards a negative correlation between LDL and Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.09, r=-0.71).

This shows that there are some interplay between the lipids in the plasma and the ability of cells to control Mtb. In our ALERT cohort, we found that LDL was associated with reduced Mtb growth (manuscript in preparation), which we did not find in the smaller subset of individuals in this study.



Figure 4.14 Correlation of lipids with Mtb uptake by PBMCs. Total CHL was correlated to Mtb uptake by MNs (A) and PBMCs (B). The associations were determined using Spearman correlations.

4.3.17 Correlations between Mtb killing and complete blood counts

We observed that there was poor association of Mtb with PBMC from T2D patients, therefore, we investigated whether correlations exist between the frequency and the absolute counts of the blood immune cells and Mtb killing. In all participants, there was no association between

Mtb uptake by MNs (p=0.42, r=-0.15; Figure 4.14A) or PBMCs (p=0.84, r=0.03; Figure 4.14B) and white cell counts.

Whole blood cell counts from LTBI-noT2D showed a trend to positively correlate with Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.08, r=-0.70; Figure 4.15A). Lymphocyte frequency was negatively correlated with Mtb uptake by PBMCs (p=0.03, r=-0.69). Still in LTBI-noT2D, the lymphocyte frequency also showed a trend towards a positive correlation to D1 fold change in PBMCs (p=0.07, r=0.60) and D6 fold change in PBMCs (p=0.09, r=0.57). The MN absolute count was also negatively correlated with D6 CFU fold change in PBMCs (p<0.01, r=-0.81).

In LTBI-preT2D, white blood cell counts had no correlation with Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.39, r=0.33; Figure 4.15B). MN frequency was positively correlated to D6 PBMC CFU fold growth (p=0.04, r=0.73). White blood cell counts (p=0.09, r=0.71) only showed a trend towards a positive correlation with Mtb uptake by MNs, additionally, white blood cell counts were inversely correlated to D3 MN CFU fold growth (p=0.03, r=-0.82).

In LTBI-T2D, the whole blood cell count was not correlated to Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.61, r=0.19). MN frequency had a trend towards negative correlation with Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.08, r=-0.57). MN frequency was negatively associated with Mtb uptake by MNs at two hours (p=0.04, r=-0.73). Lymphocyte frequency from T2D patients was negatively correlated to D1 MN CFU fold growth (p<0.01, r=-0.90).

In LTBI-pT2D, there was no association between white blood cell counts and Mtb uptake by PBMC (p=0.41, r=0.30). MN frequency from pT2D patients had a trend to a negative correlation with D1 PBMC fold growth (p=0.05, r=-0.63), further we showed a trend for a negative correlation between MN count and D6 PBMC fold growth (p=0.08, r=-0.59).



Figure 4.15 Correlation of differential blood counts with Mtb uptake. White blood cell counts correlation to Mtb uptake by MNs (A) and PBMCs (B). The associations were determined using Spearman correlations.

4.4 Discussion

The chronic inflammation accompanying TB disease is associated with altered cellular immunity, as well as altered cytokine production (Kumar et al. 2014; Kumar et al. 2015; Pearson-stuttard et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2016). Studies have been conducted in an attempt to understand the influence of T2D in the control of Mtb infection (Restrepo et al. 2008; Alim et al. 2017; Raposo-Garcia et al 2017; Boillat-Blanco et al. 2018). With this in mind, we studied the immune profile in patients with T2D residing in a high TB burden area in SA. Therefore, we investigated the influence of T2D on the immune response during Mtb infection of PBMCs and MNs isolated from LTBI individuals with and without T2D and further analysed the cytokines, hormones, lipids and differential blood cell counts in these participants.

TNF- α is an important cytokine for the immune response during Mtb infection (Shim, 2014). Individuals with LTBI receiving TNF-α antagonists are at high risk of developing TB disease (Tobin et al. 2011). In a study that investigated immunological responses to Mtb infection in T2D patients and healthy controls, the levels of TNF-a were higher in the T2D patients (Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017). TNF- α was however, not detected in the serum of our participants. TNF-α was reported to be low in Mtb antigen stimulated whole blood and Mtb infected PBMCs of T2D patients (Kumar et al. 2015; Alim et al. 2017). The fact that TNF-a was below the detection limit in our study participants could be due to the nature of samples we used, which was serum while other studies measured this cytokine in either Mtb stimulated or infected samples. IFN-y is also a crucial cytokine in anti-mycobacterial immunity (Tascon et al. 1998). IFN-y plays a central role in Th1 responses required to clear Mtb infection. Mice incapable of producing IFN-y presented with a high Mtb burden in the spleen and lungs after intraperitoneal Mtb infection (Tascon et al. 1998). In a recent study investigating the immunological responses to Mtb infection in T2D patients and healthy controls, IFN-y could not be detected in T2D patients (Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017). In our study we also saw similar results where the concentration of IFN-y was undetectable in plasma of LTBI-T2D.

IL-23 along with IL-1 β and IL-6 are essential for Th17 differentiation (Annunziato et al. 2012) and inducing IL-22 production (Rutz et al. 2013). Low concentration of IL-22 in LTBI-T2D patients in our study could be associated with the low levels of IL-23 and IL-1 β cytokines especially since they were undetected, with the exception of IL-6. Dhiman et al. showed that high IL-22 is associated with protection in infectious diseases (Dhiman et al. 2009). Contrary to our finding, Kumar et al. reported higher IL-22 in the serum of LTBI-T2D patients compared to LTBI-noT2D (Kumar et al. 2015). This difference could be attributable to ethnicity since Kumar and colleagues investigated this in Chennai, India, and it has been shown that patients with T2D have metabolic differences depending on where they are from (Restrepo et al. 2018), which means that there might be other factors like cytokine which differ. Together with IL-17,

IL-22 promotes lung repair, the release of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, and antimicrobial proteins (Rutz et al. 2013; Ronacher et al. 2018).

Despite its protective role and wound healing properties, excessive production of IL-22 can be harmful and induce necrosis. IL-22 further reduces blood glucose levels, restores insulin sensitivity and modulate lipid metabolism in mice (Hasnain et al. 2014). In humans, Kumar et al. reported low IL-22 in PPD stimulated whole blood and in plasma of TB-T2D patients compared to TB patients (Kumar et al. 2013; Kumar et al. 2015) which could be associated with the disease progression of T2D in TB disease (Treerat et al. 2017) or can favour Mtb control in TB. IL-22 concentrations in our TB-T2D patients was not significantly different compared to TB-THG but was higher compared to TB patients. This was contrary to what Kumar et al. 2015). Higher IL-22 concentration in our study may be a way of the immune system to promote metabolic balance and control of TB disease. However, the differential expression of IL-22 in our patients and varying results in previous studies supports the importance of IL-22 in the regulation of tL-22.

IL-18 production is low in Mtb antigen stimulated whole blood of LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI without T2D (Kumar et al. 2014). We however found higher IL-18 in the LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI only. IL-18 plays a critical role in inducing Th1 responses during Mtb infection (Schneider et al. 2010; Ponnana et al. 2017), without IL-18, the Th1 responses are decreased and mycobacterial replication increases (Schneider et al. 2010). In our study, we expected lower IL-18 expression in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI since T2D is associated with increased susceptibility to TB progression. However, due to chronic inflammation in T2D, increased IL-18 may be due to dysregulated immune responses associated with T2D. In our mycobacterial infection assay, we found a negative correlation between IL-18 and Mtb uptake by MNs in LTBI-T2D and positively correlated to Mtb burden in MNs at D3. Our finding therefore show that IL-18 was associated with poor association of Mtb with MNs in T2D patients and with poor control of Mtb by MNs.

IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine and its upregulation is associated with inflammatory diseases such as TB (Martinez et al. 2013) and T2D. IL-6 is required for the rapid expression of an initial IFN-γ response during Mtb infection (Saunders et al. 2000). This is because IL-6 knock out mice showed increased bacterial growth in the lung within 14 days of Mtb infection compared to wild type mice (Saunders et al. 2000). In TB-T2D, IL-6 plasma concentrations are high compared to TB (Kumar et al. 2013). We measured IL-6 in LTBI-T2D, and we found high IL-6 compared to LTBI. IL-6 has the ability to impair insulin signalling in insulin-sensitive tissues (Nikolajczyk et al. 2012). We believe that higher IL-6 in T2D is due to chronic low grade

inflammation and could be associated with insulin resistance since it is one of the characteristics of T2D patients. Lower IL-6 production by macrophages from diabetic mice infected with *Mycobacterium fortuitum* contributed to increased bacterial growth in the infected macrophages which suggests that IL-6 is required for better control of bacteria (Abdul Alim et al. 2017). Despite the fact that IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, its high expression in our study was associated with poor Mtb uptake by PBMCs from T2D patients. As previously mentioned in our findings, T2D patients had lower Mtb uptake by PBMCs compared to noT2D, with that in mind, we also think that IL-6 may promote immune suppression in T2D patients (Zhang et al. 2014).

Vitamin D inhibits intracellular growth of Mtb by interfering with the accumulation of infection induced lipid droplets (Salamon et al. 2014). Contrarily, vitamin D can suppress proinflammatory cytokines and induce anti-inflammatory cytokine responses (Penna and Adorini 2000; Unger et al. 2009). Bhatt et al. investigated whether administration of vitamin D could affect immunity against Mtb in mice and found that vitamin D affected granuloma formation and failed to contain the bacteria (Bhatt et al. 2016). In our study, there was a trend that T2D patients had higher levels of vitamin D compared to noT2D. Banerjee et al. however found that vitamin D concentration were lower in the serum of T2D patients compared to noT2D (Banerjee et al. 2017). We further found that vitamin D was positively correlated to Mtb uptake in PBMCs. This is consistent with previous reports that vitamin D significantly enhances the phagocytic potential of macrophages isolated from healthy individuals (Chandra et al. 2004). In a study where TB patients were given vitamin D while on intensive phase of TB treatment, the bacterial load was reduced *in vitro* as measured by reduced time to sputum conversion (Martineau et al. 2014).

T2D is characterized by hyperglycaemia due to insulin resistance and also associated with severe dyslipidaemia (Taskinen and Boren, 2015). Dyslipidaemia is characterized by high levels of triglycerides, and/or cholesterol as well as low HDL (Vrieling et al. 2018). In our study LTBI-pT2D patients had higher triglycerides and total CHL compared to noT2D, preT2D and T2D patients. LDL was also higher in LTBI-pT2D compared to LTBI-noT2D, followed by higher HDL in LTBI-noT2D compared to LTBI-T2D. Mtb has been shown to depend on host-derived lipids for replication and survival (Lee et al. 2013; Tsai et al. 2017; Walpole et al. 2018). Several studies have identified high cholesterol as a risk factor for TB disease (Martens et al. 2008; Soh et al. 2016) and reducing cholesterol levels using statins were beneficial in reducing the risk of TB disease (Lai et al. 2016; Su et al. 2017). In our study, total CHL in T2D patients was negatively correlated to association of Mtb with PBMCs, which shows the interplay between lipids and Mtb uptake. A potential therapy targeting cholesterol catabolism can effectively lower intracellular growth of Mtb (Tsai et al. 2017) and more studies should focus on

investigating the use of CHL lowering drugs in conjunction with TB treatment to prevent TB disease especially in LTBI-T2D.

The leukocytes (white blood cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, MNs and eosinophils) counts are elevated in patients with T2D (Shim et al. 2006; Nakhjavani et al. 2014). Higher white blood cell and lymphocyte counts are characteristics of T2D development in obese patients (Vatcheva et al. 2014). In support of that, we found higher white blood cell counts in uncontrolled T2D (pT2D) patients compared to noT2D. Our study found lymphocyte counts significantly higher in the pT2D patients compared to noT2D, preT2D and T2D. This was similar to other reports where pT2D patients had elevated lymphocyte counts (Ali et al. 2018). T2D exerts adverse effect on neutrophils and MNs functions (Geerlings and Hoepelman 1999; Raposo-Garcia et a. 2017). Although higher in T2D patients, no significant difference was observed in neutrophil counts in our study participants, however, Ali et al. found significantly elevated neutrophil counts in T2D compared to noT2D (Ali et al. 2018). The negative correlation observed in our study for neutrophils and MNs with Mtb uptake in T2D patients has been shown before (Lecube et al. 2011; Gomez et al. 2013; Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017).

It is well established that T2D is associated with altered MN and neutrophil functions (Hatanaka et al. 2006; Alba-Loureiro et al. 2007; Restrepo et al 2014). Despite the evidence that MNs from TB naïve T2D patients are altered (reduced phagocytosis) (Restrepo et al. 2014; Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017), we cannot say for sure that these alterations are the only factors contributing to the altered immune responses observed in T2D patients, because in our study, the MNs did not show any difference in *H37Rv* Mtb uptake between T2D and noT2D participants. Additionally, in a recent study, the lipid profile was shown to vary in T2D patients from different ethnic groups, and we believe that this variation could also affect the function of the phagocytic cells (Restrepo et al. 2018). The killing ability of MNs from both noT2D and T2D was not different, as shown by a significant increase in CFU at D3 in each group. Our results supported previous studies where no difference in Mtb killing by MNs derived macrophages, and blood were observed (Reyes-Ruvalcaba et al. 2008; Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017).

Our results adds to the small body of knowledge that is available on the immune profile, including cytokine production, hormone production and the ability to contain bacteria by immune cells from individuals with LTBI with and without T2D. We have shown that there is a need for more studies to define the immune profile of these individuals, to help us learn and understand the immune mechanisms during Mtb infection and influence of plasma soluble proteins and lipids in Mtb phagocytosis and killing assays.

CHAPTER 5

Investigation of MAIT cells in TB patients with and without T2D 5.1 Introduction

MAIT cells predominantly occur in the gut where their accumulation is dependent on MR1 expressing B cells and commensal flora (Martin et al. 2009). They also occur in the blood where 1-10% of T cells are MAIT cells (Dusseaux et al. 2011). The frequency of MAIT cells in bacterial and viral infections, as well as in metabolic and autoimmune diseases vary (Billerbeck et al. 2010; Magalhaes et al. 2015; (Loh et al. 2016; Petersone and Walker, 2017), implying that they might play an important role in the regulation of immune responses in these diseases. It is said that low frequencies of MAIT cells in the blood during Mtb infection is due to their migration to the site of infection (Gold et al. 2010). Wong et al. also demonstrated this after measuring MAIT cell frequencies in the Broncho alveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and blood of TB patients and TB-HIV co-infected patients (Wong et al. 2012). Higher frequencies of MAIT cells were found in the BALF than in the periphery. The addition of MAIT cells to BCG-infected macrophages resulted the increased killing of the bacteria demonstrating the protective role MAIT cells play during Mtb infection (Chua et al. 2012). MAIT cells not only assist in the control of bacterial infection, but also in the detection of bacterially infected cells (Gold et al. 2010; Le Bourhis et al, 2010).

In the context of T2D, it has been shown that patients with T2D have a reduced peripheral MAIT cell frequency when compared to HCs (Magalhaes et al. 2015). This is in part due to the alterations in the gut microbiota in T2D patients (Vaarala and Atkinson, 2008.), which affects the riboflavin pathway which is essential in MAIT cell activation (Treiner et al. 2003). The exact role of MAIT cells in metabolic diseases is, however, unclear. The aim of this study, therefore, was to determine the frequency of MAIT cells in the South African Coloured population residing in a high TB burden area in Cape Town, South Africa. The frequency of MAIT cells were determined in the following groups; HCs, T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D using flow cytometry. In addition, MAIT cell frequencies were monitored before, during and after TB treatment in TB subgroups.

5.2 Study participants and methodology

Cryopreserved PBMCs from 64 participants (TANDEM); were retrieved, thawed and stained with a MAIT cell flow cytometry antibody panel. The flow cytometry panel consisted of the following anti-human monoclonal antibodies; CD3, CD4, CD8, CD161, CD26 and TCR V α -7.2 as well as a live/dead (Zombie aqua) stain. PBMCs from HCs, T2D, TB, TB-THG, and TB-T2D patients were stained and the frequency of MAIT cells compared at baseline (BL). In addition, PBMCs from TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D patients were stained at month 2 (M2) and month 6 (M6) to monitor the frequency of MAIT cells during and after TB treatment. The

PBMCs were stained for one hour at 4°C in 2% FACs buffer. Cells were acquired using a 4 laser, 8 colour FACS Canto II flow cytometry instrument (Becton Dickson). The results were analysed using FlowJo v10.1 (TreeStar, Ashland, OR). At first, lymphocytes were selected using SSC-A and FSC-H, doublets were excluded using FSC-A and FSC-H and live cells selected using SSC-A and the live/dead stain (Figure 5.1). CD8⁺TCR Va7.2⁺ T cells were selected and from this population CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ cells were selected. Flow data was analysed using ANOVA and LSD Fishers *post hoc* test were used to determine differences between the groups. Differences between clinical information was determined in GraphPad prism version 6 using the Kruskal Wallis with Dunns *post hoc* to determine differences between the groups. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significantly different. Spearman correlation was performed to determine correlations between MAIT cells and blood glucose levels.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Study participants and clinical parameters

Among the 64 participants that were selected for this study, 17 were TB patients, 9 were TB-THG, 13 were TB-T2D and 13 were T2D only patients. Twelve HCs were also included. Patients with T2D were using metformin or metformin in combination with insulin and other T2D medication (Table 5.1). There were no significant differences in the ages of the different patient groups (Table 5.1). The BMI at BL was significantly higher in T2D and TB-T2D patients compared to the HCs, TB and TB-THG patients (Table 5.1). Both at M2 and M6, there was significantly higher BMI in the TB-T2D group compared to TB and TB-THG. RPG was significantly higher in the TB-T2D patients compared to T2D and HCs. HbA1c was significantly higher in the TB-T2D patients compared to TB patients, whereas HbA1c in T2D was also significantly higher than the HCs. At M6 however, HbA1c in the TB-T2D patients was higher compared to both TB and TB-THG (Figure 5.1).

Group	HC(12)	T2D(13)	TB(17)	TB- THG(9)	TB- T2D(13)	P value
LTBI positive (%)	10 (83%)	11 (85%)	-	-	-	
T2D medication						
Metformin	-	10	-	1	11	
Insulin	-	10	-	5	6	
Other medication	-	2	-	1	4	
Known diabetic	-	-	-	-	-	
status						
Sociodemographi						
C						
Age, median (IQR)	40.5(19) ^a	44(19) ^a	47(14) ^a	48(16.5) ^a	46(11) ^a	0.6764
Sex, number (%)						
Female	6(50)	6(46)	7(41)	2(22)	11(85)	
Male	6(50)	7(54)	10(59)	7(78)	2(15)	
BMI, median (IQR)						
Baseline	23.4(10.2) ^{ab}	26.5(8.6) ^a	18.6(4.8) ^{cb}	18.3(0.8) ^{cb}	26.0(9.8) ^a	<0.0001
Month 2	-	-	19.4(4.0) ^a	19.5(2.2) ^a	24.9(6.5) ^b	0.0005
Month 6	-	-	20.2(4.4) ^a	19.3(1.7) ^a	26.6(9.4) ^b	0.0116
Clinical						
information						
RPG(mmol/L)						
Baseline [#]	5.1(1.2) ^a	15(6.3) ^b	5.6(2.1) ^{ac}	6.6(1.9) ^{ab}	18.4(4.1) ^{bc}	<0.0001
HbA1c (%)						
Baseline [#]	5.3(0.58) ^{ac}	10.3(4.71) ^b	5.3(0.38) ^a	5.6(0.65) ^{ab}	12.6(0.4) ^{bc}	<0.0001
Month 6	-	-	5.6(0.6) ^a	5.65(0.7) ^a	9.9(6) ^b	<0.0001

Table 5.1. Demographic and clinical information of all study participants.

#- 2 participants in the TB-T2D group

5.3.2 TB-T2D have significantly low CD3+CD8+TCR V α 7.2+CD26++ CD161++ MAIT cells at baseline

MAIT cells were defined as CD3⁺ CD8⁺TCR V α 7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺CD161⁺⁺ and reported as a percentage of CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 5.1). HCs had significantly higher MAIT cell frequency than TB-T2D at baseline (p=0.02). TB-T2D patients also had significantly lower MAIT cell frequency compared to TB-THG at BL (p=0.02; Figure 5.2 A, B and C). TB-T2D had lower MAIT cell frequencies compared to TB-THG at M2 (p=0.01; Figure 5.2 A and B). There was no significant difference in MAIT cell frequency between TB-T2D and TB at M2 (p=0.64). There was a trend in MAIT cell frequency at M2 between TB-THG and TB (p=0.08; Figure 5.2 A and B). There was no observed significant difference in MAIT cell frequency at M2 between TB-THG and TB (p=0.08; Figure 5.2 A and B). There was no observed significant difference in MAIT cell frequency at M2 between TB-THG had higher MAIT cells (p=0.06; Figure 5.2 A-C).
5.3.3 CD3⁺CD8⁺TCR Vα7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cell frequency increases at month 2 of TB treatment

We further investigated whether TB treatment will have an effect on the frequency of CD8⁺TCR V α 7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cells in the three TB patient groups. The frequency of MAIT cells in TB patients did not change during TB treatment. There was a trend towards increase in MAIT cell frequency from BL to M2 (p=0.05) and a significant decrease from M2 to M6 (p=0.01) in the TB-THG group (Figure 5.2A and B). In the TB-T2D group there was a significant increase in the frequency of MAIT cells from BL to M2 (p=0.003), however, MAIT cell frequency from M2 to M6, was not significantly different (p=0.15) (Figure 5.2A and B). MAIT cell frequencies in this group was significantly lower at BL when compared to the end of treatment (p<0.0001; Figure 5.2A and B).These results show that TB-THG patients have varying MAIT cell frequency of CD8⁺TCR V α 7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ cells in these two group suggest that the TB-THG and TB-T2D are more different from one another than previously thought.

5.3.4 The frequency of CD3⁺CD8⁺TCR V α 7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cells of TB-T2D patients at month 6 is comparable to T2D

We determined whether the frequency of MAIT cells in TB patients at M6, recovers to the levels seen in HCs. The frequency of CD3+CD8+TCR V α 7.2+CD26++ CD161++ MAIT cells in the TB-T2D, which was lower at BL, recovered at M6 compared to frequencies similar to HCs (at BL) and all the other groups, Figure 5.2 A, C and D.



Figure 5.1. Characterization of circulating peripheral MAIT cells (CD3+CD8+TCR Vα7.2+ CD26++ CD161++). PBMCs from HC, T2D, TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D were thawed and stained using anti-human antibodies for CD3, CD4, CD8, CD26, CD161 and TCR Vα7.2 for MAIT cells in 64 participants. All events were acquired using a 4

laser, 8 colour FACS Canto II flow cytometry and analysed on flowJo v10.1. We gated on lymphocytes using SSC-A and FSC-H, doublets were excluded using FSC-A and FSC-H. Live cells were selected using SSC-A and the live/dead stain. CD8+TCR V α 7.2+ were selected from CD3 T cells, from this population CD161++CD26++ cells were selected.



Figure 5.2: CD8⁺TCR Vα7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cell frequencies. CD8⁺TCR Vα7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cell frequencies from 64 participants (HCs n=13, TB n=17, T2D n=12, TB-THG n=9, TB-T2D n=13) were determined in PBMCs. Figure A and B illustrate the changes in MAIT cell population during TB treatment. Figure C and D show pie charts displaying the MAIT cell frequencies from T2D and HCs as well as TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL and M6, respectively, ANOVA with a LSD *post hoc* test was used to determine differences in the frequencies of MAIT cells between the groups, the pie chart was drawn in GraphPad prism version 6. And a p-value <0.05 was considered significant. BL baseline, M2 month2, M6 month6.

5.3.5 Association of T2D parameters with CD8⁺TCR Vα7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ MAIT cells

HbA1c and RBG were measured in the study groups and was correlated with the MAIT cell frequencies. There was no correlation between MAIT cells and blood glucose levels (Figure 5.3 A and B).



Figure 5.3 Correlation plots of MAIT cells with glycaemic parameters. There was no significant correlation between (A) MAIT cell frequencies and HbA1c (r=-0.04; p=0.74) or (B) MAIT cell frequencies and RBG (r=-0.09; p=0.51) using the Spearman ranks correlation test in Graphpad Prism version 6.

5.4 Discussion

MAIT cell frequencies range from 1-10 % of T cells in peripheral blood of healthy people (Kurioka et al. 2016). In this study an average of 1.14 % of MAIT cells (CD8⁺TCR V α 7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺) were found in cryopreserved PBMCs. Such low frequencies have previously been reported from PBMCs. Paquin-Proulx et al. reported 1.07% in thawed PBMCs of HCs (Paquin-proulx et al. 2018). Lee et al. reported different MAIT cell frequencies in blood of HCs; 1.17%, 2.12% and 3.99 % according to the age of the study participants (Lee et al. 2014). The highest frequency was observed in the younger age group (21-40 years), followed by middle age (41-60 years) and elderly (61-92 years) (Lee et al. 2014). Since the depletion in MAIT cell frequencies is negatively associated with age (van der Geest et al. 2018), our study participants were matched by age. Therefore, in our study the association between MAIT cells and age was not observed.

There were differences in MAIT cell frequencies in our study compared to other reports (Gold et al. 2010; Le Bourhis et al. 2011; Jiang et al. 2014; Sakala et al. 2015). The reason could be attributable to the various phenotypes used to define the MAIT cell population. In this study we used the following phenotype CD3⁺CD8⁺TCR Va7.2⁺ CD26⁺⁺ CD161⁺⁺ (shared with us by David Lewinsohn). Many gating strategies have been used to describe circulating MAIT cell population. Eberhard et al. used CD3⁺CD4⁻CD161⁺TRC7.2⁺, Magalhaes et al. used CD3⁺CD4⁻ CD161++TCR Vα7.2⁺, and Wong et al. used CD3+CD8+CD161++CCR6 and CD3⁺CD8⁺CD161⁺⁺CCR5 (Wong et al. 2013; Eberhard et al. 2014; Magalhaes et al. 2015). The use of the different markers in varying combinations to describe MAIT cells could be the reason for large variations in the findings from different reports.

MAIT cells play a key role in protection against several pathogens, including Mtb (Gold et al. 2010). Previous studies show that MAIT cell frequencies in the periphery decrease during TB and other bacterial infections compared to HCs (Gold et al. 2010; Wong et al. 2013; Grimaldi

et al. 2014; Sharma et al. 2015). Contrarily, people with LTBI were shown to have higher MAIT cell frequencies compared to TB patients or uninfected controls. In addition to that, the authors also found no difference in MAIT cells in TB patients compared to uninfected controls (Paquin-Proulx et al. 2018). Our study supports the latter results since the reduction of MAIT cells in our TB patients were lower than the HCs who were all LTBI positive. In our data set, however, this difference did not reach statistical significance.

In a study investigating MAIT cells in obese and T2D patients before and after bariatric surgery, the MAIT cell frequency increased in the blood of patients who did not initially show any MAIT cells before surgery (Magalhaes et al. 2015). However, when MAIT cells were not in the blood, they were detected in adipose tissue and it was hypothesized that MAIT cells migrate to the site of inflammation (Magalhaes et al. 2015). What we found was in agreement with this since in uninfected T2D patients, the MAIT cells were lower than that of HCs, however not significant. The difference became apparent when MAIT cells were lower in TB-T2D patients. This result may be explained by the migration of MAIT cells to the adipose tissue (Magalhaes et al. 2015) or to the lung (Gold et al. 2010) as previously showed. There are no other published results on MAIT cells in TB-T2D co-morbidity.

TB is associated with increased insulin resistance and stress-induced hyperglycaemia or TB-THG, which may lead to over diagnosis of T2D during the early stages of TB disease (Boillat-Blanco et al. 2016). There was a trend towards higher frequency of MAIT cells in TB-THG compared to TB at M2. In addition, there was a significantly higher MAIT cell frequency in TB-THG compared to TB-T2D at M2 confirming that this subgroup of TB patients is unique from TB and TB-T2D. It could be that the high MAIT cell frequency in TB-THG patients is associated with protection from acquiring T2D in these patients. This would however, require a longitudinal study to determine if TB-THG patients develop T2D and if MAIT cell frequency plays a role.

TB patients, after TB treatment (M6), had a lower frequency of MAIT cells to that of the HCs (although not significant). It is possible that the residual infection, at M6, might still result in the recruitment of MAIT cells to the lung. In line with this finding, Paquin-proulx et al. reported that MAIT cells in individuals with LTBI was significantly higher compared to TB patients and speculated that high MAIT cells may be associated with Mtb control and protection from TB disease progression (Paquin-proulx et al. 2018). TB-T2D patients at M6 of TB treatment however had comparable frequency of MAIT cells to that in T2D patients. This is possible due to the clearance of Mtb and cause MAIT cells to redistribute to the periphery.

We investigated whether TB treatment will have an impact on the frequency of MAIT cells in TB patients and they did not change significantly during the six months of treatment. This is

different from what was previously reported by Sharma et al. who showed that MAIT cells are restored in the blood of TB patients undergoing TB treatment (Sharma et al. 2015). It has been shown that the lack of MAIT cells in the blood during TB is due to redistribution to the lung (Gold et al. 2010; Wong et al. 2013). All the TB patients included in our study converted to sputum negative for Mtb at M2. We believe that due to the decrease in the bacterial load in the lung, some of the MAIT cells would be restored in the blood and some would be killed along with the bacteria at the lung. This could explain why there was no significant change in MAIT cells during the course of TB treatment. There are no other studies reporting MAIT cells treatment response during TB.

During the course of TB treatment, TB-THG patients showed a trend towards increased MAIT cell frequency from BL to M2. This increase would also be explained by the lower bacteria at the site of disease during treatment (Sharma et al. 2015). Interestingly, in TB-THG, the MAIT cell frequency significantly decreased from M2 to M6. This is different from what has been reported in the context of TB (Sharma et al. 2015). The fact that the patients are TB-THG and not TB only could be reason for this unexpected result. Gérart et al. reported that over activation of MAIT cells may result in activation induced cell death (Gérart et al. 2013), therefore, MAIT cells in the lung die due to apoptosis before they are restored to the blood.

The impact of TB treatment on MAIT cells was also investigated in TB-T2D patients. MAIT cells increased significantly from BL to M2 and are lower at BL compared to M6. Despite having T2D, the MAIT cell frequency in TB-T2D were restored in the periphery and this is in agreement with what was previously discussed by Sharma et al. in the context of TB patients (Sharma et al. 2015).

Chua et al. co-cultured MAIT cells with BCG-infected macrophages from TB patients and found fewer mycobacteria compared to macrophages without MAIT cells (Chua et al. 2012; Lepore et al. 2014). It is not known how T2D will affect the function of MAIT cells therefore more studies are required to understand their behaviour in different disease states, especially in a population where both TB and T2D poses a major problem. Moreover, MAIT cells play a role in setting a stage for establishing coordinated adaptive immune response to infection (Wong et al. 2016). Our patients with TB-T2D presented with reduced MAIT cells. Lower MAIT cell frequencies will most likely contribute to the dysregulated immune response against diseases (Kwon et al. 2015). MAIT cells play a protective role in TB, but their exact role in TB-T4G or TB-T2D co-morbidity has not been characterized and requires further investigation especially in the blood and in BALF, which is a representative sample of the site of TB disease.

As expected we found higher MAIT cell frequencies in the HCs compared to TB-T2D patients at BL. Interestingly, in the TB-THG, the MAIT cells were higher at BL compared to the other

groups (HC, TB and TB-T2D). Further characterisation of MAIT cells should be done in our patient group, looking at different phenotypes to fully understand their expression in different disease states. Seeing that there is limited information on MAIT cells in TB with and without T2D, we wanted to measure MAIT cell numbers in TB and TB-T2D patients and include LTBI-T2D as a control, however, in the end the LTBI-T2D group, as we did not have enough PBMCs available for this group.

CHAPTER 6

6.1 Discussion

Hyperglycaemia during TB is associated with a high T2D risk and poor TB outcome (Moreira et al. 2018). Moreira et al. investigated the effect of hyperglycaemia in TB patients and found that a larger number of TB patients with hyperglycaemia exhibited adverse outcomes and a significantly higher mortality rate compared to euglycaemic patients (Moreira et al. 2018). T2D is a risk factor for TB and poor TB treatment outcome including treatment failure and relapse (Dooley et al. 2009) and for this reason the WHO, World Diabetes Foundation (WD) and the International Union Against TB and Lung Disease (IUATLD) recommend that all newly diagnosed TB patients are screened for T2D (Harries et al 2013). The TB-THG group is characterised by high HbA1c prior to TB treatment that decreases during the course of TB treatment (Tabarsi et al. 2014). It is therefore advised to monitor HbA1c of TB patients during TB treatment to confirm T2D status (WHO. 2018). Our study was able to identify a gene transcript signature that enables the differentiation between THG and T2D, which could be useful in preventing the unnecessary treatment of THG patients who were originally diagnosed as having T2D. Since HbA1c testing alone will not be able to distinguish patients with THG from T2D a gene signature could complement standard T2D screening of TB patients.

6.1.1 Gene expression signatures in active TB patients with and without T2D

Transcriptional analysis of whole blood and Mtb antigen stimulated whole blood has become an important tool to study the expression of immune system related genes and shows promise for identifying possible biomarkers for TB diagnosis, progression to active TB disease and TB treatment responses (Cliff et al. 2013; Zak et al. 2016; Thompson et al. 2017). Despite the usefulness of transcriptomic studies in addressing immune related responses, the exploration of transcriptional analyses in the context of TB-T2D co-morbidities is scarce (Prada-medina et al. 2017). Prada-Medina et al. showed that previously identified TB blood gene transcripts specific for diagnosing TB disease may not be affected by the presence of T2D (Prada-Medina et al. 2017). More studies in populations where TB-T2D co-morbidity is a burden would be of great significance for the identification of new molecular markers specific to T2D in TB patients to improve TB care in T2D patients (Donovan et al. 2017).

Patients with TB-T2D comorbidity are more likely to fail TB treatment and present with more severe TB disease compared to TB patients without co-morbidities (Dooley et al. 2009), despite higher circulating levels of Th1 and Th17 cytokines in TB-T2D patients (Kumar et al. 2013). IL-10 is also elevated in TB-T2D patients (Kumar et al. 2013), however stimulation of whole blood from TB-T2D patients with PPD, showed higher Th1 associated cytokines produced in TB-T2D potentially contributes to increased immune pathology (Kumar and Babu, 2017).

Therefore we wanted to determine gene expression in the TB patients with and without T2D in South African Coloured population in an attempt to describe the immunological mechanisms associated with TB pathology and treatment outcomes. We identified gene transcripts including CCL2, CCL4, CCL3, IL-1A, CD163, CXCL2, PLAU, CXCL1, IL-1R1, TNFRSF8, CCRL2, NFKB1, PSMD7, PSMB5 and BAX, were downregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB-T2D compared to both TB and TB-THG. MAPKAPK2 was upregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB-T2D and TB-THG compared to TB. The downregulation of the following important chemokine gene transcripts; CCL2, CCL4, CCL3, CCRL2, CXCL1, CXCL2 may suggest alterations in leukocyte diapedesis and therefore alterations in the recruitment of immune cells to the site of inflammation. It has been shown that altered serum chemokine protein concentration can alter anti-TB immunity in T2D patients and can fuel TB-T2D (Aravindhan et al. 2018). The recruitment of phagocytic cells like neutrophils and macrophages are required to control Mtb growth and replication and initiate wound healing (Hong et al. 2004). Defects in trafficking of phagocytic cells to the site of inflammation will therefore delay innate and adaptive responses.

CCL2 acts as chemo-attractant for monocytes, as well as some other immune cells such as memory T lymphocytes and NK cells (Lu et al. 1998; Deshmane et al. 2009). CCL2 treatment of diabetic mice has shown immune cell infiltration into wounds which favours the healing of the wounds (Wood et al. 2014). CCL2 mRNA expression was significantly higher in the lungs of HN878-infected mice and associated with increased macrophage localization within the granuloma, however, in CCR2 knock out mice there was inefficient migration of macrophages to the granuloma when less CCL2 mRNA was expressed (Algood et al. 2003; Dunlap et al. 2018). We found that CCL2 was reduced in unstimulated whole blood of TB-T2D compared to TB and TB-THG. Infection of PBMCs with Mtb induced mRNA expression of CCL2 that was greater in pulmonary TB patients compared to localized extra pulmonary TB patients (Hasan et al. 2009).

Chemokines such as CCL3 released by neutrophils recruit monocytes to the site of infection (Mayadas et al. 2014). CCL3 mRNA was reported to be downregulated in whole blood of TB patients when compared to individuals with LTBI (Mistry et al. 2007). In addition, after infecting PBMCs with Mtb, there was no observed differences in CCL3 mRNA transcript among pulmonary TB, localised extra pulmonary TB and disseminated extra pulmonary groups (Hasan et al. 2009). Mtb infected mice were also reported to have low CCL3 mRNA compared to normal mice (Schneider et al. 2010). In support of these finding, we showed downregulation of CCL3 mRNA in unstimulated whole blood from TB-T2D compared to TB patients.

CCRL2 is a chemokine receptor also known as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) inducible C-C related gene (L-CCR) and shares the highest homology with CCR1 and CCR5 (Shimada et al. 1998;

Otero et al. 2010). CCRL2 binds chemerin which is a chemotactic protein (Zabel et al. 2008). A previous study reported an increase in the expression of CCRL2 in the RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line and in murine macrophages after stimulation with LPS, this study was aimed at understanding the role of CCRL2 during microbial infection (Shimada et al. 1998). Stimulation of mouse neutrophils with LPS resulted in the increased expression of CCRL2, with most of the cells co-expressing CCRL2 and CXCR2 (Del Prete et al. 2017). To determine the role of CCRL2, mice deficient in CCRL2 were injected intraperitoneally with LPS and a reduction in neutrophil count was reported (Del Prete et al. 2017). In our study, we found CCRL2 mRNA to be downregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB-T2D compared to TB. The difference in the study design, the use of cell lines and different antigen stimulants makes it difficult to speculate what effect the changes in CCRL2 mRNA will have in our study participants. There is however no information available on the expression of CCLR2 during TB-T2D. Since CCRL2 binds chemerin and presents it to the leukocytes expressing chemR23 (Gonzalvo-feo et al. 2014), the reduction in CCRL2 may be associated with reduced migration of leukocytes to inflammatory sites.

CXCL1 has been reported to be important for Th17 differentiation, neutrophil extracellular trap formation and reactive oxygen species production (Jin et al. 2014). Together, CXCL1 and CXCL2 have been identified as novel paracrine regulators for the production of anti-microbial molecules and inflammatory mediators during Mtb infection in humans (Boro et al. 2016). CXCL1 and CXCL2 are involved in the activation of inflammasomes and production of IL-1 β in macrophages. When CXCL1 and CXCL2 were blocked using neutralizing antibodies, there was a reduction in IL-1 β in supernatants after stimulation of macrophages with Mtb (Boro et al. 2017). In bone marrow derived (BMD) DCs from mice infected with BCG, large amounts of CXCL1 and CXCL2 were reported and resulted in an increased recruitment of neutrophils in the lungs of the mice (Doz et al. 2013). Neutrophils were subsequently responsible for the production of IL-10 and reduction in IL-17A production. Furthermore, depletion of the neutrophils resulted in a decrease in IL-10 and favoured IL-17A production (Doz et al. 2013).

CXCL1 and CXCL2 are expressed at low concentrations in the sera and the lung tissue of mice infected with Mtb (Schneider et al. 2010). Stimulation of polymorphonuclear granulocytes with Mtb and LAM resulted in increased mRNA and protein of CXCL1 by human polymorphonuclear granulocytes (Riedel and Kaufmann, 1997). BMD macrophages from mice infected with the Erdman Mtb strain had gene expression of CXCL2 (Scott and Flynn, 2002). In addition, infected BMD macrophages with the Erdman Mtb strain as well as the clinical isolates CSU22 and CSU46 also resulted in increased CXCL2 gene transcript expression (Rhoades et al. 1995). An increase in CXCL2 was also seen in a DM mice (db/db) compared to a control mice, three days post bacterial infection other than Mtb (Naguib et al. 2004). We

found a downregulation of CXCL1 and CXCL2 gene transcript in unstimulated whole blood of TB patients. There is however no gene expression data available when comparing TB-T2D and TB patients.

CD163 is a scavenger receptor expressed exclusively on monocytes and macrophages, and function as an innate immune sensor for bacteria and induces local inflammation (Kristiansen et al. 2001). Increased CD163 expression on the surface of monocyte is associated with insulin resistance in patients with T2D, suggesting a novel pathophysiological role for CD163 (Kawarabayashi et al. 2017). CD163 mRNA was found to be higher in fat depots of obese patients compared to non-obese individuals (Kračmerová et al. 2014). Increased soluble CD163 was reported to be a strong predictor of risk for developing T2D in obese patients (Zanni et al. 2012). A positive correlation between plasma soluble CD163 and mRNA CD163 was described in the adipose tissue of obese patients (Kračmerová et al. 2014), however, CD163 frequency on MNs from adipose tissue was significantly decreased and soluble CD163 significantly increased in T2D patients with vascular complications compared to patients (Min et al. 2016). Suggesting that CD163 protects T2D patients from developing T2D associated complications (Min et al. 2016). CD163 protein therefore possibly plays a role in the pathophysiology of T2D.

In this study, we found that CD163 mRNA in TB-T2D was downregulated in unstimulated whole blood compared to TB patients. The upregulation of CD163 is a marker of switching from pro-inflammatory towards anti-inflammatory profile (Weaver et al. 2013), therefore, the downregulation of CD163 mRNA in TB-T2D corresponds to the pro-inflammatory profile in these patients. CD163 was also found to be significantly reduced on the surface of MNs from T2D patients after stimulation with LPS compared to unstimulated MNs (Khondkaryan et al. 2018), and was thought to be associated with persistent activation of MNs (Khondkaryan et al. 2018). In our study, we showed that stimulation of whole blood with Mtb-antigens, favours an Mtb specific upregulation of CD163 mRNA shifting responses to an anti-inflammatory profile in TB-T2D upon stimulation when compared to TB patients. The exact role of CD163 in chronic inflammation remains poorly described (Kawarabayashi et al. 2017) and requires further investigation. In our study, the downregulation of CD163 mRNA may be associated with immunopathology in TB-T2D patients.

Mtb promotes its replication by inhibiting apoptosis of infected macrophages (Blomgran et al. 2012). In our study, gene transcripts from unstimulated blood that plays a role in apoptosis (IL-1A, IL-1R1, TNFRSF8, NF-KB, and BAX) were lower in TB-T2D compared to TB. NF-kB is the transcription factor in classical macrophages responsible for the development of the Th1 response including the production of IL-12, IFN-γ, IL-23, and IL-27 which are required to

control Mtb replication (Cooper and Khader, 2008; Liu et al. 2017), as well as IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 (Wang et al. 2014).

S100A8, TAP1, S100A9, GBP1, TLR2, PSMB8 and PSMB9 were reported to be upregulated in whole blood of active TB patients compared to individuals with LTBI (Mistry et al. 2007). We also found that TAP1, TLR2, S100A9 and S100A8 are upregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB compared to TB-T2D patients. S100A8 and S100A9 are upregulated during infection, stress, and many other inflammatory conditions (Wang et al. 2018). The increased expression of TLR (a receptor for pathogen associated molecules), in TB patients, shows that there is an upregulation of antigen recognition related pathways. The upregulation of TAP1 and protein subunits of proteasomes, all are related to antigen presentation signalling, which shows that during TB-T2D, these pathways may be less represented compared to TB.

PSMB5 along with C1R and C1QBP form part of the complement cascade and were collectively part of a gene signature that could distinguish TB-THG from TB-T2D in unstimulated whole blood. The complete cascade, as seen by C1R and C1QBP, as well as the antigen presentation pathway are the key pathways that are different in TB-THG and TB-T2D. The activation of C1R is associated with immune response pathways suggestive of any infectious disease (Wu et al. 2017). However, our study did not show differences in C1R mRNA between the patients. C1QBP was amongst the gene transcripts significantly downregulated in TB patients compared to LTBI in whole blood using microarrays (Mistry et al. 2007). We found, C1QBP to be downregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB compared to TB-THG. In breast cancer the expression of PSMB5 mRNA was observed in M2 macrophages, and it was hypothesised to be involved in immunosuppressive responses (Wang et al. 2017). Knock down of PSMB5 allowed macrophages to differentiate into M1 phenotype. In our study, both PSMB5 and CD163 were downregulated in unstimulated whole blood of TB-T2D compared to TB.

6.1.2 Gene expression in LTBI with and without T2D

Blood transcriptional assays that enable early accurate TB diagnosis could have an important impact on control of the global TB epidemic (Walter et al. 2016). The immunological factors involved in the host immune response network in Mtb infection and LTBI reactivation have not yet been clearly elucidated. Identifying the host genes responsible for TB susceptibility and resistance may be the key towards better understanding the mechanisms leading to the development of the disease and identifying pathways that could be used as potential targets for HDT. The immune profile in LTBI-T2D is characterized by diminished production of Th1 cytokines. Diminished concentration of the Th1 cytokines allows for potential immunological mechanisms that could account for the increased risk for TB progression (Kumar and Babu. 2017). The immune profile in LTBI with T2D compared to LTBI without T2D is characterized.

by low Th1 (IFN-y, IL-2 and TNF- α) and Th2 but not Th17 associated cytokines which was partially modulated by TGF- β , since blocking TGF- β resulted in increased Th1 and Th2 cytokines (Kumar et al. 2016). There are however no gene expression data available from individuals with LTBI with T2D prior to developing active disease and TB-T2D. We therefore wanted to determine the differential gene expression in individuals with LTBI with and without T2D to identify host genes and pathways that could be associated with increased susceptibility to TB progression in LTBI-T2D. The genes that were differentially expressed in unstimulated whole blood of LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI were associated with the following functions or pathways: activation of necrosis and cell death of tumour cells, inhibition of immune response of leukocytes and maturation of blood cells of which some will impact immune response against Mtb. CCL2, CD163, TNFRSF8, CISH, GBP5, PML and TAP1 were differentially expressed in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI and TB-T2D compared to TB patients and could potentially be involved in the underlying mechanisms responsible for the increased susceptibility to Mtb and the increased chance of developing active TB.

A three gene signature unique to LTBI-T2D was identified which includes CD59, CD274 and TNFSF11. Upon univariate analysis, only CD59 was found to be significantly different between the two groups and was higher in LTBI-T2D compared LTBI. The role of CD59 has been shown to protect host cells from the membrane attach complex mediated lysis (Koski et al. 1996). The membrane attack complex can result in tissue injury during dysregulated complement activation that occurs during chronic inflammatory conditions (Huang et al. 2006). This can result in overexpression of CD59, however overexpression of CD59 in tumour cells has been associated with tumour development (Fishelson et al. 2003), protecting tumour cells from monoclonal antibody treatment (Fishelson et al. 2003). CD59 plays a role in promoting tumour cell growth (Fishelson et al. 2003). A study by Cliff et al. investigated changes in gene expression before and during TB treatment in whole blood (Cliff et al. 2013). Among other gene transcripts, CD59 was upregulated at diagnosis of TB (Cliff et al. 2013). There is no information on CD59 in LTBI and T2D. In our LTBI-T2D group, CD59 may help Mtb evade immune responses by protecting the Mtb infected cells from complement mediated lysis and promote Mtb replication.

CD274, also referred to as programmed death 1 (PD-1), is a key immune checkpoint receptor expressed by activated T cells and mediates immune suppression (Yin et al. 2014). PD-1/PD-L1 interaction is known to inhibit T cell effector function during TB disease (Shen et al. 2016). Wang et al. reported that when PD-L1 and PD-L2 were upregulated, T cell associated gene transcripts were down regulated, which indicates that PD-Ls mediated suppression may be initiated during TB disease (Wang et al. 2018). PD-1 was shown to induce apoptosis of IFN-γ producing NKT cells while sparing NKT cells that produce IL-4. Such a polarized NKT cell

function may impose a Th2 bias on the ensuing effector T cell response leading to inefficient clearance of Mtb. Inhibiting PD-1 may therefore affect the T cell response favouring the host by rescuing IFN-y producing NKT cells from apoptosis and enhancing Th1 effector T cell functions against Mtb (Singh et al. 2014). Phagocytosis and intracellular killing activity of macrophages were found to be increased significantly after blocking PD-1/PD-L pathway (Shen et al. 2016). Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy holds promise as adjunctive therapy for chronic infectious diseases such as TB and should be tested in randomized clinical trials (Rao et al. 2017). In our study, PD-L1 transcript was upregulated in the LTBI-T2D patients in the unstimulated samples compared to LTBI. PD-L1 was also identified as one of the transcripts in the signature that could be associated with susceptibility to TB progression in LTBI with T2D by suppressing T cell immunity.

TNFSF11 encodes for receptor activator of the nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL), which participates in physiological processes including organ development, bone remodelling and calcium homeostasis through osteoblast formation (Griffith et al.2012). There is no existing literature on the expression of TNFSF11 in individuals with LTBI. Our study did not show a significant difference in TNFSF11 expression between LTBI-T2D and LTBI, but in combination with other markers, can help us understand the mechanisms associated with TB susceptibility. RANKL has been reported to harbour immunosuppressive functions; blocking RANKL however, was not shown to affect immune responses in mice or humans (Guerrin et al. 2015; Conte et al. 2015). These findings suggest that RANKL plays a less prominent role in host defences against pathogens (Guerrini et al. 2015). In T2D, RANKL protein was upregulated compared to healthy patients (Conte et al. 2015). The role of RANKL has been studied in bone diseases and was found that a reduction in RANKL is associated with Mtb *H37Ra* induced bone loss. Whether this is enough to implicate TNFSF11 in the pathogenesis of T2D and susceptibility to TB progression is not clear.

6.1.3 Immune and endocrine changes and association with Mtb uptake and killing

Low-grade inflammation in T2D patients leads to the activation of the HPA-axis which subsequently results in increased cortisol secretion by the adrenals. Elevated levels of cortisol in serum result in immunosuppression leading to reduced Mtb containment (Pace et al. 2012). A few studies have focused on TB-T2D comorbidity (van Crevel and Dockrell, 2014; Fernandez et al. 2016). However, to date only a few studies in individuals with LTBI and T2D have been carried out (Kumar et al. 2013). We investigated the immune-endocrine profile to determine the effect of T2D on immune responses in recently Mtb exposed participants within the South African coloured population from the Western Cape. During an infection such as Mtb, the human host amounts an acute phase response (Gruys et al. 2005). These include changes in lipid profiles, cytokines, complement cascade and an increase in ACTH and

glucocorticoid concentrations (Gruys et al. 2005). Comparison of acute phase protein responses and sympathetic as well as stress hormones such as catecholamines and cortisol in plasma of TB patients and controls was done (Opolot et al. 2015). It was reported that both cortisol and dopamine were higher in TB patients, although not significantly for cortisol (Opolot et al. 2015). Higher dopamine and lower adrenaline concentration in the TB group was reported compared to HCs. Previously, elevated concentrations of adrenaline, noradrenaline, dopamine and cortisol were associated with severity of TB disease (Hafeiz et al. 1992). Noradrenaline was reported to be higher in TB patients compared to controls (Opolot et al. 2015). We were unable to analyse the noradrenaline results due to technical errors. Mtbinduced responses feedback to the brain to orchestrate sympathetic nervous system responses which in turn mediate immune responses in the periphery. The same immune cells are then also a source of noradrenaline that induces early differentiation of Th1 cells essential for protection against mycobacterial infection (Alaniz et al. 1999). Mice genetically deficient of the enzyme dopamine-hydroxylase which is required for the synthesis of noradrenaline were found to be more susceptible to Mtb (Alaniz et al. 1999), suggesting that it participates in the generation of an optimal, protective cell-mediated immune response in vivo.

Noradrenaline was reported to be produced during early infection with Mtb by adrenergic nerve terminals and lymphocytes located in pulmonary inflammatory infiltrates and mediastinal lymph nodes, while during late infection noradrenaline production sharply decreases (Barriospayán et al. 2016). This suggests that during advanced disease, the sympathetic nervous system activity is less important, or perhaps contributes to establishing local pro-inflammatory activity due to the absence of the anti-inflammatory effect of noradrenaline on differentiated immune cells (Pongratz and Straub, 2014). There was no differences in the catecholamines reported between our study groups. No other studies have reported on catecholamines in the context of T2D, and makes our study the first to report this.

Cytokines and hormones influence the cellular immune response, therefore the relationship and profile of plasma hormones such as cortisol needs to be investigated to understand how they affect immune response. In the plasma of TB patients compared to LTBI and HCs, concentration of cortisol was reported to be elevated (Santucci et al. 2011). In addition, cortisol levels were reported to be high in plasma of TB and TB-T2D patients compared to HCs (Fernandez et al. 2016). No difference have been reported between cortisol levels in TB and TB-T2D patients. The concentration of cortisol has also never been investigated in individuals with LTBI with and without T2D. We found no difference in cortisol in our study participants. Cortisol can inhibit Th1 responses, whereas DHEA induces them (Besedevoski et al. 1998; Turnbull et al. 1999). The HPA axis, represent a well-conserved mechanism to control an intense immune-inflammatory reaction as well as for the early mobilization of immune cells and their redistribution to mount an adequate defensive response (Attilio et al. 2018). During an immune response, cortisol can inhibit the proliferation of the effector and differential apoptosis of regulatory T cells (Pandolfi et al. 2013).

The upregulation of IL-6 is associated with inflammatory diseases such as TB (Martinez et al. 2013) and involved in metabolic disorders such as T2D (Liu et al. 2016). In TB-T2D, IL-6 plasma levels are high compared to TB (Kumar et al. 2013). In LTBI-T2D we also found IL-6 serum concentrations to be higher compared to LTBI. High IL-6 concentrations in culture supernatants of monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) of TB-T2D patients compared to TB patients (Lope-Lopez et al. 2018). IL-6 has the ability to impair insulin signalling in insulinsensitive tissues (Nikolajczyk et al. 2012). High IL-6 concentrations has been shown to cause insulin resistance and T2D (Kumar et al. 2014). In our study, however, we did not calculate insulin resistance. Lower IL-6 production by macrophages from DM mice infected with Mycobacterial fortuitum was reported to contribute to increased bacterial growth in the infected macrophages, which suggest that IL-6 is required for better control of bacteria by macrophages (Abdul Alim et al. 2017). Plasma IL-6 concentrations were reported to be significantly higher in TB patients and TB-T2D patients compared to HCs (Fernandez et al. 2016). Despite the fact that IL-6 is pro-inflammatory and plays an important role in bacterial control, high expression in the serum from our LTBI-T2D study participants was associated with poor Mtb uptake by PBMCs. Contrary to these findings, Zheng et al. found no difference in IL-6 concentrations in TB patients with and without T2D and HCs, (Zheng et al. 2013). In plasma of individuals with LTBI compared to HCs, IL-6 was elevated (Santucci et al. 2011). Our data and data from other human studies, suggest that during T2D, IL-6 is elevated and that TB augments the levels of this cytokine. In humans, IL-6 is associated with pathogenesis, and reducing IL-6 production may restore insulin resistance and the function of beta-cells, reducing heart failure and fatigue in patients with T2D (Conti et al. 2018).

IL-18 plays a critical role by inducing Th1 responses during Mtb infection (Schneider et al. 2010; Ponnana et al. 2017). Without IL-18, Th1 responses are decreased and mycobacterial replication increases (Schneider et al. 2010). Mice deficient in IL-18 will succumb to Mtb infection (Sugawara et al. 1999; Schneider et al. 2010), and have suppressed IFN- γ production (Dinarello, 1999). IL-18 was low in TB-T2D patients compared to TB (Restrepo et al. 2008; Kumar et al. 2013). IL-18 induces the release of IL-8 from mononuclear cells (Puren et al. 1998), which is an attractant for neutrophils and also T cells (Puren et al. 1998). Neutrophilic inflammation is associated to TB pathogenesis (Berry et al. 2010) and, for this reason, we believe that IL-18 is involved in both protective and pathological responses. Liu et al. has shown that along with IL-1 β and IL-6 elevated levels of IL-18 is associated with T2D (Liu et al. 2016). It is possible that IL-18 has different roles during LTBI with and without T2D. In contrast

to what we found, Kumar et al. found serum IL-18 concentrations to be lower in LTBI-T2D (Kumar et al. 2014). This contradicting data suggests that more studies are required to evaluate the role of IL-18 in LTBI during T2D in different population groups.

IL-22 cytokine is produced by cells of the innate and adaptive immune system (Wolk et al. 2006), its role during host defence against Mtb infection still needs further investigation (Ronacher et al. 2018). Decreased plasma concentration of IL-22 was profoundly associated with susceptibility to impaired fasting glucose and T2D in Chinese subjects (Shen et al. 2018). In T2D foot ulcers, IL-20 subfamily including IL-22 are upregulated during normal wound healing (Kolumam et al. 2017). In addition, mice deficient in the receptor for IL-22 was associated with delay in the healing of the wounds. IL-22 was also associated with increased innate host immune defences and tissue remodelling in the skin (Kolumam et al. 2017). We did not find any significant differences in IL-22 serum concentrations between LTBI and LTBI-T2D, but we found differences between LTBI-T2D and LTB-pT2D, where IL-22 was significantly higher in LTBI-pT2D patients. Although the role of IL-22 has been associated with protection, excessive IL-22 responses may be detrimental. In fact, Ronacher et al. indicated that it is not clear whether IL-22 is increased to counteract immunopathology or if it contributes to pathology (Ronacher et al. 2018). Kumar et al. has reported higher IL-22 concentrations in LTBI-T2D compared to LTBI (Kumar et al. 2015), whereas we did not observe any significant differences between the two groups. The difference between the two studies being that Kumar et al. did not categorize the T2D patients into the different subgroups e.g. pre-T2D, T2D and pT2D. Comparison of circulating cytokines between individuals with LTBI with high BMI and low BMI was done and found higher IL-22 concentrations in high BMI individuals with LTBI (Anuradha et al. 2016), suggesting a link between BMI and IL-22 production. In our study, the individuals with LTBI with and without T2D did not show any significance difference in BMI, and perhaps could be why we did not see any difference in IL-22 concentrations.

We observed significantly higher IL-22 concentrations in TB-T2D patients compared to TB-THG at BL and no difference was observed between TB-T2D and TB patients. This is different to what Kumar et al. found, where IL-22 was lower in plasma samples of TB-T2D compared to TB (Kumar et al. 2013; Kumar et al. 2015). A negative correlation has been observed between IL-22 expression in the periphery and the lung, with higher IL-22 measured in BALF (Singh et al. 2018). Since serum IL-22 was higher in our TB-T2D patients, it is possible that these patients have low IL-22 in the lung where it is needed.

Vitamin D deficiency is associated with an increased risk of TB disease and poor treatment outcome (Kim et al. 2017). When MDMs from T2D patients with low vitamin D receptor expression were supplemented with vitamin D, they were able to eliminate Mtb efficiently (Lopez-lopez et al. 2014). This study suggests the use of vitamin D as prophylaxis for TB in

high T2D endemic countries (Lopez-lopez et al. 2014). vitamin D in serum of patients with history of TB disease compared to uninfected controls was significantly lower vitamin D concentration in individuals with a history of TB compared to uninfected individuals (Kim et al. 2018). In T2D patients, the same has also been reported where vitamin D is significantly reduced in their serum compared to HCs (Chandra et al. 2004). The high vitamin D in HCs, may partly be involved in the significantly enhanced phagocytic potential of macrophages isolated from these individuals (Chandra et al. 2004).

Dyslipidaemia in T2D is characterized by high levels of triglycerides, and/or cholesterol as well as low HDL (Vrieling et al. 2018). In addition, dyslipidaemia is associated with necrotic granulomas and fibroplasia leading to exacerbated lung damage in TB patients and especially in TB-T2D patients (Dong et al. 2018). Dong et al. reported low HDL in smear negative patients with TB-T2D, which was associated with severe lung lesions in these patients (Dong et al. 2018). HDL serum levels are reduced during infections and inflammation (Deniz et al. 2006; Dong et al .2018). This agrees with what we found where HDL concentrations were lower in LTBI-T2D compared to individuals with LTBI. Since low HDL is associated with severe lung lesions in TB-T2D patients as reported by Dong et al. and hyperinflammatory response of TB-T2D (Prada-medina et al. 2017), one can assume that low concentrations in individuals with LTBI and T2D may play a role in susceptibility to TB disease. Cholesterol serves as an important carbon source utilized by Mtb to growth and persistence in mice (Pandey and Sassetti, 2008). High CHL has been identified as a risk factor for TB disease (Martens et al. 2008; Soh et al. 2016) and statins use, which lowers CHL concentrations, reduces the risk of developing TB disease (Lai et al. 2016; Su et al. 2017). A potential therapy targeting CHL catabolism can effectively lower intracellular growth of Mtb (Tsai et al. 2017) and more studies should focus on investigating the use of cholesterol lowering drugs in conjunction with TB treatment to prevent TB disease in groups that are at increased risk such as LTBI-T2D. Lipids, such as LDL, may stimulate macrophage phagocytosis and subsequent release of inflammatory markers, induce mast cell degranulation and leukocyte recruitment (Medina et al. 2015). Our study did not show any relationship between LDL and Mtb killing, but in the larger parent study, the ALERT study, we found that LDL was associated with reduced Mtb growth in MNs (Manuscript in preparation). This shows that LDL can induce response against Mtb possible by facilitating the killing of Mtb in immune cells.

Macrophages play a central role in the initiation and resolution of inflammatory responses to infectious pathogens (Auffray et al. 2009) and are frequently activated in T2D patients (Bianciardi, 2015), which means that they could play an important role in T2D development. Macrophages are equipped with scavenger receptors that recognize lipids and various microorganisms (Auffray et al. 2009). The high incidence of infectious diseases in patients

with T2D (Peleg et al. 2007; Weintrob et al.2009) indicates a dysfunctional innate immune response in these patients. In fact, reduced phagocytic and chemotactic activity of MNs and neutrophils have been shown (Delamaire et al. 1997; Llorente et al. 2000; Restrepo et al. 2014). Our results supported previous studies where no difference in Mtb killing by MDMs, and PBMCs were observed (Reyes-ruvalcaba et al. 2008; Raposo-Garcia et al. 2017). However, it is possible that we do not see differences in the phagocytosis of MNs from T2D patients compared to noT2D because of small sample size, as data from the larger ALERT study, show differences in Mtb uptake by MNs from T2D compared to noT2D (Manuscript in preparation).

6.1.4 MAIT cells in TB patients with and without T2D

MAIT cells have innate like functions and have gained much attention as important role players in immunity to infectious diseases, such as Mtb, as well as in the pathogenesis of noncommunicable diseases, such as T2D (Shey et al. 2018). Most MAIT cells are identified as CD8⁺ and CD4⁻, but a small subset of MAIT cells do express CD4 (Kurioka et al. 2015). The different MAIT cell subsets suggests that they may also have unique functions. Recently, it has been shown that riboflavin tetramers can be used to identify all MAIT cells (Reantragoon et al. 2013). MAIT cells can be activated through TCR dependent and independent pathway (Gold et al. 2010; Kurioka et al. 2015), regardless of the disease state. MAIT cells have site specific functions. The frequency of IL-17 producing MAIT cells were higher in the adipose tissue of T2D patients compared to the periphery (Magalhaes et al. 2015). Higher frequencies of MAIT cells producing IL-17 and IL-22 were found in the vaginal tract compared to higher frequencies of MAIT cells producing IFN- γ and TNF- α in the periphery (Gibbs et al. 2017).

At baseline, MAIT cells are significantly reduced in the periphery of TB patients compared to uninfected HCs (Gold et al. 2010; Wong et al. 2013) which recover during the course of TB treatment (Sharma et al. 2015; Wong et al. 2013). When MAIT cells are reduced in the periphery during TB disease they migrate to the lung, as shown by measuring MAIT cell frequency in the BALF of TB patients with and without HIV co-infection (Wong et al. 2015). In TB-HIV co-infected patients, treatment did not restore MAIT cell frequencies in the periphery compared to TB patients (Wong et al. 2013). It has been shown that TB-HIV patients have high viral load in the lung (Shankar et al. 2014), because of the presence of the virus the MAIT cells remain in the lung. Similarly, in our TB-T2D patients, failure of MAIT cells to increase at M6 of TB treatment could mean that MAIT cells are still present in the adipose tissue or the lung. Malherbe et al. showed that even at M6 of TB treatment, after TB patients are cured based on negative MGIT culture results, there is still lesions in the lung consistent with TB disease and Mtb specific mRNA (Malherbe et al. 2016), which means that MAIT cells could still be in the lung even though the patients are clinically cured. There are no published results

on MAIT cell frequency in TB-T2D. Our study is the first to and provide information on the frequency of CD8⁺TCR 7.2⁺⁺CD161⁺⁺CD26⁺⁺ MAIT cells and the influence of TB treatment on the frequency of these cells in TB and T2D patients.

6.2 Conclusion

Our first aim was to identify differentially expressed immune genes in unstimulated and Mtbantigen stimulated whole blood of newly exposed LTBI positive participants as well as TB patients with and without T2D. To achieve this RNA was isolated from QFT stimulated blood and differential expression of 594 genes involved in immune regulation was determined with the NanoString technology.

Our study found fifteen important gene transcripts that need to be further investigated in the TB-T2D comorbidity to understand the immunological mechanisms involved in the pathology of T2D in TB patients. Proteins associated with these genes have been described, however, the true relationship between the protein and their gene transcripts have not been shown and this could give us a better understanding of what is happening during Mtb infection. We found genes associated with phagocytes trafficking to the site of infection, and those associated with apoptosis to be downregulated in the TB-T2D compared to TB and TB-THG. Furthermore, we were able to identify a gene signature that differentiates between THG and T2D in TB patients. This signature could be useful to identify THG and prevent the unnecessary treatment of these patients who would have been diagnosed with T2D. Most importantly, T2D screening of TB patients is recommended by the WHO, however HbA1c testing will not be able to distinguish patients with THG from T2D. Therefore, our gene signature could complement standard T2D screening of TB patients. We also identified a gene signature unique to individuals with LTBI with T2D. We show that these gene signatures are associated with complement pathways which may be involved in TB progression of individuals with LTBI-T2D.

Secondly, we aimed to investigate immune and endocrine changes in the serum and plasma of individuals with LTBI with and without T2D and determine their association with Mtb uptake and killing. Chronic activation of the innate system is associated with T2D, and abnormal production of cytokines and chemokines. In our study, Th1 cytokines and IL-22 which is produced by Th17 and/ Th22 are more pronounced in LTBI-pT2D, which showed a heighted pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles including IL-6, IL-18 and IL-22 compared to individuals with LTBI. Lipid production in the plasma was also increased. Our results adds to the small body of knowledge that is available on the production of immune products by cells of individuals with LTBI with and without T2D. We have shown that there is a need for more studies to define the immune profile of these individuals, to help us learn and understand the immune mechanisms during Mtb infection and influence of plasma soluble proteins and lipids in Mtb phagocytosis and killing assays.

Lastly, we wanted to determine the frequency of MAIT cells in TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at BL, M2 and M6 of TB treatment, since the reduction of MAIT cells in metabolic and infectious diseases have been widely shown. Despite their frequencies, the functions of MAIT cells in human TB-T2D have not be demonstrated. The varying frequencies of MAIT cells both during diseases and change during treatment, shows that they have an essential role during TB diseases and their roles needs to be delineated especially in patient with TB and T2D. Our results showed that the frequency of MAIT cells in TB-T2D was significantly lower compared to TB-THG at BL. This could mean that the MAIT cells in TB-T2D have redistributed to the tissue, either to the lung or the adipose tissue. The increase in the periphery at M2 and M6 compared to BL could mean that the number of MAIT cells were restored to the blood due to good treatment outcome and reduced Mtb in the lung. MAIT cells could be used as a potential subtype for monitoring treatment responses in TB-T2D patients.

Overall, with ALERT data we were able to show the link between the endocrine and the immune response. Although we could not show differences in cortisol levels as previously thought, the higher insulin production in plasma of LTBI-T2D as well as other cytokines such as IL-6, IL-18 and IL-22 from our study may reflect an association and connection between the immune and the neuroendocrine system. The reduced association of Mtb with PBMCs from individuals with LTBI-T2D as well as reduced Mtb control by MNs from LTBI-T2D may be linked to the insulin and cytokine levels in these individuals with LTBI-T2D and may in part play a role in the functioning of these immune cells. Insulin resistance has also been associated with increased Th1 and Th17 cytokine production. Even though Insulin has been shown to drive T cell differentiation towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype, we saw an increased insulin along with increased IL-6, IL-18 and IL-22 in our participants. These cytokines may also contribute to poor glycemic control and hyperlipidaemia as shown in our results where their increase was also accompanied by increased triglycerides in individuals with LTBI-T2D. Following this we will be measuring a range of hormones and cytokines directly from culture supernatants of the PBMCs and MNs infected with Mtb H37Rv to fully describe the interplay between mononuclear cells and hormones during T2D.

6.3 Strengths and limitations of the study

The number of study participants with LTBI with and without T2D was small. Recruitment of study participants continued beyond the time frame of my PhD, samples that were available at the time were used. This work continued to include all the participants enrolled in the study to increase the sample size and has now reached the recruitment target and analysis of data is ongoing. Serum cytokines and plasma hormone concentrations were correlated to the Mtb killing assay as they were cultured in 20% autologous plasma. As part of the larger study we

will continue to measure the cytokine concentrations in the culture supernatants which will also be correlated to Mtb killing assays. For the TANDEM study, only a small number of TB-T2D were recruited, and matching the participants also resulted in even smaller numbers. We were not able to do Mtb killing assays using the PBMCs of TB-T2D patients since the stored cells were not enough to do the killing assays. There were a limited number of samples available for the TANDEM study which prevented us from running all the ELISA and luminex assays on these participants. We were able to perform gene expression assay on both TANDEM and ALERT samples. We were not able to perform a direct comparison for our 594 gene expression between the participant groups of the two different studies as the gene expression analysis was batched and run at different times. The first gene expression analysis was performed on the TANDEM patients, and a year later we ran the same gene expression panel on ALERT patients. Seeing that there is limited information on MAIT cells in TB with and without T2D, therefore we wanted to measure MAIT cell frequency in TB and TB-T2D patients and include LTBI-T2D as a control, however, we ended up doing this without a LTBI-T2D control, since we did not have enough PBMCs for the larger part of these individuals. Another limitation to our study for both ALERT and TANDEM populations was the exclusion of HIV positive individuals seeing that TB-HIV is quite a concern in South Africa. In general, the use of HbA1c and FBG as a diagnostic for T2D without the support of OGTT was another limitation since the OGTT is considered the gold standand and has been shown to perform as best diagnostic for T2D in our study population (Zemlin et al. 2011).

6.4 Future work

The identified genes signature that distinguish between TB-THG and TB-T2D need to be validated by screening for these signature in a different cohort so that it can be incorporated in a simple test to be used together with HbA1c to describe true T2D patients. The identified gene signature in latent TB with T2D will be followed up and further explored using functional assays, to understand the role of the transcripts and resulting proteins during Mtb infection. Cytokines and hormones are going to be measured from monocytes and PBMC culture supernatants and to identify associations between Mtb uptake and killing. This will give us a better understanding of what the immune and endocrine profile is during Mtb infection in individuals with LTBI with and without T2D and how that influence phagocytosis and Mtb killing. We collected and stored whole blood and broncho alveolar lavage from participants with LTBI with and without T2D, this will be used to determining the frequency of MAIT cells in the periphery and also at the site of TB disease, we would like to do this for TB with and without T2D patients as well to determine the frequency of MAIT cells recruited to the site of disease.

Addenda



Supplementary Figure 1: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D. RNA was isolated from whole blood of TB-T2D, TB-THG and TB stimulated with Mtb specific antigen using QFT assay (Ag/nil, stimulated only represented in the figure). Gene expression of 594 genes as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 was done on the extracted RNA. Down and upregulated transcripts from unstimulated blood of TB compared to TB-THG (A), TB vs. TB-T2D (B) and TB-THG vs TB-T2D. JMP SAS was used to generate heatmaps and used Student T test to determine statistical difference between the groups. Genes with a p value was < 0.01 and FDR < 0.05 was statistically significant. Figure A Red TB, Blue TB-THG, Figure B red TB, blue TB-T2D and Figure C red TB-THG and blue TB-T2D.



Supplementary Figure 2: Differentially expressed gene transcripts between TB, TB-THG and TB-T2D at month 6. RNA was isolated from whole blood of TB-T2D, TB-THG and TB stimulated with Mtb specific antigen using QFT assay (Ag/nil, stimulated only represented in the figure). Gene expression of 594 genes as part of the nCounter GX Human Immunology kit V2 was done on the extracted RNA. Down and upregulated transcripts from unstimulated blood of TB-THG (A), TB vs. TB-T2D (B) and TB-THG vs TB-T2D. JMP SAS was used to generate heatmaps and used Student T test to determine statistical difference between the groups. Genes with a p value was < 0.01 and FDR < 0.05 was statistically significant. Figure A Red TB, Blue TB-THG, Figure B red TB, blue TB-T2D and Figure C red TB-THG and blue TB-T2D.

Supplemtary	v table 1: List o	f Nanostring gene	s included in the nCount	er GX Human	Immunology kit V2

Official Symbol	Accession	Official Symbol	Accession	Official Symbol	Accession	Official Symbol	Accession	Official Symbol	Accession
ABCB1	NM_000927.3	BST1	NM_004334.2	CCL11	NM_002986.2	CD163	NM_004244.4	CD58	NM_001779.2
ABL1	NM_005157.3	BST2	NM_004335.2	CCL13	NM_005408.2	CD164	NM_006016.4	CD59	NM_000611.4
ADA	NM_000022.2	BTK	NM_000061.1	CCL15	NM_032965.3	CD19	NM_001770.4	CD6	NM_006725.3
AHR	NM_001621.3	BTLA	NM_181780.2	CCL16	NM_004590.2	CD1A	NM_001763.2	CD7	NM_006137.6
AICDA	NM_020661.1	C14orf166	NM_016039.2	CCL18	NM_002988.2	CD1D	NM_001766.3	CD70	NM_001252.2
AIRE	NM_000383.2	C1QA	NM_015991.2	CCL19	NM_006274.2	CD2	NM_001767.3	CD74	NM_001025159.1
APP	NM_000484.3	C1QB	NM_000491.3	CCL2	NM_002982.3	CD209	NM_021155.2	CD79A	NM_001783.3
ARG1	NM_000045.2	C1QBP	NM_001212.3	CCL20	NM_004591.1	CD22	NM_001771.2	CD79B	NM_021602.2
ARG2	NM_001172.3	C1R	NM_001733.4	CCL22	NM_002990.3	CD24	NM_013230.2	CD80	NM_005191.3
ARHGDIB	NM_001175.4	C1S	NM_001734.2	CCL23	NM_145898.1	CD244	NM_016382.2	CD81	NM_004356.3
ATG10	NM_001131028.1	C2	NM_000063.3	CCL24	NM_002991.2	CD247	NM_198053.1	CD82	NM_002231.3
ATG12	NM_004707.2	C3	NM_000064.2	CCL26	NM_006072.4	CD27	NM_001242.4	CD83	NM_004233.3
ATG16L1	NM_198890.2	C4A/B	NM_007293.2	CCL3	NM_002983.2	CD274	NM_014143.3	CD86	NM_175862.3
ATG5	NM_004849.2	C4BPA	NM_000715.3	CCL4	NM_002984.2	CD276	NM_001024736.1	CD8A	NM_001768.5
ATG7	NM_001136031.2	C5	NM_001735.2	CCL5	NM_002985.2	CD28	NM_001243078.1	CD8B	NM_004931.3
ATM	NM_000051.3	C6	NM_000065.2	CCL7	NM_006273.2	CD34	NM_001025109.1	CD9	NM_001769.2
B2M	NM_004048.2	C7	NM_000587.2	CCL8	NM_005623.2	CD36	NM_001001548.2	CD96	NM_005816.4
B3GAT1	NM_018644.3	C8A	NM_000562.2	CCND3	NM_001760.2	CD3D	NM_000732.4	CD97	NM_078481.2
BATF	NM_006399.3	C8B	NM_000066.2	CCR1	NM_001295.2	CD3E	NM_000733.2	CD99	NM_002414.3
BATF3	NM_018664.2	C8G	NM_000606.2	CCR10	NM_016602.2	CD3EAP	NM_012099.1	CDH5	NM_001795.3
BAX	NM_138761.3	C9	NM_001737.3	CCR2	NM_001123041.2	CD4	NM_000616.4	CDKN1A	NM_000389.2
BCAP31	NM_005745.7	CAMP	NM_004345.3	CCR5	NM_000579.1	CD40	NM_001250.4	CEACAM1	NM_001712.3
BCL10	NM_003921.2	CARD9	NM_052813.4	CCR6	NM_031409.2	CD40LG	NM_000074.2	CEACAM6	NM_002483.4
BCL2	NM_000657.2	CASP1	NM_001223.3	CCR7	NM_001838.2	CD44	NM_001001392.1	CEACAM8	NM_001816.3
BCL2L11	NM_138621.4	CASP10	NM_032977.3	CCR8	NM_005201.2	CD46	NM_172350.1	CEBPB	NM_005194.2
BCL3	NM_005178.2	CASP2	NM_032982.2	CCRL1	NM_016557.2	CD48	NM_001778.2	CFB	NM_001710.5
BCL6	NM_001706.2	CASP3	NM_032991.2	CCRL2	NM_003965.4	CD5	NM_014207.2	CFD	NM_001928.2
BID	NM_001196.2	CASP8	NM_001228.4	CD14	NM_000591.2	CD53	NM_001040033.1	CFH	NM_001014975.2
BLNK	NM_013314.2	CCBP2	NM_001296.3	CD160	NM_007053.2	CD55	NM_000574.3	CFI	NM_000204.3
CFP	NM_002621.2	CXCL1	NM_001511.1	FCER1A	NM_002001.2	HLA-DMA	NM_006120.3	IFNG	NM_000619.2
СНИК	NM_001278.3	CXCL10	NM_001565.1	FCER1G	NM_004106.1	HLA-DMB	NM_002118.3	IFNGR1	NM_000416.1

CIITA	NM_000246.3	CXCL11	NM_005409.4	FCGR1A/B	NM_000566.3	HLA-DOB	NM_002120.3	IGF2R	NM_000876.1
CISH	NM_145071.2	CXCL12	NM_000609.5	FCGR2A	NM_021642.3	HLA-DPA1	NM_033554.2	IKBKAP	NM_003640.3
CLEC4A	NM_194448.2	CXCL13	NM_006419.2	FCGR2A/C	NM_201563.4	HLA-DPB1	NM_002121.4	IKBKB	NM_001556.1
CLEC4E	NM_014358.2	CXCL2	NM_002089.3	FCGR2B	NM_001002273.1	HLA-DQA1	NM_002122.3	IKBKE	NM_014002.2
CLEC5A	NM_013252.2	CXCL9	NM_002416.1	FCGR3A/B	NM_000570.4	HLA-DQB1	NM_002123.3	IKBKG	NM_003639.2
CLEC6A	NM_001007033.1	CXCR1	NM_000634.2	FCGRT	NM_004107.4	HLA-DRA	NM_019111.3	IKZF1	NM_006060.3
CLEC7A	NM_197954.2	CXCR2	NM_001557.2	FKBP5	NM_001145775.1	HLA-DRB1	NM_002124.2	IKZF2	NM_016260.2
CLU	NM_001831.2	CXCR3	NM_001504.1	FN1	NM_212482.1	HLA-DRB3	NM_022555.3	IKZF3	NM_183232.2
CMKLR1	NM_004072.1	CXCR4	NM_003467.2	FOXP3	NM_014009.3	HRAS	NM_005343.2	IL10	NM_000572.2
CR1	NM_000651.4	CXCR6	NM_006564.1	FYN	NM_002037.3	ICAM1	NM_000201.2	IL10RA	NM_001558.2
CR2	NM_001006658.1	CYBB	NM_000397.3	GATA3	NM_001002295.1	ICAM2	NM_000873.3	IL11RA	NM_147162.1
CRADD	NM_003805.3	DEFB1	NM_005218.3	GBP1	NM_002053.1	ICAM3	NM_002162.3	IL12A	NM_000882.2
CSF1	NM_000757.4	DEFB103A	NM_001081551.2	GBP5	NM_052942.3	ICAM4	NM_001039132.1	IL12B	NM_002187.2
CSF1R	NM_005211.2	DEFB103B	NM_018661.3	GFI1	NM_005263.2	ICAM5	NM_003259.3	IL12RB1	NM_005535.1
CSF2	NM_000758.2	DEFB4A	NM_004942.2	GNLY	NM_006433.2	ICOS	NM_012092.2	IL13	NM_002188.2
CSF2RB	NM_000395.2	DPP4	NM_001935.3	GP1BB	NM_000407.4	ICOSLG	NM_015259.4	IL13RA1	NM_001560.2
CSF3R	NM_156038.2	DUSP4	NM_057158.2	GPI	NM_000175.2	IDO1	NM_002164.3	IL15	NM_172174.1
CTLA4_all	NM_005214.3	EBI3	NM_005755.2	GPR183	NM_004951.3	IFI16	NM_005531.1	IL16	NM_004513.4
(common									
			NIM 002001 2		NIM 006144.2	IEI2E		11 1 7 ٨	NIM 002100 2
(membrane-	NIM_003214.5	EDINKD	NIN_005991.2	GZIMA	NW_000144.2	16133	14141_005555.5	IL1/A	NN_002190.2
bound									
form)				_					
sCTLA4	NM_001037631.1	EGR1	NM_001964.2	GZMB	NM_004131.3	IFIH1	NM_022168.2	IL17B	NM_014443.2
(soluble									
torm)	NINA 001008210.1	5002	NIM 000200 2	C7N4/	NIM 002104.2		NNA 001547 4	11 4 7 5	NNA 052072.2
	NIM_001098210.1		NM_000399.5		NIVI_002104.2		NN4_002641.2		NM 0015C2 2
	NIM_001814.4		NM_001098175.1	HAIVIP	NIVI_021175.2		NNV_003641.3		NIVI_001562.2
	NM_001911.2		NM_005228.2		NIVI_032782.3		NIVI_024013.1		NIVI_003855.2
C133	NIVI_004079.5	E131	19191_000238.5		10101_109011.2		C.CUDUUU_19191	ILIONAP	IVIVI_005655.2
CUL9	NM_015089.2	FADD	NM_003824.2	HLA-A	NM_002116.5	IFNAR1	NM_000629.2	IL19	NM_013371.3
CX3CL1	NM_002996.3	FAS	NM_000043.3	HLA-B	NM_005514.6	IFNAR2	NM_000874.3	IL1A	NM_000575.3

CX3CR1	NM_001337.3	FCAR	NM_133280.1	HLA-C	NM_002117.4	IFNB1	NM_002176.2	IL1B	NM_000576.2
IL1R1	NM_000877.2	IL6ST	NM_002184.2	JAK1	NM_002227.1	LEF1	NM_016269.3	ΜΑΡΚΑΡΚ2	NM_004759.3
IL1R2	NM_173343.1	IL7	NM_000880.2	JAK2	NM_004972.2	LGALS3	NM_001177388.1	MARCO	NM_006770.3
IL1RAP	NM_002182.2	IL7R	NM_002185.2	JAK3	NM_000215.2	LIF	NM_002309.3	MASP1	NM_139125.3
IL1RL1	NM_016232.4	IL8	NM_000584.2	KCNJ2	NM_000891.2	LILRA1	NM_006863.1	MASP2	NM_139208.1
IL1RL2	NM_003854.2	IL9	NM_000590.1	KIR_Activating_Subgroup_1	NM_001083539.1	LILRA2	NM_006866.2	MBL2	NM_000242.2
IL1RN	NM_000577.3	ILF3	NM_001137673.1	KIR_Activating_Subgroup_2	NM_014512.1	LILRA3	NM_006865.3	MBP	NM_002385.2
IL2	NM_000586.2	IRAK1	NM_001569.3	KIR_Inhibiting_Subgroup_1	NM_014218.2	LILRA4	NM_012276.3	MCL1	NM_021960.3
IL20	NM_018724.3	IRAK2	NM_001570.3	KIR_Inhibiting_Subgroup_2	NM_014511.3	LILRA5	NM_181879.2	MIF	NM_002415.1
IL21	NM_021803.2	IRAK3	NM_007199.1	KIR3DL1	NM_013289.2	LILRA6	NM_024318.2	MME	NM_000902.2
IL21R	NM_021798.2	IRAK4	NM_016123.1	KIR3DL2	NM_006737.2	LILRB1	NM_001081637.1	MR1	NM_001531.2
IL22	NM_020525.4	IRF1	NM_002198.1	KIR3DL3	NM_153443.3	LILRB2	NM_005874.1	MRC1	NM_002438.2
IL22RA2	NM_181310.1	IRF3	NM_001571.5	KIT	NM_000222.2	LILRB3	NM_006864.2	MS4A1	NM_152866.2
IL23A	NM_016584.2	IRF4	NM_002460.1	KLRAP1	NR_028045.1	LILRB4	NM_001081438.1	MSR1	NM_002445.3
IL23R	NM_144701.2	IRF5	NM_002200.3	KLRB1	NM_002258.2	LILRB5	NM_001081442.1	MUC1	NM_001018017.1
IL26	NM_018402.1	IRF7	NM_001572.3	KLRC1	NM_002259.3	LITAF	NM_004862.3	MX1	NM_002462.2
IL27	NM_145659.3	IRF8	NM_002163.2	KLRC2	NM_002260.3	LTA	NM_000595.2	MYD88	NM_002468.3
IL28A	NM_172138.1	IRGM	NM_001145805.1	KLRC3	NM_007333.2	LTB4R	NM_181657.3	NCAM1	NM_000615.5
IL28A/B	NM_172139.2	ITGA2B	NM_000419.3	KLRC4	NM_013431.2	LTB4R2	NM_019839.4	NCF4	NM_000631.4
IL29	NM_172140.1	ITGA4	NM_000885.4	KLRD1	NM_002262.3	LTBR	NM_002342.1	NCR1	NM_004829.5
IL2RA	NM_000417.1	ITGA5	NM_002205.2	KLRF1	NM_016523.1	LTF	NM_002343.2	NFATC1	NM_172389.1
IL2RB	NM_000878.2	ITGA6	NM_000210.1	KLRF2	NM_001190765.1	LY96	NM_015364.2	NFATC2	NM_012340.3
IL2RG	NM_000206.1	ITGAE	NM_002208.4	KLRG1	NM_005810.3	MAF	NM_005360.4	NFATC3	NM_004555.2
IL3	NM_000588.3	ITGAL	NM_002209.2	KLRG2	NM_198508.2	MALT1	NM_006785.2	NFIL3	NM_005384.2
IL32	NM_001012633.1	ITGAM	NM_000632.3	KLRK1	NM_007360.1	MAP4K1	NM_007181.3	NFKB1	NM_003998.2
IL4	NM_000589.2	ITGAX	NM_000887.3	LAG3	NM_002286.5	MAP4K2	NM_004579.2	NFKB2	NM_002502.2
IL4R	NM_000418.2	ITGB1	NM_033666.2	LAIR1	NM_002287.3	MAP4K4	NM_004834.3	NFKBIA	NM_020529.1
IL5	NM_000879.2	ITGB2	NM_000211.2	LAMP3	NM_014398.3	MAPK1	NM_138957.2	NFKBIZ	NM_001005474.1
IL6	NM_000600.1	ITLN1	NM_017625.2	LCK	NM_005356.2	MAPK11	NM_002751.5	NLRP3	NM_001079821.2
IL6R	NM_000565.2	ITLN2	NM_080878.2	LCP2	NM_005565.3	MAPK14	NM_001315.1	NOD1	NM_006092.1

NOD2	NM_022162.1	PSMC2	NM_002803.3	SH2D1A	NM_001114937.2	TCF7	NM_003202.2	TNFRSF4	NM_003327.2
NOS2	NM_000625.4	PSMD7	NM_002811.3	SIGIRR	NM_021805.2	TFRC	NM_003234.1	TNFRSF8	NM_152942.2
NOTCH1	NM_017617.3	PTAFR	NM_000952.3	SKI	NM_003036.2	TGFB1	NM_000660.3	TNFRSF9	NM_001561.4
NOTCH2	NM_024408.3	PTGER4	NM_000958.2	SLAMF1	NM_003037.2	TGFBI	NM_000358.2	TNFSF10	NM_003810.2
NT5E	NM_002526.2	PTGS2	NM_000963.1	SLAMF6	NM_001184714.1	TGFBR1	NM_004612.2	TNFSF11	NM_003701.2
PAX5	NM_016734.1	PTK2	NM_005607.3	SLAMF7	NM_021181.3	TGFBR2	NM_001024847.1	TNFSF12	NM_003809.2
PDCD1	NM_005018.1	PTPN2	NM_002828.2	SLC2A1	NM_006516.2	THY1	NM_006288.2	TNFSF13B	NM_006573.4
PDCD1LG2	NM_025239.3	PTPN22	NM_015967.4	SMAD3	NM_005902.3	TICAM1	NM_014261.1	TNFSF15	NM_001204344.1
PDCD2	NM_144781.2	PTPN6	NM_002831.5	SMAD5	NM_005903.5	TIGIT	NM_173799.2	TNFSF4	NM_003326.2
PDGFB	NM_033016.2	PTPRC_all	NM_080921.2	SOCS1	NM_003745.1	TIRAP	NM_148910.2	TNFSF8	NM_001244.3
		(common							
PDCEPP	NM 002000 2	probe)	NINA 080021 2		NIN4 002055 2	TI D1	NINA 002262.2	TOLUD	NIM 010000 2
PDGFRB	NIM_002609.3	CD45R0	NIVI_080921.3	50053	NNA 000502.2	TLRI	NIVI_003263.3		NM_019009.2
PECAIVII	NIVI_000442.3	CD45RA	NIM_002838.4		NIVI_000582.2	TLR2	NIM_003264.3	TP 4 54	NIVI_000546.2
	NM_002644.2	CD45RB	ENST00000367367.1	SRC	NM_005417.3	TLR3	NIM_003265.2		NM_005658.3
PLA2G2A	NM_000300.2	PYCARD	NM_013258.3	SIAI1	NM_00/315.2	ILR4	NM_138554.2		NM_021138.3
PLA2G2E	NM_014589.1	RAF1	NM_002880.2	STAT2	NM_005419.2	TLR5	NM_003268.3	TRAF3	NM_145725.1
PLAU	NM_002658.2	RAG1	NM_000448.2	STAT3	NM_139276.2	TLR7	NM_016562.3	TRAF4	NM_004295.2
PLAUR	NM_001005376.1	RAG2	NM_000536.3	STAT4	NM_003151.2	TLR8	NM_016610.2	TRAF5	NM_004619.3
PML	NM_002675.3	RARRES3	NM_004585.3	STAT5A	NM_003152.2	TLR9	NM_017442.2	TRAF6	NM_145803.1
POU2F2	NM_002698.2	RELA	NM_021975.2	STAT5B	NM_012448.3	TMEM173	NM_198282.1	ТҮК2	NM_003331.3
PPARG	NM_015869.3	RELB	NM_006509.2	STAT6	NM_003153.3	TNF	NM_000594.2	UBE2L3	NM_198157.1
PPBP	NM_002704.2	RORC	NM_001001523.1	SYK	NM_003177.3	TNFAIP3	NM_006290.2	VCAM1	NM_001078.3
PRDM1	NM_001198.3	RUNX1	NM_001754.4	TAGAP	NM_054114.3	TNFAIP6	NM_007115.2	VTN	NM_000638.3
PRF1	NM_005041.3	S100A8	NM_002964.3	TAL1	NM_003189.2	TNFRSF10C	NM_003841.3	XBP1	NM_005080.2
PRKCD	NM_006254.3	S100A9	NM_002965.2	TAP1	NM_000593.5	TNFRSF11A	NM_003839.2	XCL1	NM_002995.1
PSMB10	NM_002801.2	S1PR1	NM_001400.3	TAP2	NM_000544.3	TNFRSF13B	NM_012452.2	XCR1	NM_005283.2
PSMB5	NM_001130725.1	SELE	NM_000450.2	ТАРВР	NM_003190.4	TNFRSF13C	NM_052945.3	ZAP70	NM_001079.3
PSMB7	NM_002799.2	SELL	NR_029467.1	ТВК1	NM_013254.2	TNFRSF14	NM_003820.2	ZBTB16	NM_006006.4
PSMB8	NM_004159.4	SELPLG	NM_003006.3	TBX21	NM_013351.1	TNFRSF17	NM_001192.2	ZEB1	NM_001128128.1
PSMB9	NM_002800.4	SERPING1	NM_000062.2	TCF4	NM_003199.1	TNFRSF1B	NM_001066.2		

Internal gene references						
Official Symbol	Accession					
ABCF1	<u>NM_001090.2</u>					
ALAS1	<u>NM_000688.4</u>					
EEF1G	<u>NM_001404.4</u>					
G6PD	<u>NM 000402.2</u>					
GAPDH	<u>NM_002046.3</u>					
GUSB	<u>NM 000181.1</u>					
HPRT1	<u>NM_000194.1</u>					
OAZ1	<u>NM 004152.2</u>					
POLR1B	<u>NM 019014.3</u>					
POLR2A	<u>NM_000937.2</u>					
PPIA	<u>NM_021130.2</u>					
SDHA	<u>NM_004168.1</u>					
ТВР	NM_001172085.1					
TUBB	<u>NM 178014.2</u>					
RPL19	<u>NM_000981.3</u>					

References

Aguilera, G., 1994. Regulation of pituitary ACTH secretion during chronic stress. *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology*, *15*(4), pp.321-350.

Aguilera, G., 2012. The Hypothalamic–Pituitary–Adrenal Axis and Neuroendocrine Responses to Stress. In *Handbook of Neuroendocrinology* (pp. 175-196).

Ahmadian, M., Suh, J.M., Hah, N., Liddle, C., Atkins, A.R., Downes, M. and Evans, R.M., 2013. PPARγ signalling and metabolism: the good, the bad and the future. *Nature medicine*, *19*(5), p.557.

Alaniz, R.C., Thomas, S.A., Perez-Melgosa, M., Mueller, K., Farr, A.G., Palmiter, R.D. and Wilson, C.B., 1999. Dopamine β-hydroxylase deficiency impairs cellular immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(5), pp.2274-2278.

Alba-Loureiro, T.C., Munhoz, C.D., Martins, J.O., Cerchiaro, G.A., Scavone, C., Curi, R. and Sannomiya, P., 2007. Neutrophil function and metabolism in individuals with diabetes mellitus. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, *40*(8), pp.1037-1044.

Algood, H.M.S., Chan, J. and Flynn, J.L., 2003. Chemokines and tuberculosis. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, *14*(6), pp.467-477.

Ali, F., Alsayegh, F., Sharma, P., Waheedi, M., Bayoud, T. and Alrefai, F., 2018. White blood cell subpopulation changes and prevalence of neutropenia among Arab diabetic patients attending Dasman Diabetes Institute in Kuwait. *PloS one*, *13*(3), p.e0193920.

Alim, M.A., Sikder, S., Bridson, T.L., Rush, C.M., Govan, B.L. and Ketheesan, N., 2017. Antimycobacterial function of macrophages is impaired in a diet induced model of type 2 diabetes. *Tuberculosis*, *102*, pp.47-54.

Allen, M., Bailey, C., Cahatol, I., Dodge, L., Yim, J., Kassissa, C., Luong, J., Kasko, S., Pandya, S. and Venketaraman, V., 2015. Mechanisms of control of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by NK cells: role of glutathione. *Frontiers in immunology*, *6*, p.508.

Al-Attiyah, R.J. and Mustafa, A.S., 2009. Mycobacterial antigen-induced T helper type 1 (Th1) and Th2 reactivity of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from diabetic and non-diabetic tuberculosis patients and Mycobacterium bovis bacilli Calmette–Guérin (BCG)-vaccinated healthy subjects. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *158*(1), pp.64-73.

Al-Efraij, K., Mota, L., Lunny, C., Schachter, M., Cook, V. and Johnston, J., 2015. Risk of active tuberculosis in chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The International journal of tuberculosis and lung disease*, *19*(12), pp.1493-1499.

American Diabetes Association. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2011. Diabetes Care 2011; *Diabetes Care*, *34*(5), pp.e54-e54.

Andersen, P., Munk, M.E., Pollock, J.M. and Doherty, T.M., 2000. Specific immune-based diagnosis of tuberculosis. *The Lancet*, *356*(9235), pp.1099-1104.

Andrade, B.B., Kumar, N.P., Sridhar, R., Banurekha, V.V., Jawahar, M.S., Nutman, T.B., Sher, A. and Babu, S., 2014. Heightened plasma levels of heme oxygenase-1 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-4 as well as elevated peripheral neutrophil counts are associated with TB-diabetes comorbidity. *Chest*, *145*(6), pp.1244-1254.

Andreone, L., Gimeno, M. L., and Perone, M. J., 2018. Interactions between the neuroendocrine system and T lymphocytes in diabetes. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, *9*: 229.

Angerami, M., Suarez, G., Pascutti, M.F., Salomon, H., Bottasso, O. and Quiroga, M.F., 2013. Modulation of the phenotype and function of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-stimulated dendritic cells by adrenal steroids. *International immunology*, *25*(7), pp.405-411. Annunziato, F., Cosmi, L., Liotta, F., Maggi, E. and Romagnani, S., 2012. Defining the human T helper 17 cell phenotype. *Trends in immunology*, *33*(10), pp.505-512.

Antoni, F.A., 1986. Hypothalamic control of adrenocorticotropin secretion: advances since the discovery of 41-residue corticotropin-releasing factor. *Endocrine reviews*, *7*(4), pp.351-378.

Anuradha, R., Munisankar, S., Bhootra, Y., Dolla, C., Kumaran, P. and Babu, S., 2016. High body mass index is associated with heightened systemic and mycobacterial antigen–Specific pro-inflammatory cytokines in latent tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis*, *101*, pp.56-61.

Aravindhan, V., Kevinkumar, V., Dhamodharan, U. and Viswanathan, V., 2018. Serum levels of chemokines IP-10, IL-8 and SDF-1 serve as good biomarkers for diabetes-tuberculosis nexus. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, *32*(9), pp.857-862.

Armstrong, J.A. and Hart, P.A., 1971. Response of cultured macrophages to Mycobacterium tuberculosis, with observations on fusion of lysosomes with phagosomes. *Journal of experimental medicine*, *134*(3), pp.713-740.

Atlas, I.D., 2015. International diabetes federation, Brussels, 2015.

Auffray, C., Sieweke, M.H. and Geissmann, F., 2009. Blood monocytes: development, heterogeneity, and relationship with dendritic cells. *Annual review of immunology*, 27.

Baker, M.A., Lin, H.H., Chang, H.Y. and Murray, M.B., 2012. The risk of tuberculosis disease among persons with diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *54*(6), pp.818-825.

Banerjee, A., Khemka, V.K., Roy, D., Poddar, J., Roy, T.K.S. and Karnam, S.A., 2017. Role of serum adiponectin and vitamin D in prediabetes and diabetes mellitus. *Canadian journal of diabetes*, *41*(3), pp.259-265.

Basta, G., Schmidt, A.M. and De Caterina, R., 2004. Advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation: implications for accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetes. *Cardiovascular research*, *63*(4), pp.582-592.

Beisiegel, M., Mollenkopf, H.J., Hahnke, K., Koch, M., Dietrich, I., T. Reece, S. and Kaufmann, S.H., 2009. Combination of host susceptibility and Mycobacterium tuberculosis virulence define gene expression profile in the host. *European journal of immunology*, *39*(12), pp.3369-3384.

Berry, M.P., Graham, C.M., McNab, F.W., Xu, Z., Bloch, S.A., Oni, T., Wilkinson, K.A., Banchereau, R., Skinner, J., Wilkinson, R.J. and Quinn, C., 2010. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. *Nature*, *466*(7309), p.973.

Besedovsky, H.O. and del Rey, A., 1996. Immune-neuro-endocrine interactions: facts and hypotheses. *Endocrine reviews*, *17*(1), pp.64-102.

Bhatt, K. and Salgame, P., 2007. Host innate immune response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Journal of clinical immunology*, 27(4), pp.347-362.

Bhuju, S., Aranday-Cortes, E., Villarreal-Ramos, B., Xing, Z., Singh, M. and Vordermeier, H.M., 2012. Global gene transcriptome analysis in vaccinated cattle revealed a dominant role of IL-22 for protection against bovine tuberculosis. *PLoS pathogens*, *8*(12), p.e1003077.

Billerbeck, E., Kang, Y.H., Walker, L., Lockstone, H., Grafmueller, S., Fleming, V., Flint, J., Willberg, C.B., Bengsch, B., Seigel, B. and Ramamurthy, N., 2010. Analysis of CD161 expression on human CD8+ T cells defines a distinct functional subset with tissue-homing properties. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, p.200914839.

Bini, E.I., D'Attilio, L., Marquina-Castillo, B., Mata-Espinosa, D., Díaz, A., Marquez-Velasco, R., Ramos-Espinosa, O., Gamboa-Domínguez, A., Bay, M.L., Hernández-Pando, R. and Bottasso, O., 2015. The implication of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the impaired production

of gonadal androgens by patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis*, *95*(6), pp.701-706.

Blakemore, R., Story, E., Helb, D., Kop, J., Banada, P., Owens, M.R., Chakravorty, S., Jones, M. and Alland, D., 2010. Evaluation of the analytical performance of the Xpert MTB/RIF assay. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *48*(7), pp.2495-2501.

Blischak, J.D., Tailleux, L., Myrthil, M., Charlois, C., Bergot, E., Dinh, A., Morizot, G., Chény, O., Von Platen, C., Herrmann, J.L. and Brosch, R., 2017. Predicting susceptibility to tuberculosis based on gene expression profiling in dendritic cells. *Scientific Reports*, *7*(1), p.5702.

Blomgran, R., Desvignes, L., Briken, V. and Ernst, J.D., 2012. Mycobacterium tuberculosis inhibits neutrophil apoptosis, leading to delayed activation of naive CD4 T cells. *Cell host & microbe*, *11*(1), pp.81-90.

Boillat-Blanco, N., Ramaiya, K.L., Mganga, M., Minja, L.T., Bovet, P., Schindler, C., Von Eckardstein, A., Gagneux, S., Daubenberger, C., Reither, K. and Probst-Hensch, N., 2015. Transient hyperglycemia in patients with tuberculosis in Tanzania: implications for diabetes screening algorithms. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *213*(7), pp.1163-1172.

Boillat-Blanco, N., Tumbo, A.M.N., Perreau, M., Amelio, P., Ramaiya, K.L., Mganga, M., Schindler, C., Gagneux, S., Reither, K., Probst-Hensch, N. and Pantaleo, G., 2018. Hyperglycaemia is inversely correlated with live M. bovis BCG-specific CD4+ T cell responses in Tanzanian adults with latent or active tuberculosis. *Immunity, inflammation and disease*, *6*(2), pp.345-353.

Bolen, S., Feldman, L., Vassy, J., Wilson, L., Yeh, H.C., Marinopoulos, S., Wiley, C., Selvin, E., Wilson, R., Bass, E.B. and Brancati, F.L., 2007. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and safety of oral medications for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Annals of internal medicine*, *147*(6), pp.386-399.

Boro, M., Singh, V. and Balaji, K.N., 2016. Mycobacterium tuberculosis-triggered Hippo pathway orchestrates CXCL1/2 expression to modulate host immune responses. *Scientific reports*, *6*, p.37695.

Boro, M. and Balaji, K.N., 2017. CXCL1 and CXCL2 Regulate NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation via G-Protein–Coupled Receptor CXCR2. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.ji1700129.

Bosio, C.M., Gardner, D. and Elkins, K.L., 2000. Infection of B cell-deficient mice with CDC 1551, a clinical isolate of Mycobacterium tuberculosis: delay in dissemination and development of lung pathology. *The Journal of Immunology*, *164*(12), pp.6417-6425.

Bottasso, O., Bay, M.L., Besedovsky, H. and Del Rey, A., 2007. The immuno-endocrine component in the pathogenesis of tuberculosis. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, *66*(2-3), pp.166-175.

Bottasso, O., Bay, M.L., Besedovsky, H. and del Rey, A., 2009. Immunoendocrine alterations during human tuberculosis as an integrated view of disease pathology. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, *16*(2), pp.68-77.

Bottasso, O., Bay, M.L., Besedovsky, H. and del Rey, A., 2013. Adverse neuro-immuneendocrine interactions in patients with active tuberculosis. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *53*, pp.77-85.

Bouzakri, K. and Zierath, J.R., 2007. MAP4K4 gene silencing in human skeletal muscle prevents tumor necrosis factor-α-induced insulin resistance. *Journal of Biological chemistry*, *282*(11), pp.7783-7789.

Brannick, B., Wynn, A. and Dagogo-Jack, S., 2016. Prediabetes as a toxic environment for the initiation of microvascular and macrovascular complications. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, *241*(12), pp.1323-1331.

Brill, K.J., Li, Q., Larkin, R., Canaday, D.H., Kaplan, D.R., Boom, W.H. and Silver, R.F., 2001. Human natural killer cells mediate killing of intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Rv via granule-independent mechanisms. *Infection and immunity*, *69*(3), pp.1755-1765.

Bruns, D.E. and Knowler, W.C., 2009. Stabilization of glucose in blood samples: why it matters.

Buford, T.W. and Willoughby, D.S., 2008. Impact of DHEA (S) and cortisol on immune function in aging: a brief review. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 33*(3), pp.429-433.

Burford, N.G., Webster, N.A. and Cruz-Topete, D., 2017. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis modulation of glucocorticoids in the cardiovascular system. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *18*(10), p.2150.

Cadena, A.M., Flynn, J.L. and Fortune, S.M., 2016. The importance of first impressions: early events in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection influence outcome. *MBio*, 7(2), pp.e00342-16.

Cai, Y., Yang, Q., Tang, Y., Zhang, M., Liu, H., Zhang, G., Deng, Q., Huang, J., Gao, Z., Zhou, B. and Feng, C.G., 2014. Increased complement C1q level marks active disease in human tuberculosis. *PloS one*, *9*(3), p.e92340.

Cantini, F., Lubrano, E., Marchesoni, A., Mathieu, A., Olivieri, I., Salvarani, C., Scarpa, R. and Spadaro, A., 2016. Latent tuberculosis infection detection and active tuberculosis prevention in patients receiving anti-TNF therapy: an Italian nationwide survey. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*, *19*(8), pp.799-805.

Carolan, E., Tobin, L.M., Mangan, B.A., Corrigan, M., Gaoatswe, G., Byrne, G., Geoghegan, J., Cody, D., O'Connell, J., Winter, D.C. and Doherty, D.G., 2015. Altered distribution and increased IL-17 production by mucosal-associated invariant T cells in adult and childhood obesity. *The Journal of Immunology*, *194*(12), pp.5775-5780.

Centre for Disease and Control., 2016. Testing for Tuberculosis Infection and Disease, pp.45-73 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tb/education/corecurr/pdf/chapter3.pdf</u>

Centre for Disease Control., 2016. Diagnosis of tuberculosis, pp.75-107 https://www.cdc.gov/tb/education/corecurr/pdf/chapter4.pdf

Cerundolo, V., Silk, J.D., Masri, S.H. and Salio, M., 2009. Harnessing invariant NKT cells in vaccination strategies. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *9*(1), p.28.

Chackerian, A.A., Alt, J.M., Perera, T.V., Dascher, C.C. and Behar, S.M., 2002. Dissemination of Mycobacterium tuberculosis is influenced by host factors and precedes the initiation of T-cell immunity. *Infection and immunity*, *70*(8), pp.4501-4509.

Chandra, G., Selvaraj, P., Jawahar, M.S., Banurekha, V.V. and Narayanan, P.R., 2004. Effect of vitamin D 3 on phagocytic potential of macrophages with live Mycobacterium tuberculosis and lymphoproliferative response in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Journal of clinical immunology*, *24*(3), pp.249-257.

Chiang, C.Y., Bai, K.J., Lin, H.H., Chien, S.T., Lee, J.J., Enarson, D.A., Lee, T.I. and Yu, M.C., 2015. The influence of diabetes, glycemic control, and diabetes-related comorbidities on pulmonary tuberculosis. *PloS one*, *10*(3), p.e0121698.

Cho, N.H., Shaw, J.E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J.D., Ohlrogge, A.W. and Malanda, B., 2018. IDF Diabetes Atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, *138*, pp.271-281.

Chrousos, G.P., 2000. The role of stress and the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome: neuro-endocrine and target tissue-related causes. *International Journal of Obesity*, *24*(S2), p.S50.

Chua, W.J., Truscott, S.M., Eickhoff, C.S., Blazevic, A., Hoft, D.F. and Hansen, T.H., 2012. Polyclonal MAIT cells have unique innate functions in bacterial infection. *Infection and immunity*, pp.IAI-00279.

Churchyard, G., Fielding, K., Lewis, J., Coetzee, L., Corbett, E. and Godfrey-Faussett, P., 2012, March. Community-wide isoniazid preventive therapy does not improve TB control among gold miners: the Thibela TB Study, South Africa. In *19th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections*(pp. 5-8).

Cliff, J.M., Lee, J.S., Constantinou, N., Cho, J.E., Clark, T.G., Ronacher, K., King, E.C., Lukey, P.T., Duncan, K., Van Helden, P.D. and Walzl, G., 2013. Distinct phases of blood gene expression pattern through tuberculosis treatment reflect modulation of the humoral immune response. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *207*(1), pp.18-29.

Cliff, J.M., Kaufmann, S.H., McShane, H., van Helden, P. and O'garra, A., 2015. The human immune response to tuberculosis and its treatment: a view from the blood. *Immunological reviews*, *264*(1), pp.88-102.

Cohn, D.L., 2000. Treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: renewed opportunity for tuberculosis control. *Clinical infectious diseases*, *31*(1), pp.120-124.

Colonna, M. and Facchetti, F., 2003. TREM-1 (triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells): a new player in acute inflammatory responses. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *187*(Supplement_2), pp.S397-S401.

Comstock, G.W., Livesay, V.T. and Woolpert, S.F., 1974. The prognosis of a positive tuberculin reaction in childhood and adolescence. *American journal of epidemiology*, *99*(2), pp.131-138.

Conte, A., Ghiraldini, B., Casarin, R.C., Casati, M.Z., Pimentel, S.P., Cirano, F.R., Duarte, P.M. and Ribeiro, F.V., 2015. Impact of type 2 diabetes on the gene expression of bone-related factors at sites receiving dental implants. *International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery*, *44*(10), pp.1302-1308.

Cooper, A.M. and Khader, S.A., 2008. The role of cytokines in the initiation, expansion, and control of cellular immunity to tuberculosis. *Immunological reviews*, 226(1), pp.191-204.

Critchley, J.A., Restrepo, B.I., Ronacher, K., Kapur, A., Bremer, A.A., Schlesinger, L.S., Basaraba, R., Kornfeld, H. and van Crevel, R., 2017. Defining a research agenda to address the converging epidemics of tuberculosis and diabetes: Part 1: Epidemiology and clinical management. *Chest*, *152*(1), pp.165-173.

Dai, Y. and Grant, S., 2015. BCL2L11/Bim as a dual-agent regulating autophagy and apoptosis in drug resistance. *Autophagy*, *11*(2), pp.416-418.

Dallenga, T. and Schaible, U.E., 2016. Neutrophils in tuberculosis—first line of defence or booster of disease and targets for host-directed therapy?. *Pathogens and disease*, *74*(3).

Dawany, N., Showe, L.C., Kossenkov, A.V., Chang, C., Ive, P., Conradie, F., Stevens, W., Sanne, I., Azzoni, L. and Montaner, L.J., 2014. Identification of a 251 gene expression signature that can accurately detect M. tuberculosis in patients with and without HIV co-infection. *PLoS One*, *9*(2), p.e89925.

Deffert, C., Cachat, J. and Krause, K.H., 2014. Phagocyte NADPH oxidase, chronic granulomatous disease and mycobacterial infections. *Cellular microbiology*, *16*(8), pp.1168-1178.

Delamaire, M., Maugendre, D., Moreno, M., Le Goff, M.C., Allannic, H. and Genetet, B., 1997. Impaired leucocyte functions in diabetic patients. *Diabetic Medicine*, *14*(1), pp.29-34.

Deshmane, S.L., Kremlev, S., Amini, S. and Sawaya, B.E., 2009. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research*, *29*(6), pp.313-326.

Desvignes, L., Wolf, A.J. and Ernst, J.D., 2012. Dynamic roles of type I and type II IFNs in early infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1200255.

De Jong, A., Cheng, T.Y., Huang, S., Gras, S., Birkinshaw, R.W., Kasmar, A.G., Van Rhijn, I., Peña-Cruz, V., Ruan, D.T., Altman, J.D. and Rossjohn, J., 2014. CD1a-autoreactive T cells recognize natural skin oils that function as headless antigens. *Nature immunology*, *15*(2), p.177.

de Lalla, C., Lepore, M., Piccolo, F.M., Rinaldi, A., Scelfo, A., Garavaglia, C., Mori, L., De Libero, G., Dellabona, P. and Casorati, G., 2011. High-frequency and adaptive-like dynamics of human CD1 self-reactive T cells. *European journal of immunology*, *41*(3), pp.602-610.

Del Prete, A., Martínez-Muñoz, L., Mazzon, C., Toffali, L., Sozio, F., Za, L., Bosisio, D., Gazzurelli, L., Salvi, V., Tiberio, L. and Liberati, C., 2017. The atypical receptor CCRL2 is required for CXCR2-dependent neutrophil recruitment and tissue damage. *Blood*, pp.blood-2017.

del Rey, A., Mahuad, C.V., Bozza, V.V., Bogue, C., Farroni, M.A., Bay, M.L., Bottasso, O.A. and Besedovsky, H.O., 2007. Endocrine and cytokine responses in humans with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, *21*(2), pp.171-179.

Dhiman, R., Indramohan, M., Barnes, P.F., Nayak, R.C., Paidipally, P., Rao, L.V.M. and Vankayalapati, R., 2009. IL-22 produced by human NK cells inhibits growth of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by enhancing phagolysosomal fusion. *The Journal of Immunology*, pp.jimmunol-0902587.

Dinarello, C.A., 1999. IL-18: A TH1-inducing, proinflammatory cytokine and new member of the IL-1 family. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *103*(1), pp.11-24.

Donath, M.Y., Størling, J., Maedler, K. and Mandrup-Poulsen, T., 2003. Inflammatory mediators and islet β -cell failure: a link between type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Journal of molecular medicine*, 81(8), pp.455-470.

Dong, T., Zhi, L., Bhayana, B. and Wu, M.X., 2016. Cortisol-induced immune suppression by a blockade of lymphocyte egress in traumatic brain injury. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, *13*(1), p.197.

Dong, Z., Shi, J., Dorhoi, A., Zhang, J., Soodeen-Lalloo, A.K., Tan, W., Yin, H., Sha, W., Li, W., Zheng, R. and Liu, Z., 2018. Hemostasis and Lipoprotein Indices Signify Exacerbated Lung Injury in TB With Diabetes Comorbidity. *Chest*, *153*(5), pp.1187-1200.

Donovan, M.L., Schultz, T.E., Duke, T.J. and Blumenthal, A., 2017. Type i interferons in the Pathogenesis of Tuberculosis: Molecular Drivers and immunological Consequences. *Frontiers in immunology*, *8*, p.1633.

Dooley, K.E. and Chaisson, R.E., 2009. Tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus: convergence of two epidemics. *The Lancet infectious diseases*, *9*(12), pp.737-746.

Dooley, K.E., Tang, T., Golub, J.E., Dorman, S.E. and Cronin, W., 2009. Impact of diabetes mellitus on treatment outcomes of patients with active tuberculosis. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, *80*(4), pp.634-639.

Dorhoi, A., Yeremeev, V., Nouailles, G., Weiner 3rd, J., Jörg, S., Heinemann, E., Oberbeck-Müller, D., Knaul, J.K., Vogelzang, A., Reece, S.T. and Hahnke, K., 2014. Type I IFN signaling triggers immunopathology in tuberculosis-susceptible mice by modulating lung phagocyte dynamics. *European journal of immunology*, *44*(8), pp.2380-2393.

Doz, E., Lombard, R., Carreras, F., Buzoni-Gatel, D. and Winter, N., 2013. Mycobacteriainfected dendritic cells attract neutrophils that produce IL-10 and specifically shut down Th17 CD4 T cells through their IL-10 receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1300527.

Duerschmied, D., Bode, C. and Ahrens, I., 2014. Immune functions of platelets. *Thrombosis and haemostasis*, *112*(04), pp.678-691.

Dunlap, M.D., Howard, N., Das, S., Scott, N., Ahmed, M., Prince, O., Rangel-Moreno, J., Rosa, B.A., Martin, J., Kaushal, D. and Kaplan, G., 2018. A novel role for C–C motif chemokine

receptor 2 during infection with hypervirulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Mucosal immunology*, p.1.

Duque-Correa, M.A., Kühl, A.A., Rodriguez, P.C., Zedler, U., Schommer-Leitner, S., Rao, M., Weiner, J., Hurwitz, R., Qualls, J.E., Kosmiadi, G.A. and Murray, P.J., 2014. Macrophage arginase-1 controls bacterial growth and pathology in hypoxic tuberculosis granulomas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(38), pp.E4024-E4032.

Dusseaux, M., Martin, E., Serriari, N., Péguillet, I., Premel, V., Louis, D., Milder, M., Le Bourhis, L., Soudais, C., Treiner, E. and Lantz, O., 2010. Human MAIT cells are xenobiotic resistant, tissue-targeted, CD161hi IL-17 secreting T cells. *Blood*, pp.blood-2010.

D'Attilio, L., Santucci, N., Bongiovanni, B., Bay, M.L. and Bottasso, O., 2018. Tuberculosis, the disrupted immune-endocrine response and the potential thymic repercussion as a contributing factor to disease physiopathology. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, *9*.

Eberhard, J.M., Hartjen, P., Kummer, S., Schmidt, R.E., Bockhorn, M., Lehmann, C., Balagopal, A., Hauber, J., Van Lunzen, J. and Zur Wiesch, J.S., 2014. CD161+ MAIT cells are severely reduced in peripheral blood and lymph nodes of HIV-infected individuals independently of disease progression. *PLoS One*, *9*(11), p.e111323.

Echouffo-Tcheugui, J.B. and Dagogo-Jack, S., 2012. Preventing diabetes mellitus in developing countries. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *8*(9), p.557.

Elenkov, I.J. and Chrousos, G.P., 1999. Stress hormones, Th1/Th2 patterns, pro/antiinflammatory cytokines and susceptibility to disease. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *10*(9), pp.359-368.

Erasmus, R.T., Soita, D.J., Hassan, M.S., Blanco-Blanco, E., Vergotine, Z., Kengne, A.P. and Matsha, T.E., 2012. High prevalence of diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome in a South African coloured population: Baseline data of a study in Bellville, Cape Town. *South African Medical Journal*, *102*(11), pp.841-844.

Esmail, H., Lai, R.P., Lesosky, M., Wilkinson, K.A., Graham, C.M., Horswell, S., Coussens, A.K., Barry, C.E., O'Garra, A. and Wilkinson, R.J., 2018. Complement pathway gene activation and rising circulating immune complexes characterize early disease in HIV-associated tuberculosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(5), pp.E964-E973.

Fatima, N., Faisal, S.M., Zubair, S., Siddiqui, S.S., Moin, S. and Owais, M., 2017. Emerging role of Interleukins IL-23/IL-17 axis and biochemical markers in the pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes: Association with age and gender in human subjects. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, *105*, pp.1279-1288.

Feichtinger, R.G., Oláhová, M., Kishita, Y., Garone, C., Kremer, L.S., Yagi, M., Uchiumi, T., Jourdain, A.A., Thompson, K., D'Souza, A.R. and Kopajtich, R., 2017. Biallelic C1QBP mutations cause severe neonatal-, childhood-, or later-onset cardiomyopathy associated with combined respiratory-chain deficiencies. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *101*(4), pp.525-538.

Fernández, R., Díaz, A., D'Attilio, L., Bongiovanni, B., Santucci, N., Bertola, D., Besedovsky, H., Del Rey, A., Bay, M.L. and Bottasso, O., 2016. An adverse immune-endocrine profile in patients with tuberculosis and type 2 diabetes. *Tuberculosis*, *101*, pp.95-101.

Ferrannini, E. and Solini, A., 2012. SGLT2 inhibition in diabetes mellitus: rationale and clinical prospects. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *8*(8), p.495.

Fiore, M., Forli, S. and Manetti, F., 2015. Targeting mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2, MK2): medicinal chemistry efforts to lead small molecule inhibitors to clinical trials. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, *59*(8), pp.3609-3634.

Fishelson, Z., Donin, N., Zell, S., Schultz, S. and Kirschfink, M., 2003. Obstacles to cancer immunotherapy: expression of membrane complement regulatory proteins (mCRPs) in tumors. *Molecular immunology*, *40*(2-4), pp.109-123.

Fisher-Hoch, S.P., Whitney, E., McCormick, J.B., Crespo, G., Smith, B., Rahbar, M.H., Restrepo, B.I. and And The Nuevo Santander Tuberculosis Trackers, 2008. Type 2 diabetes and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. *Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases*, *40*(11-12), pp.888-893.

Florez, J.C., Hirschhorn, J. and Altshuler, D., 2003. The inherited basis of diabetes mellitus: implications for the genetic analysis of complex traits. *Annual review of genomics and human genetics*, *4*(1), pp.257-291.

Florkowski, C., 2013. HbA1c as a diagnostic test for diabetes mellitus-reviewing the evidence. *The Clinical Biochemist Reviews*, *34*(2), p.75.

Flynn, J.L., Chan, J., Triebold, K.J., Dalton, D.K., Stewart, T.A. and Bloom, B.R., 1993. An essential role for interferon gamma in resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *178*(6), pp.2249-2254.

Förtsch, D., Röllinghoff, M. and Stenger, S., 2000. IL-10 converts human dendritic cells into macrophage-like cells with increased antibacterial activity against virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *165*(2), pp.978-987.

Fournier, M.L., Paulson, A., Pavelka, N., Mosley, A.L., Gaudenz, K., Bradford, W.D., Glynn, E., Li, H., Sardiu, M.E., Fleharty, B. and Seidel, C., 2010. Delayed correlation of mRNA and protein expression in rapamycin-treated cells and a role for Ggc1 in cellular sensitivity to rapamycin. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, *9*(2), pp.271-284.

Francis, R.J., Butler, R.E. and Stewart, G.R., 2014. Mycobacterium tuberculosis ESAT-6 is a leukocidin causing Ca 2+ influx, necrosis and neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *Cell death* & *disease*, *5*(10), p.e1474.

Gan, S.H., KhinMar, K.W., Barkham, T.M., Koh, C.K., Shen, L., Wang, Y.T. and Chee, C.B., 2014. Interferon-γ responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific antigens in diabetes mellitus. *European Respiratory Journal*, *44*(3), pp.805-808.

Geijtenbeek, T.B., Van Vliet, S.J., Koppel, E.A., Sanchez-Hernandez, M., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C.M., Appelmelk, B. and Van Kooyk, Y., 2003. Mycobacteria target DC-SIGN to suppress dendritic cell function. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *197*(1), pp.7-17.

Geerlings, S.E. and Hoepelman, A.I., 1999. Immune dysfunction in patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, *26*(3-4), pp.259-265.

Geiser, A.G., Letterio, J.J., Kulkarni, A.B., Karlsson, S., Roberts, A.B. and Sporn, M.B., 1993. Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF-beta 1) controls expression of major histocompatibility genes in the postnatal mouse: aberrant histocompatibility antigen expression in the pathogenesis of the TGF-beta 1 null mouse phenotype. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *90*(21), pp.9944-9948.

Gérart, S., Sibéril, S., Martin, E., Lenoir, C., Aguilar, C., Picard, C., Lantz, O., Fischer, A. and Latour, S., 2012. Human iNKT and MAIT cells exhibit a PLZF-dependent pro-apoptotic propensity that is counterbalanced by XIAP. *Blood*, pp.blood-2012.

Giacomini, E., Iona, E., Ferroni, L., Miettinen, M., Fattorini, L., Orefici, G., Julkunen, I. and Coccia, E.M., 2001. Infection of human macrophages and dendritic cells with Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces a differential cytokine gene expression that modulates T cell response. *The Journal of Immunology*, *166*(12), pp.7033-7041.

Gibbs, A., Leeansyah, E., Introini, A., Paquin-Proulx, D., Hasselrot, K., Andersson, E., Broliden, K., Sandberg, J.K. and Tjernlund, A., 2017. MAIT cells reside in the female genital

mucosa and are biased towards IL-17 and IL-22 production in response to bacterial stimulation. *Mucosal immunology*, *10*(1), p.35.

Gil-Santana, L., Almeida-Junior, J.L., Oliveira, C.A., Hickson, L.S., Daltro, C., Castro, S., Kornfeld, H., Netto, E.M. and Andrade, B.B., 2016. Diabetes is associated with worse clinical presentation in tuberculosis patients from Brazil: a retrospective cohort study. *PLoS One*, *11*(1), p.e0146876.

Godfrey, D.I., MacDonald, H.R., Kronenberg, M., Smyth, M.J. and Van Kaer, L., 2004. NKT cells: what's in a name?. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *4*(3), p.231.

Gold, M.C., Cerri, S., Smyk-Pearson, S., Cansler, M.E., Vogt, T.M., Delepine, J., Winata, E., Swarbrick, G.M., Chua, W.J., Yik, Y.L. and Lantz, O., 2010. Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells. *PLoS biology*, *8*(6), p.e1000407.

Gold, M.C. and Lewinsohn, D.M., 2011. Mucosal associated invariant T cells and the immune response to infection. *Microbes and infection*, *13*(8-9), pp.742-748.

Gomez, D.I., Twahirwa, M., Schlesinger, L.S. and Restrepo, B.I., 2013. Reduced Mycobacterium tuberculosis association with monocytes from diabetes patients that have poor glucose control. *Tuberculosis*, *93*(2), pp.192-197.

Gonzalvo-Feo, S., Del Prete, A., Pruenster, M., Salvi, V., Wang, L., Sironi, M., Bierschenk, S., Sperandio, M., Vecchi, A. and Sozzani, S., 2014. Endothelial cell–derived chemerin promotes dendritic cell transmigration. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1302028.

Goodarzi, M.O. and Bryer-Ash, M., 2005. Metformin revisited: re-evaluation of its properties and role in the pharmacopoeia of modern antidiabetic agents. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 7(6), pp.654-665.

Griffith, M.L., Boord, J.B., Eden, S.K. and Matheny, M.E., 2012. Clinical inertia of discharge planning among patients with poorly controlled diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *97*(6), pp.2019-2026.

Grimaldi, D., Le Bourhis, L., Sauneuf, B., Dechartres, A., Rousseau, C., Ouaaz, F., Milder, M., Louis, D., Chiche, J.D., Mira, J.P. and Lantz, O., 2014. Specific MAIT cell behaviour among innate-like T lymphocytes in critically ill patients with severe infections. *Intensive care medicine*, *40*(2), pp.192-201.

Gruys, E., Toussaint, M.J.M., Niewold, T.A. and Koopmans, S.J., 2005. Acute phase reaction and acute phase proteins. *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B*, *6*(11), p.1045.

Guerrini, M.M., Okamoto, K., Kokooyu, N., Sawa, S., Danks, L., Penninger, J.M., Nakashima, T. and Takayanagi, H., 2015. Inhibition of the TNF family cytokine RANKL prevents autoimmune inflammation in the central nervous system. *Immunity*, *43*(6), pp.1174-1185.

Guillausseau, P.J., Meas, T., Virally, M., Laloi-Michelin, M., Médeau, V. and Kevorkian, J.P., 2008. Abnormalities in insulin secretion in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes & metabolism, 34*, pp.S43-S48.

Guirado, E., Rajaram, M.V., Chawla, A., Daigle, J., La Perle, K.M., Arnett, E., Turner, J. and Schlesinger, L.S., 2018. Deletion of PPAR_γ in lung macrophages provides an immunoprotective response against M. tuberculosis infection in mice. *Tuberculosis*.

Gumperz, J.E., Miyake, S., Yamamura, T. and Brenner, M.B., 2002. Functionally distinct subsets of CD1d-restricted natural killer T cells revealed by CD1d tetramer staining. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *195*(5), pp.625-636.

Guo, H., Xu, B., Gao, L., Sun, X., Qu, X., Li, X., Liu, S., Feng, J., Wang, J., Tang, Y. and Yan, G., 2012. High frequency of activated natural killer and natural killer T-cells in patients with new onset of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, *237*(5), pp.556-562.
Gupta, S., Shenoy, V.P., Mukhopadhyay, C., Bairy, I. and Muralidharan, S., 2011. Role of risk factors and socio-economic status in pulmonary tuberculosis: a search for the root cause in patients in a tertiary care hospital, South India. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, *16*(1), pp.74-78.

Hafeiz, AA., Issa, HA., El-Kammah, B., Abdel-Hafez, MA., Abdou, MA and Abdel-Khalek, MA., <u>Ramadan</u>, SM., 1992. Plasma catecholamines in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Kekkaku* (*Tuberculosis*), *67*(10), pp.647-652.

Harja, E., Bu, D.X., Hudson, B.I., Chang, J.S., Shen, X., Hallam, K., Kalea, A.Z., Lu, Y., Rosario, R.H., Oruganti, S. and Nikolla, Z., 2008. Vascular and inflammatory stresses mediate atherosclerosis via RAGE and its ligands in apoE–/–mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *118*(1), pp.183-194.

Harries, A.D., Murray, M.B., Jeon, C.Y., Ottmani, S.E., Lonnroth, K., Barreto, M.L., Billo, N., Brostrom, R., Bygbjerg, I.C., Fisher-Hoch, S. and Mori, T., 2010. Defining the research agenda to reduce the joint burden of disease from diabetes mellitus and tuberculosis. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, *15*(6), pp.659-663.

Harries, A.D., Lin, Y., Satyanarayana, S., Lönnroth, K., Li, L., Wilson, N., Chauhan, L.S., Zachariah, R., Baker, M.A., Jeon, C.Y. and Murray, M.B., 2011. The looming epidemic of diabetes-associated tuberculosis: learning lessons from HIV-associated tuberculosis. *The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease*, *15*(11), pp.1436-1445.

Harries, A.D., Lin, Y., Satyanarayana, S., Lönnroth, K., Li, L., Wilson, N., Chauhan, L.S., Zachariah, R., Baker, M.A., Jeon, C.Y. and Murray, M.B., 2011. The looming epidemic of diabetes-associated tuberculosis: learning lessons from HIV-associated tuberculosis. *The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease*, *15*(11), pp.1436-1445.

Hasan, Z., Cliff, J.M., Dockrell, H.M., Jamil, B., Irfan, M., Ashraf, M. and Hussain, R., 2009. CCL2 responses to Mycobacterium tuberculosis are associated with disease severity in tuberculosis. *PloS one*, *4*(12), p.e8459.

Hasnain SZ, Borg DJ, Harcourt BE, Tong H, Sheng YH, Ng CP, Das I, Wang R, Chen AC, Loudovaris T, Kay TW. Glycemic control in diabetes is restored by therapeutic manipulation of cytokines that regulate beta cell stress. Nature medicine. 2014 Dec;20(12):1417.

Hatanaka, E., Monteagudo, P.T., Marrocos, M.S.M. and Campa, A., 2006. Neutrophils and monocytes as potentially important sources of proinflammatory cytokines in diabetes. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *146*(3), pp.443-447.

Hellstrand, K. and Hermodsson, S., 1993. Serotonergic 5-HT1A receptors regulate a cell contact-mediated interaction between natural killer cells and monocytes. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, *37*(1), pp.7-18.

Herman, W.H., Ma, Y., Uwaifo, G., Haffner, S., Kahn, S.E., Horton, E.S., Lachin, J.M., Montez, M.G., Brenneman, T., Barrett-Connor, E. and Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group, 2007. Racial and ethnic differences in hemoglobin A1c among patients with impaired glucose tolerance in the Diabetes Prevention Program. *Diabetes care*.

Herr, N., Bode, C. and Duerschmied, D., 2017. The effects of serotonin in immune cells. *Frontiers in cardiovascular medicine*, *4*, p.48.

Hill, P.C., Jackson-Sillah, D., Fox, A., Franken, K.L., Lugos, M.D., Jeffries, D.J., Donkor, S.A., Hammond, A.S., Adegbola, R.A., Ottenhoff, T.H. and Klein, M.R., 2005. ESAT-6/CFP-10 fusion protein and peptides for optimal diagnosis of mycobacterium tuberculosis infection by ex vivo enzyme-linked immunospot assay in the Gambia. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *43*(5), pp.2070-2074.

Hirsch, I.B., 2005. Intensifying insulin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The American journal of medicine*, *118*(5), pp.21-26.

Ho, L.P., Urban, B.C., Jones, L., Ogg, G.S. and McMichael, A.J., 2004. CD4– CD8αα subset of CD1d-restricted NKT cells controls T cell expansion. *The Journal of Immunology*, *172*(12), pp.7350-7358.

Holman, R.R., Farmer, A.J., Davies, M.J., Levy, J.C., Darbyshire, J.L., Keenan, J.F. and Paul, S.K., 2009. Three-year efficacy of complex insulin regimens in type 2 diabetes. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *361*(18), pp.1736-1747.

Hong, Y.K., Lange-Asschenfeldt, B., Velasco, P., Hirakawa, S., Kunstfeld, R., Brown, L.F., Bohlen, P., Senger, D.R. and Detmar, M., 2004. VEGF-A promotes tissue repair-associated lymphatic vessel formation via VEGFR-2 and the $\alpha 1\beta 1$ and $\alpha 2\beta 1$ integrins. *The FASEB journal*, *18*(10), pp.1111-1113.

Houben, R.M. and Dodd, P.J., 2016. The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a reestimation using mathematical modelling. *PLoS medicine*, *13*(10), p.e1002152.

Howard, A.D. and Zwilling, B.S., 1999. Reactivation of tuberculosis is associated with a shift from type 1 to type 2 cytokines. *Clinical and experimental immunology*, *115*(3), p.428.

Hu, H.Y., Wu, C.Y., Huang, N., Chou, Y.J., Chang, Y.C. and Chu, D., 2014. Increased risk of tuberculosis in patients with end-stage renal disease: a population-based cohort study in Taiwan, a country of high incidence of end-stage renal disease. *Epidemiology & Infection*, *142*(1), pp.191-199.

Huang, Y., Qiao, F., Abagyan, R., Hazard, S. and Tomlinson, S., 2006. Defining the CD59-C9 binding interaction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.

Huang, Q., Xue, J., Zou, R., Cai, L., Chen, J., Sun, L., Dai, Z., Yang, F. and Xu, Y., 2014. NR4A1 is associated with chronic low-grade inflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, *8*(5), pp.1648-1654.

Huang, S., 2016. Targeting innate-like T cells in tuberculosis. *Frontiers in immunology*, 7, p.594.

Huygen, K., Palfliet, K., Jurion, F., Lenoir, C. and VAN VOOREN, J.P., 1990. Antibody repertoire against culture filtrate antigens in wild house mice infected with Mycobacterium bovis BCG. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *82*(2), pp.369-372.

International Expert Committee, 2009. International Expert Committee report on the role of the A1C assay in the diagnosis of diabetes. *Diabetes care*, *3*2(7), pp.1327-1334.

Inzucchi, S.E., Lipska, K.J., Mayo, H., Bailey, C.J. and McGuire, D.K., 2014. Metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes and kidney disease: a systematic review. *Jama*, *312*(24), pp.2668-2675.

Ip, B.C., Hogan, A.E. and Nikolajczyk, B.S., 2015. Lymphocyte roles in metabolic dysfunction: of men and mice. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *26*(2), pp.91-100.

Jeon, C.Y. and Murray, M.B., 2008. Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of active tuberculosis: a systematic review of 13 observational studies. *PLoS medicine*, *5*(7), p.e152.

Jin, L., Batra, S., Douda, D.N., Palaniyar, N. and Jeyaseelan, S., 2014. CXCL1 contributes to host defense in polymicrobial sepsis via modulating T cell and neutrophil functions. *The Journal of immunology*, p.1401138.

Joosten, S.A. and Ottenhoff, T.H., 2008. Human CD4 and CD8 regulatory T cells in infectious diseases and vaccination. *Human immunology*, *69*(11), pp.760-770.

Juno, J.A., Waruk, J.L., Wragg, K.M., Mesa, C., Lopez, C., Bueti, J., Kent, S.J., Ball, T.B. and Kiazyk, S.A., 2018. Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells Are Depleted and Exhibit Altered Chemokine Receptor Expression and Elevated Granulocyte Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor Production During End-Stage Renal Disease. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*.

Junqueira-Kipnis, A.P., Kipnis, A., Jamieson, A., Juarrero, M.G., Diefenbach, A., Raulet, D.H., Turner, J. and Orme, I.M., 2003. NK cells respond to pulmonary infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis, but play a minimal role in protection. *The Journal of Immunology*, *171*(11), pp.6039-6045.

Kanabus, A., 2017. Information about tuberculosis: TB Statistics – Global, deaths, prevalence, incidence & high burden. Global Health Education. www.Tbfacts.org

Kanabus, A., 2017. Information about tuberculosis. TB Statistics for South Africa – National & provincial. *Global Health Education*. www.Tbfacts.org

Kanabus, A., 2017. Information about tuberculosis. GeneXpert Test-TB-diagnostics, TB resistance testing, CB-NAAT. Global Health Education.www.Tbfacts.org

Kapur, A., Harries, A.D., Lönnroth, K., Wilson, P. and Sulistyowati, L.S., 2016. Diabetes and tuberculosis co-epidemic: the Bali Declaration. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology*, *4*(1), pp.8-10.

Kaufmann, S.H. and McMichael, A.J., 2005. Annulling a dangerous liaison: vaccination strategies against AIDS and tuberculosis. *Nature medicine*, *11*(4s), p.S33.

Kaveeshwar, S.A. and Cornwall, J., 2014. The current state of diabetes mellitus in India. *The Australasian medical journal*, *7*(1), p.45.

Kawarabayashi, R., Motoyama, K., Nakamura, M., Yamazaki, Y., Morioka, T., Mori, K., Fukumoto, S., Imanishi, Y., Shioi, A., Shoji, T. and Emoto, M., 2017. The Association between Monocyte Surface CD163 and Insulin Resistance in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Journal of diabetes research*, *2017*.

Kee, S.J., Kwon, Y.S., Park, Y.W., Cho, Y.N., Lee, S.J., Kim, T.J., Lee, S.S., Jang, H.C., Shin, M.G., Shin, J.H. and Suh, S.P., 2012. Dysfunction of natural killer T cells in patients with active Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Infection and immunity*, pp.IAI-06018.

Kenna, T., Mason, L.G., Porcelli, S.A., Koezuka, Y., Hegarty, J.E., O'Farrelly, C. and Doherty, D.G., 2003. NKT cells from normal and tumor-bearing human livers are phenotypically and functionally distinct from murine NKT cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, *171*(4), pp.1775-1779.

Khader, S.A., Partida-Sanchez, S., Bell, G., Jelley-Gibbs, D.M., Swain, S., Pearl, J.E., Ghilardi, N., Lund, F.E. and Cooper, A.M., 2006. Interleukin 12p40 is required for dendritic cell migration and T cell priming after Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *203*(7), pp.1805-1815.

Khardori, r. (2018). Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Medication: Emedicine.medscape.

Khodabandehloo, H., Gorgani-Firuzjaee, S., Panahi, G. and Meshkani, R., 2016. Molecular and cellular mechanisms linking inflammation to insulin resistance and β -cell dysfunction. *Translational Research*, *167*(1), pp.228-256.

Khondkaryan, L., Margaryan, S., Poghosyan, D. and Manukyan, G., 2018. Impaired Inflammatory Response to LPS in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *International journal of inflammation*, 2018.

Killick, K.E., Ní Cheallaigh, C., O'farrelly, C., Hokamp, K., MacHugh, D.E. and Harris, J., 2013. Receptor-mediated recognition of mycobacterial pathogens. *Cellular microbiology*, *15*(9), pp.1484-1495.

Kimmey, J.M., Huynh, J.P., Weiss, L.A., Park, S., Kambal, A., Debnath, J., Virgin, H.W. and Stallings, C.L., 2015. Unique role for ATG5 in neutrophil-mediated immunopathology during M. tuberculosis infection. *Nature*, *528*(7583), p.565.

Kirk, J.K., D'Agostino, R.B., Bell, R.A., Passmore, L.V., Bonds, D.E., Karter, A.J. and Narayan, K.V., 2006. Disparities in HbA1c levels between African-American and non-Hispanic white adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes care*, *29*(9), pp.2130-2136.

Kirkman, M.S., Briscoe, V.J., Clark, N., Florez, H., Haas, L.B., Halter, J.B., Huang, E.S., Korytkowski, M.T., Munshi, M.N., Odegard, P.S. and Pratley, R.E., 2012. Diabetes in older adults. *Diabetes care*, *35*(12), pp.2650-2664.

Kjer-Nielsen, L., Patel, O., Corbett, A.J., Le Nours, J., Meehan, B., Liu, L., Bhati, M., Chen, Z., Kostenko, L., Reantragoon, R. and Williamson, N.A., 2012. MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells. *Nature*, *491*(7426), p.717.

Kleynhans, L., Ruzive, S., Ehlers, L., Thiart, L., Chegou, N.N., Conradie, M., Kriel, M., Stanley, K., Van Der Spuy, G.D., Kidd, M. and van Helden, P.D., 2017. Changes in host immune– endocrine relationships during Tuberculosis Treatment in Patients with cured and Failed Treatment Outcomes. *Frontiers in immunology*, *8*, p.690.

Kolumam, G., Wu, X., Lee, W.P., Hackney, J.A., Zavala-Solorio, J., Gandham, V., Danilenko, D.M., Arora, P., Wang, X. and Ouyang, W., 2017. IL-22R ligands IL-20, IL-22, and IL-24 promote wound healing in diabetic db/db mice. *PloS one*, *12*(1), p.e0170639.

Komura, T., Sakai, Y., Honda, M., Takamura, T., Matsushima, K., and Kaneko, S. 2009. CD14+ Monocytes Are Vulnerable and Functionally Impaired Under Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes, 59(3), 634–643.

Kooy, A., de Jager, J., Lehert, P., Bets, D., Wulffelé, M.G., Donker, A.J. and Stehouwer, C.D., 2009. Long-term effects of metformin on metabolism and microvascular and macrovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Archives of internal medicine*, *169*(6), pp.616-625.

Korbel, D.S., Schneider, B.E. and Schaible, U.E., 2008. Innate immunity in tuberculosis: myths and truth. *Microbes and Infection*, *10*(9), pp.995-1004.

Koski, C.L., Estep, A.E., Sawant-Mane, S., Shin, M.L., Highbarger, L. and Hansch, G.M., 1996. Complement regulatory molecules on human myelin and glial cells: differential expression affects the deposition of activated complement proteins. *Journal of neurochemistry*, *66*(1), pp.303-312.

Kristiansen, M., Graversen, J.H., Jacobsen, C., Sonne, O., Hoffman, H.J., Law, S.A. and Moestrup, S.K., 2001. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor. *Nature*, *409*(6817), p.198.

Kuchtey, J., Fulton, S.A., Reba, S.M., Harding, C.V. and Boom, W.H., 2006. Interferon-αβ mediates partial control of early pulmonary Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette–Guérin infection. *Immunology*, *118*(1), pp.39-49.

Kumar, N.P., Sridhar, R., Banurekha, V.V., Nair, D., Jawahar, M.S., Nutman, T.B. and Babu, S., 2013. Expansion of pathogen-specific mono-and multifunctional Th1 and Th17 cells in multi-focal tuberculous lymphadenitis. *PLoS One*, *8*(2), p.e57123.

Kumar, N.P., Sridhar, R., Banurekha, V.V., Jawahar, M.S., Nutman, T.B. and Babu, S., 2013. Expansion of pathogen-specific T-helper 1 and T-helper 17 cells in pulmonary tuberculosis with coincident type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *208*(5), pp.739-748.

Kumar N.P., Sridhar, R., Banurekha, V.V., Jawahar, M.S., Fay, M.P., Nutman, T.B. and Babu, S., 2013. Type 2 diabetes mellitus coincident with pulmonary tuberculosis is associated with heightened systemic type 1, type 17, and other proinflammatory cytokines. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, *10*(5), pp.441-449.

Kumar, N.P., George, P.J., Kumaran, P., Dolla, C.K., Nutman, T.B. and Babu, S., 2014. Diminished systemic and antigen-specific type 1, type 17, and other proinflammatory

cytokines in diabetic and prediabetic individuals with latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 210(10), pp.1670-1678.

Kumar, P., Natarajan, K. and Shanmugam, N., 2014. High glucose driven expression of proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine genes in lymphocytes: molecular mechanisms of IL-17 family gene expression. *Cellular signalling*, *26*(3), pp.528-539.

Kumar, N.P., Banurekha, V.V., Nair, D., Kumaran, P., Dolla, C.K. and Babu, S., 2015. Type 2 diabetes–Tuberculosis co-morbidity is associated with diminished circulating levels of IL-20 subfamily of cytokines. *Tuberculosis*, *95*(6), pp.707-712.

Kumar, N.P., Sridhar, R., Nair, D., Banurekha, V.V., Nutman, T.B. and Babu, S., 2015. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with altered CD 8+ T and natural killer cell function in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Immunology*, *144*(4), pp.677-686.

Kumar, N.P., Moideen, K., Dhakshinraj, S.D., Banurekha, V.V., Nair, D., Dolla, C., Kumaran, P. and Babu, S., 2015. Profiling leucocyte subsets in tuberculosis–diabetes comorbidity. *Immunology*, *146*(2), pp.243-250.

Kumar, N.P., Moideen, K., George, P.J., Dolla, C., Kumaran, P. and Babu, S., 2015. Impaired cytokine but enhanced cytotoxic marker expression in Mycobacterium tuberculosis–Induced CD8+ T cells in individuals with type 2 diabetes and latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *213*(5), pp.866-870.

Kumar, N.P., Nair, D., Banurekha, V.V., Dolla, C., Kumaran, P., Sridhar, R. and Babu, S., 2016. Type 2 diabetes mellitus coincident with pulmonary or latent tuberculosis results in modulation of adipocytokines. *Cytokine*, *79*, pp.74-81.

Kumar, N.P., Moideen, K., Sivakumar, S., Menon, P.A., Viswanathan, V., Kornfeld, H. and Babu, S., 2017. Tuberculosis-diabetes co-morbidity is characterized by heightened systemic levels of circulating angiogenic factors. *Journal of Infection*, *74*(1), pp.10-21.

Kumar Nathella, P. and Babu, S., 2017. Influence of diabetes mellitus on immunity to human tuberculosis. *Immunology*, *152*(1), pp.13-24.

Kumar, N.P., Banurekha, V.V., Nair, D., Dolla, C., Kumaran, P. and Babu, S., 2018. Modulation of iron status biomarkers in tuberculosis-diabetes co-morbidity. *Tuberculosis*, *108*, pp.127-135.

Kurioka, A., Ussher, J.E., Cosgrove, C., Clough, C., Fergusson, J.R., Smith, K., Kang, Y.H., Walker, L.J., Hansen, T.H., Willberg, C.B. and Klenerman, P., 2015. MAIT cells are licensed through granzyme exchange to kill bacterially sensitized targets. *Mucosal immunology*, *8*(2), p.429.

Kurioka, A., Walker, L.J., Klenerman, P. and Willberg, C.B., 2016. MAIT cells: new guardians of the liver. *Clinical & translational immunology*, *5*(8), p.e98.

Kračmerová, J., Rossmeislová, L., Kováčová, Z., Klimčáková, E., Polák, J., Tencerová, M., Mališová, L., Štich, V., Langin, D. and Šiklová, M., 2014. Soluble CD163 is associated with CD163 mRNA expression in adipose tissue and with insulin sensitivity in steady-state condition but not in response to calorie restriction. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *99*(3), pp.E528-E535.

Kwon, Y.S., Cho, Y.N., Kim, M.J., Jin, H.M., Jung, H.J., Kang, J.H., Park, K.J., Kim, T.J., Kee, H.J., Kim, N. and Kee, S.J., 2015. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells are numerically and functionally deficient in patients with mycobacterial infection and reflect disease activity. *Tuberculosis*, *95*(3), pp.267-274.

Lai, C.C., Lee, M.T.G., Lee, S.H., Hsu, W.T., Chang, S.S., Chen, S.C. and Lee, C.C., 2016. Statin treatment is associated with a decreased risk of active tuberculosis: an analysis of a nationally representative cohort. *Thorax*, pp.thoraxjnl-2015.

Le Bourhis, L., Guerri, L., Dusseaux, M., Martin, E., Soudais, C. and Lantz, O., 2011. Mucosalassociated invariant T cells: unconventional development and function. *Trends in immunology*, 32(5), pp.212-218.

Lecube, A., Pachón, G., Petriz, J., Hernández, C. and Simó, R., 2011. Phagocytic activity is impaired in type 2 diabetes mellitus and increases after metabolic improvement. *PloS one*, *6*(8), p.e23366.

Lee, W., VanderVen, B.C., Fahey, R.J. and Russell, D.G., 2013. Intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis exploits host-derived fatty acids to limit metabolic stress. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, pp.jbc-M112.

Leeansyah, E., Loh, L., Nixon, D.F. and Sandberg, J.K., 2014. Acquisition of innate-like microbial reactivity in mucosal tissues during human fetal MAIT-cell development. *Nature communications*, *5*, p.3143.

Leung, C.C., Lam, T.H., Chan, W.M., Yew, W.W., Ho, K.S., Leung, G.M., Law, W.S., Tam, C.M., Chan, C.K. and Chang, K.C., 2008. Diabetic control and risk of tuberculosis: a cohort study. *American journal of epidemiology*, *167*(12), pp.1486-1494.

Luetkemeyer, A., 2013. Tuberculosis and HIV. HIV InSite Knowledge Base Chapter. <u>http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite?page=kb-05-01-06</u>.

Li, Y., Wang, Y. and Liu, X., 2012. The role of airway epithelial cells in response to mycobacteria infection. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2012.

Li, L., Cheng, W.Y., Glicksberg, B.S., Gottesman, O., Tamler, R., Chen, R., Bottinger, E.P. and Dudley, J.T., 2015. Identification of type 2 diabetes subgroups through topological analysis of patient similarity. *Science translational medicine*, *7*(311), pp.311ra174-311ra174.

Lienhardt, C., Azzurri, A., Amedei, A., Fielding, K., Sillah, J., Sow, O.Y., Bah, B., Benagiano, M., Diallo, A., Manetti, R. and Manneh, K., 2002. Active tuberculosis in Africa is associated with reduced Th1 and increased Th2 activity in vivo. *European journal of immunology*, *32*(6), pp.1605-1613.

Lillebaek, T., Dirksen, A., Baess, I., Strunge, B., Thomsen, V.Ø. and Andersen, Å.B., 2002. Molecular evidence of endogenous reactivation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis after 33 years of latent infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *185*(3), pp.401-404.

Linnet, K. and Ejsing, T.B., 2008. A review on the impact of P-glycoprotein on the penetration of drugs into the brain. Focus on psychotropic drugs. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *18*(3), pp.157-169.

Liu, J., Cao, S., Herman, L.M. and Ma, X., 2003. Differential regulation of interleukin (IL)-12 p35 and p40 gene expression and interferon (IFN)-γ–primed IL-12 production by IFN regulatory factor 1. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *198*(8), pp.1265-1276.

Liu, C., Feng, X., Li, Q., Wang, Y., Li, Q. and Hua, M., 2016. Adiponectin, TNF- α and inflammatory cytokines and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cytokine*, *86*, pp.100-109.

Liu, Y., Beyer, A. and Aebersold, R., 2016. On the dependency of cellular protein levels on mRNA abundance. *Cell*, *165*(3), pp.535-550.

Liu, C.H., Liu, H. and Ge, B., 2017. Innate immunity in tuberculosis: host defense vs pathogen evasion. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, *14*(12), p.963.

Liu, Q., Li, W., Xue, M., Chen, Y., Du, X., Wang, C., Han, L., Tang, Y., Feng, Y., Tao, C. and He, J.Q., 2017. Diabetes mellitus and the risk of multidrug resistant tuberculosis: a metaanalysis. *Scientific reports*, *7*(1), p.1090.

Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D. and Sun, S.C., 2017. NF-kB signaling in inflammation. *Signal transduction and targeted therapy*, *2*, p.17023.

Llorente, L., De La Fuente, H., Richaud-Patin, Y., Alvarado-De La Barrera, C., Diaz-Borjón, A., López-Ponce, A., Lerman-Garber, I. and Jakez-Ocampo, J., 2000. Innate immune response mechanisms in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus patients assessed by flow cytoenzymology. *Immunology letters*, *74*(3), pp.239-244.

Loh, L., Wang, Z., Sant, S., Koutsakos, M., Jegaskanda, S., Corbett, A.J., Liu, L., Fairlie, D.P., Crowe, J., Rossjohn, J. and Xu, J., 2016. Human mucosal-associated invariant T cells contribute to antiviral influenza immunity via IL-18–dependent activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(36), pp.10133-10138.

Lopez-Lopez, N., Martinez, A.G.R., Garcia-Hernandez, M.H., Hernandez-Pando, R., Castañeda-Delgado, J.E., Lugo-Villarino, G., Cougoule, C., Neyrolles, O., Rivas-Santiago, B., Valtierra-Alvarado, M.A. and Rubio-Caceres, M., 2018. Type-2 diabetes alters the basal phenotype of human macrophages and diminishes their capacity to respond, internalise, and control Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 113*(4).

Lönnroth, K., Roglic, G. and Harries, A.D., 2014. Improving tuberculosis prevention and care through addressing the global diabetes epidemic: from evidence to policy and practice. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology*, 2(9), pp.730-739.

Lönnroth, K., Migliori, G.B., Abubakar, I., D'Ambrosio, L., De Vries, G., Diel, R., Douglas, P., Falzon, D., Gaudreau, M.A., Goletti, D. and Ochoa, E.R.G., 2015. Towards tuberculosis elimination: an action framework for low-incidence countries. *European Respiratory Journal*, *45*(4), pp.928-952.

Losi, M., Knights, A.J., Mariani, F., Altieri, A.M., Paone, G., Loxton, A.G., Chegou, N.N., Kenneth, J., Alma, M.G., Colizzi, V. and Walzl, G., 2015. QuantiFERON-TB performance enhanced by novel Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific antigens. *European Respiratory Journal*, pp.ERJ-01015.

Lowe, D.M., Redford, P.S., Wilkinson, R.J., O'Garra, A. and Martineau, A.R., 2012. Neutrophils in tuberculosis: friend or foe?. *Trends in immunology*, *33*(1), pp.14-25.

Lu, B., Rutledge, B.J., Gu, L., Fiorillo, J., Lukacs, N.W., Kunkel, S.L., North, R., Gerard, C. and Rollins, B.J., 1998. Abnormalities in monocyte recruitment and cytokine expression in monocyte chemoattractant protein 1–deficient mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *187*(4), pp.601-608.

Lu, C., Wu, J., Wang, H., Wang, S., Diao, N., Wang, F., Gao, Y., Chen, J., Shao, L., Weng, X. and Zhang, Y., 2011. Novel biomarkers distinguishing active tuberculosis from latent infection identified by gene expression profile of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *PloS one*, *6*(8), p.e24290.

Lv, L., Li, C., Zhang, X., Ding, N., Cao, T., Jia, X., Wang, J., Pan, L., Jia, H., Li, Z. and Zhang, J., 2017. RNA Profiling Analysis of the Serum Exosomes Derived from Patients with Active and Latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *8*, p.1051.

MacMicking, J.D., North, R.J., LaCourse, R., Mudgett, J.S., Shah, S.K. and Nathan, C.F., 1997. Identification of nitric oxide synthase as a protective locus against tuberculosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *94*(10), pp.5243-5248.

Magalhaes, I., Pingris, K., Poitou, C., Bessoles, S., Venteclef, N., Kiaf, B., Beaudoin, L., Da Silva, J., Allatif, O., Rossjohn, J. and Kjer-Nielsen, L., 2015. Mucosal-associated invariant T cell alterations in obese and type 2 diabetic patients. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *125*(4), pp.1752-1762.

Magee, M.J., Bloss, E., Shin, S.S., Contreras, C., Huaman, H.A., Ticona, J.C., Bayona, J., Bonilla, C., Yagui, M., Jave, O. and Cegielski, J.P., 2013. Clinical characteristics, drug resistance, and treatment outcomes among tuberculosis patients with diabetes in Peru. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *17*(6), pp.e404-e412.

Magee, M.J., Salindri, A.D., Kyaw, N.T.T., Auld, S.C., Haw, J.S. and Umpierrez, G.E., 2018. Stress Hyperglycemia in Patients with Tuberculosis Disease: Epidemiology and Clinical Implications. *Current diabetes reports*, *18*(9), p.71.

Mahajan, S., Dkhar, H.K., Chandra, V., Dave, S., Nanduri, R., Janmeja, A.K., Agrewala, J.N. and Gupta, P., 2012. Mycobacterium tuberculosis modulates macrophage lipid-sensing nuclear receptors PPAR_γ and TR4 for survival. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1103038.

Maier, T., Güell, M. and Serrano, L., 2009. Correlation of mRNA and protein in complex biological samples. *FEBS letters*, *583*(24), pp.3966-3973.

Malherbe, S.T., Shenai, S., Ronacher, K., Loxton, A.G., Dolganov, G., Kriel, M., Van, T., Chen, R.Y., Warwick, J., Via, L.E. and Song, T., 2016. Persisting positron emission tomography lesion activity and Mycobacterium tuberculosis mRNA after tuberculosis cure. *Nature medicine*, *22*(10), p.1094.

Manca, C., Tsenova, L., Freeman, S., Barczak, A.K., Tovey, M., Murray, P.J., Barry III, C. and Kaplan, G., 2005. Hypervirulent M. tuberculosis W/Beijing strains upregulate type I IFNs and increase expression of negative regulators of the Jak-Stat pathway. *Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research*, *25*(11), pp.694-701.

Manjareeka, M., Palo, S.K., Swain, S., Pati, S. and Pati, S., 2016. Diabetes mellitus among newly diagnosed tuberculosis patients in tribal Odisha: an exploratory study. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, *10*(10), p.LC06.

Martens, G.W., Arikan, M.C., Lee, J., Ren, F., Greiner, D. and Kornfeld, H., 2007. Tuberculosis susceptibility of diabetic mice. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, *37*(5), pp.518-524.

Martens, G.W., Arikan, M.C., Lee, J., Ren, F., Vallerskog, T. and Kornfeld, H., 2008. Hypercholesterolemia impairs immunity to tuberculosis. *Infection and immunity*, *76*(8), pp.3464-3472.

Martin, E., Treiner, E., Duban, L., Guerri, L., Laude, H., Toly, C., Premel, V., Devys, A., Moura, I.C., Tilloy, F. and Cherif, S., 2009. Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human. *PLoS biology*, *7*(3), p.e1000054.

Martineau, A.R., Newton, S.M., Wilkinson, K.A., Kampmann, B., Hall, B.M., Nawroly, N., Packe, G.E., Davidson, R.N., Griffiths, C.J. and Wilkinson, R.J., 2007. Neutrophil-mediated innate immune resistance to mycobacteria. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *117*(7), pp.1988-1994.

Martineau, A.R., Timms, P.M., Bothamley, G.H., Hanifa, Y., Islam, K., Claxton, A.P., Packe, G.E., Moore-Gillon, J.C., Darmalingam, M., Davidson, R.N. and Milburn, H.J., 2011. Highdose vitamin D3 during intensive-phase antimicrobial treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: a double-blind randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *377*(9761), pp.242-250.

Martinez, A.N., Mehra, S. and Kaushal, D., 2013. Role of interleukin 6 in innate immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *207*(8), pp.1253-1261.

Martinez, N., Vallerskog, T., West, K., Nunes-Alves, C., Lee, J., Martens, G.W., Behar, S.M. and Kornfeld, H., 2014. Chromatin decondensation and T cell hyperresponsiveness in diabetes-associated hyperglycemia. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1401125.

Matsha, T.E., Pheiffer, C., Humphries, S.E., Gamieldien, J., Erasmus, R.T. and Kengne, A.P., 2016. Genome-wide DNA methylation in mixed ancestry individuals with diabetes and prediabetes from South Africa. *International journal of endocrinology*, 2016.

Mayadas, T.N., Cullere, X. and Lowell, C.A., 2014. The multifaceted functions of neutrophils. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, *9*, pp.181-218.

McGrath, M., Gey van Pittius, N.C., Van Helden, P.D., Warren, R.M. and Warner, D.F., 2013. Mutation rate and the emergence of drug resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, *69*(2), pp.292-302.

McNab, F.W., Ewbank, J., Howes, A., Moreira-Teixeira, L., Martirosyan, A., Ghilardi, N., Saraiva, M. and O'Garra, A., 2014. Type I IFN Induces IL-10 Production in an IL-27– Independent Manner and Blocks Responsiveness to IFN-γ for Production of IL-12 and Bacterial Killing in Mycobacterium tuberculosis–Infected Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1401088.

Meier, J.J., 2012. GLP-1 receptor agonists for individualized treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *8*(12), p.728.

Melander, A., 2004. Kinetics-effect relations of insulin-releasing drugs in patients with type 2 diabetes: brief overview. *Diabetes*, *53*(suppl 3), pp.S151-S155.

Medina, I., Cougoule, C., Drechsler, M., Bermudez, B., Koenen, R.R., Sluimer, J., Wolfs, I., Döring, Y., Herias, V., Gijbels, M. and Bot, I., 2015. Hck/Fgr kinase deficiency reduces plaque growth and stability by blunting monocyte recruitment and intraplaque motility. *Circulation*

Mellman, I. and Steinman, R.M., 2001. Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. *Cell*, *106*(3), pp.255-258.

Mendez, C.E. and Umpierrez, G.E., 2014. Pharmacotherapy for hyperglycemia in noncritically ill hospitalized patients. *Diabetes Spectrum*, *27*(3), pp.180-188.

Miao, F., Wu, X., Zhang, L., Yuan, Y.C., Riggs, A.D. and Natarajan, R., 2007. Genome-wide analysis of histone lysine methylation variations caused by diabetic conditions in human monocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *282*(18), pp.13854-13863.

Mihret, A., 2012. The role of dendritic cells in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Virulence*, *3*(7), pp.654-659.

Min, D., Brooks, B., Wong, J., Aamidor, S., Seehoo, R., Sutanto, S., Harrisberg, B., Yue, D.K., Twigg, S.M. and McLennan, S.V., 2016. Monocyte CD163 is altered in association with diabetic complications: possible protective role. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *100*(6), pp.1375-1383.

Mistry, R., Cliff, J.M., Clayton, C.L., Beyers, N., Mohamed, Y.S., Wilson, P.A., Dockrell, H.M., Wallace, D.M., van Helden, P.D., Duncan, K. and Lukey, P.T., 2007. Gene-expression patterns in whole blood identify subjects at risk for recurrent tuberculosis. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *195*(3), pp.357-365.

Montoya, C.J., Pollard, D., Martinson, J., Kumari, K., Wasserfall, C., Mulder, C.B., Rugeles, M.T., Atkinson, M.A., Landay, A.L. and Wilson, S.B., 2007. Characterization of human invariant natural killer T subsets in health and disease using a novel invariant natural killer T cell-clonotypic monoclonal antibody, 6B11. *Immunology*, *122*(1), pp.1-14.

Montoya, C.J., Cataño, J.C., Ramirez, Z., Rugeles, M.T., Wilson, S.B. and Landay, A.L., 2008. Invariant NKT cells from HIV-1 or Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected patients express an activated phenotype. *Clinical Immunology*, *127*(1), pp.1-6.

Moreira, J., Castro, R., Lamas, C., Ribeiro, S., Grinsztejn, B. and Veloso, V.G., 2018. Hyperglycemia during tuberculosis treatment increases morbidity and mortality in a contemporary cohort of HIV-infected patients in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *69*, pp.11-19.

Moretta, L., Biassoni, R., Bottino, C., Cantoni, C., Pende, D., Mingari, M.C. and Moretta, A., 2002. Human NK cells and their receptors. *Microbes and infection*, *4*(15), pp.1539-1544.

Mössner, R. and Lesch, K.P., 1998. Role of serotonin in the immune system and in neuroimmune interactions. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, *12*(4), pp.249-271.

Moutschen, M.P., Scheen, A.J. and Lefebvre, P.J., 1992. Impaired immune responses in diabetes mellitus: analysis of the factors and mechanisms involved. Relevance to the increased susceptibility of diabetic patients to specific infections. *Diabete & metabolisme*, *18*(3), pp.187-201.

Murray, M.G. and Thompson, W.F., 1980. Rapid isolation of high molecular weight plant DNA. *Nucleic acids research*, *8*(19), pp.4321-4326.

Murray, C.J., Ortblad, K.F., Guinovart, C., Lim, S.S., Wolock, T.M., Roberts, D.A., Dansereau, E.A., Graetz, N., Barber, R.M., Brown, J.C. and Wang, H., 2014. Global, regional, and national incidence and mortality for HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria during 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, *384*(9947), pp.1005-1070.

Murray, P.J., 2017. Macrophage polarization. Annual review of physiology, 79, pp.541-566.

Naguib, G., Al-Mashat, H., Desta, T. and Graves, D.T., 2004. Diabetes prolongs the inflammatory response to a bacterial stimulus through cytokine dysregulation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *123*(1), pp.87-92.

Nagy, L., Szanto, A., Szatmari, I. and Széles, L., 2012. Nuclear hormone receptors enable macrophages and dendritic cells to sense their lipid environment and shape their immune response. *Physiological reviews*, *92*(2), pp.739-789.

Nahid, P., Dorman, S.E., Alipanah, N., Barry, P.M., Brozek, J.L., Cattamanchi, A., Chaisson, L.H., Chaisson, R.E., Daley, C.L., Grzemska, M. and Higashi, J.M., 2016. Official American thoracic society/centers for disease control and prevention/infectious diseases society of America clinical practice guidelines: treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *63*(7), pp.e147-e195.

Nakhjavani, M., Nargesi, A.A., Salabati, M., Mahmoudzadeh, R., Morteza, A., Heidari, B. and Esteghamati, A., 2015. Changes in leukocyte subpopulations with decline in glomerular filtration rate in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Acta Medica Iranica*, *53*(7), pp.425-431.

National Diabetes Data Group, 1979. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and other categories of glucose intolerance. *Diabetes*, *28*(12), pp.1039-1057.

National diabetes Service Scheme., 2016. Medications for type 2 diabetes. Static.diabetesaustralia.com.au. [Available at: https://static.diabetesaustralia.com.au/s/fileassets/diabetes-australia/daa7ddb9-4989-4ab5a28e-80fced25858f.pdf [Accessed 27 Sep. 2018].

Ngai, P., McCormick, S., Small, C., Zhang, X., Zganiacz, A., Aoki, N. and Xing, Z., 2007. Gamma interferon responses of CD4 and CD8 T-cell subsets are quantitatively different and independent of each other during pulmonary Mycobacterium bovis BCG infection. *Infection and immunity*, *75*(5), pp.2244-2252.

Nikolajczyk, B.S., Jagannathan-Bogdan, M. and Denis, G.V., 2012. The outliers become a stampede as immunometabolism reaches a tipping point. *Immunological reviews*, *249*(1), pp.253-275.sala

Odegaard, J.I., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R.R., Goforth, M.H., Morel, C.R., Subramanian, V., Mukundan, L., Eagle, A.R., Vats, D., Brombacher, F., Ferrante, A.W. and Chawla, A., 2007. Macrophage-specific PPARγ controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. *Nature*, *447*(7148), p.1116.

Ogurtsova, K., da Rocha Fernandes, J.D., Huang, Y., Linnenkamp, U., Guariguata, L., Cho, N.H., Cavan, D., Shaw, J.E. and Makaroff, L.E., 2017. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, *128*, pp.40-50.

Opolot, J.O., Theron, A.J., Anderson, R. and Feldman, C., 2015. Acute phase proteins and stress hormone responses in patients with newly diagnosed active pulmonary tuberculosis. *Lung*, *193*(1), pp.13-18.

Ordway, D., Henao-Tamayo, M., Harton, M., Palanisamy, G., Troudt, J., Shanley, C., Basaraba, R.J. and Orme, I.M., 2007. The hypervirulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis strain HN878 induces a potent TH1 response followed by rapid down-regulation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *179*(1), pp.522-531.

Otero, K., Vecchi, A., Hirsch, E., Kearley, J., Vermi, W., Del Prete, A., Gonzalvo-Feo, S., Garlanda, C., Azzolino, O., Salogni, L. and Lloyd, C.M., 2010. Non-redundant role of CCRL2 in lung dendritic cell trafficking. *Blood*, pp.blood-2009.

Ottaviani, E. and Franceschi, C., 1997. The invertebrate phagocytic immunocyte: clues to a common evolution of immune and neuroendocrine systems. *Immunology today*, *18*(4), pp.169-174.

O'Brien, C., 2015. Update on Mycobacterial Infections: Diagnosis, Management, and Zoonotic Considerations. *August's Consultations in Feline Internal Medicine, Volume 7-E-Book*, 7, p.34.

O'Garra, A., Redford, P.S., McNab, F.W., Bloom, C.I., Wilkinson, R.J. and Berry, M.P., 2013. The immune response in tuberculosis. *Annual review of immunology*, *31*, pp.475-527.

Pace, T.W. and Miller, A.H., 2009. Cytokines and glucocorticoid receptor signaling: relevance to major depression. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1179*(1), pp.86-105.

Pai, M., Zwerling, A. and Menzies, D., 2008. Systematic review: T-cell–based assays for the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection: an update. *Annals of internal medicine*, *149*(3), pp.177-184.

Pai, M., Nicol, M.P. and Boehme, C.C., 2016. Tuberculosis diagnostics: state of the art and future directions. *Microbiol Spectr*, *4*(5).

Paidipally, P., Tripathi, D., Van, A., Radhakrishnan, R.K., Dhiman, R., Venkatasubramanian, S., Devalraju, K.P., Tvinnereim, A.R., Valluri, V.L. and Vankayalapati, R., 2018. Interleukin-21 regulates Natural killer cell responses during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *217*(8), pp.1323-1333.

Pan, S.C., Ku, C.C., Kao, D., Ezzati, M., Fang, C.T. and Lin, H.H., 2015. Effect of diabetes on tuberculosis control in 13 countries with high tuberculosis: a modelling study. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology*, *3*(5), pp.323-330.

Pandey, A.K. and Sassetti, C.M., 2008. Mycobacterial persistence requires the utilization of host cholesterol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(11), pp.4376-4380.

Pandolfi, J., Baz, P., Fernández, P., Lupi, A.D., Payaslián, F., Billordo, L.A., Fainboim, L. and Arruvito, L., 2013. Regulatory and effector T-cells are differentially modulated by Dexamethasone. *Clinical immunology*, *149*(3), pp.400-410.

Panee, J., 2012. Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 (MCP-1) in obesity and diabetes. *Cytokine*, *60*(1), pp.1-12.

Paquin-Proulx, D., Costa, P.R., Silveira, C.G.T., Marmorato, M.P., Cerqueira, N.B., Sutton, M.S., O'Connor, S.L., Carvalho, K.I., Nixon, D.F. and Kallas, E.G., 2018. Latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection is associated with a higher Frequency of Mucosal-associated invariant T and invariant natural Killer T cells. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*.

Parker, H., Albrett, A.M., Kettle, A.J. and Winterbourn, C.C., 2012. Myeloperoxidase associated with neutrophil extracellular traps is active and mediates bacterial killing in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *91*(3), pp.369-376.

Paterson, A.D., 2017. HbA1c for type 2 diabetes diagnosis in Africans and African Americans: Personalized medicine NOW. *PLoS medicine*, *14*(9), p.e1002384.

Pearson-Stuttard, J., Blundell, S., Harris, T., Cook, D.G. and Critchley, J., 2016. Diabetes and infection: assessing the association with glycaemic control in population-based studies. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, *4*(2), pp.148-158.

Peleg, A.Y., Weerarathna, T., McCarthy, J.S. and Davis, T.M., 2007. Common infections in diabetes: pathogenesis, management and relationship to glycaemic control. *Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews*, *23*(1), pp.3-13.

Penna, G. and Adorini, L., 2000. 1α, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *164*(5), pp.2405-2411.

Pereira, S.M., Araújo, G.S.D., Santos, C.A.D.S.T., Oliveira, M.G.D. and Barreto, M.L., 2016. Association between diabetes and tuberculosis: case-control study. *Revista de saude publica*, *50*, p.82.

Petersone, Lina, and Lucy SK Walker. "MAIT cells in type 1 diabetes: a good friend turned bad." *Nature immunology* 18, no. 12 (2017): 1283.

Petruccioli, E., Chiacchio, T., Pepponi, I., Vanini, V., Urso, R., Cuzzi, G., Barcellini, L., Cirillo, D.M., Palmieri, F., Ippolito, G. and Goletti, D., 2016. First characterization of the CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses to QuantiFERON-TB Plus. *Journal of Infection*, *73*(6), pp.588-597.

Ponnana, M., Sivangala, R., Joshi, L., Valluri, V. and Gaddam, S., 2017. IL-6 and IL-18 cytokine gene variants of pulmonary tuberculosis patients with co-morbid diabetes mellitus and their household contacts in Hyderabad. *Gene*, *627*, pp.298-306.

Porcelli, S., Yockey, C.E., Brenner, M.B. and Balk, S.P., 1993. Analysis of T cell antigen receptor (TCR) expression by human peripheral blood CD4-8-alpha/beta T cells demonstrates preferential use of several V beta genes and an invariant TCR alpha chain. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *178*(1), pp.1-16.

Prada-Medina, C.A., Fukutani, K.F., Kumar, N.P., Gil-Santana, L., Babu, S., Lichtenstein, F., West, K., Sivakumar, S., Menon, P.A., Viswanathan, V., Andrade, B.B., Helder, I.N. and Kornfeld, H., 2017. Systems immunology of diabetes-tuberculosis comorbidity reveals signatures of disease complications. *Scientific Reports*, *7*(1), p.1999.

Prendergast, K.A. and Kirman, J.R., 2013. Dendritic cell subsets in mycobacterial infection: control of bacterial growth and T cell responses. *Tuberculosis*, *93*(2), pp.115-122.

Puren, A.J., Fantuzzi, G., Gu, Y., Su, M.S.S. and Dinarello, C.A., 1998. Interleukin-18 (IFNgamma-inducing factor) induces IL-8 and IL-1beta via TNFalpha production from non-CD14+ human blood mononuclear cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *101*(3), pp.711-721.

Rao, M., Valentini, D., Dodoo, E., Zumla, A. and Maeurer, M., 2017. Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy for infectious diseases: learning from the cancer paradigm. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *56*, pp.221-228.

Raposo-García, S., Guerra-Laso, J.M., Garcia-Garcia, S., Juan-Garcia, J., López-Fidalgo, E., Diez-Tascón, C., Nebreda-Mayoral, T., López-Medrano, R. and Rivero-Lezcano, O.M., 2017. Immunological response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in blood from type 2 diabetes patients. *Immunology letters*, *186*, pp.41-45.

Reantragoon, R., Boonpattanaporn, N., Corbett, A.J. and McCluskey, J., 2016. Mucosalassociated invariant T cells in clinical diseases. *Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol*, *34*(1), pp.3-10.

Restrepo, B.I., Fisher-Hoch, S.P., Pino, P.A., Salinas, A., Rahbar, M.H., Mora, F., Cortes-Penfield, N. and McCormick, J.B., 2008. Tuberculosis in poorly controlled type 2 diabetes: altered cytokine expression in peripheral white blood cells. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 47(5), pp.634-641.

Restrepo, B.I., Camerlin, A.J., Rahbar, M.H., Wang, W., Restrepo, M.A., Zarate, I., Mora-Guzmán, F., Crespo-Solis, J.G., Briggs, J., McCormick, J.B. and Fisher-Hoch, S.P., 2011. Cross-sectional assessment reveals high diabetes prevalence among newly-diagnosed tuberculosis cases. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *89*, pp.352-359.

Restrepo, B.I. and Schlesinger, L.S., 2013. Host-pathogen interactions in tuberculosis patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Tuberculosis*, *93*, pp.S10-S14.

Restrepo, B.I., Twahirwa, M., Rahbar, M.H. and Schlesinger, L.S., 2014. Phagocytosis via complement or Fc-gamma receptors is compromised in monocytes from type 2 diabetes patients with chronic hyperglycemia. *PloS one*, *9*(3), p.e92977.

Restrepo, B.I., 2016. Diabetes and tuberculosis. *Microbiology spectrum*, 4(6).

Restrepo, B.I., Kleynhans, L., Salinas, A.B., Abdelbary, B., Tshivhula, H., Aguillón-Durán, G.P., Kunsevi-Kilola, C., Salinas, G., Stanley, K., Malherbe, S.T., Maasdorp, E., Garcia-Viveros, M., Louw, I., Garcia Oropesa, E.M., Lopez-Alvarenga, J.C., Prins, J.B., Walzl, G., Schlesinger, L.S. and Ronacher, K., 2018. Diabetes screen during tuberculosis contact investigations highlights opportunity for new diabetes diagnosis and reveals metabolic differences between ethnic groups. *Tuberculosis*, *113*, pp.10-18.

Reyes-Ruvalcaba, D., González-Cortés, C. and Rivero-Lezcano, O.M., 2008. Human phagocytes lack the ability to kill Mycobacterium gordonae, a non-pathogenic mycobacteria. *Immunology letters*, *116*(1), pp.72-78.

Reynolds, T.M., Smellie, W.S.A. and Twomey, P.J., 2006. Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) monitoring. *Bmj*, *333*(7568), pp.586-588.

Rhen, T. and Cidlowski, J.A., 2005. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids—new mechanisms for old drugs. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *353*(16), pp.1711-1723.

Rhoades, E.R., Cooper, A.M. and Orme, I.M., 1995. Chemokine response in mice infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Infection and immunity*, *63*(10), pp.3871-3877.

Riedel, D.D. and Kaufmann, S.H., 1997. Chemokine secretion by human polymorphonuclear granulocytes after stimulation with Mycobacterium tuberculosis and lipoarabinomannan. *Infection and immunity*, *65*(11), pp.4620-4623.

Ronacher, K., Joosten, S.A., van Crevel, R., Dockrell, H.M., Walzl, G. and Ottenhoff, T.H., 2015. Acquired immunodeficiencies and tuberculosis: focus on HIV/AIDS and diabetes mellitus. *Immunological reviews*, *264*(1), pp.121-137.

Ronacher, K., van Crevel, R., Critchley, J.A., Bremer, A.A., Schlesinger, L.S., Kapur, A., Basaraba, R., Kornfeld, H. and Restrepo, B.I., 2017. Defining a research agenda to address the converging epidemics of tuberculosis and diabetes: Part 2: underlying biologic mechanisms. *Chest*, *152*(1), pp.174-180.

Ronacher, K., Sinha, R. and Cestari, M., 2018. IL-22: An underestimated player in natural resistance to tuberculosis?. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*, p.2209.

Rouxel, O., Beaudoin, L., Nel, I., Tard, C., Cagninacci, L., Kiaf, B., Oshima, M., Diedisheim, M., Salou, M., Corbett, A. and Rossjohn, J., 2017. Cytotoxic and regulatory roles of mucosal-associated invariant T cells in type 1 diabetes. *Nature immunology*, *18*(12), p.1321-1331.

Ruangkiattikul, N., Nerlich, A., Abdissa, K., Lienenklaus, S., Suwandi, A., Janze, N., Laarmann, K., Spanier, J., Kalinke, U., Weiss, S. and Goethe, R., 2017. cGAS-STING-TBK1-IRF3/7 induced interferon- β contributes to the clearing of non-tuberculous mycobacterial infection in mice. *Virulence*, *8*(7), pp.1303-1315.

Ruslami, R., Aarnoutse, R.E., Alisjahbana, B., Van Der Ven, A.J. and Van Crevel, R., 2010. Implications of the global increase of diabetes for tuberculosis control and patient care. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, *15*(11), pp.1289-1299.

Russell, D.G., 2001. Mycobacterium tuberculosis: here today, and here tomorrow. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 2(8), p.569.

Rutz, S., Eidenschenk, C. and Ouyang, W., 2013. IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine. *Immunological reviews*, 252(1), pp.116-132.

Sada-Ovalle, I., Chiba, A., Gonzales, A., Brenner, M.B. and Behar, S.M., 2008. Innate invariant NKT cells recognize Mycobacterium tuberculosis–infected macrophages, produce interferon-γ, and kill intracellular bacteria. *PLoS pathogens*, *4*(12), p.e1000239.

Sada-Ovalle, I., Sköld, M., Tian, T., Besra, G.S. and Behar, S.M., 2010. α-galactosylceramide as a therapeutic agent for pulmonary Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, *182*(6), pp.841-847.

Salamon, H., Bruiners, N., Lakehal, K., Shi, L., Ravi, J., Yamaguchi, K.D., Pine, R. and Gennaro, M.L., 2014. Cutting edge: vitamin D regulates lipid metabolism in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.1400736.

Santucci, N., D'Attilio, L., Kovalevski, L., Bozza, V., Besedovsky, H., Del Rey, A., Bay, M.L. and Bottasso, O., 2011. A multifaceted analysis of immune-endocrine-metabolic alterations in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. *PLoS One*, *6*(10), p.e26363.

Saukkonen, J.J., Bazydlo, B., Thomas, M., Strieter, R.M., Keane, J. and Kornfeld, H., 2002. β -Chemokines are induced by Mycobacterium tuberculosis and inhibit its growth. *Infection and immunity*, *70*(4), pp.1684-1693.

Saunders, B.M., Frank, A.A., Orme, I.M. and Cooper, A.M., 2000. Interleukin-6 Induces Early Gamma Interferon Production in the Infected Lung but Is Not Required for Generation of Specific Immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection. *Infection and immunity*, *68*(6), pp.3322-3326.

Schaaf, M.J. and Cidlowski, J.A., 2002. Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid action and resistance. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology*, *83*(1-5), pp.37-48.

Schaible, U.E., Hagens, K., Fischer, K., Collins, H.L. and Kaufmann, S.H., 2000. Intersection of group I CD1 molecules and mycobacteria in different intracellular compartments of dendritic cells. The Journal of Immunology, 164(9), pp.4843-4852.

Schneider, B.E., Korbel, D., Hagens, K., Koch, M., Raupach, B., Enders, J., Kaufmann, S.H., Mittrücker, H.W. and Schaible, U.E., 2010. A role for IL-18 in protective immunity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *European journal of immunology*, *40*(2), pp.396-405.

Schneider, C., Nobs, S.P., Kurrer, M., Rehrauer, H., Thiele, C. and Kopf, M., 2014. Induction of the nuclear receptor PPAR-γ by the cytokine GM-CSF is critical for the differentiation of fetal monocytes into alveolar macrophages. *Nature immunology*, *15*(11), p.1026.

Scott, H.M. and Flynn, J.L., 2002. Mycobacterium tuberculosis in chemokine receptor 2deficient mice: influence of dose on disease progression. *Infection and immunity*, 70(11), pp.5946-5954.

Serrano, C.J., Cuevas-Córdoba, B., Macías-Segura, N., González-Curiel, R.A., Martínez-Balderas, V.Y., Enciso-Moreno, L., Small, P., Hernández-Pando, R. and Enciso-Moreno, J.A., 2016. Transcriptional profiles discriminate patients with pulmonary tuberculosis from non-tuberculous individuals depending on the presence of non-insulin diabetes mellitus. *Clinical Immunology*, *162*, pp.107-117.

Shankar, E.M., Vignesh, R., Ellegård, R., Barathan, M., Chong, Y.K., Bador, M.K., Rukumani, D.V., Sabet, N.S., Kamarulzaman, A., Velu, V. and Larsson, M., 2014. HIV–Mycobacterium

tuberculosis co-infection: a 'danger-couple model'of disease pathogenesis. *Pathogens and disease*, *70*(2), pp.110-118.

Sharma, P.K., Wong, E.B., Napier, R.J., Bishai, W.R., Ndung'u, T., Kasprowicz, V.O., Lewinsohn, D.A., Lewinsohn, D.M. and Gold, M.C., 2015. High expression of CD26 accurately identifies human bacteria-reactive MR1-restricted MAIT cells. *Immunology*, *145*(3), pp.443-453.

Shimada, T., Matsumoto, M., Tatsumi, Y., Kanamaru, A. and Akira, S., 1998. A novel lipopolysaccharide inducible C-C chemokine receptor related gene in murine macrophages. *FEBS letters*, *425*(3), pp.490-494.

Shen, L., Gao, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, B., Liu, Q., Wu, J., Fan, L., Ou, Q., Zhang, W. and Shao, L., 2016. PD-1/PD-L pathway inhibits M. tb-specific CD4+ T-cell functions and phagocytosis of macrophages in active tuberculosis. *Scientific reports*, *6*, p.38362.

Shen, J., Fang, Y., Zhu, H. and Ge, W., 2018. Plasma interleukin-22 levels are associated with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes in the Han Chinese population. *Journal of diabetes investigation*, 9(1), pp.33-38.

Shim, T.S., 2014. Diagnosis and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection due to initiation of anti-TNF therapy. *Tuberculosis and respiratory diseases*, *76*(6), pp.261-268.

Sia, J.K., Georgieva, M. and Rengarajan, J., 2015. Innate immune defenses in human tuberculosis: an overview of the interactions between Mycobacterium tuberculosis and innate immune cells. *Journal of immunology research*, 2015.

Sica, A., Erreni, M., Allavena, P. and Porta, C., 2015. Macrophage polarization in pathology. *Cellular and molecular life sciences*, 72(21), pp.4111-4126.

Siddiqui, S.H. and Rusch-Gerdes, S., 2007. Mycobacteria growth indicator tube (MGIT) culture and drug susceptibility demonstration projects. *FIND, editor. FIND. Switzerland*.

Singh, A., Dey, A.B., Mohan, A. and Mitra, D.K., 2014. Programmed death-1 receptor suppresses γ-IFN producing NKT cells in human tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis*, *94*(3), pp.197-206.

Singh, S., Maniakis-Grivas, G., Singh, U.K., Asher, R.M., Mauri, F., Elkington, P.T. and Friedland, J.S., 2018. Interleukin-17 regulates matrix metalloproteinase activity in human pulmonary tuberculosis. *The Journal of pathology*, *244*(3), pp.311-322.

Sivori, S., Vitale, M., Morelli, L., Sanseverino, L., Augugliaro, R., Bottino, C., Moretta, L. and Moretta, A., 1997. p46, a novel natural killer cell–specific surface molecule that mediates cell activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *186*(7), pp.1129-1136.

Skowroński, M., Zozulińska-Ziółkiewicz, D. and Barinow-Wojewódzki, A., 2014. Tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus–an underappreciated association. *Archives of medical science: AMS*, *10*(5), p.1019.

Smyth, M.J., Crowe, N.Y., Hayakawa, Y., Takeda, K., Yagita, H. and Godfrey, D.I., 2002. NKT cells—conductors of tumor immunity?. *Current opinion in immunology*, *14*(2), pp.165-171.

Snyder-Cappione, J.E., Nixon, D.F., Loo, C.P., Chapman, J.M., Meiklejohn, D.A., Melo, F.F., Costa, P.R., Sandberg, J.K., Rodrigues, D.S. and Kallas, E.G., 2007. Individuals with pulmonary tuberculosis have lower levels of circulating CD1d-restricted NKT cells. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *195*(9), pp.1361-1364.

Soh, A.Z., Chee, C.B., Wang, Y.T., Yuan, J.M. and Koh, W.P., 2016. Dietary Cholesterol Increases the Risk whereas PUFAs Reduce the Risk of Active Tuberculosis in Singapore Chinese, 2. *The Journal of nutrition*, *146*(5), pp.1093-1100.

Su, V.Y.F., Su, W.J., Yen, Y.F., Pan, S.W., Chuang, P.H., Feng, J.Y., Chou, K.T., Yang, K.Y., Lee, Y.C. and Chen, T.J., 2017. Statin use is associated with a lower risk of TB. *Chest*, *152*(3), pp.598-606.

Sugawara, I., Yamada, H., Kaneko, H., Mizuno, S., Takeda, K. and Akira, S., 1999. Role of interleukin-18 (IL-18) in mycobacterial infection in IL-18-gene-disrupted mice. *Infection and Immunity*, *67*(5), pp.2585-2589.

Suliman, S., Thompson, E.G., Sutherland, J., Weiner 3rd, J., Ota, M.O., Shankar, S., Penn-Nicholson, A., Thiel, B., Erasmus, M., Maertzdorf, J. and Duffy, F.J., 2018. Four-gene pan-African blood signature predicts progression to tuberculosis. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, *197*(9), pp.1198-1208.

Sun, C.X., Li, T., Zheng, X., Cai, J.F., Meng, X.L., Yang, H.J. and Wang, Z., 2011. Recursive partitioning analysis classification and graded prognostic assessment for non-small cell lung cancer patients with brain metastasis: a retrospective cohort study. *Chinese Journal of Cancer Research*, *23*(3), p.177.

Sun, Q., Zhang, Q., Xiao, H., Cui, H. and Su, B., 2012. Significance of the frequency of CD4+ CD25+ CD127- T-cells in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus. *Respirology*, *17*(5), pp.876-882.

Sutherland, J.S., Jeffries, D.J., Donkor, S., Walther, B., Hill, P.C., Adetifa, I.M., Adegbola, R.A. and Ota, M.O., 2009. High granulocyte/lymphocyte ratio and paucity of NKT cells defines TB disease in a TB-endemic setting. *Tuberculosis*, *89*(6), pp.398-404.

Sutherland, J.S., Loxton, A.G., Haks, M.C., Kassa, D., Ambrose, L., Lee, J.S., Ran, L., van Baarle, D., Maertzdorf, J., Howe, R. and Mayanja-Kizza, H., 2013. Differential gene expression of activating Fcc receptor classifies active tuberculosis regardless of human immunodeficiency virus status or ethnicity. *studies*, *4*, p.5.

Stalenhoef, J.E., Alisjahbana, B., Nelwan, E.J., Van der Ven-Jongekrijg, J., Ottenhoff, T.H.M., Van Der Meer, J.W.M., Nelwan, R.H., Netea, M.G. and Van Crevel, R., 2008. The role of interferon-gamma in the increased tuberculosis risk in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, *27*(2), pp.97-103.

Stanley, S.A., Johndrow, J.E., Manzanillo, P. and Cox, J.S., 2007. The Type I IFN response to infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis requires ESX-1-mediated secretion and contributes to pathogenesis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *178*(5), pp.3143-3152.

Stevenson, C.R., Critchley, J.A., Forouhi, N.G., Roglic, G., Williams, B.G., Dye, C. and Unwin, N.C., 2007. Diabetes and the risk of tuberculosis: a neglected threat to public health?. *Chronic illness*, *3*(3), pp.228-245.

Tabák, A.G., Herder, C., Rathmann, W., Brunner, E.J. and Kivimäki, M., 2012. Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. *The Lancet*, *379*(9833), pp.2279-2290.

Tabarsi, P., Baghaei, P., Marjani, M., Vollmer, W.M., Masjedi, M.R. and Harries, A.D., 2014. Changes in glycosylated haemoglobin and treatment outcomes in patients with tuberculosis in Iran: a cohort study. *Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders*, *13*(1), p.123.

Tailleux, L., Neyrolles, O., Honoré-Bouakline, S., Perret, E., Sanchez, F., Abastado, J.P., Lagrange, P.H., Gluckman, J.C., Rosenzwajg, M. and Herrmann, J.L., 2003. Constrained intracellular survival of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human dendritic cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, *170*(4), pp.1939-1948.

Tascon, R.E., Stavropoulos, E., Lukacs, K.V. and Colston, M.J., 1998. Protection against Mycobacterium tuberculosisInfection by CD8+ T Cells Requires the Production of Gamma Interferon. *Infection and immunity*, *66*(2), pp.830-834.

Taskinen, M.R. and Borén, J., 2015. New insights into the pathophysiology of dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes. *Atherosclerosis*, 239(2), pp.483-495.

Tater, D., Tepaut, B., Bercovici, J.P. and Youinou, P., 1987. Polymorphonuclear cell derangements in type I diabetes. *Hormone and metabolic research*, *19*(12), pp.642-647.

Tebruegge, M., Connell, T., Ritz, N., Bryant, P. A., and Curtis, N. 2010. Discordance between TSTs and IFN-γ release assays: the role of NTM and the relevance of mycobacterial sensitins. *European Respiratory Journal*, 36(1), 214–215.

Thompson, E.G., Du, Y., Malherbe, S.T., Shankar, S., Braun, J., Valvo, J., Ronacher, K., Tromp, G., Tabb, D.L., Alland, D. and Shenai, S., 2017. Host blood RNA signatures predict the outcome of tuberculosis treatment. *Tuberculosis*, *107*, pp.48-58.

Tian, R., Hou, G., Li, D. and Yuan, T.F., 2014. A possible change process of inflammatory cytokines in the prolonged chronic stress and its ultimate implications for health. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014.

Tobin, D.M., Vary Jr, J.C., Ray, J.P., Walsh, G.S., Dunstan, S.J., Bang, N.D., Hagge, D.A., Khadge, S., King, M.C., Hawn, T.R. and Moens, C.B., 2010. The Ita4h locus modulates susceptibility to mycobacterial infection in zebrafish and humans. *Cell*, *140*(5), pp.717-730.

Tortoli, E., Cichero, P., Piersimoni, C., Simonetti, M.T., Gesu, G. and Nista, D., 1999. Use of BACTEC MGIT 960 for recovery of mycobacteria from clinical specimens: multicenter study. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *37*(11), pp.3578-3582.

Tracey, K.J., 2002. The inflammatory reflex. Nature, 420(6917), p.853.

Treerat, P., Prince, O., Cruz-Lagunas, A., Muñoz-Torrico, M., Salazar-Lezama, M.A., Selman, M., Fallert-Junecko, B., Reinhardt, T.A., Alcorn, J.F., Kaushal, D. and Zuñiga, J., 2017. Novel role for IL-22 in protection during chronic Mycobacterium tuberculosis HN878 infection. *Mucosal immunology*, *10*(4), p.1069.

Trunz, B.B., Fine, P.E.M. and Dye, C., 2006. Effect of BCG vaccination on childhood tuberculous meningitis and miliary tuberculosis worldwide: a meta-analysis and assessment of cost-effectiveness. *The Lancet*, *367*(9517), pp.1173-1180.

Tsai, M.C., Chakravarty, S., Zhu, G., Xu, J., Tanaka, K., Koch, C., Tufariello, J., Flynn, J. and Chan, J., 2006. Characterization of the tuberculous granuloma in murine and human lungs: cellular composition and relative tissue oxygen tension. *Cellular microbiology*, *8*(2), pp.218-232.

Tsai, I.F., Kuo, C.P., Lin, A.B., Chien, M.N., Ho, H.T., Wei, T.Y., Wu, C.L. and Lu, Y.T., 2017. Potential effect of ezetimibe against Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in type II diabetes. *Respirology*, *22*(3), pp.559-566.

Tudhope, S.J., von Delwig, A., Falconer, J., Pratt, A., Woolridge, T., Wilson, G., Isaacs, J.D. and Ng, W.F., 2010. Profound invariant natural killer T-cell deficiency in inflammatory arthritis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, p.annrheumdis125849.

Turnbull, A.V. and Rivier, C.L., 1999. Regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis by cytokines: actions and mechanisms of action. *Physiological reviews*, *79*(1), pp.1-71.

Unger, W.W., Laban, S., Kleijwegt, F.S., van der Slik, A.R. and Roep, B.O., 2009. Induction of Treg by monocyte-derived DC modulated by vitamin D3 or dexamethasone: differential role for PD-L1. *European journal of immunology*, *39*(11), pp.3147-3159.

Upadhyay, J., Polyzos, S.A., Perakakis, N., Thakkar, B., Paschou, S.A., Katsiki, N., Underwood, P., Park, K.H., Seufert, J., Kang, E.S. and Sternthal, E., 2018. Pharmacotherapy of type 2 diabetes: an update. *Metabolism*, *78*, pp.13-42.

Ussher, J.E., Phalora, P., Cosgrove, C., Hannaway, R.F., Rauch, A., Günthard, H.F., Goulder, P., Phillips, R.E., Willberg, C.B. and Klenerman, P., 2015. Molecular Analyses Define Vα7. 2-Jα33+ MAIT Cell Depletion in HIV Infection: A Case–Control Study. *Medicine*, *94*(29). Vaarala, O., Atkinson, M.A. and Neu, J., 2008. The "perfect storm" for type 1 diabetes: the complex interplay between intestinal microbiota, gut permeability, and mucosal immunity. *Diabetes*, *57*(10), pp.2555-2562.

Vallerskog, T., Martens, G.W. and Kornfeld, H., 2010. Diabetic mice display a delayed adaptive immune response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, p.ji_1000304.

Van den Berghe, G., 2003. Endocrine evaluation of patients with critical illness. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics*, *32*(2), pp.385-410.

Van Der Geest, K.S., Kroesen, B.J., Horst, G., Abdulahad, W.H., Brouwer, E. and Boots, A., 2018. Impact of Aging on the Frequency, Phenotype and Function of CD161 expressing T cells. *Frontiers in immunology*, *9*, p.752.

Van Kaer, L., 2005. α-Galactosylceramide therapy for autoimmune diseases: prospects and obstacles. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *5*(1), p.31.

Vatcheva, K.P., Fisher-Hoch, S.P., Rahbar, M.H., Lee, M., Olvera, R.L. and Mccormick, J.B., 2015. Association of total and differential white blood cell counts to development of type 2 diabetes in Mexican Americans in Cameron county Hispanic cohort. *Diabetes research (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, *1*(4), p.103.

Veenstra, H., Baumann, R., Carroll, N.M., Lukey, P.T., Kidd, M., Beyers, N., Bolliger, C.T., Van Helden, P.D. and Walzl, G., 2006. Changes in leucocyte and lymphocyte subsets during tuberculosis treatment; prominence of CD3dimCD56+ natural killer T cells in fast treatment responders. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *145*(2), pp.252-260.

Verrall, A.J., G. Netea, M., Alisjahbana, B., Hill, P.C. and van Crevel, R., 2014. Early clearance of M ycobacterium tuberculosis: a new frontier in prevention. *Immunology*, *141*(4), pp.506-513.

Vilaplana, C., Marzo, E., Tapia, G., Diaz, J., Garcia, V. and Cardona, P.J., 2013. Ibuprofen therapy resulted in significantly decreased tissue bacillary loads and increased survival in a new murine experimental model of active tuberculosis. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, *208*(2), pp.199-202.

Viswanathan, V., Kumpatla, S., Aravindalochanan, V., Rajan, R., Chinnasamy, C., Srinivasan, R., Selvam, J.M. and Kapur, A., 2012. Prevalence of diabetes and pre-diabetes and associated risk factors among tuberculosis patients in India. *PloS one*, *7*(7), p.e41367.

Von Both, U., Kaforou, M., Levin, M. and Newton, S.M., 2015. Understanding immune protection against tuberculosis using RNA expression profiling. *Vaccine*, *33*(40), pp.5289-5293.

Vordermeier, H.M., Venkataprasad, N., Harris, D.P. and Ivanyi, J., 1996. Increase of tuberculous infection in the organs of B cell-deficient mice. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, *106*(2), pp.312-316.

Vrieling, F., Ronacher, K., Kleynhans, L., van den Akker, E., Walzl, G., Ottenhoff, T.H. and Joosten, S.A., 2018. Patients with Concurrent Tuberculosis and Diabetes Have a Pro-Atherogenic Plasma Lipid Profile. *EBioMedicine*.

Walker, L.J., Kang, Y.H., Smith, M.O., Tharmalingham, H., Ramamurthy, N., Fleming, V., Sahgal, N., Leslie, A., Oo, Y., Geremia, A. and Scriba, T.J., 2011. Human MAIT and CD8αα cells develop from a pool of type-17 pre-committed CD8+ T cells. *Blood*, pp.blood-2011.

Walpole, G.F., Grinstein, S. and Westman, J., 2018. The role of lipids in host-pathogen interactions. *IUBMB life*, *70*(5), pp.384-392.

Walter, N.D., Miller, M.A., Vasquez, J., Weiner, M., Chapman, A., Engle, M., Higgins, M., Quinones, A.M., Rosselli, V., Canono, E. and Yoon, C., 2016. Blood transcriptional biomarkers

for active tuberculosis among patients in the United States: a case-control study with systematic cross-classifier evaluation. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *54*(2), pp.274-282.

Wang, C.H., Yu, C.T., Lin, H.C., Liu, C.Y. and Kuo, H.P., 1999. Hypodense alveolar macrophages in patients with diabetes mellitus and active pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tubercle and Lung Disease*, *79*(4), pp.235-242.

Wang, H., Yu, M., Ochani, M., Amella, C.A., Tanovic, M., Susarla, S., Li, J.H., Wang, H., Yang, H., Ulloa, L. and Al-Abed, Y., 2003. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α 7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature*, *421*(6921), p.384.

Wang, J.Y., Chou, C.H., Lee, L.N., Hsu, H.L., Jan, I.S., Hsueh, P.R., Yang, P.C. and Luh, K.T., 2007. Diagnosis of tuberculosis by an enzyme-linked immunospot assay for interferony. *Emerging infectious diseases*, *13*(4), p.553.

Wang, N., Liang, H. and Zen, K., 2014. Molecular mechanisms that influence the macrophage M1–M2 polarization balance. *Frontiers in immunology*, *5*, p.614.

Wang, C.Y., Li, C.Y., Hsu, H.P., Cho, C.Y., Yen, M.C., Weng, T.Y., Chen, W.C., Hung, Y.H., Lee, K.T., Hung, J.H. and Chen, Y.L., 2017. PSMB5 plays a dual role in cancer development and immunosuppression. *American journal of cancer research*, *7*(11), p.2103.

Wang, S., Song, R., Wang, Z., Jing, Z., Wang, S. and Ma, J., 2018. S100A8/A9 in Inflammation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.

Wang, X., Ma, A., Han, X., Chen, L., Liang, H., Litifu, A. and Xue, F., 2018. T Cell Profile was Altered in Pulmonary Tuberculosis Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Medical science monitor: international medical journal of experimental and clinical research*, *24*, p.636.

Wang, Z., Arat, S., Magid-Slav, M. and Brown, J.R., 2018. Meta-analysis of human gene expression in response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection reveals potential therapeutic targets. *BMC systems biology*, *12*(1), p.3.

Weaver, L.K., Pioli, P.A., Wardwell, K., Vogel, S.N. and Guyre, P.M., 2007. Up-regulation of human monocyte CD163 upon activation of cell-surface Toll-like receptors. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *81*(3), pp.663-671.

Webster, J.I., Tonelli, L. and Sternberg, E.M., 2002. Neuroendocrine regulation of immunity. *Annual review of immunology*, 20(1), pp.125-163.

Webster-Marketon, J.I. and Glaser, R., 2008. Stress hormones and immune function. *Cellular immunology*, 252(1-2), pp.16-26.

Weintrob, A.C. and Sexton, D.J., 2009. Susceptibility to infections in persons with diabetes mellitus. *Waltham (MA): Uptodate*.

Wellen, K.E. and Hotamisligil, G.S., 2005. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *115*(5), pp.1111-1119.

Werfalli, M., Kassanjee, R., Kalula, S., Kowal, P., Phaswana-Mafuya, N. and Levitt, N.S., 2018. Diabetes in South African older adults: prevalence and impact on quality of life and functional disability-as assessed using SAGE Wave 1 data. *Global health action*, *11*(1), p.1449924.

Wermeling, F., Lind, S.M., Jordö, E.D., Cardell, S.L. and Karlsson, M.C., 2010. Invariant NKT cells limit activation of autoreactive CD1d-positive B cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, pp.jem-20091314.

Wheeler, E., Leong, A., Liu, C.T., Hivert, M.F., Strawbridge, R.J., Podmore, C., Li, M., Yao, J., Sim, X., Hong, J. and Chu, A.Y., 2017. Impact of common genetic determinants of Hemoglobin A1c on type 2 diabetes risk and diagnosis in ancestrally diverse populations: A transethnic genome-wide meta-analysis. *PLoS medicine*, *14*(9), p.e1002383.

Wolk, K. and Sabat, R., 2006. Interleukin-22: a novel T-and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, *17*(5), pp.367-380.

Wong, E.B., Akilimali, N.A., Govender, P., Sullivan, Z.A., Cosgrove, C., Pillay, M., Lewinsohn, D.M., Bishai, W.R., Walker, B.D., Ndung'u, T. and Klenerman, P., 2013. Low levels of peripheral CD161++ CD8+ mucosal associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are found in HIV and HIV/TB co-infection. *PloS one*, *8*(12), p.e83474.

Wong, E.B., Ndung'u, T. and Kasprowicz, V.O., 2017. The role of mucosal-associated invariant T cells in infectious diseases. *Immunology*, *150*(1), pp.45-54.

Wood, S., Jayaraman, V., Huelsmann, E.J., Bonish, B., Burgad, D., Sivaramakrishnan, G., Qin, S., DiPietro, L.A., Zloza, A., Zhang, C. and Shafikhani, S.H., 2014. Pro-inflammatory chemokine CCL2 (MCP-1) promotes healing in diabetic wounds by restoring the macrophage response. *PloS one*, *9*(3), p.e91574.

Workneh, M.H., Bjune, G.A. and Yimer, S.A., 2016. Prevalence and associated factors of diabetes mellitus among tuberculosis patients in South-Eastern Amhara Region, Ethiopia: a cross sectional study. *PLoS One*, *11*(1), p.e0147621.

World Health Organization, 2011. Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: abbreviated report of a WHO consultation (No. WHO/NMH/CHP/CPM/11.1). Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. Multidrug and extensively drug-resistant TB (M/XDR-TB): 2010 global report on surveillance and response (WHO/HTM/TB/2010.3) Geneva, World Health Organization; 2010.Availablefrom:

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44286/9789241599191_eng.pdf?accessed 02 November 2018.

World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2018 (WHO/CDS/TB/2018.20). Geneva, World Health Organization; 2018. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274453/9789241565646_eng.pdf</u>? Accessed 02 November 2018.

World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for
medical research involving human subjects., 2001. Bulletin of the World Health
Organization, 79 (4), 373 - 374. World Health
Organization. http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/268312 Accessed 02 March 2019

Wu, C., Xu, G., Tsai, S.Y.A., Freed, W.J. and Lee, C.T., 2017. Transcriptional profiles of type 2 diabetes in human skeletal muscle reveal insulin resistance, metabolic defects, apoptosis, and molecular signatures of immune activation in response to infections. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, *48*2(2), pp.282-288.

Xia, C., Rao, X. and Zhong, J., 2017. Role of T lymphocytes in type 2 diabetes and diabetesassociated inflammation. *Journal of diabetes research*, 2017.

Yi, L., Sasaki, Y., Nagai, H., Ishikawa, S., Takamori, M., Sakashita, K., Saito, T., Fukushima, K., Igarashi, Y., Aono, A. and Chikamatsu, K., 2016. Evaluation of QuantiFERON-TB Gold Plus for detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in Japan. *Scientific reports*, *6*, p.30617.

Yin, W., Tong, Z.H., Cui, A., Zhang, J.C., Ye, Z.J., Yuan, M.L., Zhou, Q. and Shi, H.Z., 2014. PD-1/PD-Ls pathways between CD4+ T cells and pleural mesothelial cells in human tuberculous pleurisy. *Tuberculosis*, *94*(2), pp.131-139.

Zabel, B.A., Nakae, S., Zúñiga, L., Kim, J.Y., Ohyama, T., Alt, C., Pan, J., Suto, H., Soler, D., Allen, S.J., Handel, T.M., Song, H.C., Galli, S.J. and Butcher, C.E., 2008. Mast cell–expressed orphan receptor CCRL2 binds chemerin and is required for optimal induction of IgE-mediated passive cutaneous anaphylaxis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *205*(10), pp.2207-2220.

Zak, D.E., Penn-Nicholson, A., Scriba, T.J., Thompson, E., Suliman, S., Amon, L.M., Mahomed, H., Erasmus, M., Whatney, W., Hussey, G.D. and Abrahams, D., 2016. A blood RNA signature for tuberculosis disease risk: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet*, *387*(10035), pp.2312-2322.

Zanni, M.V., Burdo, T.H., Makimura, H., Williams, K.C. and Grinspoon, S.K., 2012. Relationship between monocyte/macrophage activation marker soluble CD163 and insulin resistance in obese and normal-weight subjects. *Clinical endocrinology*, 77(3), pp.385-390.

Zemlin AE, Matsha TE, Hassan MS, Erasmus RT (2011) HbA1c of 6.5% to Diagnose Diabetes Mellitus—Does It Work for Us?—The Bellville South Africa Study. PLoS one 6(8): e22558.

Zhang, Q., Xiao, H.P., Wang, Y. and Su, B., 2011. Changes of natural killer T cells in pulmonary tuberculosis patients complicated by diabetes mellitus. *Zhonghua jie he he hu xi za zhi= Zhonghua jiehe he huxi zazhi= Chinese journal of tuberculosis and respiratory diseases*, *34*(2), pp.114-116.

Zhang, Q., Xiao, H.P., Cui, H.Y. and Feichtingerwara, I., 2011. Significant increase in naturalkiller T cells in patients with tuberculosis complicated by type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of International Medical Research*, *39*(1), pp.105-111

Zhang, C., Xiao, C., Wang, P., Xu, W., Zhang, A., Li, Q. and Xu, X., 2014. The alteration of Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg paradigm in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: Relationship with diabetic nephropathy. *Human immunology*, *75*(4), pp.289-296.

Zheng, Y., Danilenko, D.M., Valdez, P., Kasman, I., Eastham-Anderson, J., Wu, J. and Ouyang, W., 2007. Interleukin-22, a T H 17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. *Nature*, *445*(7128), p.648.

Zheng, Y., Ma, A., Wang, Q., Han, X., Cai, J., Schouten, E.G., Kok, F.J. and Li, Y., 2013. Relation of leptin, ghrelin and inflammatory cytokines with body mass index in pulmonary tuberculosis patients with and without type 2 diabetes mellitus. *PloS one*, *8*(11), p.e80122.

Zhu, C., Liu, Z., Li, Z., Mei, S. and Hu, Z., 2014. The performance and limitation of T-SPOT. TB for the diagnosis of TB in a high prevalence setting. *Journal of thoracic disease*, *6*(6), p.713.